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FIRSTENERGY CORP. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMMON STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(In millions, except share amounts) 

Balance, January 1,2012 

Eamings available to FirstEnergy Corp. 
Amortized losses on derivative hedges, net 

of $1 million of income tax benefits 
Change in unrealized gain on investments, 

net of $2 million of income tax benefits 
Pension and OPEB, net of $76 million of 

income tax benefits (Note 3) 

Stock-based compensation 

Cash dividends declared on common stock 

Equity method adjustment (Note 9) 

Balance, December 31, 2012 

Earnings available to FirstEnergy Corp. 
Miortized losses on derivative hedges, net 

of $1 million of income taxes 
Change in unrealized gain on investments, 

net of $4 million of income tax benefits 
Pension and OPEB, net of $63 million of 

income tax benefits (Note 3) 

Stock-based compensation 

Cash dividends declared on cx}mmon stock 

Stock issuance - employee benefits 

Balance, December 31, 2013 

Eamings available to FirstEnergy Corp. 
Amortized gains on derivative hedges, net of 

$1 million of income tax benefits 
Change in unrealized gain on investments, 

net of $10 million of income taxes 
Pension and OPEB, net of $23 million of 

inoDme tax benefits (Note 3) 

Stock-based compensation 

Cash dividends declared on common stock 

Stock issuance - employee benefits 

Balance, December 31, 2014 

Common Stock nth^r 
Number of Paid-in 

Shares Par Value Capital 

418,216,437 $ 42 $ 9,765 

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

$ 426 

Retained 
Eamings 

$ 3,047 

770 

418,216,437 42 9,769 

412,122 

418,628,559 

(4) 

11 

42 9,776 

2,474,011 _ 

421,102,570 $ 

20 

51 

(4) 

(39) 

(920) 

(9) 
385 2.888 

392 

(6) 

(97) 

(690) 

284 

(1) 

16 

(53) 

2,590 

299 

(604) 

42 $ 9,847 $ 246 $ 2,285 

The acc:ompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Finandal Statements are an integral part of these finandal statemente. 
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FIRSTENERGY CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

For ttie Years Ended December 31, 

0n millions) 2014 2013 2012 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVmES: 

Net Income 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating actvities-

Provision tor depreciation 

Asset removal costs charged to income 

Amortization (deferral) of regulatoty assets, net 

Nudear fuel amortization 

Amortization of defend costs on sale leaseback transaction, net 

Amortization of customer intangibles & deferred adverdstng costs 

Defen-ed purchased power and other costs 

Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits, net 

Impaimients of tong-lived assets 

Investment impairn>ents 

Pension and OPEB mark-ftMnarket adjustment 

Retirement benefits 

Gain on asset sales 

Commodity derivative transactions, net (Note 10) 

Pension trust contributions 

Gain on sale of investment securities held in trusts 

Loss on debt redemptions 

Malte-whole premiums paid on debt redemptions 

Lease payments on sale and leaseback transaction 

Income from discontinued operations (Note 19) 

Changes in <»jrrent assets and liabilities-

Receivables 

Materials and supplies 

Prepaynrients and ottier current assets 

Accounts payable 

Accrued taxes 

Accrued interest 

Accrued compensatkm and benefits 

Cash collateral, net 

Other 

Net cash provMed from operating activities 

299 $ 392 771 

1,220 

28 

12 

220 

48 

60 

(115) 

162 

— 
37 

835 

(53) 

— 
64 

— 
(64) 

8 

— 
(137) 

(86) 

139 

(65) 

126 

42 

(165) 

31 

(22) 

(54) 

143 

2,713 

1,202 

20 

539 

209 

48 

18 

(76) 

243 

795 

90 

(256) 

(168) 

(21) 

(3) 

— 
(56) 

132 

(187) 

(136) 

(17) 

(114) 

96 

(126) 

(25) 

85 

(10) 

19 

(36) 

5 

2,662 

1,119 

203 

(68) 

210 

48 

18 

(238) 

647 

— 
27 

609 

(127) 

(17) 

(102) 

(600) 

(71) 

— 
— 

(186) 

(16) 

(13) 

(50) 

(12) 

100 

(2) 

(12) 

(55) 

12 

125 

2,320 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVmES: 

New Financing-

Long-term debt 

ShorMerm borrowings, net 

Redemptions and Repayments-

Lcxig-term debt 

Short-term bonowings, net 

4,528 

— 

(1,759) 

(1 .60^ 

3,745 

1,435 

(3,600) 

— 

750 

1,969 

(940) 

— 
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Tender premiums paki on debt redemptions 

C^mnrxm stock divklend payments 

Other 

Net cash provided from financing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVmES: 

Property additions 

Nuclear fuel 

Proceeds from asset sales 

Sales of investment securities held in trusts 

Purchases of investment securities hekl in tnjsts 

Cash investments 

Asset renDoval costs 

Other 

Net cash used tor investing activities 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

C^sh and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

C a ^ and cash equivalents at end of period 

— 
(604) 

(47) 

(110) 

(920) 

(73) 

— 
(920) 

(52) 

513 

(3,312) 

(233) 

394 

2,133 

(2,236) 

35 

(153) 

13 

(3,359) 

(133) 

218 

$ 65 S 

477 

(2,638) 

(250) 

4 

2,047 

(2,096) 

(23) 

(146) 

9 

(3.093) 

46 

172 

218 $ 

807 

(2,678) 

(286) 

17 

2.980 

(3,020) 

102 

(229) 

(43) 

(3,157) 

(30) 

202 

172 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 

Cash paid (received) during the year -

Interest (net of amounts capitalized) 

Income taxes (received), net of refunds 

931 $ 

(103) $ 

969 

36 

962 

(6) 

The accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Flnandal Statements are an integral part of these finandal statements. 

114 

http://investors.firstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.htnil 10/23/2015 

http://investors.firstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.htnil


Document Contents Page 220 of 432 

FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

(In millions) 
For the Years Ended December 31, 

2014 2013 2012 

STATEMENTS OF INCOME fLOSSl 

REVENUES: 

Electric sales to non-affiliates 

Elec::tric sales to affiliates 

Other 

Total revenues* 

OPERATING EXPENSES: 

Fuel 
Purchased power from affiliates 

Purchased power from non-affiliates 

Other operating expenses 

Pension and OPEB mark-to-market adjustment 

Provision for depredation 

General taxes 

Total operating expenses 

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE): 

Loss on debt redemptions 

Investment income 

Miscellaneous income 

Interest expense — affiliates 

Interest expense — other 

Capitalized interest 

Total other expense 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE 
INCOME TAXES 

INCOME TAXES (BENEFITS) 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

Discontinued operations (net of incx)me taxes of $70, $8 and $8, 
respedively) (Note 19) 

$ 5,114 $ 

861 

169 

6,144 

1.253 

271 

2,771 

1,635 

297 

319 

128 

6,674 

(530) 

(6) 
61 

6 

(7) 
(146) 

34 

(58) 

(588) 

(228) 

5,378 $ 

652 

143 

6,173 

1,262 

486 

2,333 

1,487 

(81) 

306 

138 

5,931 

242 

(103) 

16 

28 

(10) 

(160) 

39 

(190) 

52 

6 

5,253 

515 

126 

5,894 

1,287 

451 

1,887 

1,356 

166 

272 

136 

5,555 

339 

_ 

66 

35 

(10) 

(191) 

37 

(63) 

276 

103 

$ (360) $ 46 $ 

116 14 

173 

14 

NET INCOME (LOSS) 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

$ (244) $ 60 $ 187 
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NET INCOME (LOSS) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS): 

Pension and OPEB prior service costs 

Amortized gains on derivative hedges 

Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 

Income taxes (benefits) on other comprehensive income (loss) 

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

' Includes exdse tax cotlec:tions of $69 million, $78 million and $77 million in 2014,2013 and 2012, respectively. 

The accximpanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Finandal Statements are an integral part of these finandal statements. 

$ 

$ 

(244) 

(6) 
(10) 

21 

5 

2 

3 

(241) 

$ 

$ 

60 

(15) 

(6) 

(8) 

(29) 

(11) 
(18) 

42 

$ 

$ 

187 

6 

(9) 
(5) 

(8) 
(4) 

(4) 

183 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In millions, accept share amounts) 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT: 

In service 

Less — Accajmuiated prowsion for depreciation 

Construction work in progress 

INVESTMENTS: 

Nuclear plant decommissioning trusts 

Other 

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (Note 19} 

DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER ASSETS: 

Customer intangibles 

Goodwill 

Property taxes 

Unamortized sale and leaseback costs 

Derivatives 

Other 

UABlUnES AND CAPITALlZAnON 

CURRENT UABIUTIES: 

Currently payable long-term debt 

Short-temi bon'owings-

Affiliated compantes 

other 

AcccHjnts payable-

AfRliated companies 

http://investors.firstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.htnil 

December 31, 
2014 

December 31, 
2013 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Rec:eivabl^-

Customers, net of allowance for uncollectibie accounts of $18 in 2014 and $11 in 2013 

Affiliated companies 

Other, net of allowance for uncxjilectible accounts of $3 in 2014 and 2013 

Materials and supplies 

Derivatives 

Collateral 

Prepayments and other 

2 $ 

415 

525 

107 

492 

147 

229 

95 

2,012 

13.596 

5,208 

8,388 

1,010 

9,398 

1,365 

10 

1,375 

539 

1.036 

81 

448 

165 

136 

109 

2.516 

12,472 

4,755 

7,717 

1,308 

9,025 

1,276 

11 

1,287 

525 

13,310 $ 

506 $ 

35 

99 

416 

122 

78 

23 

41 

217 

52 

114 

95 

23 

41 

168 

53 

172 

552 

13,502 

892 

431 

4 

765 
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other 

Accrued taxes 

Derivatives 

Other 

CAPITALIZATION: 

Common stockholder's equity-
Common stock, without par value, authorized 750 shares- 7 shares outstanding as of December 
31, 2014 and 2013 

Acx:umulated other comprehensive income 

Retained eamings 

Total common stockholder's equity 5.585 5,312 

Long-term debt and other long-term obligations 2,608 2,130 

248 

102 

166 

184 

1,756 

290 

66 

110 

197 

2,755 

3,594 

57 

1.934 

3,080 

54 

2,178 

8,193 7,442 

NONCURRENT UABIUTIES: 

Deferred gain on sale and leaseback transaction 

Accumulated deferred income taxes 

Retirement benefits 

Asset retirement obligations 

Derivatives 

other 

COMMITMENTS. GUARANTEES AND CONnNGENCIES (Note 15} 

824 

511 

324 

841 

14 

847 

858 

741 

185 

1,015 

14 

492 

3,361 3,305 

13.310 $ 13,502 

The accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Finandal Statements are an integral part of these finandal statements. 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMMON STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY 

Common Stock 

(In millions, except share amounts) 

Number 
of 

Shares 
Carrying 

Value 

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

Balance, January 1, 2012 

Net income 
Amortized loss on derivative hedges, net of $3 of income tax 

benefits 
Change in unrealized gain on investments, net of $2 of 

income tax benefits 

Pension and OPEB, net of $1 of income taxes (Note 3) 

Stock-based compensation 

Consolidated tax benefit allocation 

Balance, December 31, 2012 

Net income 
Amortized loss on derivative hedges, net of $2 of income tax 

benefits 
Change in unrealized gain on investinents, net of $3 of 

income tax benefits 

Pension and OPEB, net of $6 of income tax benefits (Note 3) 

Equity contribution fi-om parent 

Stoc^k-based compensation 

Consolidated tax benefit allocation 

Balance. December 31, 2013 

Net loss 
Amortized loss on derivative hedges, net of $4 of income tax 

benefits 

Change in unrealized gain on investments, net of $8 of 
income taxes 

Pension and OPEB, net of $2 of income tax benefits (Note 3) 

Equity contribution fi-om parent 

Stock-based compensation 

Cc?nsolidated tax benefit allocation 

Balance, December 31, 2014 

7 $ 1,570 $ 

1,573 

1,500 

1 

6 
3,080 

500 
7 
7 

7 $ 3,594 $ 

76 

(6) 

(3) 
5 

72 

(4) 

(5) 

(9) 

54 

(6) 

13 

(4) 

57 

Retained 
Eamings 

$ 1,931 

187 

2,118 

60 

2,178 

(244) 

$ 1,934 

The accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Fnandal Statements are an integral part of ttiese finandal statements. 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In millions) 

For ttw Years Ended December 31, 

2014 2013 2012 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 

Net Income (loss) 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities-

Provision for depreciation 

Nuclear fijel amoriization 

Amortization of defened costs on sale and leaseback transaction, net 

/^ortization of customer intangibles & deferred advertising costs 

Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits, net 

Investment impairments 

Pension and OPEB martc-to-market adjustment 

Pension trust contribution 

Gain on investment securities held in busts 

Gain on asset sales 

Commodity derivative transactions, net (Note 10) 

Loss on debt redemptions 

Make-whole premiums paid on debt redemptions 

Lease payments on sale and leaseback transaction 

Income from discontinued operations (Note 19) 

Change in current assets and liabilities-

Receivables 

Materials and supplies 

Prepayments and other current assets 

Accounts payable 

Accrued taxes 

Acc:med compensation and benefits 

Cash collateral, net 

aher 

Net cash provided finom operating activities 

(244) $ 60 $ 187 

319 

220 

48 

60 

7 

33 

297 

— 

(61) 

— 

65 

6 

— 

(131) 

(116) 

674 

(44) 

14 

(477) 

(50) 

(11) 

(92) 

54 

571 

306 

209 

48 

18 

309 

79 

(81) 

— 

(49) 

(20) 

5 

103 

(31) 

(131) 

(14) 

(393) 

57 

(39) 

(145) 

(207) 

2 

(34) 

26 

78 

272 

210 

48 

18 

214 

14 

166 

(209) 

(65) 

(17) 

(74) 

— 

— 

(182) 

(14) 

135 

(13) 

(18) 

240 

(64) 

8 

(33) 

(2) 

821 

CASH FLOWS FROM RNANCING ACTIVITIES: 

New finandng-

Long-temi debt 

Short-term borrowings, net 

Equity cx)ntribution from parent 

Redemptions and repayments-

Long-temi debt 

Short-term borrowings, net 

Tender premiums pakJ on debt redemptions 

Other 

Net c:ash provided fixim financing activities 

http://investors.firstenergycorp.coni/Cache/c27740735.htnil 

878 

— 

500 

(816) 

(301) 

— 

(15) 

246 

_ 

431 

1,500 

(1.202) 

— 

(67) 

(9) 

653 

650 

3 

— 

(429) 

— 

— 

(12) 

212 
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 

Property additions 

Nuclear fijel 

Proceeds from asset sales 

Sales of investment securities hekl in busts 

Purchases of investment securities hekl tn trusts 

Loans to affiliated companies, net 

Other 

Net cash used for investing activities 

(839) 

(233) 

307 

1,163 

(1,219) 

— 

4 

(717) 

(250) 

21 

940 

(1,000) 

276 

(2) 

(795) 

(286) 

17 

1,464 

(1,502) 

107 

(42) 

(817) (732) (1,037) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2 $ 

(1) 

_3 

2 $ 

(4) 

7 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMAnON: 

Cash paid (received) during the year -

Interest (net of amounts capitalized) 

Income taxes paid, net of refunds (received, net of payments) 

118 $_ 

(384) T 

157 $_ 

23 T 
174 

The accxtmpanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Finandal Statements are an integral part of these finandal statements. 
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FIRSTENERGY CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

COMBINED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 
Number 

1 Organization and Basis of Presentation 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 

Pension and Other Postemployment Benefits 

Stock-Based Compensation Plans 

Taxes 

Leases 

Intangible Assets 

8 Variable Interest Entities 

Fair Value Measurements 

10 Derivative Instruments 

11 Capitalization 

12 Short-Term Borrovi/ings and Bank Lines of Credit 

13 Asset Retirement Obligations 

14 Regulatory Matters 

15 Commitments, Guarantees and Contingencies 

16 Transactions with Affiliated Companies 

17 Supplemental Guarantor Information 

18 Segment Information 

19 Discontinued Operations and Assets Held for Sale 

Page 
Number 

120 

125 

128 

134 

137 

143 

144 

145 

147 

153 

158 

163 

165 

166 

175 

182 

183 

192 

194 
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20 Summary of Quarterly Finandal Data (Unaudited) 195 
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COMBINED NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Unless otiienvise indicated, defined terms and abbreviations used herein have the meanings set forth In the accompanying 
Glossary of Tenns. 

FirstEnergy Corp. was organized under the taws of the State of Ohio in 1996. FE's prindpal business is the holding, diredly or 
indlredly, of all of tiie outstanding common stock of its prindpal subsidiaries: OE. CEI, TE, Penn (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
OE), JCP&L, ME, PN, FESC, FES and its prindpal subsidiaries (FG and NG). AE Supply, MP, PE, WP, FET and Its prindpal 
subsidiaries (ATSI and TrAIL), and AESC. In addition, FE holds all of the outstanding cximmon stock of other dired subsidiaries 
induding: FirstEnergy Properties, Inc., FEV, FENOC, FELHC, Inc., GPU Nudear, Inc., and AE Ventures, Inc. 

FirstEnergy follows GAAP and complies wiUi the related regulations, orders, polides and practices prescribed by the SEC, 
FERC, and, as applicable, the PUCO. the PPUC, the MDPSC, the NYPSC, the WVPSC, tiie VSCC and the NJBPU. The 
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make periodic estimates and assumptions 
that affed the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 
Adual results could differ fi-om these estimates. The reported results of operations are not necessarily indicative of results of 
operations for any future period. FE and its subsidiaries have evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or 
disdosure through the date the finandal statements were issued. 

FE and its subsidiaries consolidate all majority-owned subsidiaries over which they exerdse control and, when applicable, 
entities for which they have a controlling finandal interest. Intercompany transadions and balances are eliminated in 
consolidation unless certain regulatory restridions and mles apply. FE and its subsidiaries consolidate a VIE when it is 
determined that it is the primary benefidary (see Note 8, Variable Interest Entities). Investments in affiliates over which FE and 
its subsidiaries have the ability to exerdse significant influence, but with resped to which they are not the primary benefidary 
and do not exerdse contî ol, follow the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the interest in the entity is 
reported as an investinent in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and the percentage share of the entity's eamings is reported in 
the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. These Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
are combined for FirstEnergy and FES. 

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012. capitalized financing costs on FirstEnergy's Consolidated Statements 
of Income indude $49 million. $28 million and $18 million, respedively, of allowance for equity ftjnds used during conshudion 
and $69 million, $75 million and $72 million, respectively, of capitalized interest 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to confoim to the cunent year presentation. 

ACCOUNTING FOR THE EFFECTS OF REGULATION 

FirstEnergy accounts for the effeds of regulation through Uie applic:ation of regulatory accxjunting to the Utilities, AGC, ATSI, 
PATH and TrAIL since their rates are established by a tiiird-party regulator with the authority to set rates that bind customers, 
are cxist-based and can be charged to and collected fi-om customeiB. 

FirstEnergy records regulatory assets and liabilities tiiat result firom the regulated rate-making process that would not be 
recorded under GAAP for non-regulated entities. These assets and liabilities are amortized in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income concurrent with the recovery or refund ttirough customer rates. FirstEnergy believes that it is probable that its 
regulatory assets and liabilities will be recovered and settled, respectively, through future rates. FirstEnergy and the Utilities net 
tiieir regulatory assets and liabilities based on federal and state jurisdictions. 
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$ 

$ 

240 

370 

(305) 

(254) 

90 

281 

182 

153 

465 

189 

1,411 

(In millions) 

$ 266 $ 

518 

(198) 

(362) 

112 

346 

194 

260 

455 

263 

$ 1,854 $ 

(26) 

(148) 

(107) 

108 

(22) 

(65) 

(12) 

(107) 

10 

(74) 

(443) 

The following table provides infonnation about the composition of net regulatory assets as of December 31, 2014 and 
December 31, 2013, and the changes during the year ended December 31, 2014: 

December 31, December 31, Increase 
Regulatory Assets by Source 2014 2013 (Decrease) 

Regulatory ti^nsition costs 

Customer receivables for futijre income taxes 

Nudear decommissioning and spent foel disposal costs 

Asset removal costs 

Defened transmission costs 

Defened generation costs 

Defened distribution costs 

Contrad valuations 

Storm-related costs 

Otiier 
Net Regulatory Assets induded in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet 

Regulatory assets ttiat do not eam a current retum totaled approximately $488 million and $477 million as of December 31, 
2014 and 2013, respectively, primarily related to storm damage costs of vt^ich approximately $360 million relates to JCP&L for 
which the recovery period is subject to current rate and regulatory proc^eedings (see Note 14, Regulatory Matters). 

As of December31. 2014 and December31, 2013, FirstEnergy had approximately $243 million and $440 million of net 
regulatory liabilities tiiat are primarily related to asset removal costs and are dassified within other noncxinent liabilities on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, as opposed to being induded in the net regulatory assets shown above. 

REVENUES AND RECEIVABLES 

The Utilities' prindpal business is providing eledric service to customers in Ohio, Pennsylvania. West Virginia, New Jersey and 
Maryland. FES' prindpal business is supplying elecbic power to end-use customers through retail and wholesale anangements. 
induding affiliated company power sales to meet a portion of the POLR and default service requirements of the Ohio and 
Pennsylvania Companies and osmpetitive retail sales to customers primarily in Ohio, Pennsylvania, Illinois, Michigan, New 
Jersey and Maryland. Retail customers are metered on a cyde basis. 

Elecbic revenues are recorded based on energy delivered ttirough the end of the calendar month. An estimate of unbilled 
revenues is calculated to recognize electiic service provided firom the last meter reading through the end of the month. This 
estimate indudes many fadors, among which are historical customer usage, load profiles, estimated weather impacts, 
customer shopping activity and prices In effect for each dass of customer. In each accounting pericxl, FirstEnergy accrues Oie 
estimated unbilled amount as revenue and reverses the related prior period estimate. 

Receivables fi'om customers indude retail electiic sales and distribution deliveries to residential, commercial and industrial 
customers for ttie Utilities, and retail and wholesale sales to c:ustomers for FES. There was no material concentration of 
receivables as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 with respect to any particular segment of FirstEnergy's customers. Billed and 
unbilled customer receivables as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are shown below. 
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Customer Receivables FirstEnergy FES 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(In millions) 

914 $ 

640 

1,554 $ 

1,010 $ 

710 

1,720 $ 

239 

176 

415 

301 

238 

539 

December 31,2014 

Billed 

Unbilled 

Total 

December 31,2013 

Billed 

Unbilled 

Total 

EARNINGS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK 

Basic eamings per share of common stock are computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during tiie relevant period as the denominator. The denominator for diluted eamings per share of common stock refleds the 
weighted average of common shares outstanding plus the potential additional common shares that could result if dilutive 
securities and other agreements to issue common stock were exerdsed. The following table recondles basic and diluted 
eamings per share of common stock: 

Reconciliation of Basic and Diluted Eamings per Share of Common Slock 2014 2013 2012 

Income fi"om cwntinutng operations 

Less: Income attributable to noncontrolling interest 

Income fi"om continuing operations available to common shareholders 

Discontinued operations (Note 19) 

Eamings available to FirstEnergy Corp. 

Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding 

Assumed exerdse of dilutive stock options and awards'^' 

Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding 

(In millions, except per share amounts) 

$ 213 

— 
213 

86 

$ 299 

420 

1 

421 

$ 

$ 

375 

— 
375 

17 

392 

418 

1 

419 

$ 

$ 

755 

1 

754 

16 

770 

418 

1 

419 

Eamings per share: 

Basic eamings per share: 

Continuing operations 

Discontinued operations (Note 19) 

Eamings per basic share 

0.51 

020 

0.71 $ 

0.90 
0.04 

0.94 $ 

1.81 

0.04 

1.85 

Diluted earnings per share: 

Continuing operations 

Discontinued operations (Note 19) 

Eamings per diluted share $ 

0.51 

0.20 

0.71 $ 

090 
0.04 

0.94 $ 

1.80 

0.04 

1.84 

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, approximately two million shares were excluded from the c:alculation of diluted shares 
outstanding, as their indusion would be antidilutive. The numtier of potentially dilutive sec:urities not included in the calculation of diluted 
shares outstanding due to their antidilutive effed was not significant for the year ending December 31,2012. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
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Prc|perty, plant and equipment reflects original cost (net of any impairments recx)gnized), induding payroll and related costs 
such as taxes, employee benefits, administrative and general c:c}sts, and interest costs incurred to place the assets in sen/ice. 
The costs of nomial maintenance, repairs and minor replacements are expensed as incuned. FirstEnergy recognizes liabilities 
for| planned major maintenance projeds as they are Incuned. The cost of nudear fuel ($2 billion included in net plant) is 
capitalized within the CES segment's Property, plant and equipment and charged to foel expense using the specific 
ideptification method. Net plant in service balances by segment as of December 31,2014 and 2013 were as follows: 
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December 31,2014 December 31,2013 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Regulated Distiibution 

Regulated Transmission 

Competitive Energy Sen/ic«s'̂ * 

Corporate/Other 

Total 

In Service 

$ 23,973 

6,634 

16,442 

435 

$ 47,484 

Accum. Depr. 

$ (6,759) 

(1,595) 

(5,598) 

(198) 

$ (14,150) 

Net Plant In Service 

(In millions) 

$ 17,214 $ 23,098 

5,039 5,564 

10.844 15,206 

237 360 

$ 33.334 $ 44,228 

Accum. Depr. 

$ (6,514) 

(1,511) 

(5,088) 

(167) 

$ (13,280) 

Net Plant 

$ 16,584 

4,053 

10,118 

193 

$ 30,948 

(1) Primarily consists of generating assets. 

The major dasses of property, plant and equipment are largely consistent with the segment disdosures above, with the 
exception of Regulated Distribution which has approximately $2 billion of regulated generation net plant in service. 

FirstEnergy provides for depredation on a sti^tght-line basis at various rates over the estimated lives of property induded in 
plant in service. The respec^ve annual composite rates for FirstEnergy's and FES' electric plant in 2014, 2013 and 2012 are 
shown in the following table: 

Annual Composite Depreciation Rate 

2014 2013 2012 

FirstEnergy 2.5% 2.6% 2.5% 

FES 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 

Jointly Owned Plants 

FE, through its subsidiary, AGC, owns an undivided 40% interest (1,200 MWs) in a 3,003 MW pumped storage, hydroelectric 
station in Bath County. Virginia, operated by ttie 60% ovimer, Virginia Eledric and Power Company, a non-affiliated utility. Net 
Property, plant and equipment indudes $686 million representing AGC's share in ttiis fadlity as of December 31, 2014. AGC is 
obligated to pay its share of the costs of this jointiy-owned fadlity in the same proportion as its ownership interest using its own 
finandng. AGC's share of dired expenses of the joint plant is induded in FE's operating expenses on the Consolidated 
Statement of Income. 

Asset Retirement Obligations 

FE rec^ognizes an ARO for the foture decommissioning of its nuclear power plants and fijture remediation of other 
environmenfal liabilities assodated with all of Its long-lived assets. The ARO liability represents an estimate of the fair value of 
FE's current obligation related to nuclear dec::om missioning and ttie retirement or remediation of environmental liabilities of other 
assets. A fair value measurement inherentiy involves uncertainty in the amount and timing of settlement of the liability. FE uses 
an expeded cash fiow approach to measure the fair value of ttie nudear decommissioning and environmenfal remediation 
ARO. This approach applies probability weighting to discounted foture cash flow scenarios that reflect a range of possible 
outcomes. The scenarios cMnsicier settlement of the ARO at the expiration of the nuclear power plant's current license, 
setttement based on an extended license term and expedited remediation dates. The fair value of an ARO is recognized in the 
period in which it is incuned. The assodated asset retirement costs are capifalized as part of the canying value of tiie long-
lived asset and are depredated over the life of the related asset 

Conditional retirement obligations a8scx:iated with fangible long-lived assets are recx)gnlzed at fair value in the period in whiĉ h 
they are incuned if a reasonable estimate can be made, even though there may be uncerfain^ about timing or method of 
settlement. When setttement is conditional on a fufore event occuning, it is reflected in the measurement of the liability, not the 
timing of the liability recognition. 

AROs as of December 31,2014, are described forther in Note 13, Asset Retirement Obligations. 

ASSET IMPAIRMENTS 

Long-lived Assets 
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FitstE .. _tEnergy reviews long-lived assets, induding regulatory assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in 
drcumsfanc:es indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. The recxiverability of a long-lived asset is 
measured by comparing its canying value to the sum of undiscounted fofore cash flows expected to result from the use and 
eventual disposition of ttie asset If the canying value is greater than the undiscounted cash fiows, an impairment exists and a 
loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its estimated fair value. 
FirstEnergy utilizes tiie Income approach, based upon discounted cash flows to estimate fair value. 
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On Odober 9, 2013, MP sold its approximate 8% share of Pleasants at its fair maricet value of $73 million to AE Supply, and 
AE Supply sold its approximate 80% share of Harrison to MP at its b(X)k value of $1.2 billion. The b'ansadion resulted in AE 
Supply receiving net consideration of $1.1 billion and MPs assumption of a $73.5 million pollution control note. In connection 
witti tiie dosing, in the fourth quarter of 2013, MP recorded a pre-tax impairment charge of approximately $322 million to 
reduce the net book value of the Harrison Power Station to the amount that was pennitted to be induded in jurisdictional rate 
base. Additionally, MP recognized a regulatory liability of approximately $23 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 representing 
refonds to customers assodated with the excess purchase price received by MP above the net book value of MP's minority 
interest in the Pleasants Power Station. The Impainnent charge is induded within the results of tiie Regulated Distribution 
segment 

On July 8, 2013, officers of FirstEnergy and AE Supply committed to deactivating ttie Hatfield's Feny, generating Units 1-3, and 
Mitchell, generating units 2-3. As a result of this dedsion, in the second quarter of 2013, FirstEnergy recorded a pre-tax 
impairment of approximately $473 million to continuing operations, which also indudes pre-tax impairments of $13 million 
related to excessive inventory at these facilities. The impainnent charge is induded within the results of the CES segment. On 
Odober 9, 2013, Hatfield's Feny Units 1-3 and Mitchell Units 2-3 were deadivated. 

Goodwill 

In a business combination, the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed is recognized as goodwill. FirstEnergy evaluates gcxidwill for impainnent annually on July 31 and more fi'equently if 
indicators of impairment arise. 

FirstEnergy's reporting units are consistent with its reportable segments and consist of Regulated Distribution, Regulated 
Transmission, and CES. The following table presents goodwill by reporting unit 

Competitive 
Regulated Regulated Energy 

Goodwill Distribution Transmission Services Consolidated 

(In millions) 

Balanceas of December 31,2014 $ 5,092 $ 526 $ 800 $ 6.418 

There were no changes In goodv/ill for any reporting unit during 2014. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, total goodwill 
recwgnized by FES was $23 million. Neither FirstEnergy nor FES has acxumutated impairment charges as of Dec:ember31, 
2014. 

Annual impairment testing is conduded as of July 31 of eaĉ h year and for 2014, 2013 and 2012, tiie analysis indicated no 
impairment of goodwill. FirstEnergy perfonned a quantitative assessment for the Regulated Disbibution. Regulated 
Transmission and CES reporting units as of July 31, 2014. The fair values for each of the reporting units were calculated using 
a discounted cash flow analysis and indicated no impairment of goodwill. 

The fair value of the CES reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 10%, impaded by near term weak 
ecx)nomic conditions and low energy and capacity prices. Key assumptions incorporated into the CES discx)unted cash flow 
analysis requiring significant management judgment included: discount rates, foture energy and capadty pricing, projected 
operating Income, capital expenditures, induding the impad of pending cartDon pollution and ottier environmental regulation, 
and terminal multiples. The July 31, 2014 assessment for this reporting unit induded a discount rate of 8.5% and a tenninal 
multiple of 7.0x eamings before, interest taxes, depredation, and amortization. Continued weak economic conditions, lower 
than forec:asted power and capadty prices, and revised environmental requirements could have a negative impad on foture 
gocx^Mll assessments. 

Key assumptions incxirporated in tiie Regulated Distribution and Regulated Transmission discounted cash fiow analysis 
requiring significant management judgment induded: discount rates, growth rates, projected operating income, changes in 
working capital, projected capital expendifores, projected fonding of pension plans, expeded results of fijture rate prcx:eedings, 
and terminal multiples. 

Investments 

At the end of each reporting pericxl, FirstEnergy evaluates its investments for OTTI. Investments dassified as AFS securities 
are evaluated to determine vi^ether a dedine In fair value below the cx}st basis Is other than temporary. FirstEnergy first 
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considers its intent and ability to hold an equity seairity until recovery and then considers, among otiier fadors, ttie duration 
add the extent to which the security's fair value has been less than its cost and ttie near-term finandal prospects of ttie security 
issuer when evaluating an investment for impairment For debt securities, FirstEnergy considers its intent to hold the securities, 
tfie likelihood ttiat it will be required to sell the securities before recxivery of its cost basis and the likelihcxxl of recovery of the 
securities' entire amortized cost basis. If the decline in fair value is detennined to be other than temporary, the cost basis of ttie 
seburities Is written down to fair value. 

Unrealized gains and losses on AFS secxjrities are recognized in AOCI. However, unrealized losses held in the NDTs of FES, 
OE and TE are recognized in eamings since the trust anangements, as they are cunentiy defined, do not meet the required 
ability and 
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intent to hold criteria in consideration of OTTI. In 2014, 2013 and 2012, FirstEnergy recognized $37 million, $90 million and $16 
million, respectively, of OTTI. During the same periods, FES recognized OTTI of $33 million, $79 million and $14 million, 
respectively. The fair values of FirstEnergy's investments are disclosed in Note 9, Fair Value Measurements. 

INVENTORY 

Materials and supplies inventory indudes foel Inventory and the disbibution, ti'ansmission and generation plant materials, net of 
resen/e for excess and obsolete inventory. Materials are generally charged to Inventory at weighted average cost when 
purchased and expensed or capitalized, as appropriate, when used or Installed. Fuel inventory is accounted for at weighted 
average cost when purchased, and recorded to foel expense when consumed. 

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

in May 2014, the FASB issued Revenue fi"om Contracts with Customers, requiring entities to recognize revenue by applying a 
five-step model in acxxirdance with the core prindple to depid the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an 
amount that refleds the consideration to which the entity expec:ts to be entitied in exchange for those gocxls or sen/ices. In 
addition, ttie accounting for c^sts to obtain or folfill a contrad with a customer is spedfied and disclosure requirements for 
revenue recognition are expanded. This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, with no eariy 
adoption permitted, and shall be applied rettospectively to each pericxl presented or as a cumulative-effed adjustinent as of the 
date of adoption. FirstEnergy is cunentiy evaluating ttie impad on its finandal sfatements of adopting this standard. 

2. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

The changes in AOCI, net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 for FirstEnergy and FES are shown 
in the following tables: 

FirstEnergy 

Gains & Losses on 
Cash Flow Hedges 

AOCI Balance, January 1, 
2012 $ (39) 

Other comprehensive 
income before 
redassifications '̂ ' 

Amounts redassified fi-om 
AOCI 

Net other comprehensive 
income (loss) 

AOCI Balance, December 31, 
2012 $ (38) 

Otiier comprehensive 
income taefore 
redassifications *̂  

Amounts redassified from 
AOCI 

Net other comprehensive 
incx)me (loss) 

AOCI Balance, December 3 i , 
2013 $ (36) $ 

Unrealized Gains on 
AFS Securities 

(in millions) 

$ 19 

41 

(45) 

(4) 

$ 15 

29 

(35) 

(6) 

$ 9 

$ 

. L 

$_ 

Defined Benefit 
Pension & OPEB 

Plans 

446 

79 

(117) 

(38) 

408 

23 

(120) 

(97) 

311 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total 

426 

120 

(161) 

(41) 

385 

52 

(153) 

(101) 

284 

55 50 105 
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other comprehensive 
income before 
redassifications *̂> 

Amounts redassified from 
AOCI £0 (3^ (103) (143) 

Net other cximprehensive 
, / income (loss) (1) 16 (53) (38)̂  

AOCI Balance, December 31, 
2014 $ (37) $ 25 $ 258 $ 246 

''' Unrealized Gains on AFS Securities and Defined Benefits Pension & OPEB plans are net of tax of $25 million and $(3 million), 
respectively. 

'^ Unrealized Gains on AFS Securities and Defined Benefits Pension & OPEB plans are net of tax of $17 million and $12 million, 
respectively. 

'^' Unrealized Gains on AFS Securities and Defined Benefits Pension & OPEB plans are net of lax of $34 million and $42 million, 
respectively. 
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FES 

AOCI Balance, January 1, 
2012 

Ottier comprehensive 
income before 
redassifications '*' 

Amounts redassified fi'om 
AOCI 

Gains & Losses on 
Cash Flow Hedges 

$ 8 

(5) 

Unrealized Gains on 
AFS Securities 

(In millions) 

$ 16 $ 

38 

(41) 

Defined Benefit 
Pension & OPEB 

Plans 

52 

16 

(12) 

$ 

Total 

76 

54 

(58) 

Net other comprehensive 
income (loss) 

AOCI Balance, December 31, 
2012 

Other cx)mprehensive 
income before 
reclassifications *̂* 

Amounts redassified firom 
AOCI 

Net other cximprehensive 
income (loss) 

AOCI Balance, December 31, 
2013 

Other comprehensive 
income before 
redassifications '̂ ^ 

Amounts redassified from 
AOCI 

Net other comprehensive 
loss 

AOCI Balance. December 31, 
2014 $ 

(5) 

(4) 

(4) 

(1) 

(6) 

(6) 

(7) $ 

(3) 

13 

26 

(31) 

(5) 

50 

(37) 

13 

21 $ 

56 

3 

(12) 

(9) 

47 

8 

(12) 

(4) 

43 $ 

(4) 

72 

29 

(47) 

(18) 

54 

58 

(55) 

57 

''* Gains & Losses on Cash Flow Hedges, Unrealized Gains on AFS Securities and Defined Benefits Pension & OPEB plans are net of tax of 
$1 million, $22 million and $9 million, respectively. 

'•̂  Unrealized Gains on AFS Securities and Defined Benefits Pension & OPEB plans are net of tax of $15 million and $2 million, respectively. 

'^' Unrealized Gains on AFS Securities and Defined Benefits Pension & OPEB plans are net of tax of $30 million and $5 million, respectively. 
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The following amounts were redassified from AOCI in the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 for FirstEnergy and 
FES are shown in ttie following tables: 

FirstEnergy 

Reclassifications from AOCI ^ 

Gains & losses on cash flow hedges 

Commodity contracts 

Long-term debt 

Unrealized gains on AFS seciurities 

Realized gains on sales of securities 

Year Ended December 31 Affected Une Item in Consolidated 
2014 2013 2012 Statements of Income 

(In millions) 

$ (10) $ (8) $ (9) Other operating expenses 

8 11 10 Interest expense 

(2) 3 1 Total before taxes 

1 (1) —- Income taxes (benefits) 

$ (1) $ 2 $ 1 Net of tax 

$ (63) $ (56) $ (72) Investment income 

24 21 27 Income taxes (benefits) 

~$ ( 3 ^ $ ( 3 ^ ^ (^ST Net of tax 

Defined benefit pension and OPEB plans 

Prior-sen/ice costs $ (168) $ (195) $ (191) <'' 

I 65 75 74 Income taxes (benefits) 

$ (103) $ (120) $ (117) Net of tax 

'̂ ' These ACXI components are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost. See Note 3, Pension and Other 
Postemployment Benefits for additional details. 

'^ Parenthesis represent credits to the Consolidated Statements of Income from AOCI. 

FES 

Reclassifications from AOCI (̂  

Gains & losses on cash flow hedges 

Commodity conttacts 

Long-term debt 

Unrealized gains on AFS secxjrities 

Realized gains on sales of securities 

pefined benefit pension and OPEB plans 

Prior-service costs 

Year Ended December 31 Affected Line Item in Consolidated 
2012 Statements of Income 2014 2013 

(In millions) 

$ (10) $ (8) $ (9) Other operating expenses 

— 2 -— Interest expense-other 

(10) 
4 

(6) 
2 

(9) Total before taxes 

4 Income taxes (benefits) 

$ (6) $ (4) $ (5) Net of tax 

$ (59) $ (49) $ (65) Investment income 

22 18 24_ Income taxes (benefits) 

$ (37) $ (31) $ (41) Net of tax 

$ (19) $ (20) $ (20) '" 

7 8 8 Income taxes (benefits) 

$ (12) $ (12) $ (12) Net of tax 

["These AOCI components are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost See Note 3, Pension and Other 
postemployment Benefite for additional details. 
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'^ Parenthesis represent credits to the Consolklated Statements of Income from AOCI. 
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3.1PENSI0N AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

FirstEnergy provides noncontributory qualified defined benefit pension plans that cover substantially all of its employees and 
ncjn-qualified pension plans that cover certain employees. The plans provide defined benefits based on years of service and 
cc>mpensation levels. In addition, FirstEnergy provides a minimum amount of noncontiibutory life insurance to retired 
enriployees in addition to optional contributory insurance. Health care benefits, which indude certain employee contiibutions, 
dejductibles and co-payments, are also available upon retirement to certain employees, their dependents and, under certain 
drcumstances, their survivors. FirstEnergy recxignizes the expeded cost of providing pension and OPEB to employees and 
tiieir benefidaries and covered dependents from the time employees are hired until they becxime eligible to receive those 
beinefits. FirstEnergy also has obligations to fonner or inactive employees after employment but before retirement, for 
disability-related benefits. On August 25, 2014, the qualified pension plan was amended authorizing a voluntary cashout 
window program for certain eligible temiinated partidpants with vested benefits. Eligible terminated partidpants were able to 
elect an immediate lump sum cash payment of tiieir vested benetits. Additionally, annuity options were o^ered and could be 
elededinsteadofthelumpsumcashpayment. The eiedion period was September 15, 2014 to Odober 31, 2014. Payment of 
banefits for partidpants that eleded an immediate lump sum cash payment or an annuity commenced on December 1, 2014 
which resulted in a $40 million redudion to the underiijnded status of the pension plan. Additionally, during 2014. certain unions 
ratified tiieir labor agreements that ended subsidized retiree health care resulting in a redudion to the OPEB benefit obligation 
by approximately $97 million. 

FirktEnergy recognizes as a pension and OPEB mark-to-maricet adjustinent the change In tiie fair value of plan assets and net 
actuarial gains and losses annually in the fourth quarter of eac:h fiscal year and whenever a plan Is detemiined to qualify for a 
remeasurement. The remaining components of pension and OPEB expense, primarily sen/ice costs, interest on obligations, 
assumed reforn on assets and prior sen/ice costs, are recorded on a monthly basis. The pension and OPEB martc-to-maricet 
adjustinent for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were $1,243 million ($835 million net of amounts 
capitalized), $(396) million ($(256) million net of amounts capitalized), and $875 million ($609 million net of amounts 
caJDitalized). respedively. In 2014, tiie pension and OPEB maric-to-maricet adjustment primarily refleds a 75 basis point dedine 
in the discount rate, revisions to mortality assumptions extending the expected life in key demographics as forther described 
be ow, lower than expec:ted asset retums, and changes in other demographic assumptions. 

Fir|StEnergy's pension and OPEB fonding policy is based on aduarial computations using the projeded unit credit metiiod. 
Diiring tiie year ended December 31, 2()14, FirstEnergy did not make any contributions to its qualified pension plan. 
Fir|stEnergy expeds to contribute $143 million to its qualified pension plan in 2015. Pension and OPEB costs are affected by 
employee demographic^s (induding age, compensation levels and employment periods), the level of contributions made to the 
plans and eamings on plan assets. Pension and OPEB costs may also be affeded by changes in key assumptions, including 
antidpated rates of retum on plan assets, the discount rates and health care trend rates used in determining the projected 
benefit obligations for pension and OPEB costs. FirstEnergy uses a December 31 measurement date for its pension and OPEB 
plans. The fair value of the plan assets represents the acfoal market value as of the measurement date. 

FiretEnergy's assumed rate of refom on pension plan assets considers historical maricet retums and economic forec:asts for the 
types of investments held by the pension ttusts. In 2014, FirstEnergy's qualified pension and OPEB plan assets eamed $387 
million or 6.2% compared to losses of $(22) million, or (0.3)% in 2013 and assumed a 7.75% rate of retum for both years on 
plan assets which generated $496 million and $535 million of expeded refoms on plan assets, respectively. The expected 
return on pension and OPEB assets is based on the ttusts' asset allocation targets anci the historical performance of risk-based 
and fixed income sec^urities. The gains or losses generated as a result of ttie difference between expected and actual refoms 
on plan assets will increase or decrease fofore net periodic pension and OPEB cost as the difference is recognized annually in 
the fourth quarter of each fisc^al year or whenever a plan is detennined to qualify for remeasurement. 

During 2014, ttie Sodefy of Aduaries published new mortalify tables and improvement scales reflecting improved life 
ex|)ectandes and an expectation that the ttrend will continue. An analysis of FirstEnergy pension and OPEB plan mortalify date 
inc icated the use of the RP2000 mortalify table with projection scale BB2D was most appropriate. As such, the RP2000 
mcrtalify table with projection scale BB2D was utilized to cietermine the 2014 benefit cost and obligation as of December 31, 
2014 for the FirstEnergy pension and OPEB plans. The impad of using the RP2(X)0 mortalify table with projection scale BB2D 
resulted in an increase in the projected benefit obligation of $373 million and $21 million for the pension and OPEB plans, 
respectivefy, and was induded in the 2014 pension and OPEB mark-to-market adjustment 
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PensicHi OPEB 

Ot^ligatlons and Funded Stabis 

Chlange in benefit obligation: 

Be lefit obligation as erf January 1 

Sen/ice cost 

Interest cx}st 

Iffan participants' contributions 

F]*lan amendments 

Medicare retiree drug subsidy 

Actuarial (gain) loss 

Benefits paid 

Benefit obligation as of December 31 

Change in fair value of plan assets: 

Fai r value of plan assets as of January 1 

/actual retum on plan assets 

Company con^butior^ 

Plan participants' cx)ntributions 

Benefits paid 
I 

Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 
I 

Funded Status: 

Qualified plan 

Non-Qualified plans 

Funded Status 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2014 

8,263 

167 

402 

_ 

5 

1,123 

(711) 

9,249 

6,171 

349 

15 

— 

(711) 

5,824 

(3,064) 

(361) 

(3,425) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2013 

(In 

8,975 

197 

372 

— 

2 

(846) 

(437) 

8,263 

6,671 

(77) 

14 

— 

(437) 

6,171 

(1,782) 

(310) 

(2,092) 

2014 

nillions) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

S 

879 

9 

39 

16 

(97) 

13 

(102) 

757 

495 

38 

17 

16 

(102) 

464 

(293) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2013 

1,076 

13 

37 

15 

(37) 

5 

(107) 

(123) 

879 

508 

56 

39 

15 

(123) 

495 

(384) 

Accumulated benefit obligation 8,744 $ 7,800 $ — $ 

Amounts Recognized on the Balance Sheet 

CuifTent liabilities 

Noncurrent liabilities 
I 

Net liabilify as of December 31 

$ 

$ 

(17) 

(3,408) 

(3,425) 

$ 

$ 

(15) 

(2,077) 

(2,092) 

$ 

$ 

— 

(293) 

(293) 

$ 

$ 

— 

(384) 

(384) 

Amounts Recognized in AOCI: 

Prior service cx)st (credit) 45 $ 48 S (479) $ (558) 

Assumptions Used to Determino Benefit Obligations 

(as: of December 31) 

Discount rate 

Rate of compensation inaease 

As sumed Health Care Cost Trend Rates 

( « ; of December 31) 

4.25% 

4.20% 

5.00% 

4.20% 

4.00% 

N/A 

4.75% 

N/A 
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Health care cost trend rate assumed (pre/post-Medicare) 

Rate to which ttie cost tiend rate is assumed to dedine (tiie 
ultimate trend rate) 

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate (pre/post-
Medicare) 

Allocation of Plan Assets (as of Dec^mtwr 31) 

Equify securities 

Bonds 

Absolute rebjm sb^tegies 

Real estate 

Derivatives 

Cash and short-term securities 

Total 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

36% 

33% 

14% 

7% 

1% 

9% 

100% 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

18% 

40% 

23% 

6% 

—% 

13% 

100% 

7.0-7.5% 

4.5% 

2026 

49% 

40% 

1% 

1% 

—% 

9% 

100% 

7.25-7.75% 

5% 

2020 

47% 

40% 

3% 

1% 

—% 

9% 

100% 

The estimated 2015 amortization of pension and OPEB prior service costs (credits) fi*om AOCI into net periodic pension and 
OPEB costs (aedits) is approximately $9 million and $(134) million, respectively. 
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Pension OPEB 

2014 

$ 167 

402 

(462) 

8 

1,235 

$ 1,350 

2014 

5.00% 

7.75% 

4.20% 

2013 

$ 197 

372 

(501) 

12 

(267) 

$ (187) 

Pension 

2013 

4.25% 

7.75% 

4.70% 

$ 

$ 

2012 2014 

(In millions) 

161 

389 

(486) 

12 

735 

811 

2012 

5.00% 

7.75% 

5.20% 

$ 

$ 

9 

39 

(34) 

(176) 

8 

(154) 

2014 

4.75% 

7.75% 

N/A 

$ 

$ 

2013 

13 

37 

(34) 

(207) 

(129) 

(320) 

OPEB 

2013 

4.00% 

7.75% 

N/A 

$ 

$ 

2012 

12 

47 

(37) 

(203) 

140 

(41) 

2012 

4.75% 

7.75% 

N/A 

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs 

Sen/ic» cost 
I 

Interest cost 

Expecrted retum on plan assets 

Amortization of prior sen/Ice cost (aedit) 

Pension & OPEB mark-to-maricet adjustment 

Net periodic cost 

Assumptions Used to Determine Net Periodic 
Benefit Cost 
fof- Years Ended December 31 

Weighted-average discount rate 

E>peded long-tenn reforn on plan assets 

Rate of compensation inaease 

In selecting an assumed discount rate, FirstEnergy considers cunentiy available rates of retum on high-quallfy fixed income 
investments expeded to be available during the period to maturify of the pension and OPEB obligations. The assumed rates of 
retjm on plan assets consider historical maricet refoms and economic forecasts for the fypes of investments held by 
FirstEnergy's pension busts. The long-term rate of refom is developed considering the portfolio's asset allocation sti'ategy. 

Thfe following tables set forth pension finandal assets ttiat are accounted for at fair value by level wittiin tiie fair vaiue hierarchy. 
See Note 9, Fair Value Measurements, for a description of each level of the fair value hierarcrhy. There were no significant 
transfers between levels during 2014 and 2013. 

Cash and short-term securities 

Equify investments 

Domestic 

international 

Fixed income 

Government bonds 
I 

Corporate bonds 

High yield debt 
Mortgage-backed securities (non­

government) 

Altematives 

Hedge fonds (Absolute refom) 

Derivatives 

Private equify fonds 

Real estate fonds 

Total *̂ ' 

Level 1 

$ — 

1,266 

355 

— 
— 

$ 

Level 2 Level 3 

(In millions) 

517 $ 

8 

414 

159 

1,386 

300 

— 

— 

— 

— 
— 

$ 

Total 

517 

1,274 

769 

159 

1,386 

300 

Allocuition 

9% 

22% 

14% 

3% 

24% 

5% 

1,621 $ 

37 37 

3,665 $ 446 $ 5,732 

1% 

809 

35 

— 

— 
— 
25 

421 

809 

35 

25 

421 

14% 

1% 

—% 
7% 

100% 

Exdudes $92 million as of December 31, 2014 of receivables, payables, taxes and accmed income assodated witti financial Instuments 
refleded wittiin ttie fair value table. 

htt{)://investors.firstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 



Document Contents Page 247 of 432 

130 

http://investors.firstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.htnil 10/23/2015 

http://investors.firstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.htnil


Doi;ument Contents Page 248 of 432 

Cash and short-term securities 

Equify investments 
I 

fomestic 

itemational 

rixed incx)me 

Government bonds 
! 
Corporate bonds 
Mortgage-backed securities (non-
I govemment) 

Alternatives 

Hedge fonds (Absolute reforn) 

Derivatives 

private equify fonds 

Real estate fonds 

Tcital <̂> 

Level 1 

$ — 

701 

304 

— 

$ 

Level 2 Level 3 

(In millions) 

782 $ 

3 

118 

314 

2,128 

— $ 

—— 

— 

— 

Total 

782 

704 

422 

314 

2,128 

Asset 
Allocation 

13% 

11% 

7% 

5% 

34% 

1,005 $ 

87 87 

4,841 $ 412 $ 6,258 

1% 

1,395 

14 

— 
— 

— 

— 

27 

385 

1,395 

14 

27 

385 

23% 

—% 

—% 

6% 

100% 

'" I Excludes $(87) million as of December 31,2013 of receivables, payables, taxes and accnjed income associated with financial instnjments 
I reflected within the ^ i r value table. 

The following table provides a recondliation of changes in the fair value of pension investments dassified as Level 3 in the fair 
value hierarc^hy during 2014 and 2013: 

Balance as of January 1, 2013 

Adual retum on plan assets: 

Unrealized gains 

Realized gains 

Transfers out 

Balance as of December 31, 2013 

Acfoal refom on plan assets: 

Unrealized gains (losses) 

Realized gains 

Transfers In (out) 

Balance as of Dec:ember 31, 2014 

Private Equity 
Funds 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Real Estate 
Funds 

(In millions) 

33 

1 

5 

(12) 

27 

(2) 
1 

(1) 
25 

$ 

$ 

$_ 

357 

17 

13 

(2) 

385 

17 

14 

5 

421 
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As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the OPEB tiust investments measured at fair value were as follows: 

Cash and short-term sec:urities 

Equify investment 

Domestic 

Intemational 

Fixed income 

U.S. treasuries 

Govemment bonds 

Corporate bonds 

High yield debt 
Mortgage-backed secxjrities (non­

government) 

Alternatives 

Hedge fonds 

Real estate fonds 

Tofal <̂> 

— 

$ 

$ 

Level 1 

— 

230 

3 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 
— 

233 

$ 

$ 

Level 2 Level 3 

(In millions) 

41 

— 

3 

41 

110 

32 

2 

3 

5 

— 

237 

$ 

T 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

3 

3 

$ 

$ 

Total 

41 

230 

6 

41 

110 

32 

2 

3 

5 

3 

473 

Asset 
Allocation 

9% 

48% 

1% 

9% 

23% 

7% 

—% 

1% 

1% 

1% 

100% 

*̂ ' Excludes $(9) million as of December 31, 2014 of receivables, payables, taxes and accnjed income associated with financial insbuments 
reflected within the fair value table. 

Cash and short-term sec:urities 

Equify investinent 

Domestic 

Intemational 

Mufoal fonds 

Fixed income 

U.S. treasuries 

Govemment bonds 

Corporate bonds 
Mortgage-backed securities (non-

govemment) 

Altematives 

Hedge fonds 

Real esfate fonds 

Tofal <" 

$ 

$ 

Level 1 

— 

227 

4 

5 

— 

— 

— 

_ 

— 

236 

$ 

$ 

Level 2 Level 3 

(In millions) 

47 

— 

2 
— 

44 

91 

59 

3 

17 

— 

263 

$ 

"$" 

_ $ 

— 

— 
_ 

— 

— 

— 

— 

5 

5 $ 

Total 

47 

227 

6 

5 

44 

91 

59 

3 

17 

5 

504 

Asset 
Allocation 

9% 

45% 

1% 

1% 

9% 

18% 

12% 

1% 

3% 

1% 

100% 

"' Excludes $(9) million as of December 31, 2013, of receivables, payables, taxes and accrued income associated with financial instruments 
reflected within the fair value table. 
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$ 5 

5 

(2) 

$ 3 

The following fable provides a recondliation of changes in the fair value of OPEB trust investments dassified as Level 3 in the 
fair value hierarchy during 2014 and 2013: 

Real Estate 
Funds 

Balance as of January 1, 2013 

Balance as of December 31,2013 

Transfers out 

Balance as of December 31, 2014 

FirstEnergy follows a total retum investment approach using a mix of equities, fixed income and other available investments 
while faking into account tiie pension plan liabilities to optimize the long-term refom on plan assets for a prudent level of risk. 
Risk tolerance is estdblisheci through carefol consideration of plan liabilities, plan fijnded status and corporate finandal 
condition. The investinent portfolio contains a diversified blend of equify and fixed-income investments. Equify investments are 
diversified aaoss U.S. and non-U.S. stocks, as vrell as growtti, value, and small and large capitalization fonds. Other assets 
such as real estate and private equify are used to enhance long-term retums while improving portfolio diversification. 
Derivatives may be used to gain maricet exposure in an effident and timely manner; however, derivatives are not used to 
leverage tiie portfolio beyond the maricet value of the underiying investments. Investment risk Is measured and monitored on a 
continuing basis through periodic investinent portfolio reviews, annual liabilify measurements and periodic asset/llabilify studies. 

FirstEnergy's farget asset allocations for its pension and OPEB tmst portfolios for 2014 and 2013 are shown in the following 
table: 

Target Asset Allocations 

Equities 

Fixed income 

Absolute return sttategies 

Real estate 

Altemative investments 

Cash 

2014 

42% 

32% 

14% 

5% 

1% 

6% 

100% 

2013 

26% 

40% 

22% 

5% 

1% 

6% 

100% 

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effed on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-
percentage-point change in assumed health care cost tt-end rates would have the following effects: 

1 -Percentage-Point 
Increase 

1-Percentage-
Point Decrease 

Effect on tofal of sen/ice and interest cost 

Effect on accumulated benefit obligation 

(In millions) 

2 $ 

23 $ 
(1) 

(22) 

Taking into account estimated employee foture sen/ice, FirstEnergy expects to make the follovwng benefit payments firom plan 
assets and otiier payments, net of partidpant contributions: 

OPEB 

Pension 

2015 

2016 

2017 

467 

476 

491 

$ 

Benefit 
Payments 

(in millions) 

59 

59 

58 

Subsidy Receipts 

$ (3) 

(3) 

(3) 
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2018 

2019 

Years 2020-2024 

513 

529 

2,887 

56 

55 

260 

(3) 

(3) 
(10) 
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FE^' share of the pension and OPEB net (liabilify) asset as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, was as follows: 
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Pension OPEB 

2014 2013 2014 2013 

(In millions) 

Net (Liabilify) Asset $ (295) $ (149) $ 10 $ (8) 

FES' share of the net pericxllc pension and OPEB costs (aedits) for the three years ended Dec:ember 31, 2014 was as follows: 

Pension OPEB 

2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 

(In millions) 

Net Periodic Costs (Credits) $ 150 $ (30) $ 78 $ (24) $ (40) $ (11) 

4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

FirstEnergy has four stcrck-based compensation plans - ICP, 401 (k) Savings Plan, EDCP and DCPD, as described forther 
below. 

ICP 

The ICP indudes four forms of stock-based compensation — restiided stock, restrided stock units, stock options and 
performance shares. 

Under the ICP, total issuances cannot exceed 29 million shares of common stock or their equivalent. Stock options, restrided 
stcx̂ k and resttided stock units are fypically designated to pay out in common stock and performance shares are fypically 
designated to pay out in cash, although the fonn of payout for resttided stock units and for performance shares granted prior to 
2013 can vary if the redpient eleds to defer the award. Vesting periods range from one to ten years with majorify of awards 
having a vesting period of three years. As of Decemtier 31, 2014, approximately 1.3 million shares were available for fijture 
grants assuming maximum performance mefocs are achieved for the 2013-2015 and 2014-2016 cycles of restrided stock units 
(or approximately 2.6 million shares available assuming perfomiance at target) plus any shares that become available again 
under the ICP due to cancellations, forfeitures, cash settiements or other similar drcyjmstences virith resped to outstanding 
awards. Beginning in December 2013, shares used under the ICP are issued from authorized but unissued common stock. 

FirstEnergy records the compensation costs for stock-based compensation awards over the vesting pericxl based on the fair 
value on the grant date, less estimated forfeitures. FirstEnergy records the adual tax benefit realized firom tax deductions when 
awards are exerdsed or distributed. Realized tax benefits during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were 
$13 million, $13 million and $22 million, respedively. The excess of the deductible amount over the recx>gnized compensation 
cost is recorded as a component of stockholders' equify and reported as a finandng activify on tiie Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows. 

Restrided Stock and Restiided Stock Units 

Restiided common stock (restrided stock) and resttided stock units (stcx^k units) activify for ttie year ended December 31, 
2014, was as follows: 

Outstanding as of January 1, 2014 2,216,609 
Granted 1,171,318 
Vested'" (872,574) 
Forfeited (103,549) 

Outstanding as of December 31. 2014 2,411,804 

'̂ ' Exdudes dividend equivalents of 148,982 eamed during vesting period 

The 1,171,318 shares of restiided stock and stock units granted during the year ended December 31, 2014, indudes 259,812 
stcx:k units related to previous grants due to above target perfonnance. 
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Eligible employees rec:eive awards of FE restricted stock or stcx:k units subjec:t to restridions that lapse over a defined period of 
ttnte or upon ac:hieving performance results. Dividends are received on the restrided stock and are reinvested in additional 
shares. Restiided stock grants under the ICP were as follows: 
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2014 2013 

Restrided stoc^ granted 

Weighted average market price 

Weighted average vesting period (years) 

Dividends restricted 

Vesting activify for restrided stock during 2014 was as follows: 

2012 

$ 

20,000 

32.71 $ 

2.29 

Yes 

27,561 

42.53 $ 

3.68 

Yes 

263,771 

44.82 

3.09 

Yes 

Restricted Stock 

Weighted 
Average 

Numt>erof Grant-Date 
Shares Fair Value 

Nonvested as of January 1, 2014 

Nonvested as of December 31, 2014 

Granted in 2014 

Forfeited in 2014 

Vested in 2014<'> 

417,464 $ 

342,286 $ 

20,000 $ 

1,743 $ 

93,435 $ 

45.46 
45.29 
32.71 
33.56 
37.30 

<̂ ' Excludes 16,480 shares for dividends eamed during vesting period 

FirstEnergy grants two fypes of stock unit awards: disaetionary-based and performanc»-based. The disaetionary-based 
awards grant the right to rec;eive, at the end of the period of restriction, a number of shares of common stock equal to the 
number of stock units set forth in each agreement Perfomiance-based awards grant the right to receive, at the end of ttie 
period of resfodion, a number of shares of common stock equal to the number of stock units set fortti In the agreement subjed 
to adjustment based on FirstEnergy's performance relative to finandal and operational performance targets. 

2014 2013 2012 

Restrided stock units granted 

Weighted average vesting period (years) 

Vesting adivify for stock units during 2014 was as follows: 

Restricted Stock Unite 

1,151,318 

3.00 

Number of 
Shares 

924.576 

3.00 

Weighted 
Average 

Grant-Date 
Fair Value 

652,120 

3.00 

Nonvested as of January 1, 2014 

Nonvested as of December 31, 2014 

Granted in 2014 

Forfeited in 2014 

Vested in 2014 *'> 

1,799,145 $ 40.86 

2,069,518 $ 37.65 

1,151.318 $ 32.17 

101,806 $ 38.70 

779.139 $ 30.67 

'" Exdudes dividend equivalents of 132,502 eamed during vesting period 

As of December 31, 2014, there was $31 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based 
compensation anangements granted for restrided stock and restirided stock units; tiiat cost is expecrted to be recognized over 
a period of approximately 2 years. 

Stock Options 

Stock options were granted to eligible employees allowing them to purchase a spedfied number of common shares at a fixed 
grant pric:e over a defined period of time. Stock option activify during 2014 was as follows: 
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stock Option Activity 

Balance, January 1, 2014 (1,997,969 options exerdsable) 

Options exercised 

Options forfeited 

Balance, December 31, 2014 (1,077,988 options exerdsable) 

Number of 
Shares 

2.359,126 

(50.007) 

(869,974) 

1,439,145 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

$ 

$ 

42.59 

21.58 

40.07 

44.83 

Cash received fi'om the exerdse of stock options in 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $1 million, $19 million and $50 million, 
respedively. The total intrinsic value of options exerdsed during 2014 was $1 million. 
Options outstanding and range of exerdse prices as of December 31, 2014, vi/ere as follows: 

Options Outetanding 

Range of 
Exercise Prices 

$28.42-$37.74 

$37.75-$53.08 

$53.09-$81.19 

Totel 

Shares 

491,245 

667,458 

280,442 

1,439,145 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 

$ 35.23 

$ 37.87 

$ 78.23 

$ 44.83 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life 
(in years) 

3.98 

5.79 

2.90 

4.61 

The aggregate intrinsic value of stcx:k options outstanding as of December 31, 2014 was $3 million. 

Perfonnance Shares 

Performance shares are share equivalents and do not have voting rights. The performance shares track the performance of 
FE's common stoc:k over a three-year vesting pericxl. During that time, dividend equivalents accrue and at vesting are 
converted into additional performance shares. The final accxiunt value may t>e adjusted based on the ranking of FE stock 
performance to a composite of peer companies. In 2014, $3 million cash was paid to settle performance share obligations. 
During 2013 and 2012, no cash was paid to settie perfonnance shares due to the criteria not being met for the previous 
three-year vesting period. 

401(k) Savings Plan 

In 2014, 756,412 shares of FE common stock were issued and confobuted to participants' accounts. In 2013 and 2012, 
approximately 708,000 and 543,600 shares of FE common stock, respectively, were purchased on the market and contributed 
to participants' accxiunts. 

EDCP 

Under the EDCP, covered employees can direct a portion of their compensation, induding annual incentive awards and/or 
long-term incentive awards, into unfonded FE stock accounts to receive vested stock units or into an unfonded retirement cash 
account. Dividends are calculated quarterly on stcx:k units outstanding and are credited in the form of additional stock units. 
The forni of payout can vary depending upon ttie form of ttie award, the duration of the defenal and other fadors. However, as 
a resutt of amendments to the EDCP that were implemented in January 2014 and January 2015 respectively, payments made 
with resped to any dividend equivalent units tiiat accrue after January 21, 2014 and any Short-Tenn Incentive Awards that are 
defened after January 21, 2014 are paid in cash, and effective Febmary 23, 2015, all fijture contiibutions to stock accounts 
directed from perfonnance share awards will be paid in cash upon the end of the three-year defenal period. Payout of the stock 
accxjunts fypically occurs three years from ttie date of defenal; however, partidpants may elect to defer ttieir shares into a 
retirement stock account that will pay out in cash upon retirement Interest is calculated on ttie cash allocated to the cash 
account and the total balance will pay out In cash upon retirement 

DCPD 

http://investors.firstenergycorpxoni/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 

http://investors.firstenergycorpxoni/Cache/c27740735.html


Doiument Contents Page 25 8 of 432 

Urxler the DCPD, members of the Board of Directors can elect to allocate all or a portion of their equify retainers to defened 
stock and their ĉ ash retainers, meeting fees and chair fees to defened stock or defened cash accounts. The net liabilify 
recognized for DCPD of approximatefy $8 million and $7 million as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, 
respectively, is induded in the caption "Retirement benefits" on ttie Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Tb 2 shareholder approved pcwls for tiie EDCP and DCPD expired in May 2014, after this date shares for the EDCP and DCPD 
have been issued firom tiie ICP shareholder approved pcx)l. 
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stock-based Compensation Expense 

Pre-tax stcx:k-based compensation costs and ttie amount of stock-based compensation expense capitalized related to 
FirstEnergy and FES plans are induded in the following tables: 

FirstEnergy 

Stock-t}ased Compensation Plan 

Years ended December 31. 

Restrided Stock and Restricted Stcx:k Units 

Stock Options 

Performance Shares 

401(k) Savings Plan 

EDCP 

DCPD 

Total 

Stock-based compensation costs capitalized 

2014 

$ 31 

— 
5 

25 

3 

5 

$ 69 

2013 

(In millions) 

$ 

$ 

42 
— 

(10) 

25 

(2) 
5 

60 

$ 

$ 

2012 

42 

1 

5 

37 

— 
4 

89 

23 $ 20 $ 29 

FES 

Stock-based Compensation Plan 

Years ended Decemt)er 31, 

Restiided Stock and Restrided Stock Units 

Performance Shares 

401(k) Savings Plan 

Total 

Stock-based compensation costs capitalized 

2014 2013 

(In millions) 

$ 4 $ 

1 

4 

$ 9 $ 

6 

(1) 
4 

9 

2012 

$ 6 

1 

6 
$ 13 

$ 1 $ 1 $ 1 

Tax benefits assodated with stock based compensation plan expense were $14 million, $23 million and $11 million (FES - $2 
million, $1 million and $2 million) for the years ended 2014, 2013 and 2012, respedively. 

5. TAXES 

FirstEnergy records income taxes in accordance with the liabilify method of accounting. Defened income taxes refiec:t the net 
tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for finandal reporting purposes and 
ttie amounts recxjgnized for tax purposes. Investment tax credits, which were defened when utilized, are being amortized over 
the recovery pericxl of the related properfy. Defened income tax liabilities related to temporary tax and accounting basis 
differences and tax credit canyfonward items are recognized at the stafotory income tax rates in effect when the liabilities are 
expeded to be paid. Defened tax assets are recognized based on income tax rates expeded to be in effect when Uiey are 
settied. 

FES and the Utilities are party to an intercompany income tax allocation agreement with FirstEnergy and its other subsidiaries 
that provides for the allocation of cxinsolidated tax liabilities. Net tax benefits atttibutable to FirstEnergy, exduding any tax 
benefits derived fi-om interest expense associated with acquisition indebtedness from ttie merger with GPU, are reallocated to 
the subsidiaries of FirstEnergy that have taxable Income. That allocation Is accounted for as a capital contiibution to the 
company receiving the tax benefit 

On December 19, 2014, the President signed into law tiie Tax Increase Prevention A d of 2014 (the Ad). The Ad, among ottier 
things, extended retroactively tiie R&D tax aedit unttl December 31. 2014. and also extended accelerated depredation of 
qualified capital investinents placed into sen/ice before January 1, 2015. FirstEnergy and FES recorded ttie effects of the A d in 
the fourth quarter of 2014. The retroadive extension of the tax benefits did not have a significant impact to the effedive tax 
rate. 
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PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES (BENEFITS)'^' 

FirstEnergy 

Cunentiy payable (receivable)-

Federal 

State 

Defened, net-

Federal 

State 

Investment tax credit amortization 

Total provision for income taxes (benefits) 

2014 2013 2012 

$ 

$ 

(132) 

(72) 

(204) 

214 

(42) 

172 

(10) 
(42) 

$ 

$ 

(in millions) 

(118) 

70 

(48) 

305 

(54) 

251 

(8) 
195 

$ 

$ 

(130) 

28 

(102) 

580 

78 

658 

(11) 
545 

FES 

Cunentiy payable (receivable)-

Federal 

State 

Defened, net-

Federal 

State 

Investinent tax credit amortization 

Total provision for income taxes (benefits) 

$ 

$ 

(222) 

(13) 

(235) 

25 

(14) 

11 

(4) 
(228) 

$ 

$ 

(300) 

(3) 
(303) 

317 

(4) 

313 

(4) 
6 

$ 

$ 

(128) 

17 

(111) 

209 

9 

218 

(4) 
103 

'"Provision for Income Taxes (Benefits) on Incxime from Continuing Operations. Currently payable (receivable) in 2014 
exdudes $106 million and $12 million of federal and state taxes, respec:tivety, associated with discontinued operations. 
Defen-ed, net in 2014 excludes $44 million and $5 million of federal and state tax benefits, respectively, associated witii 
discontinued operations. 
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FirstEnergy and FES tax rates are affected by pemianent items, such as AFUDC equify and other flow-through Items as well as 
discrete items that may occur in any given period, but are not consistent from pericxl to period. The following tables provide a 
reciondliation of federal income tax expense at the federal stafotory rate to the total provision for Income taxes on continuing 
operations for ttie three years ended December 31, 2014: 

2014 2013 2012 

FirstEnergy 
Income ft^om Continuing Operations before provision for 
income taxes 

Federal income tax expense at statutory rate (35%) 

lnc:reases (redudions) in taxes resulting from-

Amortization of investment tax credits 

State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 

Medicare Part D 

Effectively settied tax items, induding interest 

ESOP dividend 

Change in accounting method 

Tax basis balance sheet adjustments 

AFUDC equify and other flow-through 

Other, net 

Total provision for income taxes (benefits) 

Effedive income tax rate 

FES 
Income (loss) from Continuing Operations before provision 
for income taxes (benefits) 

Federal income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate (35%) $ 

Increases (redudions) in taxes resulting fi'om-

Amortization of investment tax credits 

State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 

Effectively settled tax items 

ESOP dividend 

Other, net 

Total provision for incx)me taxes (benefits) 

Effective income tax rate 

$ 

$ 

$ 

171 

60 

(10) 

12 

— 

(35) 

(6) 
(27) 

(25) 

(13) 

2 

(42) 

(In millions) 

^ $_ 

' $ 

$ 

570 

199 

(8) 

10 

— 

(2) 

(9) 
— 

— 

(7) 
12 

195 

$ 

$ 

$ 

1,299 

455 

(11) 

79 

32 

(20) 

— 

— 

— 

— 
10 

545 

$ 

(24.6)% 

(588) $ 

34.2% 

52 $ 

38.8 % 11.5% 

42.0% 

276 

$ 

$ 

(206) 

(4) 

(14) 

— 

(1) 
(3) 

(228) 

$ 

$ 

18 

(4) 

(5) 
— 

(2) 

(1) 

6 

$ 

$ 

97 

(4) 
17 

(11) 

— 

4 

103 

37.3% 

In 2014, FirstEnergy's effective tax rate was (24.6)% compared to 34.2% in 2013. The decrease In the effective tax rate year 
over year relates primarily to a $399 million decrease in income from continuing operations, tax benefits assodated with an IRS 
approved change in accounting methcxl for costs assodated with the reforbishment of meters and transformers ($27 million), 
ancl additional tax benefits on uncertain state tax positions due to expiration of the stafote of limitations ($33 million). 
AdjJitionally, during 2014, income tax benefits of $25 million were reosrded that related to prior periods. The out-of-period 
adjustinent primarify related to tiie conection of amounts induded in tiie Company's tax basis balance sheet Management has 
dellermlned that this adjustinent is not material to ttie cunent or any prior period. TTiese benefits were partially offeet by higher 
valiiatton allowanc:e$ recorded in 2014 on state and munidpal NOL c:arryfonA/ards that the Company believes are no longer 
realizable and ttie absence of tax benefits recorded in 2013 for changes in state apportionment fadors as well as a decrease in 
defened tax liabilities assodated with ttie elimination of business nexus In certain state jurisdictions. 

1 

In 12014, FES' effective tax rate (on a toss from continuing operations) vras 38.8% compared to 11.5% (on income fi'om 
coritinuing operations) in 2013. During 2014, FES' effective tax rate benefited from changes to state apportionment factors but 
was offeet by valuation allowances recorded on state and munidpalify NOL canyforwards. 
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Accumulated deferred income taxes as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows: 

2014 2013 

FirstEnergy 

Properfy basis differences 

Defened sale and leaseback gain 

Pension and OPEB 

Nudear decommissioning activities 

Asset retirement obligations 

Regulatory asset/liabilify 

Loss carryfonArards and AMT credits 

Loss carryforward valuation reserve 

All otiier 

Net defened income tax liabilify 

FES 

Properfy basis differences 

Deferred sale and leasebac^k gain 

Pension and OPEB 

Lease maricet valuation liabilify 

Nudear decommissioning adivities 

Asset retirement obligations 
i 

I Loss carryfonwards and AMT credits 

'' Loss canyforward valuation reserve 

• All otiier 

I Net defened income tax liabilify 

FirstEnergy has tax retums that are under review at the audit or appeals level by the IRS and state taxing authorities. 
FirsjlEnergy's tax refoms for alt state jurisdictions are open from 2010-2013. In April 2014, the IRS completed its examination of 
FirstEnergy's 2011 and 2012 federal income tax refoms and issued Revenue Agent Reports for ttiose years. In addition, in 
Janjary 2015, the IRS completed its examination of the 2013 federal income tax retum and issued a Revenue Agent Report 
For tax years 2011-2013 there were no material impads to FirstEnergy's effective tax rate assodated with ttiese examinations. 
Tax year 2014 is cunentty under review by the IRS. 

FirsJEnergy has recorded as defened income tax assets the effect of NOLs and tax credits that will more likefy than not be 
realized through fofore operations and through the reversal of existing temporary differences. As of December 31, 2014, tiie 
defened income tax assets, before any valuation allowances, consisted of $1.5 billion of Federal NOL carryfonA/ards that expire 
frorn 2030 to 2034, Federal AMT credits of $25 million that have an indefinite carryfonArard period, and $413 million of state and 
local NOL canyfonvards that will begin to expire in 2015. 

The^table below summarizes pre-tax NOL carryfonwards for state and local income tax purposes of approximately $9.9 billion 
for FirstEnergy, of which approximatefy $5.6 billion Is expected to be utilized based on current estimates and assumptions. The 
ultimate utilization of these NOLs may be impaded by statutory limitations on the use of NOLs imposed by state and local tax 
jurisdidions, changes in stafotory tax rates, and changes in business which, among other tilings, impad both fofore profitabilify 
and! the manner In which fofore taxable income is apportioned to various state and local tax jurisdictions. 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(In millions) 

9,354 

(381) 

(1,433) 

458 

(641) 

768 

(1,932) 

174 

172 

6,539 

1.749 

(356) 

(373) 

75 

489 

(486) 

(631) 

32 

(15) 

484 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

8,734 

(401) 

(972) 

460 

(651) 

750 

(1,598) 

125 

155 

6,602 

1,354 

(370) 

(66) 

54 

470 

(439) 

(354) 

27 

40 

716 

Expiration Period FirstEnergy FES 

State 

(In millions) 

Local State Local 
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2015-2019 

2020-2024 

2025-2029 

2030-2034 

$ 

$ 

63 $ 

1,813 

1,704 

3,172 

6.752 $ 

2,524 $ 

646 

— 

— 

3,170 $ 

- $ 

182 

88 

1,001 

1.271 $ 

Page 265 of 432 

1,874 

— 

— 

— 

1,874 
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FirstEnergy accounte for uncertainty in income taxes recx>gnized in its finandal statemente. A recognition threshold and 
measurement atttlbute is utilized for finandal statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be 
taken on a company's tax refom. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, FirstEnergy's total unrecognized income tax benefits 
were approximately $34 million and $48 million, respectively. All $34 million of unrecognized income tax benefits as of 
December 31. 2014, would impad the effective tax rate if ultimately recognized in fofore years. As of December 31, 2014. it is 
reasonably possible that approximately $10 million of unrecognized tax benefits may be resolved during 2015 as a result of ttie 
stafote of limitations expiring, all of which would affect FirstEnergy's effective tax rate. 

Th0 following table summarizes the changes in unrecognized tax positions for tiie years ended 2014,2013 and 2012: 

Balance, January 1,2012 

Cunent year increases 

Current year decreases 

Prior years increases 

Prior years dec:reases 

Decrease for settiements 

Balance, December 31, 2012 

Prior years increases 

Prior years deaeases 

Balance, December 31,2013 

Cunent year increases 

Prior years increases 

Prior years deca^eases 

Balance, December 31,2014 

FirstEnergy 

(in millions) 

$ 117 

2 

(7) 
6 

(37) 

(38) 

$ 43 

10 

(5) 

$ 48 

4 

5 

(23) 

$ 34 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

FES 

45 

— 
— 
6 

(13) 

(35) 

3 

— 
— 
3 

— 
— 
— 
3 

FirstEnergy recognizes interest expense or income related to uncertain tax positions. That amount is computed by applying the 
applicable stafotory interest rate to tiie difference between the tax position recognized and tiie amount previously taken or 
exftected to be taken on tiie federal income tax refom. FirstEnergy indudes net interest and penalties in the provision for 
income taxes. FirstEnergy's reversal of accnjed interest asscxaated with unrecognized tax benefits reduced FirstEnergy's 
effective tax rate in 2014 and 2012 by approximately $6 million and $4 million, respectively. There was no reversal of accrued 
interest for the year ended December 31,2013. 

The following table summarizes the net Interest expense (income) for the three years ended December 31, 2014 and the 
curpulative net interest payable as of December 31, 2014 and 2013: 

Net Interest Expense (Income) 
For the Years Ended December 31, 

Net Interest Payable 
As of December 31, 

2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 

FirstEnergy 

FES 

(6) 

(In millions) 

$ 1 $ (4) $ 

(4) 

(In millions) 

2 $ 
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General Taxes 

2014 2013 2012 

FirstEnergy 

KWH excise 

State gross receipte 

Real and personal properfy 

Sodal securify and unemployment 

Other 

Total general taxes 

FES 

State gross receipts 

Real and personal properfy 

Sodal securify and unemployment 

Other 

Total general taxes 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

194 

226 

393 

112 

37 

962 

69 

39 

17 

3 

128 

(In millions) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$_ 

219 

240 

368 

110 

41 

978 

77 

40 

19 

2 

138 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

230 

251 

328 

126 

49 

984 

77 

35 

20 

4 

136 

142 
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6. LEASES 

FirstEnergy leases certain generating fedlities, office space and other properfy and equipment under canc^elable and 
noncancelable leases. 

In 1987, OE sold portions of its ownership intereste In Peny Unit 1 and Beaver Valley Unit 2 and entered into operating leases 
on the portions sold for basic lease terms of approximately 29 years, expiring in 2016. In that same year, CEI and TE also sold 
portions of their ownership interests in Beaver Valley Unit 2 and Bruce Mansfield Unite 1, 2 and 3 and entered into similar 
operating leases for lease tenns of approximately 30 years expiring in 2017. During the terms of their respective leases, OE, 
CEI and TE are responsible, to the extent of their leasehold Intereste, for costs assodated with the unite induding consttudion 
exl^endifores, operation and maintenance expenses, insurance, nudear foet, properfy taxes and decommissioning. They have 
ttie rigtit, at the expiration of the respedive basic lease terms, to renew tiieir respedive leases. They also have the right to 
purchase the facilities at the expiration of the basic lease temi or any renewal terni at a price equal to the fair maricet value of 
the fadlities. The basic rental payments are adjusted when applicable federal tax law changes. 

In 2007, FG completed a sale and leaseback tt'ansadion for its 93.825% undivided interest In Bmce Mansfield Unit 1 and 
entered into operating leases for basic lease tenns of approximately 33 years, expiring in 2040. FES has unconditionally and 
inevocably guaranteed all of FG's obligations under each of ttie leases. In 2013, FG acquired the remaining lessor interests in 
Bnjce Mansfield Units 1, 2 and 3, which were part of the leases entered into by CEI and TE in 1987. 

In =ebnjary 2014, NG purchased 47.7 MW of lessor equify intereste in OE's existing sale and leaseback of Beaver Valley Unit 2 
for approximately $94 million. On June 24, 2014, OE exerdsed ite inevocable right to repurchase fix)m the remaining owner 
pa tidpants the lessors'interests in Beaver Valley Unit 2 at the end of the lease tenn (June 1. 2017), which right to repurchase 
was assigned to NG. Additionally, on June 24, 2014, NG entered into a purchase agreement with an owner partidpant to 
purchase its lessor equify interests of the remaining non-affiliated leasehold interest in Peny Unit 1 on May 23, 2016, which is 
just prior to the end of the lease term. In November 2014, NG repurchased 55.3 MW of lessor equify Interests In OEs existing 
sale and leaseback of Perry Unit 1 for approximately $87 million. OE and TE continue to lease these MW under their respective 
safe and leaseback arrangements and the related lease debt remains outstanding. 

i 

Established by OE in 1996, PNBV purchased a portion of the lease obligation bonds issued on behalf of lessors in OE's Peny 
Unt 1 and Beaver Valley Unit 2 sale and leaseback transadions. Similariy, CEI and TE established Shippingport in 1997 to 
pui chase the lease obligation bonds issued on behalf of lessors in their Bruce Mansfield Units 1, 2 and 3 sale and leasebadc 
traisadlons. During 2013, the investments held at Shippingport were liquidated. The PNBV arrangements effectively reduce 
le£|se costs related to those tiansadions (see Note 8, Variable Interest Entities). 

As of December 31, 2014, FirstEnergy's leasehold interest was 3.75% of Perry Unit 1, 93.83% of Bruce Mansfield Unit 1 and 
2.60% of Beaver Valley Unit 2. 

Operating lease expense for 2014,2013 and 2012, is summarized as follows: 

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 

FirstEnergy 199 224 291 

FES 95 97 140 

The fofore minimum capital lease payments as of December 31, 2014 are as follows: 

Capital leases FirstEnergy FES 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

Years thereafter 
Total minimum lease paymente 185 19 
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(In millions) 

39 $ 

36 

30 

23 

18 

40 

6 

6 

5 

2 
-_ 

— 
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Interest portion ^5) (1) 

Present value of net minimum lease paymente 160 18 

Less cunent portion 34 5^ 

Noncunent portion $ 126 $ 13 
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FiretEnergy's fofore minimum consolidated operating lease paymente as of December 31,2014, are as follows: 

F i rs tEnei^ 

Operating L e a s ^ 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

Years thereafter 

Total minimum lease payments 

Lease Payments 

$ 245 

197 

122 

128 

109 

1,482 

$ 2,283 

$ 

$ 

PNBV 

(In millions) 

40 

13 

3 

— 

— 

— 

56 

$ 

$ 

Net 

205 

184 

119 

128 

109 

1,482 

2,227 

FES' fijfore minimum operating lease payments as of December 31, 2014, are as follows: 

Operating Leases 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

Years thereafter 

Total minimum lease payments 

$ 

$ 

Lease Payments 

(In millions) 

142 

131 

81 

101 

97 

1,383 

1,935 

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

As of Decemfc>er31, 2014, intangible assets dassified in Other Defened Charges on FirstEnergy's Consolidated Balance 
Sheet, indude the following: 

Intangible Assets Amortization Expense 

Ac:tuat Estimated 

(In millions) Gross 
Accumulated 
Amortization Net 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter 

NUG contracts'" 

OVEC 

CQal contracts™^ 

FES customer 
contracts 

124 $ 

54 

556 

148 

20 $ 104 $ 

7 47 

289 267 

70 78 

5 

2 

55 

18 

S 5 $ 5 $ 5 $ 

2 2 2 

51 51 45 

17 17 16 

5 $ 

2 

30 

14 

5 $ 

2 

30 

13 

79 

37 

19 

$ 882 $ 386 $ 496 $ 80 $ 75 $ 75 $ 68 $ 51 $ 50 $ 136 

''* NUG contracts are subject to regulatory accxHjnting and their amortization does not impact eamings. 
^ A gross amount of $40 million ($29 million, net) of tiie coal conb^cts is related to FES. The 2014 and estimated 2015 to 2019 amortization 

expense for FES is $5.7 million annually. 
^ A gross amount of $102 mUlion ($41 million, net) of ttie coal contracte was recorded with a regulatocy offset and the anwrtization does not 

impact eamings. Accordingly, the amortization expense for these coal contracte is exduded fTom table above. 

FES acquired certain customer contract righte which were capitalized as intangible assete. These righte allmv FES to supply 
etectic generation to customers, and the recorded vafoe is being amortized ratably over the term of the related contrads. 
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8. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES 
I 

FirstEnergy performs qualitative analyses based on powers and benefite to determine whether a variable interest gives 
FirstEnergy a controlling finandal interest in a VIE. This analysis identifies tiie primary beneficiary of a VIE as tiie enterprise 
ttiat has botti power and benefite, such that an entity has (i) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly 
impad the entity's ecxinomic perfonnance, and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could potentially be 
significant to tiie VIE or the right to receive benefite from the entity ttiat could potentially be significant to the VIE. FirstEnergy 
consolidates a VIE when it is detennined that it is the primary benefidary. 

VlEs induded in FirstEnergy's consolidated finandal statements are: the PNBV and Shippingport capital ttusts that were 
aeated to refinance debt originally issued in connedion with sale and leasebac:k tiransactions; wholly-owned limited liability 
coriipanies of the Ohio Companies (as described below); wholly owned limited liability cximpanies of JCP&L created to sell 
transition bonds to securitize ttie recovery of JCP&L's bondable stt-anded costs and spedal purpose limited liability companies 
at IviP and PE created to issue environmental control bonds that were used to constiud environmental control facilities (see 
Note 11, Capitalization for additional details). 

The caption noncontrolling interest within the consolidated finandal statements is used to refiect the portion of a VIE that 
FirstEnergy consolidates, but does not own. 

In order to evaluate cxinti^ds for consolidation tteatment and entities for which FirstEnergy has an interest, FirstEnergy 
aggregates variable intereste into the following categories based on similar risk charaderistics and significance. 

Ohio Securitization 

In September 2012, the Ohio Companies formed CEI Funding LLC, OE Funding LLC and TE Funding LLC, respectively, as 
separate, wholly-owned limited liability SPEs. The phase-in recovery bonds issued by these SPEs are payable only from, and 
secjured by, phase-In recovery property owned by the SPEs (I.e. the right to impose, charge and colle<:t Inevocable non-
byrjiassable usage-based charges payable by retail eledric customers in tiie service temtories of ttie Ohio Companies) and the 
borhdholder has no recourse to the general credit of FirstEnergy or any of the Ohio Companies. Each of the Ohio Companies, 
as Iservicer of its respedive SPE, manages and administers the phase-in recovery property including ttie billing, cx^lledion and 
rernittence of usage-based charges payable by retail eledric customers. In the aggregate, ttie Ohio Companies are entitied to 
anriual servicing fees of $445 thousand that are recoverable through the usage-based charges. The SPEs are considered VlEs 
and eac:h one is consolidated into ite applicable utility. 

Mining Operations 

FE / holds a 33-1/3% equity ownership in Global Holding, tiie holding company for a joint venture In the Signal Peak mining 
and coal tt-ansportation operations with coal sales in U.S. and international maricete. FEV is not the primary beneficiary of the 
joirit venfore, as it does not have conti"ol over the significant activities affecting the joint venfore's economic perfonnance. FEVs 
owjiership Interest is subject to the equity method of accounting. 

Previously FEV held a 50% equity ownership In Global Holding, of which a 16.7% interest was sold in 2011. In conjunction with 
thej 2011 sale, a subsidiary of Global Holding was given the right to put up to 2 million tons annually from the Signal Peak mine 
to f G through 2024. Such subsidiary did not exerdse their right under the put for 2014 or 2015. 

Trusts 

FirstEnergy's consolidated finandal statemente indude PNBV and Shippingport FirstEnergy used debt and available fonds to 
purchase ttie notes issued by PNBV and Shippingport for the purchase of lease obligation bonds. Ownership of PNBV indudes 
a 3% equity interest by an unaffiliated third party and a 3% equity interest held by OES Venfores, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
OE. During 2013, the investments held at Shippingport were liquidated. 

^ PATH-WV 

PATH is a series limited liability company tiiat is comprised of multiple series, each of which has separate righte, powers and 
duties regarding spedfied property and the series profits and losses asscx;iated with such property. A subsidiary of FE owns 
100% of the Allegheny Series (PATH-Allegheny) and 50% of ttie West Virginia Series (PATH-WV), which is a joint venture with 
a Subsidiary of AEP. FirstEnergy is not tiie primary benefidary of PATH-WV, as it does not have conti-ol over the significant 
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activities affecting the ecxinomic^ of ttie portion of the PATH projec;t that was to be constnjded by PATH-WV. FirstEnergy's 
ownership interest in PATH-WV is subject to the equity method of accounting. 

On August 24, 2012, PJM removed tiie PATH project fi^om its long-range expansion plans. See Note 14, Regulatory Matters, 
for additional infomiation on tiie abandonment of PATH. 
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Power Purchase Agreements 

FirstEnergy evaluated its power purchase agreements and determined ttiat certain NUG entttles may be VlEs to tiie extent that 
they own a plant tiiat sells substantially all of its output to the applicable utilities and the conti^d price for power is cxinelated 
witti the plants variable costs of production. FirstEnergy maintains 17 long-term power purchase agreements with NUG entities 
tiiat were entered into pursuant to PURPA. FirstEnergy was not involved in the creation of, and has no equity or debt invested 
in, any of these entities. 

FirstEnergy has determined ttiat for all but two of these NUG entities, it does not have variable intereste in the entities or ttie 
entities do not meet the c r̂iteria to be considered a VIE. FirstEnergy may hold a variable interest in the remaining two entities; 
however, it applied the scope exception that exempts enterprises unable to obtain the necessary information to evaluate 
entities. 

Be:ause FirstEnergy has no equity or debt interests in the NUG entities, its maximum exposure to loss relates primarily to the 
above-market coste incuned for power. FirstEnergy expeds any above-market coste incuned to be recovered fi'om customers. 
Purchased power costs related to the conttads that may contain a variable interest were $185 million during tiie years ended 
December31, 2014 and 2013. 

In [1998 the PPUC Issued an order approving a transition plan for WP that disallowed certain costs, induding an estimated 
aniount for an adverse power purchase cxsmmitment related to the NUG entity wherein WP may hold a variable interest, for 
whic^ WP has taken the scope exception. On November 20, 2012, WP entered into an agreement to terminate the adverse 
po>jver purchase commitment and accrued a pre-tax loss of $17 million. WP terminated the adverse commitinent on January 1, 
20^3 and settied its liability. 

Sale and Leaseback 

FirstEnergy has variable interests in certain sale and leaseback transactions. FirstEnergy is not the primary benefidary of these 
interests as it does not have control over the significant adivities affecting the economics of the anangements. See Note 6, 
Leases for additional details. 

FlnitEnergy and FES are exposed to losses under their applicable sale and leaseback agreements upon the cxx:unence of 
certain contingent evente. The maximum exposure under these provisions represents the amount of c^asualty value payments 
due to the lessor, by FirstEnergy and FES, upon the cxounence of spedfied casualty events. Net discounted lease paymente to 
the| lessor would not be payable if the casualty loss payments were made. The following table disdoses each company's net 
exposure to loss based upon the casualty value provisions as of December 31, 2014: 

FirstEnergy 

FES 

$ 

$ 

Maximum 
Exposure 

1,308 

1,217 

Discounted Lease 
Payments, net 

(In millions) 

$ 1,050 

$ 1,003 
$ 

$ 

Net 
Exposure 

258 

214 
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

Auttioritative accounting guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inpute used to measure fair value. This 
hierarchy gives ttie highest priority to Level 1 measurements and the lowest priority to Level 3 measurements. The three levels 
of the fair value hierarchy and a description of the valuation techniques are as follows: 

Level 1 - Quoted prices for identic:al instnjments in adive maricet 

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instnjments in adive market 

- Quoted prices for identical or similar insti-uments in markets that are not adive 

- Model-derived valuations for which all significant inpute are obsen/able market data 

Mcxjels are primarily industry-standard models that consider various assumptions, induding quoted fonA^ard 
prices for commodities, time value, volatility fadors and cunent maricet and conttacfoal prices for the underiying 
insttuments, as well as otiier relevant economic measures. 

Level 3 - Valuation inputs are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement 

FirstEnergy produces a long-tenn power and capadty price forecast annually with periodic updates as market 
condittons change. When underiying prices are not obsen/able, prices fi"om the long-term price forecast, which 
has been reviewed and approved by FirstEnergy's Risk Policy Committee, are used to measure fair value. A 
more detailed description of FirstEnergy's valuation process for FTRs and NUGs are as follows: 

FTRs are finandal Instruments that entitle the holder to a stream of revenues (or charges) based on the houriy 
day-ahead congestion price differences across ti'ansmission paths. FTRs are acquired by FirstEnergy in the 
annual, monthly and long-term RTO audions and are initially recorded using the auction clearing price less 
cost. After initial recognition, FTRs' carrying values are periodically adjusted to fair value using a mark-to-model 
methcxlology, which approximates market. The primary inputs into the model, which are generally less 
obsen/able tiian objective sources, are the most recent RTO audion dearing prices and the FTRs' remaining 
hours. The model calculates ttie fair value by multiplying the most recent auction dearing price by ttie 
remaining FTR hours less the prorated FTR cost. Generally, significant increases or decreases in inpute in 
isolation could result in a higher or lower fair value measurement. See Note 10, Derivative Instinmente, for 
additional infonnation regarding FirstEnergy's FTRs. 

NUG contrads represent purchase power agreements with third-party non-utility generators that are ti-ansaded 
to satisfy certain obligations under PURPA. NUG contrad canying values are recorded at fair value and 
adjusted pericxtic:ally using a maric-to-model methodology, which approximates maricet. The primary 
unobservable inputs into the model are regional power prices and generation MWH. Pricing for the NUG 
conttads is a combination of market prices for the cunent year and next three years based on observable data 
and intemal models using historical trends and market data for the remaining years under contract The intemal 
mcxjels use forecasted energy purchase prices as an input when prices are not defined by ttie contrad. 
Forecasted market prices are based on ICE quotes and management assumptions. Generation MVW refiecte 
date provided by contt-adual anangemente and historical trends. The model calculates the fair value by 
multtplying the prices by the generation MWH. Generally, significant increases or decreases in inputs in 
isolation could result in a higher or lower fair value measurement 

FirstEnergy primarily applies the maricet approach for recurring fair value measurements using the best infomiation available. 
Accordingly, FirstEnergy maximizes the use of observable inpute and minimizes the use of unobservable inpute. There were no 
changes in valuation methodologies used as of December31, 2014, ft-om those used as of December31, 2013. The 
determination of the fair value measures takes Into consideration various fadors, induding but not limited to, counterparty credit 
risk and the impact of credit enhancemente (such as cash deposits, LOCs and priority interests). The impad of ttiese fomis of 
risk was not significant to ttie fair value measuremente. 
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Transfers between levels are recognized at the end of ttie reporting period. There were no tt-ansfers between levels during the 
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. The following fables set forth the recuning assets and liabilities that are accounted 
for at fair value by level within the fair value hierarchy: 

FirstEnergy 

Recurring Fair Value Measurements 

Assets 

Corporate debt securities 

Derivative assets - commodity contracts 

Derivative assets - FTRs 

Derivative assete - NUG conttacte*'* 

Equity securities" 

Foreign govemment debt sec:urifies 

U.S. govemment debt securities 

U.S. state debt securities 

Ottier*^ 

Total assets 

December 31,2014 December 31,2013 

Level 1 

£ — 

1 

— 

— 

592 

— 

— 

— 

55 

Level 2 

$ 1,221 

171 

— 

— 

— 

76 

182 

237 

256 

Levels 

$ — 

— 

39 

2 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

Total Level 1 

(In millions) 

$ 1,221 

172 

39 

2 

592 

76 

182 

237 

311 

£ — 

7 

— 

— 

317 

— 

— 

— 

187 

Level 2 

$ 1,365 

208 

_ 

_ 

— 

109 

165 

228 

255 

Level 3 

$ — 

— 

4 

20 

— 

— 

— 

__ 

— 

Total 

S 1,365 

215 

4 

20 

317 

109 

165 

228 

442 

$ 648 $ 2,143 $ 41 £ 2,832 $ 511 $ 2,330 £ 24 $ 2,865 

Liabilities 

Derivative liabilities - (X)mmcxtity contracts 

Derivative liabilities - FTRs 

Derivative liabilities - NUG contracts'" 

Total liabilities 

$ (26) £ (141) $ — $ (167) $ (13) £ (100) £ — £ (113) 

- - (14) (14) - - (12) (12) 

— - _ (153) (153) — - _ (222) (222) 

$ (26) £ (141) $ (167) £ (334) $ (13) £ (100) £ (234) $ (347) 

Net assets (liabilities)" $ 622 $ 2,002 £ (126) $ 2,498 £ 498 $ 2,230 $ (210) £ 2,518 

NUG contracts are subject to regulatory accounting treabnent and do not impact eamings. 
NDT ftinds hold equity portfolios whose performance is benchmarked against Uie Alerian MLP Index or the Wells Fargo Hybrid and 
Prefened Securities REIT index. 
Primarily consists of cash and short-term cash investments. 
Excludes $40 million and $10 million as of December 31,2014 and December 31,2013, respectively, of receivables, payables, taxes and 
accrued income associated witii financial instruments reflected within the fair value table. 

148 

http://investors.firstenergycoTp.com/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 

http://investors.firstenergycoTp.com/Cache/c27740735.html


Document Contents Page 278 of 432 

Rolfforward of Level 3 Measurements 

The following teble provides a recondliation of changes in the fair value of NUG contracte, LCAPP conttads, and FTRs that are 
dassified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy for the periods ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013: 

NUO Contracts'" LCAPP Confracts"' FTRs 

Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative 
Assets Liabilities Net Assets UaUlities Net Assets Liabilities Net 

January 1,2013 
Balance 

I 

Unrealized gain 
(Ip5s) 

P,urc:hases 

Temiinations'^ 

^ttlements 
December 31,2013 
Balance 

Unrealized gain 
(ipss) 

purchases 

Settlements 
December 31. 2014 
Balance 

36 

(8) 

(8) 

£ (290) £ (254) $ 

(17) (25) 

(In millions) 

- $ (144) £ (144) S 

(22) (22) 

8 $ 

3 

6 

(9) $ (1) 

166 166 

85 77 (13) 

1 

(15) 

11 

4 

(9) 

(2) 

20 

2 

(20) 

(222) £ (202) £ 

(2) -

— $ _ $ — $ (12) $ (8) 

71 51 

47 

26 

(38) 

(1) 

(16) 

15 

46 

10 

(23) 

$ £ (153) $ (151) $ — $ — £ — 39 $ (14) $ 25 

Changes in the fair value of NUG and LCAPP contracts are subject to regulatory accounting treabnent and do not impact eamings. 
^ I LCAPP contrads are financially settled agreements associated with capacity in New Jersey. During the fourth quarter of 2013, all LCAPP 

I contracts were terminated after being declared unconstitutional by the U.S. Distiict Court for the District of New Jersey. 
I 

I Level 3 Quantitative Information 

The following table provides quantitative infomiation for FTRs and NUG contt-ads that are dassified as Level 3 in ttie fair value 
hierarchy for the period ended Decemt)er 31, 2014: 

Fair Value, Net (In Valuation 
millions) Technique 

FTRs £ 

NUG Conttacts $ 

25 

(151) 

Model 

Model 

Significant Input 

RTO auction clearing prices 

Generation 
Regional elec:tiicity prices 

Range 

($7.20) to £19.30 

500 to 4,756,000 
£44.40 to £69.80 

Weighted 
Average 

£1.40 

950,000 
$51.80 

Units 

Dollars/MWH 

MWH 
Dollars/MWH 
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FES 

Recurring Fair Value IMeasurements 

Assets 

Corporate debt securities 

Derivative assets - commodity contracts 

Derivative assets - FTRs 

Equity securities'" 

Foreign govemment debt securities 

U .S. govemment debt securities 

U.S. state debt securities 

Other^ 

Total assets 

Level 1 

$ — 

1 

— 
360 

— 
_ 

£ 361 

December 31, 

Level 2 

$ 655 

171 

— 
— 
57 

46 

4 

199 

$1,132 

2014 

Level 3 

$ 

$ 

— 
— 
27 

— 
— 
— 

27 

Total Level 1 

(In millions) 

$ 655 

172 

27 

360 

57 

46 

4 

199 

$1,520 

$ 

$ 

— 
7 

— 
207 

— 
— 

214 

December 31, 

Level 2 

£ 792 

208 

— 
— 
65 

27 

176 

$ 1,268 

2013 

Levels 

$ 

$ 

— 
— 
3 

— 
— 
— 

3 

Total 

$ 792 

215 

3 

207 

65 

27 

176 

$1,485 

Liabilities 

Derivative liabilities - ccmwnodity contracte 

Derivative liabilities - FTRs 

Total liabilities 

$ (26) $ (141) £ — $ (167) £ (13) $ (100) $ — $ (113) 

- - (13) (13) - - (11) (11) 

£ (26) $ (141) £ (13) £ (180) $ (13) £ (100) $ (11) $ (124) 

Net assets (liabiHties)'" £ 335 $ 991 £ 14 $1,340 $ 201 $1,168 £ (8) £1,361 

''* NDT funds hold equity portfolios whose perfomiance is benchmarked against the Aierian MLP Index or the Wells Fargo Hybrid and 
Preferred Securities REIT index. 

'^ Primarily consists of short-term cash investments. 
^ Excludes $44 million and $9 million as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, of receivables, payables, taxes and 

accrued income associated with financial instruments reflected within the fair value table. 

Rollforward of Level 3 Measurements 

The following table provides a recondliation of changes in the fair value of FTRs held by FES and dassified as Level 3 in the 
fair value hierarchy for the periods ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013: 

Derivative Asset Derivative Liabil i^ Net Asset/(Uability) 

January 1,2013 Balance 

Unrealized loss 

Purchases 

Settiemente 

December 31.2013 
Balance 

Unrealized gain (loss) 

Purchases 

Settiemente 

December 31,2014 
Balance 

$ 

$ 

$ 

6 

— 
5 

(8) 

3 

34 

15 

(25) 

27 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(In mil l ions) 

(6) 

(2) 

(12) 

9 

(11) 

(1) 

(16) 

15 

(13) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

— 

(2) 

(7) 

1 

(8) 

33 

(1) 

(10) 

14 

Level 3 Qu^titative Information 
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Following table provides quantitative information for FTRs held by FES ttiat are dassified as Level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy for the period ended December 31,2014: 

Fair Value, Net (In Valuation 
millions) Technique Significant Input Range 

Weighted 
Average Units 

FTRs $ 14 Model RTO auction Clearing prices ($7.20) to $19.30 £1.10 E}ollars/MWH 
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INVESTME^^'S 

All temporary cash investinents purchased wltti an initial maturity of three monttis or less are reported as cash equivalents on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets at cx)st, which approximates ttieir fair market value. Investments ottier than cash and cash 
equivalents indude held-to-maturity securities, AFS securities and notes receivable. 

At the end of each reporting period, FirstEnergy evaluates ite investmente for OTTI. Investmente classified as AFS securities 
are evaluated to determine whettier a dedine in fair value below the cost basis is other than temporary. FirstEnergy first 
considers its intent and ability to hold an equity security until recovery and then considers, among other fadors, the duration 
and tiie extent to which the security's fair value has been less than its cost and the near-term financial prospecte of tiie security 
issuer vi/hen evaluating an investtnent for impairment For debt securities, FirstEnergy considers its intent to hold the securities, 
the likelihood that it will be required to sell the securities before recovery of its cost basis and the likelihood of recovery of the 
securities' entire amortized cost basis. If the dedine in fair value is determined to be ottier than temporary, the cost basis ot the 
securities Is written down to fair value. 

Unrealized gains and losses on AFS securities are recognized in AOCI. However, unrealized losses held in the NDTs of FES, 
OE and TE are recognized in eamings sinc» the tnjst anangemente, as they are cunentiy defined, do not meet the required 
ability and intent to hold criteria in consideration of OTTI. 

The investment policy for the NDT funds restrids or limits the trusts' ability to hold certain types of assete Induding private or 
direct placemente, wanants, secxirities of FirstEnergy, investtnents in companies owning nudear power plants, finandal 
derivatives, securities convertible into common stoc;k and sec:urities of the bust funds' custodian or managers and their parente 
or subsidiaries. 

AFS Securities 

FirstEnergy holds debt and equity securities within its NDT, nuclear fuel disposal and NUG tmsts. These trust investinents are 
considered AFS securities, reccsgnized at fair maricet value. FirstEnergy has no securities held for ttading purposes. 

The following table summarizes ttie amortized cost basis, unrealized gains (ttiere were no unrealized losses) and fair values of 
investments held in NDT, nudear ftjel disposal and NUG busts as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013: 

December 31, 2014'" December 31, 2013'̂  

Debt securities 

FirstEnergy 

FES 

Eauitv securities 

FirstEnergy 

FES 

£ 

$ 

Cost 
Basis 

1,724 

788 

533 

329 

Unrealized 
Gains 

$ 

£ 

27 

13 

58 

31 

— 

£ 

£ 

Fair Cost 
Value Basis 

(In millions) 

1,751 £ 1,881 

801 918 

591 $ 308 

360 207 

Unrealized Fair 
Gains Value 

£ 

$ 

33 £ 1,914 

17 935 

9 $ 317 

— 207 

*'' Excludes short-term cash investments: FE Consolidated - £241 million; FES - £204 million. 
•̂  Excludes short-tenn cash investments: FE Consolidated - $204 million; FES - $135 million. 
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Proceeds firom the sale of investmente in AFS secajrities, realized gains and losses on those sales, OTTI and interest and 
dividend income for the three years ended December 31, 2014,2013 and 2012 were as follows: 

December 31,2014 

RrstEnergy 

FES 

1 

December 31, 2013 

FirstEnergy 

FES 

December 31,2012 
• 

RrstEnergy 

FES 

Held-To-Maturity Securities 

Sale 
Proceeds 

$ 2,133 

1,163 

Sale 
Proceeds 

$ 2,047 

940 

Sale 
Proceeds 

$ 2,980 

1,464 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Realized 
Gains 

146 

113 

Realized 
Gains 

92 

70 

Realized 
Gains 

179 

124 

Realized 
Losses 

(In millions) 

$ (75) 

(54) 

Realized 
Losses 

(In millions) 

$ (46) 

(21) 

Realized 
Losses 

(In millions) 

$ (83) 

(59) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

OTTI 

(37) 

(33) 

OTTI 

(90) 

(79) 

0 T n 

(16) 

(14) 

Interest and 
Dividend Income 

£ 96 

56 

Interest and 
Dividend Income 

£ 101 

60 

Interest and 
Dividend Income 

$ 70 

39 

The following table provides the amortized cost basis, unrealized gains (there were no unrealized losses) and approximate fair 
values of investinents in held-to-maturity securities as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013: 

December 31,2014 December 31, 2013 

Cost 
Basis 

Unrealized 
Gains 

Fair 
Value 

Cost 
Basis 

Unrealized 
Gains 

Fair 
Value 

Debt Securities 

FirstEnergy $ 13 $ 4 £ 

(In millions) 

17 $ 33 $ 2 $ 35 

The helc*-to-maturity ctebt securities contradually mature by June 30, 2017. Investinents in employee benefit truste and cost 
anci equity method investments, induding FirstEnergy's investment in Global Holding, totaling $626 million as of December 31, 
20'i4, and $636 million as of December 31,2013, are exduded ft^om the amounts reported above. 

During 2012, FE increased its ovmership interest in a cost method investment. The Increased investment triggered a change in 
the{ investinent accounting fi-om the cost method to the equity mettiod. As a result of this change, FE recorded a reductton of $9 
million to retained eamings in 2012 to refiect the investment as if it had been historically accounted for under the equity method. 

All 

LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER LONG-TERM OBUGATIONS 

bonovwngs witti initial matijrities of less than one year are defined as short-term financial insti^iments under GAAP and are 
reported as Short-term bonowings on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at cost Since these bonowings are short-term In 
na1;ure, FirstEnergy believes that their cxjsts approximate their fair maricet value. The following table provides the approximate 

value and related canying amounts of long-term debt and other long-temi obligations, exduding capital lease obligations 
and net unamortized premiums and discounts: 

December 31,2014 Decemi3er31,2013 

Carrying 
Value 

Fair 
Value 

Carrying 
Vaiue 

Fair 
Value 

(In millions) 
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19,828 $ 

3,097 

21,733 $ 

3,241 

17,049 $ 

3,001 
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17,957 

3,073 

Docimient Contents 

FirstEnergy $ 

FES 

The fair values of long-tenn debt and other long-tenn obligations reflec:t the present value of the c^sh outfiows relating to those 
securities based on the cunent call price, the yield to maturity or the yield to call, as deemed appropriate at the end of each 
respective 

152 

http://mvestors.firstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 

http://mvestors.firstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html


Document Contents Page 284 of 432 

period. The yields assumed were based on securities with similar c^haraderisttcs offered by corporations with credit ratings 
similar to those of FirstEnergy and ite subsidiaries. FirstEnergy dassified short-tenn bonowings, long-term debt and other tong-
temji obligations as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013. 

10. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 

FirstEnergy is exposed to finandal risks resulting from fiuduating interest rates and commodity prices, induding prices for 
eledridty, natural gas, coal and energy transmission. To manage the volatility relating to tiiese exposures, FirstEnergy's Risk 
Policy Committee, comprised of senior management provides general management oversight for risk management activities 
throughout FirstEnergy. The Risk Policy Committee is responsible for promoting the effedive design and implementation of 
sound risk management programs and oversees compliance with corporate risk management po l j d^ and established risk 
management practice. FirstEnergy also uses a variety of derivative insttumente for risk management purposes including 
forvj/ard cxinttads, options, fijttjres contracte and swaps. 

j 

FJr^Energy accounts for derivative instiijmente on its Consolidated Balance Sheete at fair value unless they meet the normal 
purchases and normal sales criteria. Derivatives tiiat meet tiiose criteria are accounted for under the accrual method of 
accounting, and their effecte are induded in eamings at the time of conttad perfomiance. Changes in the fair value of 
derivative insttumente ttiat qualified and were designated as cash flow hedge instmments are recorded in AOCI. Changes in 
the fair value of derivative instruments that are not designated as cash flow hedge instrumente are recorded in net income on a 
majfl̂ -to-maricet basis. FirstEnergy has contiractijal derivative agreements ttirough 2020. 

Cash Flow Hedges 

Fir^Energy has used cash fiow hedges for risk management purposes to manage the volatility related to exposures assodated 
with fluctuating commodity prices and interest rates. The effedive portion of gains and losses on a derivative contrad is 
repprted as a component of AOCI witti subsequent reclassification to eamings in the period during which the hedged 
forecasted ttansadion affects eamings. 

Tot^l net unamortized gains (losses) included in AOCI associated with instiuments previously designated as cash flow hedges 
totaled $(8) million and $2 million as of December31, 2014 and December31, 2013, respedively. Since the forecasted 
trarisacttons remain probable of occum'ng, these amounts will be amortized into eamings over the life of the hedging 
instruments. Approximately $3 million is expeded to be amortized to income during the next twelve months. 

FirstEnergy has used fowrard starting swap agreements to hedge a portion of the consolidated interest rate risk assodated with 
anticipated Issuances of flxed-rate, long-term debt securities of ite subsidiaries. These derivatives were tteated as cash fiow 
hedges, protecting against the risk of changes in foture interest payments resulting firom changes in benchmaric U.S. Treasury 
ratds betiveen the date of hedge inception and the date of the debt issuance. No fonvard starting swap agreements designated 
as ja cash flow hedge were outstanding as of December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013. Total pre-tax unamortized losses 
induded In AOCI asscx:iated with prior interest rate cash flow hedges totaled $50 million and $59 million as of December 31, 
2014 and December 31, 2013, respedively. Based on cunent estimates, approximately $9 million will be amortized to interest 
expense during the next twelve months. 

As|of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, no commodity or interest rate derivatives were designated as cash flow 
heclges. 

Refer to Note 2, Accumulated Ottier Comprehensive Income, for redassifications from AOCI during the years ended 
December 31, 2014 and 2013. 

i Fair Value Hedges 

FirstEnergy has used fixed-for-floating Interest rate swap agreements to hedge a portion of tiie consolidated Interest rate risk 
assodated with the debt portfolio of ite subsidiaries. These derivative Instrumente were tteated as fair value hedges of fixed-
rate, long-term debt issues, protecting against the risk of changes in ttie fair value of fixed-rate debt insttumente due to lower 
interest rates. As of December31, 2014 and December31, 2013, no fixed-for-floating interest rate swap agreements were 
outetanding. 

Unamortized gains induded in long-term debt assodated witii prior fixed-for-fioating interest rate sv^p agreements totaled $32 
milion and $44 miillon as of December31, 2014 and December31, 2013, respectively. Based on cunent estimates, 
approximatety $12 million will be amortized to interest expense during the next twelve months. Redassifications from lon^tenn 
debt into interest expense totaled approximately $12 million and $19 million during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 
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2013, respectivety. In connection with ttie redemptions of senior notes in 2013 by FES, PN, and ME, and taxable bonds by CEI 
and OE, unamortized gains assodated with fixed for floating interest rate swap agreemente of $17 million were induded in the 
Loss on debt redemptions in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2013. 

As of Dec:ember31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, no commodity or interest rate derivatives were designated as fair value 
hedges. 
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Commodity Derivatives 

FiiitEnergy uses both physically and finandally settled derivatives to manage ite exposure to volatility in commodity prices. 
Commcxlity derivatives are used for risk management purposes to hedge exposures when it makes ecxjnomic sense to do so, 
induding drcumstances where the hedging relationship does not quality for hedge accounting. 

Elejcbidty fonvards are used to balance expeded sales with expected generation and purchased power. Natural gas fotiares 
arq entered into based on expected consumption of natural gas primarily for use In FirstEnergy's combustion tijrbine units. 
He^ng oil fofores are entered into based on expeded consumption of oil and ttie financial risk in FirstEnergy's coal 
ttansportation contrads. Derivative insttumente are not used in quantities greater than forecasted needs. 

As |of December 31, 2014, FirstEnergy's net asset position under commodity derivative contiads was $5 million, which related 
to FES positions. Under these commodity derivative contrads, FES posted $83 million of collateral. Certain commodity 
derivative conttads indude aedit risk related contingent features that would require FES to post $5 million of additional 
collateral if the credit rating for ite debt were to fall below investment grade. 

Based on derivative conttads held as of December 31, 2014, an adverse c::hange of 10% in commodity prices would increase 
net income by approximately $1 million during the next twelve months. 

Interest Rate Swaps 

As JDf December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, no interest rate swaps were outstanding. 

I NUGs 

As pf De<:ember 31, 2014, FirstEnergy's net liability position under NUG contrads was $151 million representing cxintrads held 
at JCP&L, ME and PN. NUG contrads represent purchased power agreements with third-party non-utility generators that are 
transaded to satisty certain obligations under PURPA. Changes in the fair value of NUG contracte are subject to regulatory 
accounting treatment and do not impad eamings. 

FTRs 

As bf December 31, 2014, FirstEnergy's and FES' net asset position under FTRs was $25 miillon and $14 million, respectivety 
and FES posted $5 miillon of collateral. FirstEnergy holds FTRs that generally represent an economic hedge of future 
corigestion charges tiiat will be Incwned in connection with FirstEnergy's load obligations. FirstEnergy acquires the majority of 
its FTRs in an annual auction through a self-scheduling prcx:ess involving the use of ARRs allocated to members of an RTO 
tiiat have load serving obligations and through tiie direct allocation of FTRs from tiie PJM RTO. The PJM RTO has a rule that 
allows diredly allocated FTRs to be granted to LSEs in zones tiiat have newly entered PJM. For the first two planning years, 
PJM permite ttie LSEs to request a dired allocation of FTRs in these new zones at no cost as opposed to receiving ARRs. The 
dirdctiy allocated FTRs differ from ttaditional FTRs in ttiat the ownership of all or part of ttie FTRs may shift to another LSE if 
customers c:hcx)se to shop with the other LSE. 

Thq future obligations for the FTRs acquired at auction are reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheete and have not been 
des gnated as cash flow hedge Instruments. FirstEnergy initially records these FTRs at the audion price less the obligation due 
to tiie RTO, and subsequently adjuste ttie canying value of remaining FTRs to their estimated fair value at ttie end of eacdi 
aco)unttng period prior to setttement. Changes in the fair value of FTRs held by FES and AE Supply are induded in other 
operating expenses as unrealized gains or losses. Unrealized gains or losses on FTRs held by FirstEnergy's utilities are 
reccirded as regulatory assets or liabilities. Diredly allcx:ated FTRs are accx)unted for under the accrual method of accounting, 
and their effads are Induded in eamings at the time of conttad pertonnance. 
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FirstEnergy records the fair value of derivative instruments on a gross basis. The following table summarizes ttie fair value and 
classific:ation of derivative instruments on FirstEnergy's Consolidated Balance Sheete: 

Current Assete -
Derivatives 

Commodity 
Contrads 

FTRs 

Derivative Assets 

Deferred Charges and 
Other Assete • Other 

Commodity 
Conttads 

FTRs 

NUGs 

Derivative Assets 

Fair Value 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

(In millions) 

121 

38 

159 

51 

1 

2 

54 

213 

$ 

$ 

162 

4 

166 

53 

— 

20 

73 

239 

Derivative Liabilities 

Current Liabilities -
Derivatives 

Commodity Contrads 

FTRs 

Noncurrent Liabilities -
Adverse Power Contract 
Uability 

NUGs 

Noncurrent L iabi l i t i^ -
Other 

Commodity Contracte 

FTRs 

Derivative Liabilities 

Fair Value 

December 31, 
2014 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 
2013 

(In millions) 

(154) 

(13) 

(167) 

(153) 

(13) 

(1) 
(167) 

(334) 

$ 

$ 

(102) 

(9) 
(111) 

(222) 

(11) 

(3) 
(236) 
(347) 

FirstEnergy enters into conttads with counterparties that allow for net settlement of derivative assets and derivative liabilities. 
Certain of these conttads contain margining provisions that require the use of collateral to mitigate aedit exposure betiAreen 
FirstEnergy and these counterparties. In situations where collateral is pledged to mitigate exposures related to derivative and 
non-derivative insttuments with the same counterparty, FirstEnergy allocates the collateral based on the percentage of the net 
fair value of derivative insttuments to the total fair value of the combined derivative and non-derivative instiuments. The 
following tables summarize the fair value of derivative instiuments on FirstEnergy's Consolidated Balance Sheets and ttie effect 
of netting anangements and collateral on its financial position: 

Amounts Not Offset in Consolidated 
Balance Sheet 

December 31,2014 

Derivative Assete 

Commcxlity cMntrads 

FTRs 

NUG contracts 

Derivative Liabilities 

Commodity contrads 

FTRS 

Fair Value 

$ 

£ 

$ 

172 

39 

2 

213 

(167) 

(14) 

1 

$ 

L 

$ 

Derivative Cash Collateral 
Instrumente (Received)iPledged 

(In millions) 

(126) 

(14) 

(140) 

126 

14 

$ 

$_ 

$ 

Net 
Fair 

Value 

— $ 46 

— 25 

— 2 

— $ 73 

35 $ (6) 
— — 
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$ (334) $ 140 $ 
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- (153) 

35 $ (159) 
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December 31.2013 

Derivative Assets 

Commodity contrads 

FTRs 

NUG conttacts 

Derivative Liabilities 

Commodity contrads 

FTRs 

NUG conttads 

Fair Value 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

215 

4 

20 

239 

(113) 

(12) 

(222) 

(347) 

Amounts Not Ofteet in Consolidated 
Balance Sheet 

Derivative 
Instruments 

$ 

£ 

$ 

$" 

(106) 

(4) 

(110) 

106 

4 

110 

Cash Collateral 
(Received)/Pledged 

n millions) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(9) 
— 
— 

(9) 

7 

5 

— 
12 

Net 
Fair 

Value 

$ 100 

— 
20 

$ 120 

$ -

(3) 
(222) 

$ (225) 

The following fable summarizes the volumes asscx;iated with FirstEnergy's outstanding derivative ttansadions as of 
December 31, 2014: 

Power Conttads 

FTRs 

NUGs 

Nattjral Gas 

Purchases 

21 

43 

6 

40 

Sales Net 
(In millions) 

33 

— 
— 
—. 

(12) 

43 

6 

40 

Units 

MWH 

MWH 

MWH 

mmBTU 
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The effect of derivative instiuments not in a hedging relationship on the Consolidated Statements of Income during 2014 and 
20113 are summarized in the following tables: 

Year Ended December 31 

2014 
Unrealized Gain (Loss) Recx}gnized In: 

Otiier Operating Expense*'* 

Realized Gain (Loss) Redassified to: 

Revenues'^' 

Purc:hased Power Expense*̂ * 

Ottier Operating Expense™ 

Fuel Expense 

Interest Expense 

Commodity 
Contracts FTRs 

Interest Rate 
Swaps Total 

(86) $ 

(In millions) 

22 $ 

(6) $ 68 $ 

365 — 
- (44) 

(6) -

_ $ 

— $ 

14 

(64) 

62 
365 
(44) 

(6) 
14 

'̂ > Includes ($86) million tor commcxJity contracSs and $21 million for FTRs associated with FES. 

^ Represents losses on stmctured financial contracts. Includes ($6) million for commodity contracts and $67 million for FTRs associated with 
FES. 

(̂  Realized losses on financially settled wholesale sales contacts of $252 miillon resulting from higher market F îces were netted in purchased 
power. Indudes $365 million for commodity contracts associated with FES. 

<« Includes ($43) million for FTRs assodated with FES. 

Year Ended December 31 

2013 

Unrealized Gain (Loss) Recognized in: 

Other Operating Expense'^ 

Commodity 
Contracts FTRs Total 

11 $ 

(In millions) 

(8) 

Realized Gain (Loss) Redassified to: 

Revenues*^ 

Purchased Power Expense*" 

Other Operating Expense*** 

Fuel Expense 

46 

(38) 

— 

$ 21 

— 
(36) 

(2) 

67 

(38) 

(36) 

(2) 

<̂  Indudes $11 million for commodity contrads and (S8) million for FTRs associated with FES. 

'^ Indudes $46 million for commodity contracts and $19 million for FTRs asscxaated with FES. 

'^ Indudes ($38) million for commodi^ contracts associated with FES. 

^ Indudes ($33) minion for FTRs assodated witti FES. 
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The following table provides a reconciliation of changes in the fair value of FirstEnergy's derivative instruments subjed to 
regulatory accounting during 2014 and 2013. Changes in the value of these contracts are defened for future recovery from (or 
aedit to) customers: 

Year Ended December 31 

Derivatives Not in a Hedging Relationship with 
Regulatory Offeet 

Outstanding net liability as of January 1, 2014 

Unrealized gain (loss) 

Purchases 

Settlements 

Outstanding net asset (liability) as of December 31, 2014 

Outstanding net liability as of January 1, 2013 

Unrealized gain (loss) 

Purchases 

Terminations 

Settlements 

Outstanding net liability as of December 31, 2013 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$_ 

NUGs 

(202) 

(1) 

52 

(151) 

(254) 

(23) 

— 
— 
75 

(202) 

Regulated 
LCAPP*'' FTRs 

(In millions) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

— 

— 

— 

(144) 

(22) 

— 
166 

— 
— 

$ 

"$" 

$ 

$_ 

13 

11 

(13) 

11 

4 

(3) 
— 

(1) 
— 

$ 

$ 

_$_ 

Total 

(202) 

12 

11 

39 

(140) 

(398) 

(41) 

(3) 
166 

74 

(202) 

11) LCAPP cxjnUacts are financially settled agreements associated with capacity in New Jersey. During the fourth quarter of 2013, all LCAPP 
contracts were temiinated alter being declared unconstitutional by the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey. 

11. CAPITALIZATION 

COMMON STOCK 

Retained Eamings and Dividends 

As of December 31, 2014, FirstEnergy's unresttided retained eamings were $2.3 billion. Dividends dedared in 2014 were 
$1.44 per share, which induded dividends of $0.36 per share paid in the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2014. 
Dividends dedared in 2013 were $1.65 per share, which induded dividends of $0.55 per share paid in the second, tiiird and 
fourth quarter of 2013. The amount and timing of all dividend declarations are subject to the disaetion of the Board of Diredors 
and its consideration of business conditions, results of operations, finandal condition and other fadors. On January 20, 2015 
the Board of Directors dedared a quarteriy dividend of $0.36 per share to be paid in ttie first quarter of 2015. 

In addition to paying dividends from retained eamings, OE, CEI, TE, Penn, JCP&L, ME and PN have auttiorization from ttie 
FERC to pay cash dividends to FirstEnergy from paid-in capital accounts, as long as tiieir FERC-defined equity to total 
capitalization ratio remains above 35%. In addition, TrAIL and AGC have authorization from ttie FERC to pay cash dividends to 
their respective parents from paid-in capital accounts, as long as tiieir FERC-defined equity to total capitalization ratio remains 
above 45%. The artides of incorporation, indentures, regulatory limitations and various otiier agreements relating to the long-
term debt of certain FirstEnergy subsidiaries contain provisions tiiat could furttier restrid the payment of dividends on their 
common stock. None of these provisions materially restrided FirstEnergy's subsidiaries' abilities to pay cash dividends to 
FirstEnergy as of December 31,2014. 

Stock Issuance 

In 2014, FE issued approximately 2 million shares of common stock to registered shareholders and its employees and the 
employees of its subsidiaries under its Stock Investment Plan and certain share-based benefit plan obligations. 
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PREFERRED AND PREFERENCE STOCK 

FirstEnergy and the Utilities were authorized to issue prefened stock and preference stock as of December 31, 2014, as 
follows: 

FirstEnergy 

OE 

OE 

Penn 

CEI 

TE 

TE 

JCP&L 

ME 

PN 

MP 

PE 

WP 

Preferred Stock 

Shares 
Authorized 

5,000,000 

6,000,000 

8,000,000 

1,200,000 

4,000,000 

3,000,000 

12,000,000 

15,600,000 

10.000,000 

11,435,000 

940,000 

10,000,000 

32,000,000 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

Par Value 

100 

100 

25 

100 

no par 

100 

25 

no par 

no par 

no par 

100 

0.01 

no par 

Preference Stock 

Shares 
Authorized 

8,000,000 

3,000,000 

5,000,000 $ 

Par Value 

no par 

no par 

25 

As of December 31,2014, and 2013, there were no preferred or preference shares outstending. 
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LONG-TERM DEBT AND OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 

The following fables present outstending long-term debt and capital lease obligations for FirstEnergy and FES as of 
December 31,2014 and 2013: 

As of December 31,2014 As of December 31 

(Dollar amounts in millions) 

FirstEnergy: 

FMBs 

Secured notes - fixed rate 

Unsecured notes - fixed rate 

Unsecured notes - variable rate 

Total unsecured notes 

Capital lease obligations 

Unamortized debt premiums (discounts) 

Unamortized fair value adjustments 

Currentiy payable long-term debt 

Total long-term debt and other long-term obligations 

Maturity Date 

2015-2044 

2015-2037 

2015-2044 

2015-2019 

Interest Rate 

3.340% - 9.740% 

0.000% - 7.880% 

2.150%-7.700% 

0.030%-1.920% 

$ 

_$_ 

2014 

3,190 

1,793 

13,532 

1,292 

14,824 

160 

(8) 
21 

(804) 

19,176 

$ 

$_ 

2013 

3,166 

1,804 

11,076 

959 

12,035 

188 

9 

44 

(1,415) 

15,831 

FES: 

Secured notes - fixed rate 

Unsecured notes - fixed rate 

Unsecured notes - variable rate 

Totel unsecured notes 

Capitel lease obligations 

Unamortized debt discounts 

Currentiy payable long-term debt 

Total long-term debt and other long-term obligations 

2015 - 2017 0.000% - 12.000% $ 126 $ 188 

2015-2039 

2015-2015 

2.150%-6.800% 

0.030% - 0.050% 

$ 

2,879 

92 

2,971 

18 

(1) 
(506) 

2,608 $ 

2,077 

736 

2,813 

22 

(1) 
(892) 

2,130 

On March 31, 2014, FE, FES, AE Supply, FET and FE's other bonower subsidiaries entered into extensions and amendments 
to the three existing multi-year syndicated revolving credit fadlities. Each Fadlity was extended until March 31, 2019. The FE 
fadlity was amended to increase the lending banks' commitments under ttie fadlity by $1 billion to a total of $3.5 billion and to 
increase the individual bonower sublimit for FE by $1 billion to a totel of $3.5 billion. The FES/AE Supply fadlity was amended 
to decrease the lending banks' committnents by $1 billion to a total of $1.5 billion. The lending banks' commitments under the 
FET fadlity remain at $1 billion and that fadlity was amended to increase ATSI's individual borrower sublimit to $500 million 
fi-om $100 million and TrAlL's individual borrower sublimit to $400 million from $200 million. FirstEnergy expensed 
approximately $5 million (FES -$3 million) of unamortized debt expense as a result of the amendments, induded in Loss on 
Debt Redemptions in tiie Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

On March 31, 2014, FE executed, and fully utilized, a new $1 billion variable rate terni loan credit agreement witti a mattJrity 
date of March 31, 2019. The initial bonowing under the tenn loan, which took the fonn of a Eurodollar rate advance, may be 
converted from time to time, in whole or In part, to altemate base rate advances or otiier Eurodollar rate advances. The 
proceeds from this term loan reduced bonowings under tiie FE Fadlity. 

During ttie first quarter of 2014, FG and NG remariceted approximately $235 million and $182 million, respectively, of PCRBs, 
previously held by tiie companies. The NG PCRBs were remarketed witii a fixed interest rate of 4% per annum and a 
mandatory put date of June 3, 2019 and the FG PCRBs were remariceted with a fixed interest rate of 3,75% per annum and a 
mandatory put date of December 3, 2018. 
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In addition, in ttie first quarter of 2014, FG and NG repurchased approximately $197 million and $16 million, respectively, of 
PCFiEBs, whic:h were subjec:t to a mandatory tender. The PCRBs have t}een remarketed in the second and thircl quarter as 
described below. Additionally, FG retired $50 million of PCRBs at maturity. 

During the first quarter of 2014, AE Supply rehjmed $500 million of capital to FE. Additionally, FE contributed $500 million of 
equity to FES. 
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On April 1, 2014, PN and ME repurchased approximately $45 million and $29 miillon of PCRBs, respectively, which were 
subject to a mandatory put on such date. The companies are cunentiy holding the PCRBs for remariceting subject to future 
market and ottier conditions. Additionally, on April 1,2014, ME retired $150 million of long-tenn debt at maturity. 

On May 19, 2014, FET issued $600 million of 4.35% senior notes due 2025 and $400 million of 5.45% senior notes due 2044. 
Proceeds received from the issuance of the senior notes were used to (i) repay bonowings under its revolving credit fadlity and 
the FirstEnergy unregulated companies' money pool; (ii) fund a capitel confribution to ATSI; and (iii) for woricing capitel needs 
and other general business purposes. 

On June 11, 2014, ME and PN issued $250 million of 4% senior notes due 2025 and $2(K) million of 4.15% senior notes due 
2025, respectively. Proceeds received from the issuance of the senior notes were used to repay ME and PN's bonowings 
under tiie FirstEnergy revolving credit fadlity and the FirstEnergy regulated companies' money pool. 

In addition, in the second quarter of 2014, FG and NG remariceted approximately $57 million and $164 million, respectively, of 
PCRBs previously held by the companies. The bonds were remarketed with a fixed interest rate of 3.50% per annum and a 
mandatory put date of June 1, 2020. 

On September 25, 2014, ATSI issued $400 million of 5% senior notes due 2044. Proceeds received from the issuance of the 
senior notes were used: (I) to fund capital expenditures, induding capital expenditures related to its ttansmission investment 
plans; and (11) for working capital needs and other general business purposes. 

Also during the third quarter, FG and NG remariceted approximately $140.1 million and $101 million, respedively, of PCRBs. Of 
ttie totel, approximately $45 million of PCRBs were remariceted by NG with a fixed interest rate of 3.63%, of which $15.5 million 
has a rriandatory put date of June 1, 2020 and $29.5 million has a mandatory put date of April 1, 2020. NG also remarketed 
$56 million of PCRBs with a fixed interest rate of 3.95% and a mandatoiy put date of May 1, 2020; FG remariceted $50 million 
of PCRBs with a fixed interest rate of 3.10% and a mandatory put date of March 1, 2019; and $90.1 miillon of PCRBs witti a 
fixed interest rate of 3.00% and a mattjrity date of May 15, 2019. 

On November 25, 2014, PE issued $200 million of 4.44% FMBs due November 15, 2044. Proceeds received from the issuance 
of the FMBs were used: (i) to refinance PE's outstending $175 million of 5.35% FMBs due November 15, 2014; (ii) to repay 
PE's borrowings under the FirstEnergy regulated cx)mpanies' money pool; and (iii) for otiier general business purposes. 

On December 1, 2014, NG repurchased approximately $26 million PCRBs, which were subjed to a mandatory put on such 
date. NG is cunentiy holding these PCRBs for remariceting subject to future market and other conditions. 

On Decemtier 11, 2014, TrAIL issued $550 million of 3.85% senior notes due June 1, 2025. Proceeds received from the 
issuance of the senior notes were used: (1) to repay TrAlL's outstending $450 million of 4.00% senior notes due January 15, 
2015; (11) to fund capital expenditures; and (iii) for woricing capital needs and other general business purposes. 

On Deoember 19, 2014, the matijrity date for a $200 million term loan agreement for which FE is the bonower was extended an 
additional year to December 31, 2016. 

See Note 6, Leases for additional information related to capitel leases. 

Securitized Bonds 

Environmental Control Bonds 

The consolidated finandal statements of FirstEnergy Include envlronmentel control bonds issued by two bankruptcy remote, 
spedal purpose limited liability companies that are indirect subsidiaries of MP and PE. Proceeds from the bonds were used to 
construc t̂ envlronmentel confrol fadlities. The spedal purpose limited liability companies own the inevocable right to collect 
non-bypassable environmental control charges from all customers who receive elecbic delivery service in MP's and PE's West 
Virginia sen/ice territories. Prindpal and interest owed on ttie environmental confrol bonds is secjured by, and payable solely 
from, the prcMDeeds of the environmental conttol charges. The right to collect envlronmentel confrol c:harges is not included as 
an asset on FirstEnergy's consolidated balance sheets. Creditors of FirstEnergy, ottier ttian the special purpose limited liability 
companies, have no recourse to any assets or revenues of the special purpose limited liability companies. As of December 31, 
2014 and 2013, $450 million and $472 million of envlrtximental conttol bonds were outstending, respecAively. 
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Transition Bonds 

The consolidated financial statements of FirstEnergy and JCP&L Include the accounts of JCP&L Transition Funding and JCP&L 
Transition Funding ll, wholly owned limited liability companies of JCP&L. In June 2002, JCP&L Transition Funding sold 
transition bonds to securitize ttie recovery of JCP&L's bondable sttanded costs associated with the previously divested Oyster 
Creek Nuclear Generating Station. In August 2006, JCP&L Transition Funding 11 sold transition bonds to securitize the recovery 
of defened costs asscx îated with JCP&L's supply of BGS. JCP&L did not purchase and does not own any of the transition 
bonds, which are induded as long-term debt on FirstEnergy's and JCP&L's Consolidated Balance Sheets. The ttansition bonds 
are the sole obligations of JCP&L Transition Funding and JCP&L Transition Funding II and are collateralized by each 
company's equity and assets, which consist primarily of bondable transition property. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, $168 
million and $207 million of the ttansition bonds were outstanding, respedively. 

Phase-ln Recovery Bonds 

In June 2013, the SPEs formed by the Ohio Companies issued approximately $445 million of pass-through trust certificates 
supported by phase-in recovery bonds to securitize the recovery of certain all electric customer heating discounts, fijel and 
purchased power regulatory assets. The phase-in recovery bonds were sold to a frust ttiat concunently sold a like aggregate 
amount of its pass through ttust certificates to public investors. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, $386 million and $445 
million of the phase-in recovery bonds were outstanding, respedively. 

Other Long-term Debt 

The Ohio Companies, Penn, FG and NG each have a first mortgage indenture under which they can issue FMBs secured by a 
dired first mortgage Hen on substantially all of their property ancJ franchises, otiier ttian spedfically excepted property. 

Based on the arnount of FMBs auttienticated by the respedive mortgage bond trustees as of December 31, 2014, the sinking 
fund requirement for all FMBs issued under the various mortgage indentures amounted to payments of $8 million in 2014, all of 
which relate to Penn. Penn expects to meet its 2014 annual sinking fijnd requirement with a replacement credit under its 
mortgage indenture. 

As of December 31, 2014, FirstEnergy's cunentiy payable long-term debt induded approximately $92 million of FES variable 
interest rate PCRBs, the bondholders of which are entitied to the benefit of inevocable direct pay bank LOCs. The interest rates 
on the PCRBs are reset daily or weekly. Bondholders can tender their PCRBs for mandatory purchase prior to maturity with the 
purchase price payable from remariceting proceeds or, if the PCRBs are not successfolly remariceted, by drawings on the 
irrevocable direcJt pay LOCs. The subsidiary obligor is required to reimburse the applicable LOC bank for any such drawings or, 
if the LOC bank tails to honor its LOC for any reason, must itself pay the purchase price. 

The following table presents scheduled debt repayments for outstanding long-tenn debt, excluding capital leases, fair value 
purchase accounting adjustments and unamortized debt discounts and premiums, for the next five years as of December 31, 
2014. PCRBs that can be tendered for mandatory purchase prior to maturity are refleded in 2015. 

Year 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

FirstEnergy Fl 

(In millions) 

$ 769 $ 

1,241 

1,641 

1,687 

2,266 

ES 

501 

416 

163 

501 

322 

The following teble classifies the outstending fixed rate put PCRBs and variable rate PCRBs by year, exduding unamortized 
debt discounts and premiums, for the next five years based on the next date on which the debt holders may exerdse tiieir right 
to tender their PCRBs. 

Year 

2015 

2016 

FirstEnergy FES 

(In millions) 

$ 405 $ 405 

391 391 
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2017 

2018 

2019 

130 

359 

232 

130 

359 

232 
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Obligations to repay certain PCRBs are secured by several series of FMBs. Certain PCRBs are entitied to the benefit of 
inevocable bank LOCs, to pay prindpal of, or interest on, the applicable PCRBs. To the extent tiiat drawings are made under 
the LOCs, FG is entitied to a credit against its obligation to repay thc}se bonds. FG pays annual foes based on the amounts of 
the LOCs to the issuing bank and is obligated to reimburse the bank for any drawings thereunder. 

The amounts and annual fees for PCRB-related LOCs for FirstEnergy and FES as of December 31,2014, are as follows: 

FirstEnergy 

FES 

Aggregate LOC 
Amount*^* 

(In millions) 

$ 93 

93 

Annual Fees 

1.65% 

1.65% 

(1) Includes approximately $1 million of applicable interest 
cxjverage. 

Debt Covenant Default Provisions 

FirstEnergy has various debt covenants under certain financing anangements, including its revolving credit fadlities. The most 
restrictive of the debt covenants relate to the nonpayment of interest and/or prindpal on such debt and the maintenance of 
certein finandal ratios. The failure by FirstEnergy to comply with the covenants contained in its financing arrangements could 
result in an event of default, which may have an adverse effect on its finandal condition. As of December 31, 2014, FirstEnergy 
and FES remain in compliance with all debt covenant provisions. 

Additionally, there are cross-default provisions in a number of the finandng anangements. These provisions generally trigger a 
default in the applicable finandng anangement of an entity if it or any of its significant subsidiaries default under another 
finandng anangement in excess of a certein prindpal amount, typically $100 million. Although such defaults by any of the 
Utilities, ATSI or TrAIL would generally cross-default FE financing arrangements containing these provisions, defaults by any of 
AE Supply, FES, FG or NG would generally not cross-default to applicable finandng anangements of FE. Also, defaults by FE 
would generally not CToss-default applicable financing arrangements of any of FE's subsidiaries. Cross-default provisions are 
not typically found in any of the senior notes or FMBs of FE, FG. NG or the Utilities. 

12. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND BANK LINES OF CREDIT 

FE and certain of its subsidiaries participate in three five-year syndicated revolving credit facilities with aggregate commitments 
of $6.0 billion (Fadlities), which are available until March 31, 2019. FirstEnergy had $1,799 million and $3,404 million of short-
tenn bonowings under the Fadlities as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. FirstEnergy's available liquidity under the 
Fadlities as of January 31, 2015 was as follows: 

Borrower(s) 

FirstEnergy'^' 

FES/AE Supply 

FET^ 

Type 

Revolving 

Revolving 

Revolving 

Maturity 

March 2019 

March 2019 

March 2019 

Subtotal 

Cash 

Total 

Con: 

$ 

$ 

$ 

imitment 
Available 
Liquidity 

(In millions) 

3,500 $ 

1,500 

1,000 

6,000 $ 

— 

6,000 $ 

1,469 

1,435 

1,000 

3,904 

58 

3,962 

''' FE and ttie Utilities 
'^ includes FET, ATSI and TrAIL as subskliary borrowers 
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Re v o M n g Credit Facil i t ies 

FirstEnergy, FES/AE Supply and FET Fadlities 

On March 31 , 2014, FE, FES, AE Supply, FET and FE's otiier bonower subsidiaries entered into extensions and amendments 
to the three existing multi-year syndicated revolving credit fadlities. Each Fadlity was extended until March 31 , 2019. The FE 
facility was amended to increase the lending banks' commitments under the fadlity by $1.0 billion to a total of $3.5 billion and to 
increase the individual bonower sublimit for FE by $1.0 billion to a totel of $3.5 billion. The FES/AE Supply fadlity was 
amended to decrease the lending banks' committnents by $1.0 billion to a totel of $1.5 billion. The lending banks' commitments 
under ttie FET fadlity remain at $1.0 billion and that facility was amended to inaease ATSI's individual bonower sublimit to 
$500 million from $100 million and TrAlL's Individual borrower sublimit to $400 million from $200 million. FirstEnergy expensed 
approximately $5 million (FES - $3 million) of unamortized debt expense as a result of ttie amendments, induded in Loss on 
Debt Redemptions in the Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended December 31 , 2014. 

Generally, borrowings under each of ttie Facilities are available to ea t ^ bonower separately and mature on the earlier of 
364 days from the date of borovwng or the commitment termination date, as tiie same may be extended. Each of the Fadlities 
corltains finandal covenants requiring each bonower to maintain a consolidated debt to total capitalization ratio (as defined 
under each of the Facilities, as amended) of no more ttian 65%, and 75% for FET, measured at the end of each fiscal quarter. 

Thi ; following teble summarizes the bonowing sub-limits for eac:h borrower under the Fadlities, the limitations on short-term 
indebtedness applicable to each bonower under cunent regulatory approvals and applicable statutory and/or charter 
limtations, as of December 31, 2014: 

Borrower 

FE 

FES 

AE Supply 

FET 

OE 

CEI 

TE 

JCP&L 

ME 

PN 

WP 

MP 

PE 

ATSI 

Penn 

TrAIL 

'" No limitations. 

Revolving 
Credit 

Facility Sub-
Limits 

Regulatory and 
Other Short-Term 
Debt Limitat ions 

(In mil l ions) 

$ 3,500 

1,500 

1,000 

1,000 

500 

500 

500 

600 

300 

300 

200 

500 

150 

500 

50 

400 

$ (1) 

(2) 

P) 

(1) 

5001" 

500 P' 

500 P' 

850'^' 

500 *'> 

300 <'> 

200 <*> 

500 <̂> 

150"> 

500 "> 

50 "> 

400'=' 

No limitation based upon blanket financing authorization from the FERC under existing maricet-based rate tariffs. 
Excluding amounts which may be borrowed under the regulated companies' money pool. 

The entire amount of the FES/AE Supply Fadlity, $600 million of the FE Fadlity and $225 million of the FET Fadlity, subject to 
each tunower's sul>-limit is available for the issuance of LOCs (subject to bonowings drawn under ttie Fadlities) expiring up to 
on^ year from the date of issuance. The stated amount of outstending LOCs will count against totel commibnents available 
under eac^ of the Fadlities and against the applicable bonower's bonowing sub-limit 
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The Facilities do not contain provisions that resttid the ability to bonow or accelerate payment of outstending acivances in the 
event of any change In credit ratings of tiie borrowers. Pridng is defined in "pridng grids,' whereby the cost of fonds bonowed 
under the Fadlities Is related to the credit ratings of the company bonowing the fonds, other than tiie FET Fadlity, which is 
based on its subsidiaries' credit ratings. Additionally, bonowings under each of ttie Fadlities are subject to the usual and 
customary provisions for acceleration upon the occunence of events of default induding a cross-default for other indebtedness 
in access of $100 million. 
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Term Loans 

On Man^h 31, 2014, FE executed, and folly utilized, a new $1 billion variable rate tenn loan credit agreement with a maturity 
dat; of March 31, 2019. The initial borrowing under the term loan, whic:h took the form of a Eurodollar rate advance, may be 
cor verted from time to time, in whole or in part, to altemate base rate advances or other Eurodollar rate advances. The 
proceeds from this term loan reduced bonowings under the FE Facility. Additionally, FE has a $200 million variable rate term 
loan, for v^ich the mafority was extended in December 2014 for an additional year to December 31, 2016. The term loan 
corjteins covenants and other terms and conditions substantially similar to FE's $1 billion variable rate term loan entered into on 
March 31, 2014 and FE's existing revolving credit fadlity, including the same consolidated debt to total capitalization ratio 
requirement 

Asiof December 31, 2014, FE was in compliance with ttie finandal cxivenants assodated with the applicable debt to total 
capitalization ratios under each of tiiese term loans. 

; FirstEnergy Money Pools 

FirstEnergy's utility operating subsidiary companies also have the ability to bonow from each other and the holding company to 
meet their short-term woricing capital requirements. A similar but separate anangement exists among FirstEnergy's unregulated 
cx)n|ipanies. FESC administers these two money pools and tracks surplus fonds of FirstEnergy and the respective regulated 
and unregulated subsidiaries, as well as proceeds available from bank bonowings. Companies receiving a loan under the 
money pool agreements must repay the prindpal amount of the loan, together with accrued interest, within 364 days of 
bonowing tiie fonds. The rate of interest is ttie same for eac^ company receiving a loan from their respective pool and is based 
on the average cost of fonds available through the pool. The average interest rate for bonowings In 2014 was 1.45% per 
annum for the regulated companies' money pool and 1.35% per annum for the unregulated cx)mpanles' money pool. 

Weigtited Average Interest Rates 

The weighted average interest rates on short-term bonowings outstending, induding borrowings under the FirstEnergy Money 
Pools, as of December 31,2014 and 2013, were as follows: 

2014 2013 

FirstEnergy 1.96% 1.80% 

FES 3.34% —% 

13. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 

FirstEnergy has recx>gnized applicable legal obligations for AROs and their assodated cost primarily for nudear power plant 
decommissioning, redamation of sludge disposal ponds, dosure of coal ash disposal sites, underground and above-ground 
storage tanks, wastewater tteatment lagcxins and transformers containing PCBs. In addition, FirstEnergy has recx>gnized 
corjditional retirement obligations, primarily for asbestos remediation. 

Th6 ARO liabilities for FES primarily relate to the decommissioning of the Beaver Valley, Davis-Besse and Perry nudear 
gerierating fadlities. FES uses an expected cash fiow approach to measure the fair value of tiieir nudear decommissioning 
AROs. 

FirstEnergy and FES maintain NDTs tiiat are legally restrided for purposes of settling ttie nudear decommissioning ARO. The 
fairjvalues of the decommissioning trust assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows: 

i 

2014 2013 

(In millions) 

FirstEnergy $ 2,341 $ 2,201 

FES $ 1,365 $ 1,276 
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The following table summarizes the changes to ttie ARO balances during 2014 and 2013: 

ARO Reconciliation FirstEneipy FES 

Balance, January 1,2013 

Liabilities settled 

Acca^etion 

Revisions In estimated cash fiows 

Balance. December 31, 2013 

Liabilities settled 

Acaetton 

Revisions in estimated cash fiows 

Balance, December 31, 2014 

$ 

$ 

$ 

|7n millions) 

1,599 

(18) 

115 

(18) 

1,678 

(9) 
113 

(395) 

1,387 

$ 

$ 

$ 

965 

(18) 

71 

(3) 

1,015 

(7) 
66 

(233) 

841 

During 2013, revisions to estimated cash fiows as a result of Inc r̂eased cost estimates for the dosure of LBR increased the 
assodated ARO liability of FES by $163 million. The revised cost estimates were the result of a Closure Plan submitted to the 
PA DEP by FG on March 28, 2013, which provides for pladng a final cap over LBR, and a response to a tec:hnlcal deficiency 
letter issued by the PA DEP on Odober 3, 2013. See Note 15, Commitments, Guarantees, and Contingendes for additional 
information related to the closure of LBR. 

During the third quarter of 2013, studies were completed to update the estimated cost of asbestos remediation for FirstEnergy 
and FES. The cost studies resulted in a revision to the estimated cash flows assodated with the ARO liabilities of FirstEnergy 
and FES and increased the liability by $12 miillon and $5 million, respectively. 

During the fourtii quarter of 2013, revisions to estimated nudear decommissioning cash flows associated with ttie ARO liability 
of FirstEnergy and FES decreased the liability by $193 million and $171 million, respectively. The revision in estimates for the 
ARO balances is the result of a decommissioning sfody that was completed by a third-party in connedion with Davis-Besse's 
license renewal that was submitted to the NRC in February 2014. The most significant revision from this study was related to 
accelerating the expeded date when the DOE would begin to accept spent foel, to be more in line with the industry 
assumptions. Additionally, FirstEnergy also updated and revised its estimates for Perry and Beaver Valley Units 1 and 2, in a 
consistent manner. 

During the fourtti quarter of 2014, based on studies completed by a third-party to reassess the estimated costs of 
decommissioning certein nudear generating facilities, FE deaeased Its ARO by $395 million ($233 million at FES) of which 
$133 million was credited against a regulatory asset assodated witii nuclear decommissioning and spent foel disposal costs for 
TMl-2. The decrease in the ARO primarily resulted from an extension in the number of years in which decommissioning 
activities are estimated to cxx:ur at Davis-Besse, Perry, TMI-2 and Beaver Valley Units 1 and 2. 

14. REGULATORY MATTERS 

STATE REGULATION 

Each of the Utilities' retail rates, conditions of sen/ice, issuance of securities and other matters are subject to regulation in the 
states in which it operates - In Maryland by tiie MDPSC, in Ohio by the PUCO, in New Jersey by tiie NJBPU, In Pennsylvania 
by the PPUC, In West Virginia by the WVPSC and in New York by the NYPSC. The tiansmisslon operations of PE in Virginia 
are subject to certein regulations of the VSCC. In addition, under Ohio law, munidpalities may regulate rates of a public utility, 
subject to appeal to the PUCO if not acx:epteble to the utility. 

As competitive retail electtic suppliers sen/ing retell customers primarily in Ohio, Pennsylvania, Illinois, Michigan, New Jersey 
and Maryland, FES and AE Supply are subject to state laws applicable to competitive electtic suppliers in those states, 
induding affiliate codes of conduct that apply to FES, AE Supply and their public utility affiliates. In addition, if any of ttie 
FirstEnergy affiliates were to engage in ttie consttuction of significant new transmission or generation fadlities, depending on 
the state, they may be required to obtain state regulatory authorization to site, constiud and operate the new transmission or 
generation fadlity. 

MARYLAND 
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PE provides SOS pursuant to a combination of setttement agreements, MDPSC orders and regulations, and statutory 
provisions. SOS supply Is competitively procured in the form of rolling conttads of varying lengths through periodic aucttons 
that are overseen by the MDPSC and a third party monitor. Although settiements with respect to residential SOS for PE 
customers expired on December 31, 2012, by statute, service continues in tiie same manner unless changed by order of the 
MDjPSC. The setUement pnivisions relating to non-residential SOS have also expired; however, by MDPSC order, the temis of 
service remain in place unless PE requests or the MDPSC orders a change. PE recovers its costs plus a refom for providing 
SOS. 
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The Maryland legislafore adopted a stafote In 2008 codifying the EmPOWER Maryland goals to reduce eledric consumption by 
10% and reduce electiidty demand by 15%, in each case by 2015. PE's initial plan submitted in compliance with tiie stetute 
was approved in 2009, at which time expendifores were estimated to be approximately $101 million for ttie PE programs for the 
entire period of 2009-2015. PE's third plan, covering the three-year period 2015-2017, was approved by ttie MDPSC on 
December 23, 2014. The projeded costs of ttie 2015-2017 plan are approximately $64 million for that three year period. PE 
continues to recover program costs subject to a five-year amortizatton. Maryland law only allows for the utility to recover lost 
disbibution revenue atbibuteble to energy effidency or demand reduction programs through a base rate case proceeding, and 
to date such recovery has not been sought or obtained by PE. 

The MDPSC adopted mles, effective May 28, 2012, that set utility-spedfic SAIDI and SAIFI targets for 2012-2015; prescribed 
detailed tree-ttimming requirements, outage restoration and downed wire response deadlines; imposed ottier reliability and 
customer satisfaction requirements; and established annual reporting requirements. The MDPSC is required to assess each 
utility's compliance with the new mles, and may assess penalties of up to $25,000 per day, per violation. The MDPSC issued 
orders accepting PE's reports on compliance under the new mles on September 3, 2013 and August 27, 2014. 

On Febmary 27, 2013, the MDPSC issued an order (the Febmary 27 Order) requiring the Maryland electric utilities to submit 
analyses, relating to the costs and benefits of making forther system and staffing enhancements in order to attempt to reduce 
stonn outage durations. The order forther required the Staff of the MDPSC to report on possible performance-based rate 
stmdures and to propose additional mles relating to feeder perfonnance standards, outage communication and reporting, and 
sharing of spedal needs customer information. PE's final filing on September 3, 2013, discussed the steps needed to harden 
the utility's system in order to attempt to achieve various levels of storm response speed described in the Febmary 27 Order, 
and projeded that it would require approximately $2.7 billion in infrastrudure investments over 15 years to attempt to achieve 
the quickest level of response for the largest stonn projected in the Febmary 27 Order. On July 1, 2014, the Staff of the 
MDPSC issued a set of reports that recommended tiie imposition of extensive additional requirements in the areas of storm 
response, feeder performance, estimates of restoration times, and regulatory reporting. The Staff also recommended tiie 
imposition of penalties, induding c:ustomer rebates, for a utility's failure or inability to comply with the escalating standards of 
storni restoration speed proposed by the Staff. In addition, the Staff proposed that the utilities be required to develop and 
implement system hardening plans, up to a rate impad cap on cost. The MDPSC conduded a hearing September 15-18, 2014, 
to consider certain of these matters, and has not yet scheduled forther proceedings on any of the matters. 

NEW JERSEY 

JCP&L cunentiy provides BGS for retail customers \n^o do not choose a third party EGS and for customers of ttiird party EGSs 
that fail to provide the contraded sen/ice. The supply for BGS, which is comprised of two components, is provided through 
contrads procured through separate, annually held descending dock auctions, tiie results of which are approved by the 
NJBPU. One BGS component and audion, reflecting hourly real time energy prices, is available for larger commercial and 
industiial customers. The other BGS component and auction, providing a fixed price service, is intended for smaller commerdal 
and residential customers. All New Jersey EDCs participate in tills competitive BGS prcx^rement prcx^ss and recover BGS 
costs directiy from customers as a charge separate from base rates. 

In an order issued July 31, 2012, the NJBPU ordered JCP&L to file a base rate case using a historical 2011 test year. The rate 
case petition was filed on November 30, 2012 by JCP&L requesting approval to increase revenues by approximately $31 
million, which induded ttie recovery of 2011 storm restoration costs but exduded approximately $603 million of costs incurred 
in 2012 assodated with the impad of Hunicane Sandy. In the initial briefs of the parties, the Division of Rate Counsel 
recommended that base rate revenues be reduced by $214.9 million while the NJBPU Staff recommended a $207.4 million 
reduction (such amounts do not address the revenue requirements assodated with the major storm events of 2011 and 2012). 
On May 5, 2014, JCP&L submitted updated schedules to refled ttie result of the generic storm cost prcx^eding, discussed 
below, to revise the debt rate to 5.93%, and to request that base rate revenues be increased by $9.1 million, induding tiie 
recovery of 2011 stonn costs. The record in the case was closed as of June 30, 2014. The ALJ provided his initial Decision on 
January 8, 2015, which recommended an annual revenue redudion of $107.5 million and did not include tiie recovery of 2012 
storm costs or any CTA On Febmary 11, 2015, tiie NJBPU approved a 45-day extension to render a final dedsion. 

On January 23, 2013, the NJBPU opened a generic proceeding to review its policies vwtti respect to the use of a CTA in base 
rate cases. The NJBPU and its Staff solidted, and w&e provided, input from interested stakeholders, Induding utilities and the 
Division of Rate Counsel. On June 18, 2014, ttie NJBPU Staff proposed to amend cunent CTA policy by: 1) calculating savings 
using a 5 year look back from the beginning of the test year; 2) allocating savings wth 75% retained by the company and 25% 
allocated to rate payers; and 3) exduding ttansmission assets of electiic distiibution companies in the savings calculation. 
JCP&L and otiier stakeholders filed written comments on the Staff proposal. In its Order issued Odober 22, 2014, the NJBPU 
stated It would continue to apply its cunent CTA policy in base rate cases, subject to Incorporating the staff proposed 
modifications (as discussed alx)ve). For pending base rate cases in whic:h the record had dosed, suc:h as JCP&L's, the NJBPU 
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would, following an initial decision of the /MJ, reopen ttie record for the limited purpose of adding a CTA calculation refleding 
the modified policy and allow parties the opportunity to comment FirstEnergy expects the application of the mcxtified policy in 
the pending JCP&L base rate case to reduco annual revenues by approximately $5 million. On November 5, 2014, the Division 
of Rate Counsel appealed tiie NJBPU Order to tiie New Jersey Superior Court JCP&L has filed to participate as a respondent 
in tiiat proceeding. 
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On Mart* 20, 2013, the NJBPU ordered that a generic proceeding be established to investigate ttie pmdence of costs incurred 
by all New Jersey utilities for servic:e restoration efforts assodated with the major storm events of 2011 and 2012. The Order 
provided that if any utility had already filed a proceeding for recovery of such storm costs, to the extent the amount of approved 
recovery had not yet been detennined, tiie pmdence of such costs would be reviewed in the generic prtx^eding. On May 31, 
2013, the NJBPU darified its eariier order to indicate that the 2011 major storni costs would be reviewed expedittousiy in the 
generic: proceeding, witti the goal of maintaining the base rate case schedule established by the ALJ where recovery of such 
costs would be addressed. The NJBPU fortiier indicated that it would review the 2012 major storm costs in the generic 
prcx:eeding and the recovery of such costs would be considered through a Phase 11 in the existing base rate case or through 
another appropriate methcxl to be determined at tiie conclusion of the generic proceeding. On June 21, 2013, JCP&L filed a 
detailed report in support of recovery of major stonn costs witii the NJBPU. On Febmary 24, 2014, a Stipulation was filed with 
the NJBPU by JCP&L, the Division of Rate Counsel and NJBPU Staff which will allow recovery of $736 million of JCP&L's $744 
million of costs related to tiie significant weather events of 2011 and 2012. As a result, FirstEnergy recorded a regulatory asset 
impainnent charge of approximately $8 miillon (pre-tax) as of December 31, 2013. By its Order of March 19, 2014, the NJBPU 
approved the Stipulation of Settlement. Although the settlement permits recovery of 2011 and 2012 storni costs, the recovery of 
the 2011 costs vwll be addressed in the pending base rate case; whereas the manner and timing of recovery of the 2012 storm 
costs toteling $580 million will be determined by the NJBPU. 

OHIO 

The Ohio Companies primarily operate under their ESP 3 plan which expires on May 31, 2016. The material tenns of ESP 3 
indude: 

Continuing the cunent base distiibution rate freeze through May 31, 2016; 
Continues collection of lost disttibution revenues assodated with energy effidency and peak demand redudion 
programs; 
Continuing to provide economic development and assistance to low-income customers for the two-year plan period at 
levels esteblished in the prior ESP; 
A 6% generation rate discount to certain low income customers provided by the Ohio Companies through a bilateral 
wholesale conttad with FES (FES is one of tiie wholesale suppliers to the Ohio Companies); 
Continuing to provide power to non-shopping customers at a market-based price set through an auction process; 
Continuing Rider DCR that allows continued investment in the distribution system for the benefit of customers; 
Continuing commitment not to recover from retail customers certain costs related to transmission cost allocations for 
the longer of the five-year pericxi from June 1, 2011 through May 31, 2016 or when the amount of costs avoided by 
customers for certain types of products totals $360 million, subject to the outcome of certain FERC proceedings; 
Securing generation supply for a longer period of time by conduding an audion for a three-year period rather than a 
one-year pericxl, in each of Odober 2012 and January 2013, to mitigate any potential price spikes for the Ohio 
Companies' utility customers who do not switch to a competitive generation supplier; and 
Extending the recovery period for costs assodated witii purchasing RECs mandated by SB221, Ohio's renewable 
energy and energy effidency standani, through the end of the new ESP 3 pericxl. This Is expeded to initially reduce 
the monthly renewable energy charge for all non-shopping utility customers of the Ohio Companies by spreading out 
the costs over the entire ESP pericxi. 

Notices of appeal of the Ohio Companies' ESP 3 plan to the Supreme Court of Ohio were filed by the Northeast Ohio Public 
Energy Coundl and the ELPC. The matter has not yet been scheduled for oral argument 

The Ohio Companies filed an application with the PUCO on August 4, 2014 seeking approval of their ESP IV entitied Powering 
Ohio's Progress. The Ohio Companies have requested a dedsion by the PUCO by April 8, 2015. The Ohio Companies filed a 
partial Stipulation and Recommendation on December 22, 2014. The evidentiary hearing on the ESP IV Is scheduled to 
commence on April 13,2015. The material tenns of the proposed plan indude: 

Continuing a base distribution rate freeze through May 31, 2019; 
Continuing collectton of lost distribution revenues assodated with energy effidency and peak demand reduction 
programs; 
Providing economic development and assistance to low-income customers for the three-year plan period; 
An Economic Stability Program providing for a retail rate stability rider to flow ttirough charges or credits representing 
the net result of Uie costs paid to FES ttirough a proposed 15-year purchase power agreement for the outi^ut of 
Sammis, Davis-Besse and FES' share of 0 \ ^ C against tiie revenues received from selling the output into the PJM 
markets over the same period; 
Continuing to provide power to non-shopping customers at a market-based price set through an audion process; 
Continuing Rider DCR with increased revenue caps of approximately $30 million per year that allows continued 
investment supporting the distiibution system for the benefit of customers; 

http://investors.fnstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 

http://investors.fnstenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html


Document Contents Page 308 of 432 

A commitment not to recover from retail customere certein costs related to transmission cost allocations for the longer 
of the five-year period fixxn June 1, 2011 through May 31, 2016 or when the amount of suc:h costs avoided by 
cxjstomers for certain types of prcxiuds totals $360 million, induding appropriately such costs from MISO along with 
suĉ h costs from PJM, subject to the outcome of certein FERC proceedings; and 
General updates to electtic service regulations and teriffe to refiect regulatory orders, administrative mle changes, and 
cunent practices. 

Under Ohio's energy efficiency stendards (SB221 and SB310), and the Ohio Companies' filing of amended energy efficiency 
plaris, the Ohio Companies are required to implement energy efficiency programs that achieve a total annual energy sa>rings 
equvalent of approximately 2,237 GWHs in 2014, 2015 and 2016. The Ohio Companies are also required to reduce peak 
demand in 2009 
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by 1 %, with an additional 0.75% reduction each year thereafter through 2014, and retain the 2014 level for 2015 and 2016, and 
then increase the benchmaric by an additional 0.75% tiiereafter through 2020. 

On March 20, 2013, the PUCO approved the ttiree-year energy effidency portfolio plans for 2013-2015, estimated to cost ttie 
Ohio Companies approximately $250 million over the three-year period, which is expeded to be recovered in rates. 
Applicattons for rehearing were filed by the Ohio Companies and several other parties. On July 17, 2013, tiie PUCO denied the 
Ohio Companies' application for rehearing, in part but authorized tiie Ohio Companies to receive 20% of any revenues 
obtained from offering energy effidency and DR reserves into the PJM auction. The PUCO also confirmed that the Ohio 
Companies can recover PJM costs and applic:able penalties associated with PJM auctions, induding the costs of purc:hasing 
replacement capacity from PJM incremental audions, to the extent tiiat such costs or penalties are pmdentiy incajned. On 
August 16, 2013, ELPC and OCC filed applications for rehearing, which were granted for the sole purpose of forther 
consideration of the issue. On September 24, 2014, the Ohio Companies filed an amendment to their portfolio plan as 
contemplated by SB310, seeking to suspend certein programs for the 2015-2016 period in order to better align the plan with the 
new benchmarits under SB310. On November 20, 2014, the PUCO approved ttie Ohio Companies' amended portfolio pian. 
Several applications for rehearing were filed, and the PUCO granted those applications for forther consideration of the matters 
specified in ttiose applicattons. 

On September 16, 2013, the Ohio Companies filed with the Supreme Court of Ohio a notice of appeal of the PUCO's July 17, 
2013 Entry on Rehearing related to energy effidency, altemative energy, and long-tenn forecast mles stating that the mles 
issued by the PUCO are inconsistent witii, and are not supported by, stefotory authority. On Odober 23, 2013, the PUCO filed 
a motion to dismiss the appeal, which is still pending. The matter has not been scheduled for oral argument 

Ohio law requires elecbic utilities and electtic service companies in Ohio to serve part of their load from renewable energy 
resources measured by an annually increasing percentage amount ttirough 2024, except 2015 and 2016 ttiat remain at the 
2014 level. The Ohio Companies conduded RFPs in 2009, 2010 and 2011 to secure RECs to help meet these renewable 
energy requirements. In September 2011, ttie PUCO opened a docket to review the Ohio Companies' altemative energy 
recovery rider through which the Ohio Companies recover the costs of acquiring these RECs. The PUCO issued an Opinion 
and Order on August 7, 2013 approving the Ohio Companies' acquisition process and their purchases of RECs to meet 
statutory mandates in all instances except for part of the purchases arising from one audion and directing the Ohio Companies 
to credit non-shopping customers in the amount of $43.4 million, plus interest, on the basis that the Ohio Companies did not 
prove suĉ h purchases were pmdent. Based on the PUCO mling, a regulatory c:harge of approximately $51 million, including 
interest, was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2013. On December 24, 2013, following the denial of their application for 
rehearing, the Ohio Companies filed a notice of appeal and a motion for stey of the PUCO's order with the Supreme Court of 
Ohio, which was granted. On February 18, 2014, tiie OCC and the ELPC also filed appeals of the PUCO's order. The Ohio 
Companies filed their merit brief witii the Supreme Court of Ohio on March 6, 2014 and ttie briefing process conduded on 
December 24, 2014. The matter is not yet scheduled for oral argument 

On April 9, 2014, ttie PUCO initiated a generic investigation of marketing pradices in the competitive retail eledric service 
maricet with a focus on the marketing of fixed-price or guaranteed percent-off SSO rate contrads where there is a provision 
tiiat permits the pass-through of new or additional c:harges. 

PENNSYLVANIA 

The Pennsylvania Companies cunentiy operate under DSPs tiiat expire on May 31, 2015, and provide for tiie competitive 
prcxiurement of generation supply for customers that do not c:hoose an altemative EGS or for customers of altemative EGSs 
that fail to provide the conttaded sen/Ice. The default service supply is cunentiy provided by wholesale suppliers through a mix 
of long-term and short-term contiads prcxored through descending clcrck audions, competitive requests for proposals and spot 
maricet purchases. On July 24, 2014, the PPUC unanimously approved a setUement of the Pennsylvania Companies' DSPs for 
the period of June 1, 2015 through May 31, 2017, that provides for quarteriy descending clock audions to procure 3, 12 and 
24-montii energy contracts, as well as one RFP seeking 2-year contracts to secure SRECs for ME, PN and Penn. 

The PPUC entered an Order on March 3, 2010 that denied the recovery of marginal ttansmission losses through the TSC rider 
for the period of June 1, 2007 ttirough March 31, 2008, and direded ME and PN to submit a new tariff or tariff supplement 
refleding the removal of marginal ttansmission losses from the TSC. Pursuant to a plan approved by the PPUC, ME and PN 
refonded those amounts to customers over 29-months conduding in the second quarter of 2013. On appeal, the 
Commonwealth Court affirmed the PPUC's Order to ttie extent ttiat it holds ttiat line loss costs are not transmission costs and, 
tiierefore, the approximately $254 million in marginal ttansmission losses and assodated canying charges for ttie period prior 
to January 1, 2011, are not recoverable under MEs and PN's TSC riders. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court denied ME's and 
PN's Petition for Allowance of Appeal and ttie Supreme Court of ttie United States denied ME's and PN's Petition for Writ of 
Certiorari. The US. Distrid Court for the Eastem District of PennsyWania granted ttie PPUC's motion to dismiss the complaint 
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filed by ME and PN to obtain an order that would enjoin enforcement of the PPUC and Pennsylvania court orders under a 
the< iry of federal preemption on the question of retell rate recovery of the marginal transmission loss charges. As a result of the 
U.S. District Court's dedsion, FirstEnergy recorded a regulatory asset impainnent charge of approximately $254 million (pre­
tax) in the quarter ended September 30, 2013. On appeal, on September 16, 2014, in a split dedsion, two judges of a three-
judge panel of the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit affinned the U.S. District Court's dismissal of the 
cornplaint, agreeing that ME and PN had litigated the issue in the stete proceedings and thus were preduded from subsequent 
litigation In federal court On September 30,2014, ME and PN filed for rehearing and rehearing 
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en banc before the Third Circuit and, on Odober 15, 2014, the Third Circuit rejected that rehearing request ME and PN filed a 
Petition for Certiorari with ttie U.S. Supreme Court on Febmary 12,2015. 

Pursuant to Pennsylvania's EE&C legislation (Ad 129 of 2008), the PPUC was charged with reviewing the cost effectiveness of 
energy efficiency and peak demand redudion programs. The PPUC found the energy efficiency programs to be cost effedive 
and directed all of the electiic utilities in Pennsylvania to submit by November 15, 2012, a Phase 11 EE&C Plan that would be in 
effect for the period June 1, 2013 tiirough May 31, 2016. The PPUC defened mling on the need to create peak demand 
reduction tergets and did not indude a peak demand redudion requirement in the Phase 11 plans. On March 14, 2013, tiie 
PPUC adopted a settlement among the Pennsylvania Companies and Interested parties and approved the Pennsylvania 
Companies' Phase 11 EE&C Plans for the period 2013-2016. Totel costs of these plans are expeded to be approximately $234 
million and recoverable through ttie Pennsylvania Companies' recondlable EE&C riders. 

On August 4, 2014, the Pennsylvania Companies each filed teriffs with the PPUC proposing general rate increases assodated 
with their distribution operations. The filings request approval to increase operating revenues by approximately $151.9 million at 
ME, $119.8 million at PN, $28.5 miillon at Penn, and $115.5 million atWP based upon folly projected future test years for the 
twelve months ending April 30, 2016 at each of the Pennsylvania Companies. On Febmary 3, 2015, eac;h of the Pennsylvania 
Companies filed a Joint Petition for Settlement seeking PPUC approval of the agreements reached in each proceeding which 
induded, among other things: 1) increases in cunent distribution revenues of $89.3 miillon for ME, $90.8 miillon for PN, $15.9 
million for Penn and $96.8 million for V f̂f*; 2) a Universal Sen/ices Charge Rider to be esteblished for WP; 3) storm reserve 
accounts for fijfore storm recovery to be established for eac:h of the Pennsylvania Companies; and 4) certein other operational 
and customer service-related provisions. The sole issue reserved for briefing was with resped to ttie scope and pridng of tiie 
Companies' proposed LED offerings. Orders on the proposed increases are expeded in May 2015. 
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WEST VIRGINIA 

On April 30, 2014, MP and PE filed a rate case, as amended on June 13, 2014, requesting a base rate increase of 
approximately $104 million, or 9.9%, based on an historic 2013 test year. The tiling also induded a request for an additional 
$48 million to recover by surcharge costs for new and existing vegetetion management programs. On November 3, 2014, a 
Joint Stipulation vras submitted by all parties whldi setOed all issues in tiie proceeding. The settiement indudes, among other 
thirjigs: a $15 million inc:rease in base rate revenues effective Febmary 25, 2015; the implementetion of a Vegetation 
Management Surcharge effective Febmary 25, 2015 to recover all costs related to tx>th new and existing vegetation 
ma întenance programs; autiiority to establish a regulatory asset for MATS investments placed into senrice in 2016 and 2017; 
authority to defer, amortize and recover over a 5-year period approximately $46 miillon of storm restoration costs; and 
elir|iination of the Temporary Transaction Surcharge for costs assodated with MP's acquisition of the Hanison plant in October 
2013 and movement of those costs into base rates effedive Febmary 25, 2015. On February 3, 2015, the WVPSC approved 
thej settlement In foil and without modification. MP and PE's new rates will go into effect February 25, 2015. 

Onl August 29, 2014, MP and PE filed ttieir annual ENEC case proposing an approximate $65.8 million annual increase in 
ENEC rates, which is a 5.7% overall Increase to existing rates. The increase is comprised of an adual $51.6 million under-
reqovered balance as of June 30, 2014, and a projected $14.2 million in under-recovery for the 2015 rate effedive period. A 
settlement was reached by all the parties, which was filed witii ttie WVPSC on December 2, 2014. The parties agreed to defer 
$16.8 miillon of the energy portion of the under-recovery balance for medium and large customers for one year at a canying 
co^t of 4% in order to mitigate tiie proposed rate impact to those customers. The setttement permits MP and PE to recover all 
of their costs incuned during the two year review period and doses the review pericxi except for tvro coal issues for forther 
review in next year's ENEC case. On January 29, 2015, the WVPSC approved the settiement in foil without modification and 
new ENEC rates will go Into effec:t Febmary 25, 2015. 

REUABIUTY MATTERS 

Feclerally-enforceable mandatory reliability standards apply to the bulk eledric system and impose certain operating, record­
keeping and reporting requirements on tiie Utilities, FES, AE Supply, FG, FENOC, NG, ATSI and TrAIL NERC is ttie ERO 
designated by FERC to establish and enforce these reliability stendards, although NERC has delegated day-to-day 
implementatton and enforcement of these reliability standards to eight regional entities, induding RFC. All of FirstEnergy's 
facilities are located within the RFC region. FirstEnergy actively partidpates in the NERC and RFC stakeholder processes, and 
otherwise monitors and manages its companies in response to the ongoing development, implementation and enforcement of 
tiiq reliability standards Implemented and enforced by RFC. 

FirstEnergy believes that It is in compliance with all cunently-effective and enforceable reliability standards. Nevertiieless, in the 
course of operating its extensive electric utility systems and facilities, FirstEnergy cxx^asionally leams of isolated tads or 
drciumstences that could be interpreted as excursions from the reliability stendards. If and when such cxounences are found, 
FirstEnergy develops information about the ocounence and develops a remedial response to the spedfic drc:umstances, 
including in appropriate cases "self-reporting" an occunence to RFC. Moreover, it is dear that NERC, RFC and FERC will 
coritinue to refine existing reliability standards as well as to develop and adopt new reliability stendards. Any inability on 
FirstEnergy's part to comply witti the reliability stendards for its bulk electtic system could result in ttie imposition of finandal 
penalties that could have a material adverse effect on Its finandal condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

FERC MATTERS 

PJM Transmission Rates 

PJM and its stekeholders have been debating the proper method to allocate costs for new fransmisslon tadlities. While 
FirstEnergy and other parties advocate for a ttaditional "benefidary pays" (or usage based) approach, ottiers advcx^ate for 
"sbdalizing' the costs on a load-ratio share basis, where eac^ customer in the zone would pay based on its totel usage of 
energy within PJM. This question has been the subjed of extensive litigation before FERC and ttie appellate courts, induding 
mcjst recentiy before the Seventh Cinxiit. On June 25, 2014, a divided ttiree-judge panel of tiie Seventh Circuit mled that FERC 
had not quantified the benefits that westem PJM utilities would derive from certein new 500 kV or higher lines and thus had not 
adequately supported its decision to sodalize the costs of these lines. The majority found that eastem PJM utilities are the 
primary benefidaries of tiie lines, while western PJM utilities are only inddentel benefidaries, and that while inddentel 
bepefidaries should pay some share of the costs of the lines, that share should be proportionate to the benefit they derive from 
the lines, and not on load-ratio share in PJM as a whole. The court remanded the case to FERC, which issued an order setting 
tiie issue of cost allcx:ation for hearing and settlement proceedings. Settiement discussions under a FERC-appointed 
settiement judge are ongoing. 
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Order No. 1000, issued by FERC on July 21, 2011, announced new polides regarding transmission planning and transmission 
cost allocation, requiring the submission of a compliance tiling by PJM and the PJM transmission owners demonsti'ating that 
the cost alicx:ation methodology for new ttansmission projeds direc:ted by tiie PJM Board of Managers satisfied tiie prindples 
set forth in ttie order. On August 15, 2014 the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit affirmed Order No. 1000. induding its 
termination of certein "right of first refosal" privileges discussed in more deteil below. The court subsequently denied a request 
for rehearing of its decision. 
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In series of orders, induding certain of the orders related to tiie Order No. 1000 proceedings, FERC has asserted that the PJM 
ttansmission owners do not hold an incumbent "right of first refosal' to constmct, own and operate ttansmission projeds within 
their respec:ttve footprints that are approved as part of PJM's RTEP process. FirstEnergy and other PJM transmission ownere 
have appealed these mlings, and tiiose appeals are pending before ttie U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit 

To demonstt'ate compliance with tiie regional cost allocation prindples of Order No. 1000, the PJM transmission owners, 
induding FirstEnergy, proposed a hybrid allocation of 50% benefidary pays and 50% sodalized to be effective for RTEP 
projeds approved by the PJM Board of Managere on, and after, the requested Febmary 1, 2013 effective date of the 
corppliance filing. FERC has accepted that approach. 

Separately, the PJM ti-ansmission owners, induding FirstEnergy, submitted filings to FERC setting forth the cost allocation 
method for projec:ts that cross the tx)rdere between tiie PJM Region and: (1) the NYISO region; (2) tiie MISO region; and (3) 
the FERC-jurisdictional members of the SERTP region. These filings propose to allocate the cost of these intenegional 
ttansmission projects based on the costs of projects that otherwise would have been constmded separately in eac^ region, or, 
in the case of MISO, indicate that the cost allocation provisions for intenegional transmission projects provided in the Joint 
Operating Agreement between PJM and MISO comply with the requirements of Order No. 1000. FERC acoepted the 
PJM/MISO and PJM/SERTP filing, subjed to refond and forther compliance requirements. The PJM/NYISO cross-border 
projed cost allocation filing remains pending before FERC. 

The outcome of these prcx:eedings and their impac t̂, if any, on FirstEnergy cannot be predided at this time. 

' RTO Realignment 

On June 1, 2011, ATSI and the ATSI zone ttansfened from MISO to PJM. While many of the matters involved with ttie move 
have been resolved, FERC denied recovery under ATSI's transmission rate for certain charges that collectively can be 
described as "exit fees" and certain other fransmisslon cost allcx^tion charges toteling approximately $78.8 million until such 
timie as ATSI submits a cost/benefit analysis demonsttating net benefits to customers from tfie move. FERC rejeded a 
prciposed settlement agreement to resolve the exit fee and fransmisslon cost allocation Issues, stating that Its adion is without 
prejudice to ATSI submitting a cost/benefit analysis demonstrating tiiat the benefits of the RTO realignment dedsions outiA/eigh 
the exit fee and transmission cost allocation charges. FirstEnergy's request for rehearing of FERC's order remains pending. 

Separately, the question of ATSI's responsibility for certain costs for the ''Mic:higan Thumb" fransmisslon project continues to be 
diS3uted. Potential responsibility arises under the MISO MVP tariff, which has been litigated in complex proceedings before 
FERC and certain U.S. appellate courts. In tiie event of a final non-appealable order ttiat mles that ATSI must pay these 
chEirges, ATSI will seek recovery of these charges tiirough its fonnula rate. On a related issue, FirstEnergy joined certain other 
PJM transmission owners in a protest of MISO's proposal to alloc:ate MVP costs to energy ttansadions that cross MISO's 
bordere into ttie PJM Region. On January 22, 2015, FERC issued an order establishing a paper hearing on remand from Oie 
Seventh Circuit of the issue of whether any limitation on "export pridng" for sales of energy from MISO into PJM is justified in 
ligft of applicable FERC precedent Initial comments on ttie MISO/PJM MVP issue are due March 9,2015, and reply comments 
are dueApril8, 2015. 

In addition, in a May 31, 2011 order, FERC mled that the costs for certain "legacy RTEP" transmission projec:ts in PJM 
approved before ATSI joined PJM could be charged to ttansmission customers in the ATSI zone. The amount to be paid, and 
the question of derived benefits, is pending before FERC as a result of the Seventh Circuit's June 25, 2014 order described 
abcive under PJM Transmission Rates. 

The outcome of those proceedings that address the remaining open issues related to ATSI's move into PJM c:annot be 
predided at this time. 

2014 ATSI Fonnula Rate Filing 

On Odober 31, 2014, ATSI filed a proposal with FERC to change the stiudure of its formula rate. The proposed change 
requested to move from an "historical looking' approac:h, where ttansmission rates reflect adual costs for ttie prior year, to a 
"foi^vard looking" approach, where fransmisslon rates would be based on the estimated costs for tiie coming year, with an 
anrjiual tme up. Several parties protested ATSI's tiling. On December 31, 2014, FERC issued an order accepting ATSI's filing 
effective January 1, 2015, as requested, subject to refond and tiie outcome of hearing and settiement proceedings. Settiement 
di&xjsslons under a FERC-appointed settlement judge are ongoing. FERC also initiated an inquiry pureuant to Section 206 of 
ttie FPA into ATSI's ROE and certain ottier matters, witti a refond effective date of January 12, 2015, for any refond resulting 
from the Inquiry. A procedural schedule for the Section 206 Inquiry has not yet been established. 
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' Califomia Claims Matters 

In October 2006, several Califomia govemmental and utility parties presented AE Supply witii a settiement proposal to resolve 
alleged overcharges for power sates by AE Supply to the Califomia Energy Resource Scheduling division of the CDWR during 
2001. The setUement proposal daims tiiat CDWR is owed approximately $190 million for these alleged overcharges. This 
proposal was made in the context of mediation efforts by FERC and the Ninth Circ:uit in several pending proceedings to resolve 
all Outstanding refond and other daims, induding daims of alleged price manipulation in the Califomia energy markets during 
2000 and 2001. The Nintti Circuit had previously remanded one of those proceedings to FERC, which dismissed the daims of 
the! Califomia Parties in May 2011. The Califomia Parties appealed FERC's dedsion back to ttie Ninth Circuit where tiie appeal 
remains pending. AE Supply joined with other intervenore in the case and filed a brief in support of FERC's dismissal of the 
case. Oral argument was held on Febmary 11,2015. The matter Is now before the Ninth Circuit for decision. 

I 

In another proceeding, in June 2009, the Califomia Attomey General, on behalf of certain Califomia parties, filed a complaint 
with FERC against various sellers, induding AE Supply, again seeking refonds for ttansacttons in the Califomia energy markets 
dulling 2000 and 2001. The above-noted fransadions with CDWR are the basis for induding AE Supply in this complaint AE 
Supply filed a motion to dismiss, which FERC granted. The Califomia Attomey General appealed FERC's dismissal of its 
complaint to the Ninth Circxjit which has consolidated the case with other pending appeals related to California refond claims, 
and stayed the prcxoedings pending forther order. 

FirstEnergy cannot predid the outcome of either of the above matters or estimate the possible loss or range of loss. 

• PATH Transmission Projed 

Oni August 24, 2012, the PJM Board of Managers canceled the PATH project, a proposed transmission line from West Virginia 
thrcbugh Virginia and into Maryland which PJM had previously suspended in Febmary 2011. As a result of PJM canceling the 
project, approximately $62 million and approximately $59 miillon In costs incuned by PATH-Allegheny and PATH-WV (an 
equity method investment for FE), respectively, were reclassified from net property, plant and equipment to a regulatory asset 
for jfijture recovery. PATH-Allegheny and PATH-WV requested authorization from FERC to recover the costs with a proposed 
RQE of 10.9% (10.4% base plus 0.5% for RTO memberehip) from PJM customers over five yeare. FERC issued an order 
der^ying the 0.5% ROE adder for RTO membership and allowing the tariff changes enabling recovery of these costs to become 
effective on December 1, 2012, subjed to settiement judge prcx«edings and hearing if the parties do not agree to a setttement 
Onl March 24, 2014, tiie FERC Chief ALJ terminated settiement judge procedures and appointed an ALJ to preside over the 
hearing phase of ttie case. The FERC Chief ALJ later extended the procedural schedule to allow time for the parties to address 
the'applicability of FERC's Opinion No. 531 to the PATH proceedings. FERC's Opinion No. 531, as discussed below, revises 
FERC's metiiodology for calculating ROE. The hearing is scheduled to commence in March 2015. 

I MISO Capacity Portability 

Onl June 11, 2012, in response to certain argumente advanced by MISO, FERC issued a Notice of Request for Comments 
regarding whether existing mles on fransfer capability ad as barriere to the delivery of c:apacity between MISO and PJM. 
FirstEnergy and other parties have submitted filings arguing that MISO's concerns largely are without foundation and suggested 
thai FERC address the remaining concems in the existing stakeholder process tiiat is described in the PJM/MISO Joint 
Operating Agreement FERC has not mandated a solution, and the RTOs and affeded parties are working to address the 
MISO's proposal in stakeholder prcx:eedings. In January 2015, the RTOs and affected parties indicated to FERC that 
discussions on the various issues are continuing. Changes to the criteria and qualifications for partidpation in the PJM RPM 
capadty auctions could have a slgnific:ant impact on the outcome of those auctions, induding a negative impact on the prices at 
whfch those aucitions would dear. 

FTR Underfunding Complaint 

In PJM, FTRs are a mechanism to hedge congestion and operate as a finandal replacement for physical firm transmission 
seryice. FTRs are finandally-settled insttuments that entitie the holder to a stteam of revenues based on the houriy congestion 
price differences across a spedfic transmission path in ttie PJM Day-ahead Energy Maricet FE also performs bilateral 
ttarjisactions for the purpose of hedging ttie price differences bettAreen the location of supply resources and retail load 
obligations. Due to c:ertain language in the PJM Tariff, the fonds that are set aside to pay FTRs can be diverted to other uses, 
resulting in "underfonding" of FTR payments. Since June 2010, FES and AE Supply have lost more than $94 million in 
revenues that they othenivise would have received as FTR holders to hedge congestion costs. FES and AE Supply expect to 
coritinue to experience significant underfonding. 
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On Febmary 15,2013, FES and AE Supply filed a renewed complaint with FERC for the purpose of changing tiie PJM Tariff to 
eliminate FTR underfonding. On June 5, 2013, FERC issued ite order denying the new complaint Requeste for rehearing, and 
alt subsequent filings in the docket, are pending before FERC. The PJM stakeholdere continue to discuss FTR underfonding. 

A recent and related issue is the effect that certein finandal frades have on congestion. On August 29, 2014, FERC instituted 
an investigation to address the question of whether ttie cunent mles regarding "Up-to Congestion' transactions are just and 
reasonable. FESC, on behaff of FES and tiie Utilities, filed commente supporting the investigation, arguing that PJM Tariff 
changes would decrease ttie inddence of Up-to Congestion fransactions, and fonding for FTRs likely would Increase. FERC 
convened a technical 
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cohference on January 7, 2015 to discuss application of certein FTR-related mles to Up-to Congestion and virfoal transactions 
arid whether PJM's cunent uplift all(x:ation for Up-to Congestion and virfoal transactions is just and reasonable. FERC adion 
fol owing the technical conference is pending. 

PJM Mariiet Reform: 2014 PJM RPM Tariff Amendments 

tn late 2013 and eariy 2014, PJM submitted a series of amendmente to tiie PJM Tariff to ensure that resources tiiat dear in Uie 
RPM auctions are available as physical resources in the delivery year and that ttie mles implement comparable obligations for 
different types of resources. PJM's filings can be grouped Into four categories: (i) DR; (il) Importe; (Iii) modeling of transmission 
upgrades in calculating geographic dearing prices; and (iv) artsifrage/capadty replacement In each of tiie relevant dockets, 
FirstEnergy and other parties submitted comments largely supporting PJM's proposed amendmente. FERC largely approved 
the PJM Tariff amendmente as proposed by PJM regarding DR, imports, and fransmisslon upgrade modeling. Compliance 
filings pureuant to and requests for rehearing of certein of tiiese ordere are pending before FERC. However, FERC rejected ttie 
arbitrage/capadty replacement amendments, directing Instead that a technical conference be convened to fortiier examine the 
issues. The technical conference has yet to be sc:heduled. 

PJM Mari<et Reform: PJM Capadty Performance Proposal and 2015/2016 Reliability Filings 

Ori December 12, 2014, PJM submitted two filings to implement its proposed "Capadty Perfonnance" reform of tiie RPM 
capadty market. PJM proposes to revise the PJM Tariff to, among other things: (i) adopt a modified version of the FERC-
apjsroved ISO New England Inc. capacity perfonnance payment stmcfore; (ii) allow no excuses for nonperfomiance except 
under certain defined drcumstances; (Hi) maintein DR as a supply-side resource; and (iv) impose a Capadty Performanc:e 
Resource must-offer requirement (unite that c:an perform as a Capacity Perfonnance Resource must offer into the capadty 
maricet, except certain defined resources, induding DR). PJM also proposes, among other things, to revise tiie PJM Operating 
Agreement to provide limits in energy market offers based on spedfic physical charaderistics and to ensure that capadty 
resources are available when the PJM Region needs them to perform. PJM requested an effective date of April 1, 2015 for 
these proposed refonns. Numerous parties filed comments on and proteste to PJM's Capadty Performance filings. FESC, on 
behalf of its affeded affiliates, and, as part of a coalition of certain ottier PJM utilities, filed comments and protests on ttie 
prciposed refonns. PJM's filings and all related pleadings are pending before FERC. 

In addition, on December 24, 2014, PJM submitted two filings seeking to ensure enough capadty Is available during tiie 
2015/2016 Delivery Year. First, PJM proposed to revise the PJM Tariff to allow PJM to procure an undetennined amount of 
additional capadty for the 2015/2016 Delivery Year to address reliability concems. PJM requested an effective date of Febmary 
23: 2015 for this revision. Second, PJM requested a one-time PJM Tariff waiver that would permit PJM to keep approximately 
2,000 MW of committed capadty that should be released for the third incremental audion for the 2015/2016 Delivery Year. 
Wittiout ttie waiver, PJM would be required under the PJM Tariff to release this capacity. PJM requeste an effec:tive date of 
Fe 3mary 23,2015 for the waiver. Numerous parties filed commente on and protests to tiiese PJM filings. FESC, on behalf of its 
affix^ted affiliates, and, as part of a coalition of certain other PJM utilities, filed comments In support of both PJM filings and 
seeking additional information from PJM about the scope of any capacity shortfall. PJM's filings and all related pleadings are 
pepding before FERC. 

PJM Maricet Reform: PJM RPM Auctions - Calculation of Unit-Specific Offer Caps 

The PJM Tariff describes the mles for calculating the "offer cap" for each unit that offere into the RPM auctions. FES disagreed 
witn the PJM Maricet Monitor's approach for calculating the offer caps and in 2014, FES asked FERC to determine which PJM 
Tariff interpretetion, FES's or the PJM Market Monitor's, was conect On August 25, 2014, FERC issued a dedaratory order 
agreeing with the FES interpretation of the PJM Tariff language. FERC went on, however, to initiate a new proceeding to 
examine whether the existing PJM Tariff language is just and reasonable. PJM filed its brief explaining why the existing PJM 
Tariff language is just and reasonable. Other parties, induding FES, submitted responsive briefe. The briefe and related 
pl^dings are pending before FERC. 

i PJM Mariiet Refonn: FERC Order No. 745 - DR 

On May 23, 2014, a divided three-judge panel of the U.S. Court of Appeals for ttie D.C. Circxjit issued an opinion vacating 
FERC Order No. 745, which required that under certein parameters, DR partidpating in organized wholesale energy maricets 
bejcompensated at LMP. The majority conduded that DR is a retail servico, and therefore falls under state, and not federal, 
jurisdidion, and that FERC, therefore, lacks jurisdiction to regulate DR. The majority also found that even if FERC had 
jurisdidion over DR, Order No. 745 would be arbifrary and capridous because, under its requirements, DR was inappropriately 
receiving a double payment (LMP plus the savings of foregone energy purchases). On January 15,2015, FERC and a coalition 
of bR providere and industtial end-user groups filed separate petitions for U.S. Supreme Court review of the May 23, 2014 
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dedsion. Responses to those petitions are due March 19, 2015. The U.S. Court of Appeals for tiie D.C. Circuit will withhold 
issuance of the mandate pending the United States Supreme Courts disposition of those petitions. 

On May 23, 2014, FESC, on behalf of its affiliates with market-based rate autiiorization. filed a complaint asking FERC to Issue 
an order requiring the removal of all portions of the PJM Tariff allowing or requiring DR to be induded in the PJM capadty 
maricet, with a refond effedive date of May 23, 2014. FESC also requested that the resulte of tiie May 2014 PJM BRA be 
considered void and 

174 

http://mvestors.fu:stenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 

http://mvestors.fu:stenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html


Do(iument Contents Page 320 of 432 

legally invalid to the extent ttiat DR deared that auction because the participation of DR in ttiat audion was unlawfol in light of 
ttie May 23, 2014 U.S. Court of Appeals for ttie D.C. Circuit dedsion discussed above. FESC, on behalf of FES, subsequentiy 
fildd an amended complaint renewing its request that DR be removed from the May 2014 BRA. Spedfically, FESC requested 
ttiat FERC direct PJM to recalculate the results of the May 2014 BRA by: (i) removing DR from ttie PJM capacity supply pool; 
(Ii) leaving the offere of acfoal capadty suppliers unchanged; and then (ill) detennining which capacity suppliere dear tiie 
auction on the basis of the offere they submitted consistent with the existing PJM Tariff once the unlawfol DR resources have 
been removed. The complaint remains pending before FERC. The timing of FERC action and the outcome of this prcx^eding 
cannot be predided at ttiis time. 

On January 14, 2015, PJM filed proposed amendments to the PJM Tariff for the purpose of addressing the uncertainty of DR. 
The amendmente, which will become effective only in certain defined conditions, purport to be In response to the U.S. Court of 
Appeals for the D.C. Circuit's May 23, 2014 dedsion regarding FERC's jurisdiction to regulate DR, as discussed above. If 
implemented, the amendments will move DR from the supply side to the load side for purposes of PJM's RPM capacity 
maricets, and will pennit loads to bid load reductions into the RPM auctions occuning after April 1, 2015. On Febmary 13, 2015, 
FirstEnergy, as part of a coalition, filed a protest against PJM's proposed amendments. FirstEnergy expects forther filings 
before FERC mles on this matter. 

PJM Mariiet Refonn: PJM 2014 Triennial RPM Review 

The PJM Tariff obligates PJM to perform a ttiorough review of its RPM program every tiiree yeare. On September 25, 2014, 
PJH1 filed proposed changes to the PJM Tariff as part of the latest review cyde. Among other adjusttnents, the filing induded: 
(i) shifting the VRR cun/e one percentage point to the right whic^ would increase tiie amount of capacity supply that is 
pre cured in the RPM auctions and the dearing price; and (ii) a change to the index used for calculating the generation plant 
constirudion coste of the Net CONE formula for ttie fofore yeare between ttiennial reviews. On November 28, 2014, FERC 
accepted the PJM Tariff amendmente as proposed, subject to a minor compliance requirement PJM subsequently submitted 
tiie required compliance filing. On December 23, 2014, a coalition induding FESC, on behalf of its affected affiliates, requested 
rehearing of FERC's order. PJM's compliance filing, and the coalition's and othere' requests for rehearing, remain pending 
before FERC. 

Market-Based Rate Authority. Triennial Update 

Thk Utilities, AE Supply, FES, FG, NG, FirstEnergy Generation Mansfield Unit 1 Corp., Buchanan Generation, LLC, and Green 
Valley Hydro, LLC each hold autiiority from FERC to sell eledridty at market-based rates. One condition for retaining this 
authority is that every three yeare each entity must file an update with ttie FERC ttiat demonsfrates that each entity continues to 
meet FERC's requirements for holding market-based rate authority. On December 20, 2013, FESC, on behaff of its affiliates 
witti market-based rate authority, submitted to FERC the most recent triennial maricet power analysis filing for each maricet-
based rate holder for the cunent cycle of this filing requirement On August 13, 2014, FERC accepted tiie tiiennial filing as 
sutlimitted. 

FERC Opinion No. 531 

On June 19, 2014, FERC issued Opinion No. 531, in which FERC revised ite approac:h for calcolating the discounted cash fiow 
element of FERC's ROE methodology, and announced a qualitative adjustinent to the ROE methodology results. Under the old 
methcxiology, FERC used a five-year forec:ast for the dividend growth variable, whereas going forward the growth variable will 
corisist of two parte: (a) a five-year forecast for dividend growtti (2/3 weight); and (b) a long-term dividend growtti based on a 
forecast for the U.S. economy (1/3 weight). Regarding the qualitetive adjustment, FERC formerly pegged ROE at tiie mid-point 
of ttie "zone of reasonableness" ttiat came out of the ROE formula, whereas going fonward, FERC may rely on record evidence 
to make qualitattve adjustments to the outcome of the ROE methcxiology In order to reach a level suffident to atb^ct future 
investment Requests for rehearing of Opinion No. 531 are cunentiy pending before FERC. On Odober 16, 2014, FERC issued 
its:Opinion No. 531-A, applying the revised ROE methodology to certain ISO New England Inc. transmission ownere. 
FirstEnergy is evaluating the potential Impad of Opinion No. 531 on the authorized ROE of our FERC-regulated transmission 
utilities and the cost-of-sen/ice wholesale power generation fransactions of MP. 

15J COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES 

I NUCLEAR INSURANCE 

The Price-Anderson A d limite ttie public liability which can be assessed with respect to a nudear power plant to $13.6 billion 
(a^uming 104 unite licensed to operate) for a single nudear Inddent which amount is covered by: (i) private insurance 
amounting to $375 million; and (ii) $13.2 billion provided by an industty rettospective rating plan required by the NRC pursuant 
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tiiereto. Under such refrospective rating plan, in ttie event of a nudear inddent at any unit In the United States resulting in 
losses in excess of private Insurance, up to $127 million (but not more than $19 million per unit per year in the event of more 
than one inddent) must be contributed for each nudear unit licensed to operate in the countiy by the licensees thereof to cover 
liabilities arising out of the inddent Based on their present nudear ownerehip and leasehold intereste, FiretEnergy's maximum 
potential assessment under these provisions would be $509 million (NG-$501 million) per incident but not more than $76 million 
(NG-$75 million) in any one year for each inddent 

In addition to the public liability insurance provided pureuant to the Price-Andereon Ad, FiretEnergy has also obtained 
insurance coverage in limited amounte for economic loss and property damage arising out of nudear inddente. FirstEnergy is a 
member of 
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NEIL, which provides coverage (NEIL I) for Oie extra expense of replacement power incuned due to prolonged acddentel 
outages of nudear units. Under NEIL I, FiretEnergy's subsidiaries have polides, renewable annually, conesponding to their 
respec:tive nudear Interests, whic^ provide an aggregate indemnity of up to approximately $1.96 billion (NG-$1.93 billion) for 
replacement power coste inclined during an outage after an initial 20-week waiting pericxi. Membere of NEIL 1 pay annual 
premiums and are subject to assessmente if losses exceed the accumulated fonds available to the insurer. FiretEnergy's 
present maximum aggregate assessment for incidents at any covered nudear fadlity ocouning during a policy year would be 
approximately $14 million (NG-$13 million). 

FiretEnergy is insured as to its respective nudear interests under property damage insurance provided by NEIL to the operating 
company for each plant Under these anangemente, up to $2.75 billion of coverage for decontamination coste, 
decommissioning coste, debris removal and repair and/or replacement of properiy is provided. FiretEnergy pays annual 
premiums for this coverage and is liable for rettospedive assessments of up to approximately $74 million (NG-$72 million). 

FirstEnergy intends to maintain insurance against nudear risks as described above as long as it is available. To the extent that 
replacement power, property damage, decontamination, decommissioning, repair and replacement costs and other such costs 
arising from a nudear inddent at any of FirstEnergy's plants exceed tiie policy limits of the insurance in effec:t with respect to 
that plant, to the extent a nudear inddent is determined not to be covered by FiretEnergy's insurance polides, or to the extent 
such insurance becomes unavailable in the fijfore, FiretEnergy would remain at risk for such costs. 

The NRC requires nuclear power plant licensees to obtain minimum property insurance coverage of $1.06 billion or the amount 
geijierally available from private sources, whichever is less. The proceeds of this insurance are required to be used firet to 
ensure that the licensed reador Is in a safe and stable condition and can be mainteined in that condition so as to prevent any 
sig lificant risk to the public health and safety. Within 30 days of stabilization, the licensee is required to prepare and submit to 
the NRC a deanup plan for approval. The plan is required to identify all deanup operations necessary to decontaminate the 
resdor suffidentiy to permit the resumption of operations or to commence decommissioning. Any property insurance proceeds 
not already expended to place the reador in a safe and stable condition must be used first to complete those decontamination 
operations that are ordered by the NRC. FiretEnergy is unable to predid what effed these requiremente may have on the 
availability of insurance proceeds. 

GUARANTEES AND OTHER ASSURANCES 

FiretEnergy has various financial and performance guarantees and indemnifications which are issued in the normal couree of 
business. These contiads indude performance guarantees, stand-by lettere of credit, debt guarantees, surety bonds and 
indemnifications. FirstEnergy entere into these arrangements to facilitate commerdal transadions with third parties by 
enliandng the value of the transaction to the third party. 

As of December 31, 2014, outetanding guarantees and other assurances aggregated approximately $4.0 billion, consisting of 
parental guarantees ($712 million), subsidiaries' guarantees ($2,338 million) and other guarantees ($649 million). 

Of this amount, substantially all relates to guarantees of wholly-owned consolidated entities. FES' debt obligations are generally 
guaranteed by ite subsidiaries, FG and NG, and FES guarantees the debt obligations of each of FG and NG. Accordingly, 
prejsent and foture holdere of indebtedness of FES, FG, and NG would have daims against each of FES, FG, and NG, 
reglardless of whether their primary obligor is FES, FG, or NG. 

! COLLATERAL AND CONTINGENT-RELATED FEATURES 

In the normal course of business, FE and ite subsidiaries routinely enter into physical or financially settled contrads for the sale 
and purcdiase of electiic capadty, energy, foel and emission allowances. Certain bilateral agreemente and derivative 
instiuments contain provisions tiiat require FE or its subsidiaries to post collateral. This collateral may be posted in the form of 
ca^h or credit support with thresholds contingent upon FE's or Ite subsidiaries' credit rating from each of the major credit rating 
agendes. The collateral and credit support requiremente vary by conttad and by counterparty. The incremental collateral 
requirement allows for the offsetting of assete and liabilities with the same counterparty, where the conttadual right of offeet 
exists under applicable master netting agreemente. 

I 

Bilateral agreements and derivative instmmente entered into by FE and its subsidiaries have margining provisions ttiat require 
posting of collateral. Based on FES' power portfolio exposure as of December 31, 2014, FES has posted collateral of $175 
million and AE Supply has posted no collateral. The Regulated Distiibution segment has posted collateral of $1 million. 
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These credit-risk-related contingent feafores stipulate that ff the subsidiary were to be downgraded or lose ite investinent grade 
aedit rating (based on ite senior unsec:ured debt rating), it would be required to provide additional collateral. Depending on the 
volume of fonA/ard confrads and foture price movemente, higher amounte for margining could be required. 

Subsequent to the occunence of a senior unsecured credit rating downgrade to below S&P's BBB- and Moody's Baa3, or a 
"material adverse event" the Immediate posting of collateral or accelerated payments may be required of FE or ite subsidiaries. 
The following teble disdoses the additional credit contingent confracfoal obligations that may be required under certein events 
as of December 31,2014: 
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Collateral Provisions 

Split Rating (One rating agency's rating below investment grade) $ 

BB+/Ba1 Credit Ratings 

Full impact of credit contingent confracfoal obligations 

$ 

$ 

$ 

FES 

603 

643 

886 

A 

$ 

$ 

$ 

E Supply Utilities 

(In millions) 

6 $ 

6 $ 

72 $ 

48 $ 

48 $ 

86 $ 

Total 

657 

697 

1,044 

Exduded from ttie preceding chart are the potential collateral obligations due to affiliate transactions between the Regulated 
Distribution segment and CES segment. As of December 31, 2014, neither FES nor AE Supply had any collateral posted with 
th^ir affiliates. In the event of a senior unsecured credit rating downgrade to below S&P's BB- or Moody's Ba3, FES would be 
required to post $24 miillon with affiliated parties. 

' OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

FirstEnergy is a guarantor under a syndicated three-year senior secured terni loan facility due Odober 18, 2015, under which 
Global Holding bonowed $350 million. Procoeds from the loan were used to repay Signal Peak's and Global Rail's maforing 
$350 million syndicated tiwo-year senior secured term loan fadlity. In addition to FirstEnergy. Signal Peak, Global Rail, Global 
Mining Group, LLC and Global Coal Sales Group, LLC, each being a dlrec:t or indired subsidiary of Global Holding, have also 
provided their joint and several guaranties of tiie obligations of Global Holding under the new facility. 

In connedion with the cunent fadlity, 69.99% of Global Holding's direct and indired membership interests in Signal Peak, 
Global Rail and their affiliates along with FEVs and WMB Marketing Venfores, LLC's respedive 33-1/3% membership interests 
in Global Holding, are pledged to the lendere under the cajrrent fadlity as collateral. 

FirstEnergy, FEV and the ottier two co-ownere of Global Holding, Pinesdale LLC, a Gunvor Group, Ltd. subsidiary, and WMB 
Mariceting Ventures, LLC, have agreed to use their best efforts to refinance the new fadlity no later than July 20, 2015, which 
refleds ttie terms of an amendment dated August 14, 2013, on a non-recourse basis so that FirstEnergy's guaranty can be 
terminated and/or released. If that refinandng does not occur, FirstEnergy may require each co-owner to lend to Global 
Ho ding, on a pro rata basis, fonds suffident to prepay the new facility in foN. In lieu of providing such fonding, the co-owners, at 
FiretEnergy's option, may provide their several guaranties of Global Holding's obligations under the facility. FirstEnergy 
receives a fee for providing its guaranty, payable semiannually, which accmed at a rate of 4% through December 31, 2012, and 
accmes at a rate of 5% from January 1, 2013 tiirough Odober 18, 2015, which amends the rate in the prior agreement, in each 
case based upon the average daily outetanding aggregate committnente under the fadlity for suc:h semiannual period. 

ENVIRONMENTAL IHATTERS 

Vaiious federal, stete and lcx:al authorities regulate FirstEnergy witii regard to air and water quality and otiier environmental 
mattere. Compliance with environmental regulations could have a material adverse effed on FiretEnergy's eamings and 
conpetitive position to the extent that FirstEnergy competes with companies that are not subjec:t to suc:h regulations and, 
tiierefore, do not bear the risk of coste asscx;iated with compliance, or failure to comply, with suc:h regulations. 

Clean Air A d 

FiretEnergy complies with SO2 and NOx emission reduction requiremente under the CAA and SlP(s) by buming lower-sulfor 
foel, utilizing combustion confrols and post-combustion confrols, generating more electricity from lower or non-emitting plante 
and/or using emission allowances. CAIR requires reductions of NOx and SO2 emissions in two phases (2009/2010 and 2015), 
ultijnately capping SO2 emissions in affeded stetes to 2.5 million tons annually and NOx emissions to 1.3 million tons annually. 
In 2008, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit dedded that CAIR violated the CAA but allowed CAIR to remain in effect 
to Ttemporarily preserve ite envlronmentel values* until the EPA replaced CAIR with a new mle consistent with the Court's 
decision. In July 2011, the EPA finalized CSAPR, to replace CAIR, requiring reductions of NOx and SO2 emissions in hvo 
phases (2012 and 2014), ultimately capping SO2 emissions in affected states to 2.4 million tons annually and NOx emissions to 
1.21 million tons annually. CSAPR allows frading of NOx and SO2 emission allowances between power plants located in ttie 
satne state and Interetate trading of NOx and SO2 emission allowances with some restiictions. On December 30, 2011, CSAPR 
was stayed by the U.S. Court of Appeals for ttie D.C. Circuit and was ultimately vacated by the Court on August 21, 2012. The 
Court subsequently ordered the EPA to continue adminisfration of CAIR until it finalized a valid replacement for CAIR. On April 
29,1 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court revereed tfie U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit dedsion vacating CSAPR and 
gerjierally upheld the EPA's authority under the CAA to establish the regulatory sttudure underpinning CSAPR. On October 23, 
2014, tiie U.S. Court of Appeals for ttie D.C. Circuit lifted ite stay of CSAPR allowing Its Phase 1 reductions of NOx and SO2 
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emissions to begin in 2015, a three year delay from EPA's original mle. CSAPR Phase 2 will also be delayed by ttiree yeare to 
2017. Depending on the outcome of forther proceedings in this matter and how the EPA and the states implement the final 
ailes, the fofore cost of compliance may be substantial and changes to FiretEnergy's and FES' operations may result 
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MATS imposes emission limite for mercury, PM, and HCL for all existing and new coal-fired electtic generating units effec:tive in 
April 2015 with averaging of emissions from multiple unite loc:ated at a single plant Under the CAA, state permitting authorities 
cari grant an additional compliance year through April 2016, as needed, induding instences when necessary to maintain 
reliability where elecbic generating unite are being closed. On December 28,2012, the WVDEP granted a conditional extension 
through April 16, 2016 for MATS compliance at ttie Fort Martin, Hanison and Pleasante stations. On March 20, 2013, the PA 
DEP granted an extension through April 16, 2016 for MATS compliance at the Hatfield's Ferry and 6mc:e Mansfield stations. In 
December 2014, FG requested an extension through April 16, 2016 for MATS compliance at the Bay Shore and Sammis 
stations and await a dedsion from OEPA. In addition, an EPA enforcement policy document contemplates up to an additional 
year to achieve compliance, through April 2017, under certain circumstances for reliability critical units. MATS was challenged 
in ibe U.S. Court of Appeals for tiie D.C. Circuit by various entities, including FirstEnergy's challenge of the PM emission limit 
imposed on pefroleum coke boiiere, suc^ as Bay Shore Unit 1. On April 15, 2014, MATS was upheld by the U.S. Court of 
Appeals for the D.C. Circuit, however, the Court refosed to dedde FiretEnergy's challenge of the PM emission limit imposed on 
pefroleum coke boilers due to a January 2013 petition for reconsideration still pending but not addressed by EPA On 
November 25, 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court agreed to review MATS, spedfically, to detennine if EPA should have evaluated 
the cost of MATS prior to regulating. Depending on ttie outcome of the U.S. Supreme Court review and how the MATS are 
ultimately implemented, FiretEnergy's total capital cost for compliance (over the 2012 to 2018 time period) is conently expected 
to be approximately $370 million (CES segment of $178 million and Regulated Dlsttibutton segment of $192 million), of which 
$133 million has been spent through 2014 ($56 million at CES and $77 million at Regulated Distribution). 

As of September 1, 2012, Albright, Annstrong, Bay Shore Units 2-4, Eastiake Units 4-5, R. Paul Smith, Rivesville and Willow 
Island were deactivated. FG entered into RMR arrangements with PJM for Eastiake Units 1-3, Ashtabula Unit 5 and Lake 
Shxe Unit 18 through the spring of 2015, when they are scheduled to be deactivated. In Febmary 2014, PJM notified FG that 
Eastiake Unite 1-3 and Lake Shore Unit 18 will be released from RMR status as of September 15, 2014. FG intends to operate 
the plants through ^ r i l 2015, subject to market conditions. As of Odober 9, 2013, the Haffield's Ferry and Mitchell stations 
were also deadivated. 

FirstEnergy and FES have various long-term coal supply and transportation agreements, some of which mn through 2025 and 
certain of which are related to ttie plants described above. FE and FES have asserted force majeure defenses for delivery 
shortfalls under certain agreements, and are in discussion with the applicoble counterparties. As to coal transportation 
agreements, FE and FES have agreed to pay liquidated damages for delivery shortfalls for 2014 in the estimated amount of 
$70 million. If FE and FES fail to reacdi a resolution with the applicable counterparties for the agreements asscxaated with tfie 
deactivated plante or unresolved aspecte of the agreements and it were ultimately determined that, contrary to tiieir belief, the 
force majeure provisions or otiier defenses, do not excuse or othenMse mitigate the delivery shortfalls, the resulte of operations 
and finandal condition of both FiretEnergy and FES could be materially adversely impaded. If that were to occur, FE and FES 
ara unable to estimate the loss or range of loss. Additionally, on July 1, 2014, FES temiinated a long-temn foel supply 
agrjeement In connection with this termination, FES recognized a pre-tax charge of $67 million in the second quarter of 2014. 
In one coal supply agreement, AE Supply has asserted termination rights effective in 2015. In response to tiie notification of the 
tennination, the coal supplier has commenced litigation alleging AE Supply does not have suffident justification to tennlnate the 
agreement There are 6 million tons remaining under tiie conttad for delivery. At this time, FirstEnergy cannot estimate the loss 
or range of loss regarding the on-going litigation with resped to this agreement. 

In June 2005, the PA DEP and the Attomeys General of New York, New Jereey, Connecticut and Maryland filed suit against 
AE AE Supply, MP, PE and WP in the U.S. Distiid Court for ttie Westem Distiid of Pennsylvania alleging, among other things, 
tha^ AE performed major modifications in violation of the NSR provisions of the CAA and the Pennsylvania Air Pollution Conttol 
Act at the coal-fired Hatfield's Feny, Amisttong and Mitchell Plants in Pennsylvania. On Febmary 6, 2014, the Court entered 
judgment for AE, AE Supply, MP, PE and WP finding they had not violated ttie CAA or the Pennsylvania Air Pollution Control 
Act New Yoric, Connedlcut, and Maryland withdrew their appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third CiroJit on December 
15, 

In September 2007, AE received an NOV from the EPA alleging NSR and PSD violations under the CAA, as well as 
Pennsylvania and West Virginia state laws at the coal-fired Haffield's Ferry and Armsfrong plants in Pennsylvania and the coal-
fired Fort Martin and Willow Island plants in West Virginia. The EPA's NOV alleges equipment replacemente during 
maintenance outages friggered the pre-conshuction permitting requiremente under the NSR and PSD programs. On June 29, 
2012, January 31, 2013, and March 27, 2013, EPA issued CAA section 114 requeste for the Harrison coal-fired plant seeking 
infc)rmation and d(x:umentetion relevant to ite operation and maintenance, including capital projeds undertaken since 2007. On 
December 12, 2014, EPA issued a CAA section 114 request for the Fort Martin coal-fired plant seeking information and 
documentation relevant to ite operation and maintenance, induding capital projects undertaken since 2009. FirstEnergy intends 
to ciomply with the CAA but at this time, is unable to predict the outcome of tills matter or estimate the possible loss or range of 
loss. 
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In July 2008, three complainte representing multiple plaintiffe were filed against FG In the U.S. Distiid Court for the Westem 
Distiid of Pennsylvania seeking damages based on air emissions from ttie coal-fired Bmce Mansfield Plant Two of these 
complainte also seek to enjoin the Bmce Mansfield Plant from operating except in a "safe, responsible, pmdent and proper 
manner." One complaint was filed on behalf of twenty-one individuals and ttie other is a dass action complaint seeking 
certification as a dass with the eight named plaintiffe as the dass representatives. FG believes ttie daims are wittiout merit and 
intends to vigorously defend itself against the allegations made in these complaints, but, at this time, is unable to predic:t the 
outcome of this matter or estimate the possible loss or range of loss. 
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Climate Change 

There are a number of initiatives to reduce GHG emissions at the state, federal and intemational level. Certain northeastem 
states are partidpating in the RGGI and westem states led by Califomia, have implemented programs, primarily cap and frade 
mechanisms, to conttol emissions of certain GHGs. Additional polides redudng GHG emissions, such as demand redudion 
programs, renewable portfolio standards and renewable subsidies have been implemented across the nation. A June 2013, 
Pr^identiat Climate Action Plan outiined goals to: (1) cut cartx)n pollution in America by 17% by 2020 (from 2005 levels); (2) 
prepare ttie United Stetes for the impads of dimate change; and (3) lead intemational efforts to combat global dimate change 
and prepare for its impacte. GHG emissions have already been reduced by 10% betiAreen 2005 and 2012 according to an April, 
2014 EPA Report. In a joint announcement on November 12, 2014, President Obama stated a U.S. target of redudng GHG 
emissions by 26 to 28% by 2025 from 2005 emission levels and China's President stated its GHG emissions will "peak", around 
2030 with approximately 20% of ite energy generated by non-fossil foels by that same year. Due to plant deadivations and 
inaeased effidendes, FiretEnergy anticipates ite CO2 emissions will be reduced 25% below 2005 levels by 2015, exceeding 
the President's Climate Action Plan goals both in tenns of timing and reduction levels. 

EPA released ite final "Endangennent and Cause or Contribute Findings for Greenhouse Gases under the Clean Air Act" in 
December 2009, concluding that concenttations of several key GHGs constitutes an "endangerment' and may be regulated as 
"air; pollutants" under the CAA and mandated measurement and reporting of GHG emissions from certein sources, induding 
electric generating plants. EPA proposed a new source perfonnance standard In September 2013, which would not apply to 
anyj existing, modified, or reconstmcted fossil foel generating units, of 1,000 lbs. CO2/MWH for large natural gas fired units (> 
850 mmBTU/hr), and 1,100 lbs. COj/MWH for other naforal gas fired units (£ 850 mmBTU/hr), and 1,100 lbs. CO2/MWH for 
fossil foel fired units which would require partial carbon capture and storage. EPA proposed regulations in June 2014, to reduce 
COj emissions from existing fossil foel electric generating units that would require each state to develop state implementetion 
plans by June 30,2016, to meet EPA's state spedfic COj emission rate goals. EPA's proposal allows stetes to request a 1-year 
extension for single-SlPs (June 30, 2017) or a 2-year extension for multi-state SIPs (June 30, 2018). EPA also proposed 
separate regulations imposing additional CO2 emission limits on modified and reconstmded fossil foel elec t̂ric generating units. 
On January 7, 2015, EPA announced it would complete all of these so-called "Carbon Pollution Standards" by "midsummer" 
201,5. On June 23, 2014, ttie U.S. Supreme Court dedded that CO2 or other GHG emissions atone cannot trigger permitting 
requirements under the CAA, but that air emission sources that need PSD permits due to other regulated air pollutants can be 
reqijired by EPA to install GHG confrol technologies. On November 13, 2014, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit 
scheduled expedited briefing to consider challenges to prevent EPA from regulating CO2 emissions from existing fossil foel 
electric generating units- Depending on the outcome of appeals and how any final mles are ultimately implemented, the fiiture 
cost of compllanc:e may be substantial. 

At he intemational level, the United Nations Frameworic Convention on Climate Change resulted in the Kyoto Protocol 
requiring partidpating countries, which does not include ttie U.S., to reduce GHGs commendng In 2008 and has been 
extended through 2020. Firs^nergy cannot cunentiy estimate the finandal impad of climate change polides, alttiough 
potential legislative or regulatory programs restticttng CO2 emissions, or litigation alleging damages from GHG emissions, could 
require significant capital and otiier expendifores or result In changes to its operations. The CO2 emissions per KWH of 
eledridty generated by FiretEnergy is lower than many of its regional competitors due to ite divereified generation sources, 
which indude low or non-COz emitting gas-fired and nudear generators. 

i 

Oean Water A d 

Vanous water quality regulations, the majority of which are the result of tiie federal CWA and Its amendmente, apply to 
FirstEnergy's plants. In addition, the states in which FirstEnergy operates have water quality stendards appllc^able to 
FirstEnergy's operations. 

! 
Thd EPA finalized CWA Sedion 316(b) regulations in May 2014, requiring cooling water intake stmctures with an inteke 
velck:lty greater than 0.5 feet per second to reduce fish impingement when aquatic organisms are pinned against sc:reens or 
otiier parts of a cooling water inteke system to a 12% annual average and requiring ccollng water inteke sti^ctures exceeding 
12^ miillon gallons per day to condud studies to determine site-spedfic confrols, if any, to reduĉ e enfrainment which occure 
when aquatic life is drawn into a fadlity's cooling water system. FiretEnergy is sfodying various conttol options and their coste 
anci effectiveness, induding pilot testing of reverse louvere in a portion of the Bay Shore power plant's cooling water inteke 
channel to divert fish away from the planf s cooling water inteke system. Depending on the resulte of such sfodies and any final 
actii:>n taken by the states based on those sfodies, the fufore coste of compliance with these stendards may require material 
capital expenditures. 

The EPA proposed updates to the waste water effluent limitations guidelines and standards for the Steam Elec:tiic Power 
Ger'ierating category (40 CFR Part 423) in April 2013. The EPA proposed eight freatment options for waste water discharges 
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from eledric power plants, of which four are "preferred" by ttie agency. The prefened options range from more stiingent 
chemical and biological freatmerrt requirements to zero discharge requirements. The EPA is required to finalize this miemaking 
by September 30, 2015, under a consent decree entered by a U.S. Disttict Court and ttie treatment obligations are proposed to 
phase-in as permits are renewed on a 5-year cyde fix)m 2017 to 2022. Depending on the content of the EPA's final mle and 
any final action teken by the states, the fofore costs of compliance with these stendards may require material capital 
expenditures. 

In Odober 2009, the WVDEP issued an NPDES water discharge permit for the Fort Martin Plant, which Imposes TDS, sulfate 
concenttations and other effluent llmitetions for heavy metals, as well as temperature limitations. Concunent with ttie issuance 
of 
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thej Fort Martin NPDES pennit WVDEP also issued an administrative order seffing deadlines for MP to meet certain of the 
effluent limite ttiat were effective immediately under the terms of the NPDES permit MP appealed, and a stay of certain 
coriditions of the NPDES permit and order have been granted pending a final dedsion on the appeal and subject to WVDEP 
moving to dissolve tiie stay. The Fort Martin NPDES permit could require an initial capitel Investinent ranging from $150 million 
to $300 million In order to install technology to meet the TDS and sulfate limits, which tec^hnology may also meet certain of Uie 
othter effluent limits. Additional technology may be needed to meet certain other limits in ttie Fort Martin NPDES permit MP 
intends to vigorously pureue these issues but cannot predid the outcome of these appeals or estimate the possible loss or 
range of loss. 

In December 2010, PA DEP recommended a sulfate impairment designation for an approximately 68 mile sfretch of tiie 
Mojiongahela River north of ttie West Virginia border which EPA approved in May of 2011. PA DEP subsequently 
recommended that the sulfate Impairment designation for the Monongahela River be removed in its bi-annual water report. The 
EPA approved the removal of ttie sulfate Impairment designation for the Monongahela River on December 19, 2014. 

FirstEnergy intends to vigorously defend against the CWA matters described above but, except as indicated above, cannot 
predid their outcomes or estimate the possible loss or range of loss. 

Regulation of Waste Disposal 

Fecieral and state hazardous waste regulations have been promulgated as a result of ttie RCRA, as amended, and the Toxic 
Substancos Confrol Ad. Certain coal combustion residuals, such as coal ash, were exempted from hazardous waste disposal 
requiremente pending the EPA's evaluation of the need for ftjture regulation. 

In Decomber 2014, the EPA finalized regulations for tiie disposal of CCRs (non-hazardous), establishing national standards 
regarding landfill design, stmcforal integrity design and assessment criteria for surface impoundments, groundwater monitoring 
and protection prcx^edures and otiier operational and reporting procedures to assure the safe disposal of CCRs from electtic 
gerierattng plants. Depending on how the final mles are ulttmately implemented, the future coste of compliance with such CCR 
regulations may require material capital expendifores. 

The PA DEP filed a 2012 complaint against FG in tiie U.S. Disttid Court for the Westem Distrid of Pennsylvania with daims 
under the RCRA and Pennsylvania's Solid Waste Management Ad regarding tiie LBR CCR Impoundment and simultaneously 
proposed a consent decree between PA DEP and FG to resolve those daims. On December 14, 2012, a modified consent 
decree was entered by the court requiring FG to condud monitoring studies and submit a dosure plan to ttie PA DEP, no later 
than March 31, 2013, and discontinue disposal to LBR as cunentiy permitted by December 31, 2016. The modified consent 
decree also required payment of dvil penalties of $800,000 to resolve daims under the Solid Waste Management Ad. PA DEP 
issued a 2014 perniit requiring FE to provide bonding for 45 years of dosure and post-dosure activities and to complete closure 
within a 12-year period, but autiiorizing FE to seek a permit modification based on "unexpeded site conditions that have or will 
slow dosure progress." The pennit does not require active dewatering of the CCRs, but does require a groundwater 
as^ssment for areenlc and abatement ff certain conditions in the permit are met The Bmce Mansfield Plant is pursuing 
se>^ral options for ite CCRs following December 31, 2016. A 2013 complaint filed by Citizens Coal Counsel and other NGOs in 
the U.S. Distiid Court for the Westem Distrid of Pennsylvania, against the owner and operator of a redamation mine in 
LaBelle, Pennsylvania that is one possible altemative, alleged the LaBelle site is in violation of RCRA and state laws. On July 
14,12014, Citizens Coal Coundl served FE, FG and NRG with a citizen suit nc^ce alleging violations of RCRA due to benefidal 
reuse of "coal ash" at the LaBelle Site. 

On Odober 10, 2013 approximately 61 individuals filed a complaint against FG In the U.S. Distrid Court for the Northem 
Disirid of West Virginia seeking damages for alleged property damage, bodily injury and emotional disttess related to tiie LBR 
CCR Impoundment The complainte state daims for private nuisance, negligence, negligence per se, reckless conduct and 
ttespass related to alleged groundwater contamination and odore emanating from the Impoundment FG believes the daims 
are without merit and Intends to vigorously ciefend itself against the allegations made In the complaints, but at this time, is 
unsble to predid the outcome of the above matter or estimate the possible loss or range of loss. A similar complaint involving 
apF roximately 26 Individuals filed In the U.S. Distiict Court for the Westem Disttid of Pennsylvania has been resolved and was 
d o ! ^ on Febmary 9, 2015, pending the filing of a stipulation for dismissal. 

FirstEnergy and certain of its subsidiaries have been named as potentially responsible parties at waste disposal sites, which 
may require deanup under the CERCLA. Allegations of disposal of hazardous substances at historical sites and the liability 
involved are often unsubstantiated and subject to dispute; however, federal law provides that all potentially responsible parties 
for k particular site may be liable on a joint and several basis. Environmental liabilities that are considered probable have been 
rec|)gnized on ttie Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2014 based on estimates of ttie totel costs of deanup, FFs 
and Ite subsidiaries' proportionate responsibility for such coste and ttie finandal ability of other unaffiliated entities to pay. Totel 
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liabilities of approximately $125 million have been accmed through December 31, 2014. Induded in the total are accmed 
liabilities of approximately $85 million for environmental remediation of former manufacfored gas plante and gas holder tadlities 
in New Jereey, which are being recovered by JCP&L through a non-bypassable SBC. FirstEnergy or ite subsidiaries could be 
found potentially responsible for additional amounts or additional sites, but the possible losses or range of losses cannot be 
determined or reasonably estimated at this time. 
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OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

I Nudear f^ant Matters 

Un Jer NRC regulations, FiretEnergy must ensure that adequate fonds will be available to decommission its nuclear fadlities. As 
of Decemtier 31, 2014, FiretEnergy had approximately $2.3 billion Invested in external tmste to be used for the 
decommissioning and envlronmentel remediation of Davis-Besse, Beaver Valley, Peny and TMl-2. The values of FiretEnergy's 
NEJTs flucfoate based on maricet conditions. If the value of ttie tmsts dedine by a material amount FirstEnergy's obligation to 
forki the tmste may increase. Dismptions in the capital maricets and their effeds on particular businesses and the economy 
cot|ld also affect the values of the NDTs. By a letter dated July 2, 2014, FENOC submitted a $155 million FES parentel 
guaranty relating to a shortfall in nudear decommissioning fonding for Beaver Valley Unit 1 and Peny to the NRC for approval. 
FE and FES have also entered Into a total of $23 million in parental guaranties in support of the decommissioning of ttie spent 
fo^ storage fadlities located at the nudear fadlities. As required by the NRC, FiretEnergy annually recalculates and adjusts tiie 
amount of Its parental guaranties, as appropriate. 

In August 2010, FENOC submitted an application to the NRC for renewal of the Davis-Besse operating lic:ense for an additional 
twenty yeare, until 2037. An NRC ASLB granted an opporfonity for a hearing on the Davis-Besse lic:ense renewal application to 
a group of Intervenore, subject to admissible contentions. On September 29, 2014, the Interveners filed a petition, 
accompanied by a request to admit a new contention, to suspend the final licensing decision on Davis-Besse license renewal. 
These filings argue that the NRC's Continued Storage Rule failed to make necessary safety findings regarding the technical 
fecBibility of spent foel disposal and the adequacy of ftjfore repository capadty required by ttie Atomic Energy Act On October 
31,12014, FENOC and ttie NRC Staff filed their opposition to ttiese requests. 

Asipart of routine inspections of the concrete shield building at Davis-Besse In 2013, FENOC identified changes to the 
subsurface laminar cracking condition originally discovered in 2011. These inspections revealed that the cracking condition had 
propagated a small amount in seled areas. FENOC's analysis confirms that the building continues to maintain ite stmdural 
integrity, and its ability to safely perform all of ite fonctions. On September 2, 2014, tiie Inten/enors in the Davis-Besse license 
renewal prcx:eeding requested that the ASLB intioduce issues based on FENOC's plans to manage the subsurface laminar 
aacking in the Davis-Besse shield building. On January 15, 2015, the ASLB denied this request The NRC continues to 
evaluate FENOC's analysis of the shield building. 

On' March 12, 2012, the NRC issued ordere reCfDiring safety enhancements at U.S. readore based on recommendations from 
the lessons learned Task Force review of the acddent at Japan's Fukushima Daiichi nudear power plant. These orders require 
adciitional mitigation sfrategies for beyond-design-basis extemal events, and enhanced equipment for monitoring water levels in 
spent foel pools. The NRC also requested that licensees induding FENOC: re-analyze eartiiquake and ficxxiing risks using the 
latest information available; condud earttiquake and flooding hazard walkdowns at their nudear plants; assess tiie ability of 
cur'ent communications systems and equipment to perform under a prolonged loss of onsite and offeite electrical power; and 
assess plant staffing levels needed to fill emergency positions. These and otiier NRC requirements adopted as a result of the 
accident at Fukushima Daiichi are likely to result in additional material coste from plant modifications and upgrades at FENOC's 
nuclear fadlities. 

ICG Utigation 

On December 28, 2006, AE Supply and MP filed a complaint in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania 
against ICG, Anker WV, and Anker Coal for failure to supply coal required by a long term CSA A non-jury trial was held from 
Jaruary 10, 2011 through Febmary 1, 2011 regarding past and ftiture damages incuned by AE Supply and MP as a result of 
the shortfall. On May 2, 2011, the court entered a verdid in favor of AE Supply and MP for $104 million ($90 million in future 
danages and $14 miillon for past damages/interest) and on August 25, 2011, the verdict became final. On August 26, 2011, 
1C(5 filed a Notice of Appeal wltti the Superior Court On August 13, 2012, the Superior Court affinned tiie $14 million past 
danages award against ICG but vacated tiie $90 million fofore damages award. While the Superior Court found that 
defendants still owed fufore damages, it remanded the calculation of those damages back to the tiial court Efforts by AE 
Supply and MP to have the Superior Court reconsider this dedsion or challenge it at the Pennsylvania Supreme Court were 
denied. In the second quarter of 2013 ttie final past damage award of $15.6 million (induding interest) was recognized and the 
case was sent back to the trial court to recalculate fofore damages only. A multi-day damages hearing was held and, on 
Febmary 13, 2015, ttie ttial court awarded AE Supply and MP approximately $11.3 million in fofore damages and prejudgment 
interest. AE Supply and MP are evaluating ttie court's dedsion and a possible appeal. In a related proceeding before ttie same 
court ICG appealed a mling that prohibited tiieir reliance on a price re-opener dause to limit ftjfore damages. On January 30, 
2015, the ICG appeal was denied and ICG has moved for reconsideration on this mling. 

Other Legal Matters 
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There are various lawsuite, claims (induding claims for asbestos exposure) and proceedings related to FirstEnergy's normal 
business operations pending against FiretEnergy and Ite subsidiaries. The loss or range of loss in these mattere is not expec:ted 
to be material to FiretEnergy or its subsidiaries. The other potentially material items not othenvise discussed above are 
desc:ribed under Note 14, Regulatory Mattere of tiie Combined Notes to Consolidated Finandal Statemente. 
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FiijstEnergy accmes legal liabilities only when it condudes ttiat it is probable that It has an obligation for such costs and can 
reasonably estimate the amount of such coste. In cases where FirstEnergy determines that it is not probable, but reasonably 
po^ible that it has a material obligation, it disdoses such obligations and the possible loss or range of loss if such estimate can 
be nade. If It were ultimately determined that FiretEnergy or its subsidiaries have legal liability or are othenA/ise made subjed to 
liatility based on any of the mattere referenced atx)ve, it could have a material adverse effect on FirstEnergy's or ite 
sutisidiaries' finandal condition, resulte of operations and cash flows. 

16. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATED COMPANIES 

FES' operating revenues, operating expenses, investment income and Interest expenses indude ttansactions with affiliated 
conpanies. These affiliated company transactions indude affiliated company power sales agreemente between FiretEnergy's 
conpetitive and regulated companies, support service billings, interest on affiliated company notes including the money pools 
and other ttansactions. 

FinitEnergy's competitive companies at times provide power through affiliated company power sales to meet a portion of the 
Utilities' POLR and default servico requirements. The primary affiliated company transadions for FES during the three yeare 
encjed Decomber 31, 2014 are as follows: 

FES 2014 2013 2012 

Revenues: 

Electric sales to affiliates 

Other 

Expenses: 

Purchased power from affiliates 

Fuel 

Support sen/ices 

Investment Income: 

Interest income from FE 

Interest Expense: 

Interest expense to affiliates 

Interest expense to FE 

(In millions) 

S 861 

6 

271 

1 

619 

3 

3 

4 

$ 652 $ 

6 

486 

— 

619 

2 

4 

6 

515 

16 

451 

2 

570 

2 

10 

1 

FirstEnergy does not bill diredly or attocaXe any of ite coste to any subsidiary company. Costs are allocated to FES and tfie 
Util ties from FESC and FENOC. The majority of costs are diredly billed or assigned at no more than cost. The remaining costs 
are for services that are provided on behalf of more than one company, or costs that cannot be predsely identified and are 
allocated using formulas developed by FESC and FENOC. The cunent allocation or assignment formulas used and ttieir bases 
indude multiple fador formulas: each company's proportionate amount of FiretEnergy's aggregate direct payroll, number of 
employees, asset t}alanc:es, revenues, number of customers, other fadore and spedfic departmentel charge ratios. 
Ma lagement believes that these allocation methcxis are reasonable. Intercompany fransactions are generally settied under 
conmerdal terms within thirty days. FES purchases ttie entire output of the generation fadlities owned by FG and NG, and 
may purchase the uncommitted output of AE Supply, as well as the output relating to leasehold intereste of OE and TE in 
cerain of those facilities that are subject to sate and leaseback anangements, and pureuant to foil output, cost-of-service 
PSAs. 

FE: 3 and the Utilities are parties to an intercompany income tax allocation agreement with FiretEnergy and its otiier subsidiaries 
ttia: provides for ttie allocation of consolidated tax liabilities. Net tax benefite attiibutable to FirstEnergy are generally 
rea located to the subsidiaries of FirstEnergy ttiat have taxable income. That allocation is accounted for as a capitel contiibution 
to tne company receiving ttie tax benefit (see Note 5, Taxes). 
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17. SUPPLEMENTAL GUARANTOR INFORMATION 

In 2(X)7, FG completed a sale and leaseback ttansaction for its undivided interest in Bmce Mansfield Unit 1. FES has folly and 
unconditionally and inevocably guaranteed all of FG's obligations under each of the leases. The related lessor notes and pass 
through certificates are not guaranteed by FES or FG, but the notes are secured by, among other things, each lessor trusts 
undivided interest in Unit 1, rights and interests under the applicable lease and righte and intereste under other related 
agreemente, induding FES' lease guaranty. This fransadion is classified as an operating lease for FES and FiretEnergy and as 
a financing lease for FG. 

The Condensed Consolidating Stetements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the yeare ended 
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 
2013, and Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows for the yeare ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, for 
FES (parent and guarantor), FG and NG (non-guarantor) are presented below. These statements are provided as FES folly and 
unconditionally guarantees outstanding registered securities of FG as well as FG's obligations under the fadlity lease for the 
Bruce Mansfield sale and leaseback that underiie outetanding registered pass-through tmst certificates. Investments in wholly 
owned subsidiaries are accounted for by FES using the equity method. Results of operations for FG and NG are, therefore, 
refleded In FES' investment accounts and eamings as if operating lease treatment was achieved. The prindpal elimination 
entries eliminate investmente in subsidiaries and intercompany balances and ttansadions and the entries required to reflect 
operattng lease freatment assodated witii the 2007 Bmce Mansfield Unit 1 sate and leaseback transaction. 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOUDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

(Unaudited) 

FortheYear Ended Decemlwr 31, 2014 

STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) 

R^ENUES 

OF ERAT1NG EXPENSES: 

Fuel 

Purchased power from affiliates 

Purchased power fit)m non-affiliates 

Otiier operating expenses 

Pension and OPEB maric-to-markel adjustments 

Provision for depreciation 

<3enera1 taxes 

Total operating expenses 

O F E R A T I N G I N C O M E (LOSS) 

I 

O T H E R I N C O M E (EXPENSE): 

lioss on debt redemptions 

Investment incxime 

Miscellaneous income, including net income from 
I equity investees 

Iriterest expense — affiliates 

lijiterest expense — other 

Capitalized interest 

Total other incxime (expense) 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONnNUlNG OPERATIONS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES (BENEFITS) 

I N C O M E T A X E S (BENEFITS) 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

Discontinued operations (net of income taxes of $70) 

NEriNC0ME{L0SS) 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
fLOSSi 

NET INCOME (LOSS) 

FES 

$ 5,990 $ 

_ 

3,920 

2,767 

790 

19 

10 

72 

7,578 

(1,588) 

(3) 

7 

786 

(12) 

(53) 

— 
725 

(863) 

(619) 

FG 

1,902 $ 

1,055 

— 
4 

269 

90 

119 

31 

1,568 

334 

(1) 

8 

4 

(6) 

(101) 

4 

(92) 

242 

87 

NG 

(In mlllic 

2,172 

198 

271 

— 
527 

188 

193 

25 

1,402 

770 

(2) 

61 

— 

(4) 

(52) 

30 

33 

803 

298 

Eliminations 

ns) 

$ (3,920) 

_ 

(3,920) 

— 
49 

— 
(3) 

— 
(3,874) 

(46) 

(15) 

(784) 

15 

60 

— 
(724) 

(770) 

6 

Consolidated 

$ 6.144 

1,253 

271 

2,771 

1,635 

297 

319 

128 

6,674 

(530) 

(6) 

61 

6 

(7) 

(146) 

34 

(58) 

(588) 

(228) 

(244) 155 

116 

505 

$ (244) $ 271 $ 505 $ 

$ (244) $ 271 $ 505 $ 

(776) 

(776) $ 

(776) $ 

(360) 

116 

(244) 

(244) 
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS: 

Pension and OPEB prior service coste 

Amortized gain on derivative hedges 

Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale 
securities 

other comprehensive income (loss) 

Income tax benefits on other comprehensive income 
(toss) 

Other cximprehensive income (loss), net of tax 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $ 

(6) 

(10) 

21 

5 

2 

3 

(241) $ 

(5) 

— 

— 

(5) 

(2) 

(3) 

268 $ 

— 
— 

21 

21 

8 

13 

518 $ 

5 

— 

(21) 

(16) 

(6) 

(10) 

(786) $ 

(6) 

(10) 

21 

5 

2 

3 

(241) 

184 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOUDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(Unaudited) 

FcM- the Year Ended December 31,2013 

j STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

R ^ N U E S 

OF^ERAnNG EXPENSES: 

Fuel 

Purchased povi«r from affiliates 

Furchased power from non-affiliates 

Other operating e)^nses 
Fjension and OPEB martc-to-maricet adjustments 

I 

Provision for depreciation 

(general taxes 

Total operating expenses 

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 

FES FG 

4,148 

2,326 

635 

(8) 

6 

80 

7,187 

(1,119) 

1,056 

7 

275 

(37) 

127 

34 

NG 

(In millk. 

$ 1,634 

206 

266 

— 
529 

(36) 

178 

24 

Eliminations 

ms) 

s (3,928) 

_ 

(3,928) 

— 
48 

— 
(5) 

— 

Consolidated 

$ 6,173 

1,262 

486 

2,333 

1,487 

(81) 

306 

138 

1,462 1,167 (3,885) 5.931 

937 467 (43) 242 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE): 

1)ss on debt redemptions 

vestment income 

Misc:elianeous income, including net income from 
, equity investees 

Interest expense — affiliates 

Interest expense — other 

Capitalized interest 

Total other income (expense) 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONnNUlNG OPERAnONS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES 

INCOME TAXES (BENEFITS) 

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

biscxintinued operations (net of income taxes of $8) 

NET INCOME 

\ STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

NET INCOME 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS: 

(103) 

5 

846 

(13) 

(63) 

1 

— 
1 

24 

(5) 

(104) 

2 

— 
25 

— 
(6) 

(54) 

36 

— 
(15) 

(842) 

14 

61 

— 

(103) 

16 

28 

(10) 

(160) 

39 

673 

60 

(82) 

490 

14 

333 

60 $ 504 $ 333 $ 

(782) 

(837) 

(837) $ 

$ 60 $ 504 S 333 $ (837) $ 

(190) 

(446) 

(506) 

855 

365 

468 

135 

(825) 

12 

52 

6 

46 

14 

60 

60 
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Pension and OPEB prior service costs 

Amortized gain on derivative hedges 

Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale 
securities 

Other comprefiensive loss 

Incxjme tax benefils on other comprehensive income 

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 

(15) 

(6) 

(8) 

(29) 

(11) 

(18) 

42 $ 

(13) 

— 

— 
(13) 

(5) 

(8) 

496 $ 

— 
— 

(8) 

(8) 

(3) 

(5) 

328 $ 

13 

— 

8 

21 

8 

13 

(824) $ 

(15) 

(6) 

(8) 

(29) 

(11) 

(18) 

42 

185 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOUDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(Unaudited) 

Forithe Year Ended December 31,2012 rjthe 

STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

FES FG NG Eliminations Consolidated 

(In millions) 

(REVENUES 

OPERATING EXPENSES: 
I 

Ft̂ el 
I 

Purchased power from affiliates 

Purctiased power from non-affiliates 

Other operating expenses 

Pension and OPEB mark-to-maricet adjustments 

Piovision for depreciation 

General taxes 

Total operating expenses 

OPEIRATING INCOME (LOSS) 

OThlER INCOME (EXPENSE): 

in/estment income 

Mscellaneous income, including net income from 
equity investees 

Interest expense — affiliates 

Interest expense — other 

Capitalized interest 

Total other income (expense) 

INCOME FROM CONnNUlNG OPERATIONS BEFORE 
l^ COME TAXES 

S 5.804 $ 2,100 $ 1,895 $ (3,905) $ 5,894 

4,098 

1,881 

434 

(2) 

4 

79 

6,494 

(690) 

1,077 

— 

6 

334 

52 

116 

36 

1,621 

479 

210 

258 

— 

539 

116 

157 

21 

1.301 

594 

(3,905) 

— 

49 

— 

(5) 

— 

(3,861) 

(44) 

1,287 

451 

1,887 

1,356 

166 

272 

136 

5,555 

339 

INCOME TAXES (BENEFITS) 

INCOME FROM CONnNUlNG OPERAnONS 

Discontinued operations (net of income taxes of $8) 

NET INCOME 

187 

15 

670 

14 

67 

578 

(18) 

(1,262) 

66 

1,284 

(18) 

(93) 

— 

1.175 

485 

298 

20 

(7) 

(110) 

4 

(78) 

401 

(269) 

— 

(4) 

(50) 

33 

46 

640 

62 

(1,269) 

19 

62 

— 

(1,206) 

(1,250) 

12 

35 

(10) 

(191) 

37 

(63) 

276 

103 

173 

14 

$ 187 $ 684 $ 578 $ (1,262) $ 187 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

I 

NETllNCOME $ 187 $ 684 $ 578 $ (1,262) $ 187 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS): 
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Pension and OPEB prior service exists 

Amortized loss on derivative hedges 
Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale 

securities 

Other cx)mprehensive income (loss) 
Income taxes (benefits) on oUier comprehensive 

income (loss) 

Other comprehensive incx)me (loss), net of tax 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 

6 

(9) 

(5) 

(8) 

(4) 

(4) 

183 $ 

6 

— 

— 

6 

1 

5 

689 $ 

— 

— 

(5) 

(5) 

(2) 

(3) 

575 $ 

(6) 

— 

5 

(1) 

1 

(2) 

(1,264) $ 

6 

(9) 

(5) 

(8) 

(4) 

(4) 

183 

186 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOUDATING BALANCE SHEETS 

(Unaudited) 

As of December 31,2014 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Receivables-

Customers 

AfFiliated companies 

Other 

Notes receivable from affiliated companies 

Materials and supplies 

Derivatives 

Osllateral 

Prepayments and other 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT: 

Ir sen/rce 

Less—Accumulated provision Ibr depreciation 

ConstmctiGn woric in progress 

INVESTMENTS: 

Nudear plant decommissioning taists 

Ir vestment in affiliated companies 

CHher 

DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER ASSETS: 

A ̂ cumulated defened income tax benefits 

C ustomef intangibles 

Goodwill 

Property taxes 

IJ namoriized sale and leaseback costs 

Cerivatives 

Other 

i UABIUTIES AND CAPrTAUZATION 

CURRENT UABIUTIES: 

Currently payable long-term detrt 

Sihort-term bonxwings-

FES FG NG Eliminations Consolidated 

6.607 

6,607 

276 

18 $ 

(In mmions) 

_ $ 

1,365 

10 

10 1,365 

76 

164 $ 348 $ 

— $ 

415 

484 

66 

339 

67 

147 

229 

56 

1.903 

133 

36 

97 

3 

100 

— 
487 

21 

838 

202 

— 

— 

41 

1,591 

6,217 

2,058 

4.159 

206 

4,365 

— 
674 

20 

272 

223 

— 

— 
— 

1.189 

7,628 

3,305 

4,323 

801 

5,124 

— 
(1,120) 

— 

(1,449) 

— 

— 

— 

(2) 

(2.571) 

(382) 

(191) 

(191) 

— 

(191) 

415 

525 

107 

— 
492 

147 

229 

95 

2,012 

13,596 

5,208 

8,388 

1,010 

9,398 

(6.607) 

(6,607) 

(352) 

(24) $ 

1,365 

10 

1,375 

$ 

78 

23 

— 

52 

34 

463 

8.973 S 

— 
— 

14 

— 

277 

367 

6,333 $ 

— 
— 

27 

— 
7 

34 

7,712 $ 

— 
— 

217 

— 
(204) 

(339) 

(9.708) $ 

78 

23 

41 

217 

52 

114 

525 

13.310 

506 
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Affiliated companies 

Other 

Accounts payable-

Affiliated companies 

Other 

Accrued taxes 

Derivatives 

Other 

CAPrrAUZATION: 

Total equity 

Long-term debt and ottier long-term obligations 

NONCURRENT UABIUTIES: 

Deferred gain on sale and leaseback transaction 

Accumulated deferred inconr>e taxes 

Asset retirement obligations 

Retirement benefits 

Derivatives 

Other 

1,135 

90 

1,068 

46 

2 

166 

72 

2,597 

5,585 

695 

6,280 

321 

9 

197 

202 

62 

— 
56 

1,011 

2,561 

2.215 

4,776 

28 

— 

219 

— 
161 

_ 
9 

765 

4,014 

859 

4.873 

96 

8.973 $ 

546 2.074 

(1,449) 

— 

(1,068) 

— 
(123) 

— 
47 

35 

99 

416 

248 

102 

166 

184 

(2.617) 

(6,575) 

(1.161) 

(7,736) 

645 

6,333 $ 

1,756 

5,585 

2,608 

8,193 

— 
13 

— 
36 

14 

33 

— 
— 

189 

288 

— 
69 

— 
678 

652 

— 
— 

744 

824 

(180) 

— 
— 
— 

1 

824 

511 

841 

324 

14 

847 

3,361 

7.712 $ (9,708) $ 13,310 

187 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOUDATING BALANCE SHEETS 

(Unaudited) 

As of December 31.2013 FES FG NG Eliminations Consolidated 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Receivables-

Customers 

Affiliated companies 

' Other 
I 

Notes receivable from affiliated (Companies 

Materials and supplies 

Derivatives 

Cotlateral 

Prepayments and other 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT: 

In service 

Less—Accumulated provision tor depreciation 

Construction woric in progress 

INVESTMENTS: 

Nudear plant decommissioning tnjsts 

Investment in affiliated companies 

Other 

— $ 

5.801 

2 $ 

(In millions) 

— $ 

11 

1,276 

— $ 

539 

938 

52 

203 

76 

165 

136 

52 

2,161 

104 

28 

76 

23 

99 

— 
787 

12 

23 

159 

— 
— 
50 

1,033 

6,105 

1.953 

4.152 

148 

4,300 

— 
227 

17 

683 

213 

— 
— 
7 

1.147 

6.645 

2,962 

3,683 

1,137 

4,820 

— 
(916) 

— 
(909) 

— 
— 
— 
— 

(1,825) 

(382) 

(188) 

(194) 

— 
(194) 

539 

1.036 

81 

— 
448 

165 

136 

109 

2,516 

12,472 

4.755 

7.717 

1.308 

9,025 

(5,801) 

1,276 

11 

5.801 11 1,276 (5,801) 1,287 

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 

DEI ̂ RRED CHARGES AND OT>1ER ASSETS: 

A xumulated deferred income tax benefits 

Customer intangibles 

Goodwill 

Property taxes 

U ̂ amortized sale and leaseback costs 

Derivatives 

Other 

UABIUTIES AND CAPfTALBATION 

CUf^RENT UABIUTIES: 

Currently payatile long-term debt 

122 

131 

122 

(131) 

$ 

95 

23 

— 
— 
53 

81 

252 

8,313 S 

— 
— 
15 

— 
— 

228 

374 

5,840 $ 

— 
— 
26 

— 
_ 
18 

44 

7,287 $ 

— 
— 
— 

168 

— 
(155) 

(118) 

(7.938) $ 

95 

23 

41 

168 

53 

172 

552 

13,502 

1 $ 367 S 547 $ (23) $ 892 
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Short-term borrowings-

Affiliated companies 

Other 

Accounts payable-

Affiliated companies 

Other 

Accrued taxes 

Derivatives 

Other 

CAPrTAUZATION: 

Total equity 

Long-term debt and other long-term obligations 

NONCURRENT LtABIUTIES: 

Deferred gain on sale and leaseback transaction 

Accumulated deferred income taxes 

Asset retirement obligations 

Retirement benefits 

Derivatives 

Other 

977 

741 

94 

204 

110 

70 

2.197 

5.312 

712 

6,024 

212 

4 

400 

196 

23 

— 
63 

1.265 

2.283 

1.860 

4,143 

151 

362 

— 
23 

— 
18 

1.101 

3,493 

742 

4.235 

92 

8,313 $ 

432 1,951 

(909) 

— 

(738) 

— 
(184) 

— 
46 

431 

4 

765 

290 

66 

110 

197 

(1,808) 

(5,776) 

(1,184) 

(6,960) 

830 

5,840 $ 7,287 $ (7,938) $ 

2,755 

5,312 

2,130 

7.442 

— 
32 

— 
22 

14 

24 

— 
— 

187 

163 

— 
82 

— 
736 

828 

— 
— 

387 

858 

(27) 

— 
— 
— 
(1) 

858 

741 

1,015 

185 

14 

492 

3,305 

13.502 

188 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOUDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Unaudited) 

For the Year Ended December 31,2014 FES FG NG ElimJnatJons Consolidated 

(In millions) 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM (USED FOR) 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Cfî SH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES: 

Neiw Financing-

Long-term debt 

Short-term borrowings, net 

Equity contribution frorri parent 

Redemptions and Repayments-

Long-term debt 

Short-term bon-owings, net 

Other 
Net cash provided from (used for) financing 
j activities 

C^SH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 

Property additions 

Nuclear fuel 

Pr(!)ceeds from asset sales 

Sales of invesbnent securities held in trusts 

Pui-chases of investment securities held in trusts 

Loans to affiliated companies, net 

Other 

iNlet cash used for investing activities 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
peiiod 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

$ (600) $ 408 $ 785 $ (22) $ 571 

— 

247 

500 

(1) 
— 

(1) 

745 

(8) 
— 

— 

— 

— 

(136) 

(1) 
(145) 

431 

114 

— 

(269) 

— 
(12) 

264 

(169) 

— 

307 

— 

— 

(815) 

5 

(672) 

447 

— 

— 

(568) 

(123) 

(2) 

(246) 

(662) 

(233) 

— 

1,163 

(1,219) 

412 

— 

(539) 

— 

(361) 

— 

22 

(178) 

— 

(517) 

— 

— 

— 

— 

539 

— 

539 

878 
_ 

500 

(816) 

(301) 

(15) 

246 

(839) 

(233) 

307 

1,163 

(1,219) 

— 
4 

(817) 

$ _ $ 2 $ — $ 

189 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOUDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Unaudited) 

For the Year Ended December 31,2013 FES FG NG Eliminations Consolidated 

(In millions) 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM (USED FOR) 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES: 

New Financing-

Short-term borrowings, net 

Equity contribution from parent 

Redemptions and Repayments-

Long-temi debt 

Short-term borrowings, net 

Tender premiums 

Other 

Net cash provided from (used for) financing 
activities 

$ (1,429) $ 753 $ 776 $ (22) $ 78 

864 

1,500 

(770) 

(244) 

(67) 

(4) 

1,279 

371 
— 

(364) 

(505) 

— 

(5) 

(503) 

150 

— 

(90) 

— 

— 

— 

60 

(954) 

— 

22 

749 

— 

— 

(183) 

431 

1,500 

(1.202) 

— 

(67) 

(9) 

653 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES: 

Property additions 

Nuclear fuel 

Proceeds from asset sales 

Sales of investment securities held in trusts 

Purchases of investment securities held in truste 

Loans to affiliated companies, net 

Other 

Net cash provided from (used for) investing 
activities 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at tieginning of 
period 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

(12) 

163 

(1) 

(256) 

— 

21 

— 

— 

(15) 

(449) 

(250) 

— 

940 

(1,000) 

(77) 205 

(1) 

(717) 

(250) 

21 

940 

(1,000) 

276 

(2) 

$ 

150 

— 

— 

— $ 

(251) 

(1) 

3 

2 $ 

(836) 

— 

— 

- $ 

205 

— 

— 

— $ 

(732) 

(1) 

3 

2 

190 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOUDATING STATEMEr^TS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Unaudited) 

Fol- the Year Ended December 31,2012 FES FG NG Eliminations Consolidated 

(In millions) 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM (USED FOR) 
(OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

C A S H FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
AqriVITIES: 

NeW Financjng-

Lc ng-tenn debt 

Short-term borrowings, net 

Redemptions and Repayments-

Lcng-term debt 

Sfiort-term bon-owings, net 
Common stock dividend payment 
Other 

N 9t cash provided from (used for) financing 
activities 

CAISH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 

Property additions 

Nuqlear fuel 

Proceeds from asset sales 

Sales of investment securities held in trusts 
I 

Purchases of investment seairities held in trusts 
Loans to affiliated companies, net 

Dividends received 

Othfer 
N0t cash provided from (used for) investing 

activities 
I 

Net Change in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
period 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

$ (1,063) $ 639 $ 1,266 $ (21) $ 821 

— 

— 

(1) 
(707) 

— 

(1) 

(709) 

(14) 

— 

— 

— 

— 

(211) 

2,000 

(3) 

1,772 

— 

— 

$ - $ 

351 

260 

(288) 

— 

(2,000) 

(8) 

(1,685) 

(273) 

— 

17 

— 

— 

1,338 

— 

(40) 

1.042 

(4) 

7 

3 $ 

299 

— 

(161) 

(32) 

— 

(3) 

103 

(508) 

(286) 

— 

1,464 

(1,502) 

(538) 

— 

1 

(1,369) 

— 

— 

- $ 

— 

(257) 

21 

739 

2.000 

— 

2,503 

— 

— 
— 

— 

(482) 

(2,000) 

— 

(2,482) 

— 

— 

- $ 

650 

3 

(429) 

— 

— 

(12) 

212 

(795) 

(286) 

17 

1,464 

(1,502) 

107 

— 

(42) 

(1.037) 

(4) 

7 

3 
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18. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

FirstEnergy's reportable segments are as follows: Regulated Distribution, Regulated Transmission and CES. 

Finandal infomiation for each of FirstEnergy's reportable segments is presented in the tables below. FES does not have 
separate reportable operating segments. 

The Regulated Distribution segment distributes electricity through FirstEnergy's ten utility operating companies, serving 
approximately six million customers within 65,000 square miles of Ohio, Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Maryland, New Jersey 
and New Yori<, and purchases power for its POLR, SOS, SSO and default sen/ice requirements in Ohio, Pennsylvania, New 
Jersey and Maryland. This segment also includes regulated electric generation facilities located primarily in West Virginia, 
Virginia and New Jersey that MP and JCP&L, respectively, own or contractually control. The segment's results reflect the 
commodity costs of securing electric generation and the deferral and amortization of certain ftjel costs. This business segment 
currently controls approximately 3,790 MWs of generation capacity. 

The Regulated Transmission segment transmits electricity through transmission facilities owned and operated by ATSI, TrAIL, 
and certain of FirstEnergy's utilities (JCP&L, ME, PN, MP, PE and WP), and the regulatory asset associated with the 
abandoned PATH project. The segments revenues are primarily derived from rates that recover costs and provide a retum on 
transmission capital investment. Except for the recovery of the PATH abandoned project regulatory asset, these revenues are 
primarily from transmission services provided pursuant to the PJM Tariff to LSEs. The segment's results also reflect the net 
transmission expenses related to the delivery of electricity on FirstEnergy's transmission facilities. 

The CES segment, through FES and AE Supply, primarily supplies electricity to end-use customers through retail and 
wholesale arrangements, including competitive retail sales to customers primarily in Ohio, Pennsylvania, Illinois, Michigan, New 
Jersey and Maryland, and the provision of partial POLR and default service for some utilities in Ohio, Pennsylvania and 
Maryland, including the Utilities. This business segment currentiy controls approximately 14,068 MWs of capacity, including 885 
MWs of capacity scheduled to be deactivated by April 2015. The segment's net income is primarily derived from electric 
generation sales less the related costs of electricity generation, including fuel, purchased power and net transmission (including 
congestion) and ancillary and capacity costs charged by PJM to deliver energy to the segment's customers. 

In 2014, the CES segment began to reduce its exposure to weather-sensitive loads, including maintaining competitive 
generation in excess of committed sales, eliminating load obligations that do not adequately cover risk premiums, pursuing 
more cerfain revenue sti"eams, and modifying its hedging strategy to optimize risk management and maricet upside 
opportunities. As part of this, the CES segment eliminated future selling efforts in certain sales channels, such as Mass Maricet, 
medium commerdal-industiial and select large commercial-industrial (Direct), to focus on a selective mix of retail sales 
channels, wholesale sales that hedge generation more effectively, and maintain a small open position to fake advanfage of 
market upside opportunities resulting from volatility such as that experienced in the first quarter of 2014. Going fonward. the 
CES s^ment will target 65 to 75 million MWHs of sales annually with a farget portfolio mix of approximately 10 to 15 million 
MWHs in Govemmental Aggregation sales, 0 to 10 million MWHs of POLR sales, 0 to 20 million MWHs in large commercial 
and industrial sales (Direct), 10 to 20 million MVWs in block wholesale sales, including Structured Sales, and 10 to 20 million 
MWHs of spot wholesale sales. Support for current customers in the channels to be exited will remain tiirough their respective 
contract terms. 

Corporate/Other contains corporate support and other businesses that are below the quantifiable threshold for separate 
disclosure as a reporfable segment and interest expense on stand-alone holding company debt and corporate incx>me taxes. 
As of December 31, 2014, Corporate/Other had $4.2 billion of sfand-alone holding company long-term debt, of which 28% was 
subject to variable-interest rates and $1.7 billion was bon-owed under the FE revolving aedit facility. Recondling adjustments 
for the elimination of inter-segment transactions are shown separately in the accompanying table. 
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526 
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16 
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19. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

On September 4, 2013, certain of FirstEnergy's subsidiaries applied for auttiorization from the FERC to sell eleven hydroelectric 
pov fer sfations in Pennsylvania, Virginia and West Virginia to subsidiaries of Hartrar Hydro, a subsidiary of LS Power. The asset 
puri^ase agreement was entered into on August 23, 2013, and amended and resfated as of September 4, 2013. On Febnjary 
12, 2014, the sale of the hydroelectric power plants to LS Power closed for approximately $394 million (FES - $307 million). 
Th€i carrying value of ttie assets sold was $235 million (FES - $122 million), including goodwill of $29 million (FES - $1 million) 
whi:^ was allocated to the hydroelectric plants to be sold. 

Pre-tax income for the hydroelectric facilities of $155 million, $26 million and $24 million (FES - $186 million, $22 million and 
$22 million) for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, are reported in FirstEnergy's and FES' 
Consolidated Sfatement of Income as discontinued operations. Included in income for disointinued operations in the year 
enced December 31, 2014, was a pre-tax gain on the sale of assets of $142 million (FES - $177 million). Revenues for the 
hydroelectric facilities of $5 million, $33 million and $30 million (FES - $5 million, $31 million and $24 million) for years ended 
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, are reported in FirstEnergy's and FES' Consolidated Sfatement of Income as 
discontinued operations. 
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20. SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

The following summarizes certein consolidated operating results by quarter for 2014 and 2013. 

FirstEnergy 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

(In millions, except per share 
amounts) 

Revenues 

Other operating expense 

Pension and OPEB mark-to-
marKet 

Provision for depreciation 

Impainnent of long-lived assets 

Operating Income (Loss) 
Income (loss) fix)m continuing 

operations before income 
taxes (benefits) 

Income taxes (benefits)'" 
Income (loss) from continuing 
operations 

Discontinued operations (net of 
income taxes) 

Net income (Loss) 

Eamings (loss) per share of 
common stock-'^ 

Basic - Continuing Operations 

Basic - Discontinued 
Operations (Note 19) 
Basic - Eamings Available to 

FirstEnergy Corp. 

Diluted - Continuing 
Operations 

Diluted - Discontinued 
Operations (Note 19) 
Diluted - Eamings Available to 

FirstEnergy Corp. 

Dec. 31 

$ 3,483 

901 

835 

316 

— 
(337) 

(574) 

(268) 

(306) 

— 

(306) 

(0.73) 

(0.73) 

(0.73) 

(0.73) 

2014 

Sept 30 

$ 3,888 $ 

858 

— 

308 

— 
716 

485 

152 

333 

— 

333 

0.79 

0.79 

0.79 

0.79 

1 

June 30 

3,496 

1,021 

— 

302 

— 
292 

90 

26 

64 

— 

64 

0.16 

0.16 

0.15 

0.15 

Mar. 31 

$ 4,182 

1,182 

— 

294 

— 
391 

170 

48 

122 

86 

208 

0.29 

0.21 

0.50 

0.29 

0.20 

0.49 

Dec. 31 

$ 3,633 

948 

(256) 

293 

322 

387 

208 

66 

142 

— 

142 

0.34 

0.34 

0.34 

0.34 

2013 

Sept 30 

$ 4,032 $ 

877 

— 

316 

— 
508 

286 

77 

209 

9 

218 

0.50 

0.02 

0.52 

0.50 

0.02 

0.52 

June 30 

3,507 

886 

— 

300 

473 

42 

(230) 

(62) 

(168) 

4 

(164) 

(0.40) 

0.01 

(0.39) 

(0.40) 

0.01 

(0.39) 

Mar. 31 

$ 3,720 

882 

— 

293 

— 
645 

306 

114 

192 

4 

196 

0.46 

0.01 

0.47 

0.46 

0.01 

0.47 

(1) - During the fourth quarter of 2014, income tax benefits of $16 million were recorded that related to prior periods. The out-of-period 
adjustment primarily related to the correction of amounts induded in the Company's tax basis balance sheet. Management has determined that 
this adjustment is not material to the cunent or any prior period. 

(2) - Total quarteriy eamings per share infonnation may not equal annual eamings per share due to the issuance of shares throughout the year. 
See FirstEnergy's Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Note 4. Stock-Based Compensation for additional information. 

FES 

CONSOUDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

(In millions) 2014 2013 

Revenues 

Other operating expense 

Pension and OPEB mark-to-
maricet 

Provision for depredation 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Dec. 31 

$ 1,342 

359 

297 

83 

(321) 

Sept 30 

$ 1,521 

356 

83 

90 

June 30 

$ 1,452 

468 

79 

(151) 

Mar. 31 

$ 1,829 

452 

74 

(148) 

Dec. 31 

$ 1,518 

382 

(81) 

75 

121 

Sept 30 

$ 1,679 

339 

80 

65 

June 30 

$ 1,452 

387 

76 

(39) 

Mar. 31 

$ 1.524 

379 

75 

95 
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Iricome (loss) from continuing (347) 72 (154) (159) 114 56 (117) (1) 
' operations before income 

' taxes (t)enefits) 

(1) 

3 

2 

Income taxes (benefits) 

Income (loss) fmm continuing 
operations 

Discontinued operations (net of 
income taxes) 

Net Income (Loss) 

(133) 

(214) 

— 

(214) 

28 

44 

— 

44 

(67) 

(87) 

— 

(87) 

(56) 

(103) 

116 

13 

25 

89 

— 

89 

23 

33 

7 

40 

(42) 

(75) 

4 

(71) 
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ITEM 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

The respective management of FirstEnergy and FES, with the participation of each respective registrant's chief executive 
officer and chief financial officer, have reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of their registrant's disdosure controls and 
procedures, as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), as of the end of 
the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of each 
registrant have concluded that each respective registrant's disdosure controls and procedures were eifective as of ttie end of 
the period covered by this report. 

Management's Report on Intemal Control over Financial Reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over finandal reporting as defined in 
Rule 133-15(0 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of tiie Treadway Commission in Intemal Control — Integrated Framework published in 2013, the respedive 
management of each registrant conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of their registrant's intemal control over finandal 
reporting under the supervision of each respective registrant's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on 
that evaluation, the respective management of each registi-ant concluded that their registrant's intemal control over finandal 
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2014, The effectiveness of FirstEnergy's intemal control over finand^ reporting, as 
of December 31, 2014, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, 
as stated in their report induded herein. The effectiveness of intemal control over finandal reporting of FES as of December 31, 
2014, h3S not been audited by the registi'ant's independent registered public accounting firm. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reoortina 

During the quarter ended December 31, 2014, there were no changes in intemal control over finandal reporting that have 
materially affeded, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, FirstEnergy's or FES' intemal control over finandal reporting. 

ITEM SB. OTHER INFORMATION 

On February 17, 2015, the Board of Diredors of FE disdosed that it had detennined that, as part of its previously announced 
executive transition plan, Anthony J. Alexander will be leaving FE and condude his service as executive chainman on April 30, 
2015. AS a result, Mr. Alexander will receive the benefits provided for under his existing employment agreement with FE, dated 
as of March 20, 2012, induding the vesting of the remaining portion of the restricted stock award granted to Mr. Alexander 
pursuant to such agreement. He also is entitled to receive a pna rata portion of his previously-disdosed outstanding 
perfonmance-adjusted restrided stock unit ("perfonnance-adiusted RSU") awards and performance share awards, subjed to 
the achievement of the perfomiance targets and in return for a complete release as provided in the award agreements. In 
addition, on February 17, 2015, the Board of Diredors authorized the grant, effective March 2, 2015, to Mr. Alexander of a mix 
of cash based performance-adjusted RSUs (1/3 of the total), and stock based performance adjusted RSUs (2/3 of the total), 
with an aggregate value of $427,311. The number of shares underlying these awards will be based on the average high and 
low prica of FE's common shares on February 27, 2015, and, in each case, these awards will require him to remain employed 
with FE through April 30, 2015 and, consistent witii FE's periormance-adjusted RSU awards, will remain entirely at risk (and 
subjed to upward/downward adjustment or forfeitijre) based on the achievement of the previously disclosed perfomiance goals 
tracked over a three year period. These awards were granted in lieu of Mr. Alexander's customary annual Long-Term Incentive 
Plan grants for 2015 and represente a small fradion ( 1 / 1 ^ of his customary award size in light of his expected limited time of 
service over the 36-month performance period. In accordance with his employment agreement Mr. Alexander will also step 
down fi-om the Board of Directors effective May 1, 2015. In a related matter, effective May 1, 2015, George M. Smart, curentiy 
FE's lead independent director, will retum to his prior role as chainman and the size of the Board of Directors will be deaeased 
by one. 

PART III 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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The infonnation required by Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to FirstEnergy's 2015 Proxy Statement to be filed with 
the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Secajrities Exchange A d of 1934. 

ITE W 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The infomiation required by Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to FirstEnergy's 2015 Proxy Statement to t>e filed witii 
the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to FirstEnergy's 2015 Proxy Statement to be filed with 
the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The infonmation required by Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to FirstEnergy's 2015 Proxy Statement to be filed with 
tile SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

A summary of the audit and audit-related fees for services rendered by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the years ended 
December 31,2014 and 2013, are as follows: 

Audit Fees"> Audit-Related Fees>^ 

Compfiny 2014 2013 2014 2013 

(In titousands) 

FES $ 1,700 $ 1,560 $ — $ — 

FE and other subsidiaries 6,001 6,101 117 300 

Total FirstEnergy $ 7,701 $ 7,661 $ 117 $ 300 

'" Professional services rendered for the audits of Uie Registrants' annual financial statements and reviews of unaudited finandal statements 
included in the Registrants' Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and for services in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or 
engagements, including comfort letters and consents for financings and filings made with the SEC. 

'̂  Professional sen/ices rendered in 2014 and 2013 related to additional agreed upon procedures that included the audit of compliance with 
ceriain DOE grants, risk assurance and the audit of PE's cost allocation manual. 

Tax and Ottier Fees 

There were no tax services performed by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in 2014 or 2013. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
perfomied other services in 2013 of $40,000 related to SEC Regulation AB readiness. PricewateriiouseCoopers LLP perfomied 
no other sen/ices in 2014. 

Additional information required by ttiis item is incorporated herein by reference to FirstEnergy's 2015 Proxy Statement to be 
filed vwth the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under ttie Securities Exchange A d of 1934. 
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PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report on Form 10-K: 

1. Financial Statements: 

Management's Report on Intemal Control Over Finandal Reporting for FirstEnergy Corp. and FES is listed under Item 8 herein. 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Atxounting Finn for FirstEnergy Corp. and FES are listed under item 8 herein. 

The finandal statemente filed as a part of this report for FirstEnergy Corp. and FES are listed under Item 8 herein. 

Z Financial Statement Schedules: 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm as to Schedules are induded herein on pages: 

Page 

FirstEnergy 105 
FES 107 

Sctiedule 11 — Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts are included herein on pages: 

Page 
FirstEnergy 207 
FES 208 
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3. Exhibits — FirstEnergy 

Exhibit 
Number 

2-1 t Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 10,2010, by and among FirstEnergy Corp., Element Merger Sub, 
Inc. and Allegheny Energy, Inc. (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K filed Febmary 11,2010, Exhibit 2.1, File 
No. 333-21011). 

3-1 Amended Articles of Incorporation of FirstEnergy Corp. (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed February 19, 
2010, Exhibit 3-1, File No. 333-21011). 

3-2 Amendment to the Amended Articles of Incorporation of FirstEnergy Corp. dated as of Febmary 25, 2011 (incorporated 
by reference to FE's Fomi 8-K filed Febmary 25, 2011, Exhibit 3.1, File No. 333-21011). 

3-3 FirstEnergy Corp. Amended Code of Regulations, (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed Febmary 25, 2009, 
Exhibit 3.1, File No. 333-21011). 

3-4 Amendment to the FirstEnergy Corp. Amended Code of Regulations (incorporated by reference to FirstEnergy's 
Definitive Proxy Statement filed April 1,2011, Appendix 1, File No. 333-21011). 

4-1 Indenture, dated November 15, 2001, between FirstEnergy Corp. and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee, 
(incorporated by reference to FE's Fom S-3 filed September 21, 2001, Exhibit 4(a), File No. 333-69856). 

4-2 Officer's Certificate relating to $650 million aggregate principal amount of the Company's 2.75% Notes, Series A, due 
2018 (the "Series A Notes') and $850 million aggregate prirvapal amount of the Company's 4.25% Notes, Series B, due 
2023 (the "Series B Notes") (incorporated by reference to FE's Form &-K filed March 5,2013, Exhibit 4.1, File No. 333-
21011.) 

4-2 (a) Form of Series A Note (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K filed March 5. 2013, Exhibit 4.2, File No. 333-21011) 

4-2 (b) Form of Series B Note, (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K filed March 5, 2013, Exhibit 4.3, File No. 333-
21011). 

4-3 Agreement of Resignation. Appoinbnent and Acceptance Among The Bank of New York Mellon, as Resigning Tmstee, 
The Bank of New Yorit Mellon Tmst Company, N.A., as Successor Tmstee and FirstEnergy Corp., dated May 16,2012 
(incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn S-3 filed May 18,2012, Exhibit 4(h), file No. 333-181519). 

(B) 10-1 FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, effective May 15,2007. (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed 
Febmary 25, 2009, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-2 Amendment to RrstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, effective January 1,2011. (incorporated by reference to FE's 
Fomi 10-Q filed May 3, 2011, Exhibit 10.5, File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-3 Amendment No. 2 to FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, effective January 1,2014 (incorporated by reference to FE's 
Forni 10-K filed February 27. 2014, Exhibit 10-3 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-4 Form of 2014-2016 Performance Share Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed Febmary 
27,2014, Exhibit 104 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-5 Form of 2014-2016 Performance-Adjusted Restiicted SlockUnit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to FE's 
Fonn 10-K filed February 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-5 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-6 FirstEnergy Corp. Defenred Compensation Plan fer Outside Directors, amended and restated January 1,2005, further 
amended December 31,2010 (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed Febmary 27.2014, Exhibit 10-6 RIe 
No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-7 Amendment No. 1 to RrstEnergy Corp. Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors, effective as of January 1, 
2012 (incorporated by reference to FPs Forni 10-Q filed May 3,2011, Exhibit 10.7, File No. 333-21011). 
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(B) 10-8 Amendment No. 2 to FirstEnergy Corp. Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors, effective January 21,2014 
(incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 10-K filed Febmaiy 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-8 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-9 FirstEnergy Corp. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, amended and restated January 1,2005, ftjrther amended 
December 31,2010 (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 10-K filed Febaiary 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-9 File No. 333-
21011). 

(B) 10-10 Amendment to RrstEnergy Corp. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective January 1, 2012. (incorporated by 
reference to FE's Form 10O filed May 3.2011, Exhibit 10.8, File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-11 FirstEnergy Corp. Cash Balance Restoration Plan, effective January 1,2014 (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 
10-K filed Febmary 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-11 Fife No. 333-21011). 
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Exhibit 
Number 

(B) 10-12 FirstEnergy Com- Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2014 (incorporated 
by reference to FE's Fomi 10-K filed Febmaiy 27,2014, Exhibit 10-12 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-13 Deferred Remuneration Plan for Outside Directors of GPU, Inc. as amended and restated effective August 8,2000. 
(incomorated by reference to GPU, Inc Fomi 10-K filed March 21, 2001, Exhibit 10-O, RIe No. 001-06047). 

(B) 10-14 Retirement Plan for Outside Directors of GPU, Inc. as amended and restated as of August 8, 2000. (incorporated by 
reference lo GPU, Inc. Fonn 10-K filed March 21, 2001, Exhibit 10-N, RIe No. 001-06047). 

(B) 10-15 Forms of Estate Enhancement Program Agreements entered into by certain fonner GPU directors, (incomorated by 
reference to GPU, Inc. Forni 10-K filed March 20, 2000, Exhibit 10-JJ. RIe No. 001-06047). 

(B) 10-16 Stock Option Agreement between FirstEnergy Corp. and an officer dated August 20,2004. (incomorated by reference to 
FE's Fomi 10-Q filed November 4,2004, Exhibit 10-42, Rte No. 333-21011). 

10-17 Consent Decree dated March 18,2005. (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K filed March 18,2005, Exhibit 10-1, 
Fife No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-18 Fomi of 2010-2012 Perfomiance Share Award Agreement effective January 1, 2010 (incorporated by reference to FE's 
Forni 10-K filed Febmary 19,2010, Exhibit 10-48, Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-19 Form of Performance-Adjusted Restricted Stock Unit Awani Agreement as of March 8, 2010 (incomorated by reference 
to FE's Fomi 10-K filed Febmary 19,2010, Exhibit 1049, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-20 Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incomorated by reference to FE's 10-Q filed May 7, 2009, Exhibit 10.1, RIe 
No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-21 Forni of Management Director Indemnification Agreement (incomorated by reference to FE's 10-Q filed May 7,2009, 
Exhibit 10.2, File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-22 FirstEnergy Corp. Change in Conti-ol Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-Q filed May 3, 2011, 
Exhibit 10.9, File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-23 Allegheny Energy, Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to FirstEnergy's Fonm 8-K filed 
Febmary 25, 2011, Exhibit 10.2, Rte No. 21011). 

(B) 10-24 Amendment No. 1 to Allegheny Energy, Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 
10-K filed Febmary 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-25 Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-25 Allegheny Energy, Inc. 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to FirstEnergy's Fonn 8-K filed 
Febmary 25,2011, Exhibit 10.3, Rte No. 21011). 

(B) 10-26 Amendment No. 1 to Allegheny Energy, Inc. 2008 Long-Temi Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 
10-K filed February 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-27 Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-27 Allegheny Energy, Ina Non-Employee Director Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to FirstEnergy's Form 8-K filed 
Febmary 25, 2011, Exhibit 10.4, RIe No. 21011). 

(B) 10-28 Altegheny Energy, Inc. Amended and Restated Revised Plan for Deferral of Compensation of Directors (incorporated by 
reference to FE's Fomi 10-K filed Febmary 27,2014, Exhibit 10-29 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-29 
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Amendment No. 1 to Allegheny Energy, Inc. Amended and Restated Revised Plan for Deferral of Compensation of 
Directors (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed February 27,2014, Exhibit 10-30 RIe No. 333-21011). 

10-30 CreditAgreement, datedasof June17, 2011, among FirstEnergy Corp., The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, 
Metropolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power Company, The Toledo Edison Company, 
American Transmission Systems, Incomorated, Jersey Cenb'al Power & Light Company, Monongahela Power Company, 
Pennsylvania Electric Company, The Potomac Edison Company and West Penn Power Company, as borrowers, ttie 
Royal Bank of Scotiand pic, as administrative agent, and the lending banks, fronting banks and swing line lenders 
identified therein, (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomn 10-Q filed August 2,2011, Exhibit 10.1, RIe No. 333-21011). 
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Number 

10-31 Amendment, dated as of May 8,2012, to ttie CreditAgreement, dated as of June 17,2011, among FirstEnergy Corp., 
The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, Metropolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania 
Power Company, The Toledo Edison Company, American Transmission Systems, Incorporated, Jersey Centi^l Power & 
Light Company, Monongahela Povrer Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, The Potomac Edison Company and 
West Penn Power Company, as bon-owers, the Royal Bank of Scotland pic, as adminish^tive agent, and the lending 
banks. fix)nting banks and swing line lenders identified ttierein (incorporated by reference to FE's Forni 8-K filed May 11, 
2012, Exhibit 10.2. Rte No. 333-21011). 

10-32 Amendment, dated as of May 8,2013. to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2011, as amended as of May 8, 
2012, among FirstEnergy, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, Meb-opolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison 
Company, Pennsylvania Power Company, The Toledo Edison Company, Jersey Central Power & Light Company, 
Monongahela Power Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, ttie Potomac Edison Company and West Penn Power 
Company, as borrowers. The Royal Bank of Scotland pic, as administrative agent, and tiie lending banks, ft-onting banks 
and swing line lenders identified therein (incomorated by reference to FE's Forni &-K filed May 13,2013, Exhibit 10.1, 
Fite No. 333-21011). 

10-33 Amendment, dated as of October 31,2013, to ttie Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2011, as amended as of May 
8, 2012, among FirstEnergy, The Cleveland Etectric Illuminating Company, Metropolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison 
Company, Pennsylvania Power Company, The Toledo Edison Company, Jersey Central Power & Light Company, 
Monongahela Power Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, the Potomac Edison Company and West Penn Power 
Company, as borrowers. The Royal Bank of Scotland pic, as adminisb-aUve agent, and the lending banks, fronting banks 
and swing line lenders identified therein (incomorated by reference to FE' s Form 10-Q filed November 5, 2013, Exhibit 
10.1(a), Fite No. 333-21011). 

10-34 Amendment, datedasof March 31, 2014, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17,2011, as amended as of May 8, 
2012, May 8, 2013 and October 31, 2013, among FirstEnergy, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, 
Metropolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power Company, The Toledo Edison Company, 
Jersey Cenb'al Power & Light Company, Monongahela Power Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, the Potomac 
Edison Company and West Penn Power Company, as bon-ovi«rs, The Royal Bank of Scotland pic, as administrative 
agent, and the lending banks, fi'onting banks and swring line lenders identified ttierein (incomorated by reference to FE' s 
Forni 8-K filed April 4.2014. Exhibit 10.1, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-35 Employment Agreement between FirstEnergy Corp. and Anthony J. Alexander, dated March 20, 2012. (incorporated by 
reference to FE's Fomn 10-Q filed March 31, 2012, Exhibit 10.1, Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-36 Form of Officer Indemnification Agreement (incomorated by reference to FirstEnergy's Form 8-K filed July 23, 2012, 
Exhibit 10.1. Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-37 Amendment No.1 to the FirstEnergy Com- Change in Control Severance Plan, amended and restated as of September 
18, 2012 (incorporated by reference to FE's Forni 10-Q filed Novembers. 2012, Exhibit 10.1. Fite No. 333-21011). 

10-38 U.S. $1,000,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2012, among FirstEnergy Transmission, LLC. American 
Transmission Systems. Incomorated and Trans-Allegheny Interstate Une Company, as borrowers, PNC Bank. National 
Association, as administrative agent, and the lending banks and fronting banks identified ttierein (incorporated by 
reference to FE's Forni 8-K filed May 11,2012, Exhibit 10.3, Rte No. 333-21011). 

10-39 Amendment, dated as of May 8, 2013, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2012, among FirstEnergy 
Transmission, LLC, American Transmission Systems, Incomorated and Trans-Allegheny Interstate Line Company, as 
borrowers, and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, and the lending banks and fronting banks 
identified ttierein (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K filed May 13,2013. Exhibit 10.3, File No. 333-21011). 

10-40 Amendment, dated as of March 31,2014 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 8,2012, and as amended as of May 
8, 2013, among RrstEnergy Transmission, LLC, American Transmission Systems, Incorporated and Trans-Allegheny 
Interstate Line Company, as bomiwers, and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, and the lending 
banks and fironting banks identified therein (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomi 8-K filed April 4,2014, Exhibit 10.3, 
Fite No. 333-21011). 
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Temt Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of March 31,2014. among FE, as twrrower, the banks named therein and The 
Royal Bank of Scotiand, pic, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K filed April 4,2014, 
Exhibit 10.4, Fite No. 333-21011). 

10-42 Guarantee, dated as of September 16,2013 by RrstEnergy Com- in favor of participants under the RrstEnergy Com-
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-Q filed November 5,2013, Exhibit 
10.2, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-43 Executive Severance Benefits Plan (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomi 10-K filed Febmary 27,2014. Exhibit 10-44 

Fife No. 333-21011). 

I A)(B) 10-44 Amendment No. 2 to ttie FirstEnergy Corp. Change in Control Severance Plan. 

' A)(B) 10-45 Amendment No. 1 to the FirstEnergy Com- Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, dated as of January 23.2014. 
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Exhibit 
Number 

(A)(B) 10-46 

(A)(B) 1047 

(A)(B) 10-48 

(A)(B) 10-49 

(A) 12 

(A) 21 

(A) 23 

(A) 31-1 

(A) 31-2 

(A) 32 

101 

(A) 

(B) 

Executive Short-Temi Incentive Program. 

Form of 2015-2017 Cash-Based Performance-Adjusted Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement. 

Form of 2015-2017 Stock-Based Perfomiance-Adjusted Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement. 

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement. 

Consolidated ratios of eamings to fixed charges. 

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant at December 31, 2014. 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Finn. 

Certification of chief executive officer, as adopted pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e). 

Certification of chief financial officer, as adopted pursuant to Rule 13a-l5(e)/15d-l5(e). 

Certification of chief executive officer and chief financial officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350. 

The following materials fl^m the Annual Report on Form 10-K for First Energy Com- for the period ended December 31, 
2014. formatied in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Income and -
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flovra. (iv) related notes to these financial statements and (v) document and entity information. 

Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601 (b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant will fijmish the omitted 
schedutes to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request by the Commission. 
Provided herein in electtonic format as an exhibit. 
Management conttact or compensatory plan contract or arrangement filed pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K. 

Pursuant to paragraph (b)(4)(iii)(A) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K, FirstEnergy has not filed as an exhibit to this Fonm 10-K any 
instnjment with resped to long-term debt if the respedive total amount of securities authorized thereunder does not exceed 
10% of its respedive total assets, but hereby agrees to fijmish to the SEC on request any such documents. 

3.Exhibns — FES 

Exhibit 
Number 

3-1 

3-2 

4-1 

Articles of Incorporation of FirstEnergy Solutions Corp., as amended August 31, 2001. (incomorated by reference to FES' 
Fomfi S-4 filed August 6, 2007, Exhibit 3.2, Fite No. 333-145140-01). 

Amended and Restated Code of Regulations of FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. effective as of August 26.2009 
(incorporated by reference to FES' Forni 8-K filed August 27,2009. Exhibit 3.1, File No. 000-53742). 

Open-End Mortgage, General Mortgage indentijre and Deed of Tmst. dated as of June 19, 2008, of FirstEnergy 
Generation. LLC (f*/a RrstEnergy Generation Corp.) to The Bank of New Yorit Mellon Trust Company, t4A., as Tmstee 
(incomorated by reference to FES' 10-Q filed May 7,2009, Exhibit 4.1, File No. 33^-145140-01). 

4-1 (a) 
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First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 25,2008 (including Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series A of 
2008 due 2009 and Fomn of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series 6 of 2008 due 2009). (incorporated by reference to 
FES' lO^f i ted May 7,2009, Exhibit 4.1 (a), Fite No. 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (b) Second Supptemental Indenture dated as of March 1,2009 (including Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee 
Series A of 2009 due 2014 and Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series B of 2009 due 2023). (incorporated by 
reference to FES' 10-Q filed May 7,2009. Exhibit 4.1 (b). File No. 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (c) Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 31.2009 (induding Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series A 
of 2009 due 2011). (incorporated by reference to FES' 10-Q filed May 7,2009. Exhibit 4.1(c), RIe No. 333-145140-01). 

202 

http://mvestors.fu-stenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 

http://mvestors.fu-stenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html


Document Contents Page 367 of 432 

Exhibit 
Number 

4-1 (d) Fourtii Supplemental Indentijre. dated as of June 15, 2009 (including Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series C 
of 2009 due 2018, Fonn of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series D of 2009 due 2029. Fomi of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, 
Guarantee Series E of 2009 due 2029, Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series B of 2009 due 2011 and Forni of 
First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series C of 2009 due 2011). (incorporated by reference to FES' Fonn 8-K filed June 19, 
2009, Exhibit 4.3, Rte No. 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (e) Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 30,2009 (including Form of Rret Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series F of 
2009 due 2047, Forni of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series G of 2009 due 2018 and Fonn of First Mortgage 
Bonds, Guarantee Series H of 2009 due 2018). (incomorated by reference to FES' Fonn 8-K filed July 6,2009, 
Exhibit 4.2, Fife No. 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (f) Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2009 (including Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Collateral 
Series D of 2009 due 2012) (incomorated by reference to FES' Fomn 8-K filed December 4,2009, Exhibit 4.2, File 
No. 000-53742). 

4-1 (g) SevenOi Supplemental Indenture dated as of Febmary 14,2012 (including Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Collateral 
Series D of 2009 due 2012) (incorporated by reference to FES' Fomn 10-Q filed May 1,2012, Exhibit 4.1(g), Rte No. 000-
53742). 

4-2 Open-End Mortgage, General Mortgage Indenture and Deed of Tmst, dated as of June 1,2009, by and between 
FirstEnergy Nuclear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Nuclear Generation Corp.) and The Bank of New Yorit Mellon 
Trust Company, N.A., as tmstee (incorporated by reference to FES' Form 8-K filed June 19, 2009, Exhibit 4.1, File 
No. 333-145140-01). 

4-2 (a) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 15,2009 (including Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series A of 
2009 due 2033, Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series B of 2009 due 2011, Fonn of First Mortgage Bonds. 
Collateral Series A of 2009 due 2010, Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series B of 2009 due 2010, Form of Rrst 
Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series C of 2009 due 2010, Form of First Mortgage Bonds. Collateral Series D of 2009 due 
2010, Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series E of 2009 due 2010, Fonn of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral 
Series F of 2009 due 2011 and Fomi of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series G of 2009 due 2011). (incorporated by 
reference to FES' Fonn 8-K filed June 19, 2009. Exhibit 4.2(i), Fite No. 333-145140-01). 

4-2 (b) Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 30, 2009 (including Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee 
Series C of 2009 due 2033, Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series D of 2009 due 2033. Form of First 
Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series E of 2009 due 2033, Fomi of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series H of 2009 due 
2011, Forni of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series I of 2009 due 2011 and Form of First Mortgage Bonds. Collateral 
Series J of 2009 due 2010). (incomorated by reference to FES' Fonn 8-K filed July 6.2009, Exhibit 4.1, File No. 333-
145140-01). 

4-2 (c) Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2009 (including Form of First Mortgage Bonds. Collateral 
Series K of 2009 due 2012). (incomorated by reference to FES' Fom 8-K filed December 4,2009. Exhibit 4.1, File 
No. 000-53742). 

4-2 (d) Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Febmary 14, 2012 (including Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral 
Series K of 2009 due 2012). (incomorated by reference to FES'Fomi 10-Q filed May 1.2012. Exhibit 4.2(d), Fite No. 
000-53742). 

4-3 Indenture, dated as of August 1,2009, between RrstEnergy Solutions Com- and The Bank of New Yoric Mellon Tmst 
Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to FES' Fonm 8-K filed August 7,2009, Exhibit 4.1, RIe No. 000-53742). 

4-3 (a) First Supplemental Indenture, datedasof August 1, 2009 (including Form of 4.80% Senior Notes due 2015, Fomn of 
6.05% Senior Notes due 2021 and Fomi of 6.80% Senior Notes due 2039). (incomorated by reference to FES' Forni 8-K 
filed August 7,2009. Exhibit 4.2. Rte No. 000-53742). 

10-1 Form of 6.85% Exchange Certificate due 2034. (incorporated by reference to FES' Form S-4 filed August 6, 2007, 
Exhibit 4.1. Rte No. 333-145140-01). 
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10-2 Guaranty of FirstEne^y Solutions Com-> dated as of July 1,2007. (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K/A filed 
August 2, 2007, Exhibit 10-9, Fite No. 333-21011). 

10-3 Indenture of Tmst, Open-End Mortgage and Security Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2007, betwveen the applicable 
Lessor and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.. as Indenture Tmstee. (incorporated by reference to FE's 
Form 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-3, Rte No. 333-21011). 

10-4 6.85% Lessor Note due 2034. (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomi 8-K/A filed August 2, 2007, Exhibit 10-3, File 
No. 333-21011). 
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Exhibit 
Number 

10-5 Participation Agreement, dated as of June 26,2007, among FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation 
Com), as Lessee, FirstEnergy Solutions Com- as Guarantor, the applicable Lessor, U.S. Bank Tmst National 
Association, as Tmst Company, the applicable Owner Parficipant, The Bank of New Yorit Trust Company, N.A., as 
Indenture Tmstee, and The Bank of New Yorit Tmst Company, N.A., as Pass TTirough Tmstee. (incorporated by 
reference to FE's Fonm 8-K/A filed August 2, 2007, Exhibit 10-1, Rte No. 333-21011). 

10-6 Tmst Agreement, dated as of June 26,2007, between the applicable Owner Participant and U.S. Bank Tmst National 
Association, as Owner Tmstee. (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed August 2, 2007, Exhibit 10-2. Fite 
No. 333-21011). 

10-7 Pass Through Tmst Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2007, among FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy 
Generation Com). FirstEnergy Solutions Corp., and The Bank of New Yorit Tmst Company, N.A., as Pass Through 
Tmstee. (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-12. File No. 333-21011). 

10-8 Bill of Sale and Transfer, dated as of July 1, 2007, between FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (fflt/a FirstEnergy Generation 
Corp.) and the applicable Lessor, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-5, File 
No. 333-21011). 

10-9 Facility Lease Agreement, dated as of July 1,2007, between FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation 
Com) and the applicable Lessor, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-6, File 
No. 333-21011). 

10-10 Site Lease, dated as of July 1,2007, betiween RrstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a RrstEnergy Generation Corp.) and the 
applicable Lessor, (incomorated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K/A filed August 2, 2007, Exhibit 10-7, File No. 333-21011). 

10-11 Site Sublease, dated as of July 1, 2007, between FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a RrstEnergy Generation Com) and 
the applicable Lessor, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed August 2.2007, Exhibit 10-8, File No. 333-
21011). 

10-12 Support Agreement, dated as of July 1.2007, between FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Com) 
and the applicable Lessor, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed August 2, 2007, Exhibit 10-10, File 
No. 333-21011). 

10-13 Second Amendment to the Bmce Mansfield Units 1,2, and 3 Operating Agreement, dated as of July 1.2007, between 
FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Com). The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company and The 
Toledo Edison Company, (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-11, File 
No. 333-21011). 

10-14 Guaranty, dated as of March 26, 2007, by RrstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Corp.) on behalf of 
FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. (incorporated by reference to FES' Form S-4/A filed August 20.2007. Exhibit 10.39, File 
No. 333-145140-01). 

10-15 Guaranty, dated as of March 26, 2007. by RrstEnergy Solutions Com- on behalf of RrstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a 
FirstEnergy Generation Corp.) (incorporated by reference to FES' Fomn S-4/A filed August 20, 2007. Exhibit 10.40, Fite 
No. 333-145140-01). 

10-16 Guaranty, dated as of March 26, 2007, by RrstEnergy Solutions Com- on behalf of FirstEnergy Nuclear Generation, LLC 
(f/k/a FirstEnergy Nuclear Generation Com) (incomorated by reference to FES' Fonn S-4/A filed August 20,2007, 
Exhibit 10.41, Fite No. 333-145140-01). 

10-17 Guaranty, dated as of March 26,2007, by RrstEnergy Nudear Generation. LLC (f/k/a RrstEnergy Nudear Generation 
Corp.) on behalf of RrstEnei^ Solutions Corp. (incomorated by reference to FES' Form S-4/A filed August 20.2007, 
Exhibit 10.42, Rte No. 333-145140-01). 

(B) 10-18 Form of Trust Indentijre dated as of December 1,2005 between Ohio Water Development Auttiority and JP Morgan 
Trust Company, as Trustee, related to issuance of FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Nudear 
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Generation Corp.) pollution control revenue refunding bonds, (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed 
March 2, 2006, Exhibit 10-59, Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-19 Form of Waste Water Fadlities and Solid Wfaste Fadlities Loan Agreement between Ohio Water Development Authority 
and FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a RrstEnergy Nudear Generation Corp.), dated as of December 1,2005. 
(incorporated by reference to FE's Fomi 10-K filed March 2,2006, Exhibit 10-63, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(C) 10-20 Form of Tmst Indenture dated as of April 1,2006 between the Ohio Water Development Authority and The Bank of New 
York Tmst Company, N.A. as Tmstee securing pollution conbtil revenue refunding bonds issued on behalf of FirstEnergy 
Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Com) (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-Q filed May 9,2006, 
Exhibit 10-3, Rte No. 333-21011). 
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Exhibit 
Number 

(C) 10-21 Fonn of Waste Water Fadlities Loan Agreement between the Ohio Water Development Authority and FirstEnergy 
Generation, LLC (f/k/a RrstEnergy Generation Com) dated as of April 1,2006. (incorporated by reference to FE's 
Fonn 10-Q filed May 9, 2006, Exhibit 10-4, File No. 333-21011). 

(D) 10-22 Form of Tmst Indentijre dated as of December 1,2006 between the Ohio Water Development Authority and The Bank of 
New Yorit Tmst Company, N.A. as Tmstee securing State of Ohio Pollufion ConhnI Revenue Reftjnding Bonds 
(FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Nudear Generation Com)) (FirstEnergy Nudear Generation 
Project), (incomorated by reference to FE's Fomi 10-K filed Febaiary 28, 2007, Exhibit 10-77, File No. 333-21011). 

(D) 10-23 Form of Waste Water Fadlities and Solid Waste Fadlities Loan Agreement behween the Ohio Water Development 
Authority and FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Nudear Generation Corp.) dated as of December 
1, 2006. (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 10-K filed Febmary 28,2007, Exhibit 10-80. Fite No. 333-21011). 

(8) 10-24 FirstAmendmenttoLoan Agreement, datedasof Febmary 14, 2012, between the Ohio Water Development Authority, 
as issuer, and FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Com)- (incomorated by reference to 
FES' Fomn 1 0 ^ filed May 1,2012, Exhibit 10.1, Rte No. 000-53742). 

(B) 10-25 First Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of Febmary 14,2012, between the Ohio Air Quality Development 
Authority, as issuer, and FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Com)- (incomorated by reference to 
FES' Fomi 10-Q filed May 1, 2012, Exhibit 10.2, Rte No. 000-53742). 

10-26 First Supplemental Tmst Indenture, dated April 2, 2012, supplementing and amending that certain Tmst Indenture dated 
as of April 1, 2006 between the Ohio Water Development Authority and The Bank of New York Mellon Tmst Company, 
N.A. as Tmstee securing pollution conttol revenue refunding bonds issued on tiehalf of FirstEnergy Generation, LLC 
(f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Com) (FirstEnergy Generation Projed), which tmst indenture, as amended, is substantially 
similar to various other PCRB tmst indentures of FirstEnergy Generation Com- (incomorated by reference to FES' Form 
10-Q filed August 7,2012, Exhibit 10.1, Rte No. 000-53742). 

10-27 First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated April 2, 2012, amending the Waste Water Fadlities Loan Agreement 
between the Ohio Water Development Authority and FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Com-), 
dated as of April 1, 2006, which loan agreement, as amended, is substantially similar to various ottier PCRB loan 
agreements of FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Com) (incorporated by reference to FES' 
Fomi 10-Q filed August 7, 2012, Exhibit 10.2, Rte No. 000-53742). 

10-28 First Supplemental Tmst Indenture, dated April 2, 2012, supplementing and amending that certain Tmst Indenture dated 
as of December 1, 2006 betvreen the Ohio Water Development Authority and The Bank of New Yoric Mellon Tmst 
Company, N.A., as Tmstee securing State of Ohio Pollution Conttol Revenue Refunding Bonds (FirstEnergy Nudear 
Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Nudear Generation Com-)) (FirstEnergy Nudear Generation Project), which tmst 
indenture, as amended, is substantially similar to various other PCRB tmst indentures of FirstEnergy Nudear 
Generation, LLC (incomorated by reference to FES' Fomi 10-Q filed August 7, 2012, Exhibit 10:3. Fite No. 000-53742). 

10-29 First /\mendment to Loan Agreement dated April 2,2012, amending ttie Waste Water Fadlities and Solid Waste 
Fadlities Loan Agreement tretween ttie Ohio Water Development Authority and FirstEneigy Nudear Generation, LLC 
(f/k/a FirstEnergy Nudear Generation Com), dated as of December 1, 2006, which loan agreement, as amended, is 
substantially similar to various other PCRB loan agreements of FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a (FirstEnergy 
Nudear Generation Corp.) (incomorated by reference to FES' Form 10-Q filed August 7.2012, Exhibit 10.4. File No. 000-
53742). 

10-30 CreditAgreement, dated as of June 17,2011, among FirstEnergy Solutions Com-, and Allegheny Energy Supply 
Company, LLC. as borrowers, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the tending banks, fivnting 
banks and swing line lenders identified therein, (incorporated by reference to FES' Form 10-Q filed August 2.2011. 
Exhibit 10.1, RIe No. 000-53742). 

10-31 Amendment, dated as of May 8,2012, to ttie CreditAgreement, dated as of June 17,2011, among RrstEneigy Solutions 
Com-, srid Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC. as bonrowers, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N A , as administrative 
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agent, and ttie lending banks, fironting banks and swing line lenders identified ttierein (incorporated by reference to FES' 
Fonn 8-K filed May 11, 2012, Exhibit 10.3, Rte No. 000-53742). 

10-32 Amendment, dated as of May 8,2013, to ttie Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17,2011, as amended as of October 3, 
2011 and May 8,2012, among FirstEnergy Solutions Com- and Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, as borrowers, 
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lending banks, fronting banks and swing line tenders 
identified ttierein (incorporated by reference to FES' Fomi 8-K filed May 13, 2013, Exhibit 10.2. File No. 000-53742). 

10-33 Amendment, dated as of October 31,2013, to ttie Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17,2011. as amended as of 
Odober 3,2011 and May 8,2012 and May 8.2013, among RrstEnergy Solutions Com- and Allegheny Energy Supply 
Company, LLC, as bon^owers, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as adminish^tive agent, and the lending banks, finnting 
banks and swing line tenders identified ttierein (incorporated by reference to FES' Form 10-Q filed November 5.2013, 
Exhibit 10.1(b), Fite No. 000-53742). 
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Exhibit 
Number 

10-34 Amendment, dated as of March 31, 2014, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17.2011. as amended as of 
October 3, 2011, May 8.2012 and May 8,2013 and Odober 31,2013, among FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. and 
Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, as borrowers, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administtative agent, and 
the lending banl^, fi'onting banks and swing line lenders identified therein (incomorated by reference to FES' Form 8-K 
filed April 4, 2014, Exhibit 10.2. Rte No. 000-53742). 

(A) 31-1 Certification of chief executive officer, as adopted pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e). 

(A) 31-2 Certification of chief finandal officer, as adopted pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e). 

(A) 32 Certification of chief executive officer and chief finandal officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350. 

101 The following materials fixim the Annual Report on Form 10-K for FirstEnergy Solutions Com- for the period ended 
December 31,2014. formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of 
Income and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows, (iv) related notes to these finandal statements and (v) document and entity information. 

(A) Provided herein in eledronic format as an exhibit. 

(B) Four substantially similar agreements, each dated as of the same date, were executed and delivered by the registtant 
and its affiliates with respect to feur other series of pollution conttol revenue refunding bonds issued by the Ohio Water 
Development Authority, the Ohio Air Quality Authority and Beaver County Industrial Development Authority, 
Pennsylvania, relating to pollution control notes of FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Nudear 
Generation Com-)-

(C) Three substantially similar agreements, each dated as of the same date, were executed and delivered by the registrant 
and its affiliates with resped to three otiier series of pollution control revenue refunding bonds issued by the Ohio Water 
Development Authority and the Beaver County Industiial Development Authority relating to pollution conttol notes of 
FirstEnergy Generation. LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generation Corp.) and FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a 
FirstEnergy Nudear Generation Corp.). 

(D) Seven substantially similar agreements, each dated as of the same date, were executed and delivered by tiie registrant 
and its affiliates virith respect to one other series of pollution conttnl revenue refunding bonds issued by the Ohio Water 
Development Authority, three other series of pollution control bonds issued by ttie Ohio Air Quality Development 
Authority and ttie three other series of pollution control bonds issued by ttie Beaver County Industrial Development 
Authority, relating to pollution control notes of FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Generatton Corp.) and 
FirstEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FirstEnergy Nudear Generation Com)-

Pursuant to paragraph (b)(4)(iii)(A) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K, FES has not filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K any 
instalment with resped to long-term debt if the respedive total amount of securities authorized thereunder does not exceed 
10% of its respective total assets, but hereby agrees to furnish to the SEC on request any such documents. 
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SCHEDULE II 

FIRSTENERGY CORP. 

CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3 1 , 2014,2013 AND 2012 

Additions 

Description 

Year Ended December 31,2014; 
Accumulated provision for uncollectible accounts 
customers 

Loss carryforward tax valuation resen/e 

Charged Charged 
Beginning to to Other Ending 
Balance Income Accounts (p Deductions (2) Balance 

(In thousands) 

$ 51,630 $90,144 $ 36.373 $ 118,881 $ 59,266 

other $ 2,976 $ 3,469 $ 8,264 $ 9.512 $ 5,197 

$ 125,360 $48,644 $ — $ — $174,004 

Year Ended December 31,2013: 
Accumulated provision for uncolledible accounts — 
customers $ 40,354 $68,733 $ 39,775 $ 97,232 $ 51,630 

other $ 4,013 $(1,464) $ 5,208 $ 4.781 $ 2,976 

Loss carryfonvard tax valuation resen/e $ 101,697 $23,663 $ — $ — $125,360 

Year Ended December 31,2012: 
Accumulated provision for uncollectible arxwunts — 
customers $ 37.303 $84,026 $ 36.686 $ 117,661 $ 40,354 

other $ 3,447 $ 4,328 $ 203 $ 3,965 $ 4,013 

Loss canyfonward tax valuation resen/e $ 34,236 $67,461 $ $ — $101,697 

"' Represents recoveries and reinstatements of accounts previously written off. 
'̂  Represents ttie write-off of accounts considered to tie uncollectible. 
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FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 

CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3 1 , 2014, 2013 AND 2012 

Additions 

Charged Charged 
Beginning to to Other Ending 

Description Balance Income Accounts {,) Deductions (z) Balance 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended Decemt»r 31,2014: 
Accumulated provision for uncolledible accounts — 
customers $ 11,073 $ 21,942 $ — $ 15,153 $ 17,862 

other $ 2,523 $ 9 $ — $ ^ $ 2,500 

Loss carryfonward tax valuation reserve $ 26,875 $ 5,251 ^ — $ — $ 32,126 

Year Ended December 31,2013: 
Accumulated provision for uncollectible accounts — 
customers $ 16.188 $ 14,294 $ — $ 19,409 $ 11,073 

other $ 2,500 $ 28 $ — $ 5 $ 2,523 

Loss carryfon/vard tax valuation reserve $ 15,810 $ 11,065 $ — $ — $ 26,875 

Year Ended December 31,2012: 
Accumulated provision for uncolledible accounts — 
customers $ 16.441 $ 10,410 $ — $ 10.663 $ 16.188 

other $ 2.500 $ 1,290 $ — $ 1,290 $ 2,500 

Loss canyfonward tax valuation reserve $ 11,650 $ 4,160 $ — $ — $ 15,810 

''' Represents recoveries and reinstatements of accounts previously written off. 
"• Represents the write-off of accounts considered lo be uncollectible. 
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SIGNATURES 
\ 

Pursuant to tiie requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

FIRSTENERGY CORP. 

BY: Is/ Charles E. Jones 

Date: February 17, 2015 

Charies E. Jones 

President and Chief Executive Officer 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange A d of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated: 

/s/ Anthony J. Alexander 

Anthony J. Alexander 
Executive Chairman of the Board 

Is/ George M. Smart 

George M. Smart 
Lead Independent Diredor 

/s/ Charies E. Jones 

Charies E. Jones 
President and Chief Executive Officer and Diredor 
(Prindpal Executive Officer) 

/s/ James F. Pearson /si K. Jon Taylor 

James F. Pearson 
Senior Vice President and Chief Finandal Officer 
(Prindpal Finandal Officer) 

K. Jon Taylor 
Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer 
(Prindpal Accounting Officer) 

/s/ Paul T. Addison 

Paul T. Addison 
Diredor 

/s/ Donald T. Misheff 

Donald T. Misheff 
Diredor 

/s/ Michael J. ^derson 

Michael J. Anderson 
Director 

/s/ Ernest J. Novak, Jr. 

Emest J. Novak, Jr. 
Diredor 

/s/William T.Cottle 

William T. Cottle 
Director 

/s/ Christopher D. Pappas 

Christopher D. Pappas 
Diredor 

/s/ Robert B. Heisler, Jr. 

Robert B. Heisler, Jr. 
Director 

Is/ Catherine A. Rein 

Catherine A. Rein 
Diredor 

/s/Julia L Johnson 

Julia L Johnson 
Director 

/s/ Luis A. Reyes 

Luis A Reyes 
Diredor 

/s/ Ted J. Kleisner 

Ted J. Kleisner 

Director 

/s/Wes M.Taylor 

Wes M. Taylor 

Director 
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Da;e: Febnjary 17, 2015 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to tiie requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

FIRSTENERGY SOLUTIONS CORP. 

BY: /s/Donald R. Schneider 

Donald R. Schneider 

President 

Date: February 17, 2015 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange A d of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capadties and on the date indicated: 

/s/ Donald R. Schneider 

Donald R. Schneider 

President 

(Prindpal Executive Officer) 

/s/ James F. Pearson 

James F. Pearson 

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Director 

(Prindpal Finandal Officer) 

Is/ Charies E. Jones 

Charies E. Jones 
Director 

/si K. Jon Taylor 

K. Jon Taylor 
Vice President and Controller 

(Prindpal Accounting Officer) 

/s/ James H. Lash 

James H. Lash 
Director 

Date: February 17, 2015 
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Exhibit index 

FirstEnergy 

Exhibit 
Number 

2-1 t AgreementandPlanofMerger, dated as of Febmary 10,2010, by and among FirstEnergy Com-,Etement Merger Sub, 
Inc. and Allegheny Energy, Inc. (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K filed Febmary 11, 2010, Exhibit 2.1, File 
No. 333-21011). 

3-1 Amended Articles of Incomoration of FirstEnergy Com- (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed Febmary 19, 
2010. Exhibit 3-1, File No. 333-21011). 

3-2 Amendment to the Amended Articles of Incomoration of FirstEnergy Com- dated as of Febmary 25,2011 (incomorated by 
reference to FE's Fomi 8-K filed Febmary 25,2011, Exhibit 3.1, Fite No. 333-21011). 

3-3 FirstEnergy Com- Amended Code of Regulations, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed Febmary 25,2009, 
Exhibit 3.1, Fite No. 333-21011). 

3-4 Amendment to the RrstEnergy Corp. Amended Code of Regulations (incomorated by reference to RrstEnergy's Definitive 
Proxy Statement filed/Vpril 1, 2011, Appendbc 1, Rte No. 333-21011). 

4-1 Indenttjre, dated November 15, 2001, between FirstEnergy Com- a"d The Bank of New Yorit Mellon, as Tmstee. 
(incomorated by reference to FE's Form S-3 filed September 21, 2001, Exhibit 4(a), Fite No. 333-69856). 

4-2 Officer's Certificate relating to $650 million aggregate principal amount of the Company's 2.75% Notes, Series A, due 2018 
(the "Series A Notes") and $850 million aggregate principal amount of the Company's 4.25% Notes, Series B, due 2023 
(the "Series B Notes") (incomorated by reference to FE's Fomi 8-K filed March 5,2013, Exhibit 4.1, File No. 333-21011.) 

4-2 (a) Form of Series A Note (incomorated by reference to FE's Fomi S-K filed March 5,2013, Exhibit 4.2, File No. 333-21011) 

4-2 (b) Fonn of Series B Note, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K filed March 5,2013, Exhibit 4.3, File No. 333-21011). 

4-3 Agreement of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance Among The Bank of New York Mellon, as Resigning Tmstee, 
The Bank of New Yorit Mellon Tmst Company, N.A., as Successor Tmstee and RrstEneigy Com-> dated May 16,2012 
(incomorated by reference to FE's Form S-3 filed May 18,2012, Exhibit 4(h), file No. 333-181519). 

(B) 10-1 FirstEnergy Com- 2007 Incentive Plan, effective May 15, 2007. (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed 
Febmary 25,2009, Exhibit 10.1, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-2 Amendment to FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 2011. (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 
10-Q filed May 3,2011, Exhibit 10.5, Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-3 Amendment No. 2 to FirstEnergy Com- 2007 Incentive Plan, effective January 1,2014 (incomorated by reference to FE's 
Forni 10-K filed Febmary 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-3 Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-4 Form of 2014-2016 Performance Share Award Agreement (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed Febmary 27, 
2014, Exhibit 1(M Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-5 Forni of 2014-2016 Performance-Adjusted Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to FE's 
Fomi 10-K filed Febmary 27,2014. Exhibit 10-5 Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-6 FirstEnergy Corp. Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directore, amended and restated January 1,2005, further 
amended December 31.2010 (incomorated by reference to FE's Fonn 10-K filed Febmary 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-6 File No. 
333-21011). 

(B) 10-7 Amendment No. 1 to RrstEnergy Com- Deferred Compensation Plan fer Outside Directors, effective as of January 1.2012 
(incorporated by reference to FPs Fomn 10-Q filed May 3.2011, Exhibit 10.7. File No. 333-21011). 
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(B) 10-8 Amendment No. 2 to FirstEnergy Com- Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors, effective January 21,2014 
(incorporated by reference to FE's Fomi 10-K filed Febmary 27, 2014. Exhibit 10-8 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-9 FiretEnergy Com- Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, amended and restated January 1,2005, further amended 
December 31.2010 (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 10-Kfited Febmary 27,2014, Exhibit 10-9 File No. 333-
21011). 

(B) 10-10 Amendment to FiretEnergy Com- Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective January 1, 2012. (incorporated by 
reference to FE's Fomi 10-Q filed May 3, 2011, Exhibit 10.8, Fite No. 333-21011). 
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(B) 10-11 FiretEnergy Com- Cash Balance Restoration Plan, effective January 1, 2014 (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 10-K 
filed Febmary 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-11 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-12 FirstEnergy Corp. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, Amended and Restated as of January 1,2014 (incomorated by 
reference to FE's Fonn 10-K filed Febmary 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-12 Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 1(̂ -13 Defend Remuneration Plan for Outside Directore of GPU, Inc. as amended and restated effective August 8,2000. 
(incorporated by reference to GPU, Inc. Forni lO-K filed March 21,2001, Exhibit 10-O, File No. 001-06047). 

(B) 10-14 Retirement Plan forOutside Directore of GPU, Inc. as amended and restated asof Augusts, 2000. (incomorated by 
reference to GPU, Inc. Fomi 10-K filed March 21,2001, Exhibit 10-N, RIe No. 001-06047). 

(B) 10-15 Forms of Estate Enhancement Program Agreements entered into by certain former GPU directore. (incomorated by 
reference to GPU, Inc. Form 10-K filed March 20,2000, Exhibit 10-JJ, Rte No. 001-06047). 

(B) 10-16 stock Option Agreement between FiretEnergy Com- and an officer dated August 20,2004. (incomorated by reference to 
FE's Fonn 10-Q filed November 4,2004, Exhibit 10-42, Rte No. 333-21011). 

10-17 Consent Decree dated Mart^ 18, 2005. (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K filed March 18,2005, Exhibit 10-1, 
Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-18 Fomn of 2010-2012 Perfonnance Share Awam Agreement effective January 1,2010 (incomorated by reference to FE's 
Fomi 10-K filed Febmary 19,2010, Exhibit 10-48, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-19 Forni of Performance-Adjusted Restricted Stock Unit Avrard Agreement as of March 8,2010 (incomorated by reference to 
FE's Fomn 10-K filed Febmary 19,2010, Exhibit 10-49, Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-20 Forni of Director Indemnification Agreement (incomorated by reference to FE's 10-Q filed May 7,2009, Exhibit 10.1, File 
No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-21 Form of Management Director Indemnification Agreement (incomorated by reference to FE's 10-Q filed May 7, 2009, 
Exhibit 102, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-22 FiretEnergy Com- Change in Contiol Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomn 10-Q filed May 3,2011, 
Exhibit 10.9, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-23 Allegheny Energy, Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to FiretEnergy's Form 8-K filed Febmary 
25, 2011, Exhibit 10.2, Rte No. 21011). 

(B) 10-24 Amendment No. 1 to Allegheny Energy, Inc. 1998 Long-Temi Incentive Plan (incomorated by reference to FE's Fomn 10-K 
filed Febmary 27,2014, Exhibit 10-25 File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-25 /Mlegheny Energy, Ina 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incomorated by reference to FiretEnergy's Forni 8-K filed Febmary 
25,2011, Exhibit 10.3, Rte No. 21011). 

(B) 10-26 Amendment No. 1 to Allegheny Energy, Inc. 2008 Long-Tenn Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 10-K 
filed Febmary 27,2014, Exhibit 10-27 Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-27 Allegheny Energy, Ina Non-Employee Director Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to RretEnerg/s Form 8-K filed 
Febmary 26,2011, Exhibit 10.4, Fite No. 21011). 

(B) 10-28 Allegheny Energy, Ina Amended and Restated Revised Plan for Deferral of Compensation of Directore (incomorated by 
reference to FE's Fom 10-K filed Febmary 27,2014, Exhibit 10-29 Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-29 Amendment No. 1 to Altegheny Energy, Ina Amended and Restated Revised Plan for Defenal of Compensation of 
Directore (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomn 10-K filed February 27,2014, Exhibit 10-30 RIe No. 333-21011). 
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10-30 Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17,2011, among FiretEnergy Com-, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, 
Metropolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power Company, The Toledo Edison Company, 
American Transmission Systems, Incomorated, Jersey Cenb^l Power & Light Company, Monongahela Power Company, 
Pennsylvania Electiic Company, The Potomac Edison Company and West Penn Povrer Company, as bon-owere, the Royal 
Bank of Scotiand pic, as administrative agent, and the lending banks, fronting banks and swing line tendere identified 
therein, (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomn 10-Q filed August 2, 2011, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 333-21011). 

10-Z1 Amendment, dated as of May 8,2012, to ttie Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2011, among RretEnergy Com-, The 
Cleveland Elecbic Illuminating Company, Metropolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power 
Company, The Toledo Edison Company, American Transmission Systems, Incorporated, Jersey Central Power & Light 
Company, Monongahela Power Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, The Potomac Edison Company and West 
Penn Power Company, as bonowere, ttie Royal Bank of Scotiand ptc, as administtative agent, and the lending banks, 
fronting banks and swing line tendere identified therein (incomorated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K filed May 11, 2012, 
Exhibit 10.2, Rte No. 333-21011). 
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10-32 /Vmendment, dated as of May 8, 2013, to tiie Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2011, as amended as of May 8, 
2012, among FirstEnergy, Ttie Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, Metropolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison 
Company, Pennsylvania Povrer Company, The Toledo Edison Company, Jersey Central Power & Light Company, 
Monongahela Power Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, ttie Potomac Edison Company and West Penn Power 
Company, as borrowere. The Royal Bank of Scotland pic, as administieitive agent, and the lending banks, fronting banks 
and swing line tendere identified ttierein (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomi &-K filed May 13,2013, Exhibit 10.1, RIe 
Na 333-21011). 

10-33 Amendment, dated as of October 31, 2013, to ttie Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17,2011, as amended as of May 8. 
2012, among FirstEnergy, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, Metropolitan Edison Company, Ohio Edison 
Company, Pennsylvania Power Company. The Toledo Edison Company, Jersey Central Power & Light Company, 
Monongahela Power Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, the Potomac Edison Company and West Penn Power 
Company, as borrowere. The Royal Bank of Scotiand pla as administtative agent, and ttie lending banks, fronting banks 
and swring line lendere identified therein (incomorated by reference to FE's Fomi 10-Q filed November 5, 2013, Exhibit 
10.1(a), Fite No. 333-21011). 

10-34 Amendment, dated as of March 31,2014, to ttie Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2011, as amended as of May 8, 
2012, May 8,2013 and Octot)er31, 2013, among FiretEnergy, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, Meb'opolitan 
Edison Company, Ohio Edison Company, Pennsylvania Power Company, The Toledo Edison Company, Jereey Cential 
Power & Light Company, Monongahela Power Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company, ttie Potomac Edison Company 
and West Penn Power Company, as borrowere. The Royal Bank of Scotiand pic, as administrative agent, and the lending 
banks, fronting banks and swing line lendere identified therein (incomorated by reference lo FE' s Form 8-K filed April 4, 
2014, Exhibit 10.1, Rte No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-35 Employment Agreement between FiretEnergy Com- and >\ntiiony J. Alexander, dated March 20,2012. (incomorated by 
reference to PE's Forni 10-Q filed March 31, 2012, Exhibit 10.1, Fite No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-36 Form of OfRcer Indemnification Agreement (incomorated by reference to FirstEnergy's Form 8-K filed July 23, 2012, Exhibit 
10.1, RIe No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-37 Amendment No.1 to the FiretEnergy Com- Change in Control Severance Plan, amended and restated as of September 18, 
2012 (incomorated by reference to FE's Fonn 10-Q filed November 8,2012, Exhibit 10.1, Fite No. 33^21011). 

10-38 U.S. $1,000,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated as of May 8,2012, among FiretEnergy Transmission, LLC, American 
Transmission Systems, Incomorated and Trans-Allegheny Interetate Line Company, as bomjwere, PNC Bank, National 
Association, as administrative agent, and tiie tending banks and fironting banks identified therein (incomorated by 
reference to FE's Fomi &-K filed May 11, 2012, Exhibit 10.3, Rte No. 333-21011). 

10-39 Amendment, dated as of May 8,2013, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 8,2012, among RretEnergy 
Transmission, LLC, American Transmission Systems, Incomorated and Trans-Allegheny Interetate Line Company, as 
borrowere, and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, and the lending banks and fi'onting banks 
identified ttierein (incomorated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K filed May 13,2013, Exhibit 10.3, File No. 333-21011). 

1040 Amendment, dated as of March 31,2014 to ttie Credit Agreement, dated as of May 8,2012, and as amended as of May 8, 
2013, among RrstEnergy Transmission, LLC, American Transmission Systems, Incomorated and Trans-Allegheny 
Interetate Line Company, as tiorrowere, and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, and the tending 
banks and fi^onting banks klentified therein (incomorated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K filed April 4,2014, Exhibit 10.3, 
Fite No. 333-21011). 

1041 Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of March 31,2014, among FE, as bon-ower, ttie banks named ttierein and The 
Royal Bank of Scotland, pla as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K filed April 4,2014, 
Exhibit 10.4, Fite No. 333-21011). 

10-42 Guarantee, dated as of September 16,2013 by RretEnergy Com- in favor of participants under the FiretEnergy Corp. 
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomri 10-Q filed November 5, 2013, Exhibit 
10.2, RIe No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-43 Executive Severance Benefits Plan (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonn 10-K filed Febmary 27, 2014, Exhibit 10-44 
Fite No. 333-21011). 

(A)(B) 10-44 Amendment No. 2 to tiie RretEnergy Com- Change in Contiol Severance Plan. 
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(A)(B) 10-45 Amendment No. 1 to the FiretEnergy Com- Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, datedasof January 23,2014. 

(A)(B) 10-46 Executive Short-Term Incentive Program. 

(A)(B) 10-47 Fomi of 2015-2017 Cash-Based Perfonnance-Adjusted Restiicted Stock Unit Avrard Agreement. 

(A)(B) 10-48 Fonn of 2015-2017 Stock-Based PerfomianceAdjusted Restiicted Stock Unit Award Agreement. 

(A)(B) 10-49 Fomn of Restricted Stock Agreement 
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(A) 12 Consolidated ratios of eamings to fixed charges. 

(A) 21 Ust of Sub^diaries of ttie Registtant at December 31, 2014. 

(A) 23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Rmi. 

(A) 31-1 Certification of chief executive officer, as adopted pureuant to Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e). 

(A) 31-2 Certification of chief financial oflicer, as adopted pureuant to Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e). 

(A) 32 Certification of chief executive oflicer and chief financial officer, pureuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350. 

101 The followring materials from the Annual Report on Form 10-K for Firet Energy Com- for the period ended December 31, 
2014, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Income and 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows, (iv) related notes to Uiese financial statements and (v) document and entity information. 

I t Schedules have been omitted pureuant to Item 601 (b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant will fumish the omitted 
schedules to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request by the Commission. 

(A) Provided herein in electronic fomiat as an exhibit. 
' (B) Management contract or compensatory plan contract or arrangement filed pureuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K. 

Pursuant to paragraph (b)(4)(iii)(A) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K, FirstEnergy has not filed as an exhibit to tiiis Form 10-K any 
insjtrument with respect to long-term debt if the respective total amount of securities authorized thereunder does not exceed 
10% of its respective total assets, but hereby agrees to fumish to the SEC on request any such documents. 

FE^ 

I Exhibit 
Number 

3-1 Articles of Incomoration of FiretEnergy Solutions Com-, as amended August 31,2001. (incomorated by reference to FES' 
Fomi S-4 fited August 6,2007, Exhibit 3.2, Rte No. 333-145140-01). 

3-2 Amended and Restated Code of Regulations of FiretEnergy Solutions Corp. effective as of August 26,2009 (incorporated 
by reference to FES' Fonn 8-K filed August 27,2009, Exhibit 3.1, File No. 000-53742). 

4-1 Open-End Mortgage, General Mortgage Indenture and Deed of Tmst, dated as of June 19, 2008, of FiretEnergy 
Generation, LLC (l/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Com) to The Bank of New York Mellon Tmst Company, N.A., as Tmstee 
(incorporated by reference to FES' 10-Q filed May 7, 2009, Exhibit 4.1, Rte No. 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (a) Firet Supptemental Indenture dated as of June 25,2008 (induding Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series A of 
2008 due 2009 and Fonn of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series B of 2008 due 2009). (incomorated by reference to 
FES' 10-Q filed May 7,2009, Exhibit 4.1(a), RIe No. 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (b) Second Supplemental Indentijre dated as of March 1,2009 (including Fomrr of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series A 
of 2009 due 2014 and Fonn of Rret Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series B of 2009 due 2023). (incomorated by reference to 
FES' 10-Q filed May 7, 2009, Exhibit 4.1(b), Fite No. 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (c) Thinj Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 31,2009 (including Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series A of 
2009 due 2011). (incorporated by reference to FES' 10-Q filed May 7,2009, Exhibit 4.1(c), Rte Na 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (d) Fourth Supptemental Indentijre, dated as of June 15,2009 (induding Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series C of 
2009 due 2018, Forni of Rret Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series D of 2009 due 2029, Fomi of First Mortgage Bonds, 
Guarantee Series E of 2009 due 2029, Fomn of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series B of 2009 due 2011 and Form of 
First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series C of 2009 due 2011). (incorporated by reference to FES' Form 8-K filed June 19, 
2009. Exhibit 4.3, Rte No. 333-145140-01). 
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4-1 (e) Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 30,2009 (induding Fomn of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series F of 
2009 due 2047, Forni of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series G of 2009 due 2018 and Fomi of Rret Mortgage Bonds, 
Guarantee Series H of 2009 due 2018). (incomorated by reference to FES' Form 8-K filed July 6,2009, Exhibit 4.2, Fite 
Na 333-145140-01). 

4-1 (f) Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1,2009 (induding Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series D 
of 2009 due 2012) (incomorated by reference to FES' Fomi 8-K filed December 4,2009, Exhibit 4.2, Fite No. 000-53742). 
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4-1 (g) Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of Febmary 14, 2012 (induding Fonn of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series 
D of 2009 due 2012) (incomorated by reference to FES' Fomi 10-Q filed May 1,2012, Exhibit 4.1(g), File No. 000-53742). 

4-2 Open-End Mortgage, General Mortgage Indenture and Deed of Tmst, dated as of June 1,2009, by and betiween 
FiretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Nudear Generation Com) and The Bank of New York Mellon Tmst 
Company, N.A., as faustee (incorporated by reference to FES' Fonn 8-K filed June 19, 2009, Exhibit 4.1, File No. 333-
14514001). 

4-2 (a) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 15,2009 (induding Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series A of 
2009 due 2033, Fomi of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series B of 2009 due 2011, Fomn of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, 
Collateral Series A of 2009 due 2010, Fonn of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series B of 2009 due 2010, Fom of Rret 
Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series C of 2009 due 2010, Form of First Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series D of 2009 due 
2010, Fonn of Rret Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series E of 2009 due 2010, Form of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Collateral 
Series F of 2009 due 2011 and Form of Rrst Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series G of 2009 due 2011). (incomorated by 
reference to FES' Forni 8-K filed June 19,2009, Exhibit 4.2(i), Fite No. 333-145140-01). 

4-2 (b) Second Supplemental Indentijre, dated as of June 30, 2009 (induding Form of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series C 
of 2009 due 2033, Fonn of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Guarantee Series D of 2009 due 2033, Form of Firet Mortgage Bonds, 
Guarantee Series E of 2009 due 2033, Form of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series H of 2009 due 2011, Form of First 
Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series 1 of 2009 due 2011 and Form of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series J of 2009 due 
2010). (incorporated by reference to FES' Form &-K filed July 6,2009, Exhibit 4.1, File No. 333-145140-01). 

4-2 (c) Third Supplemental Indentijre, dated as of December 1,2009 (including Fonn of Firet Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series K 
of 2009 due 2012). (incomorated by reference to FES' Fonn 8-K filed December 4, 2009, Exhibit 4.1, File No. 000-53742). 

4-2 (d) Fourth Supptemental Indenture, dated as of Febmary 14, 2012 (induding Form of Rret Mortgage Bonds, Collateral Series 
K of 2009 due 2012). (incomorated by reference to FES' Fonn 10-Q filed May 1,2012, Exhibit 4.2(d), RIe No. 000-53742). 

4-3 Indenture, dated as of August 1,2009, between FiretEnergy Solutions Com- and The Bank of New York Melton Tmst 
Company, N.A. (incomorated by reference to FES' Fonn 8-K filed August 7,2009, Exhibit 4.1, File No. 00C>-53742). 

4-3 (a) First Supptemental Indentijre, dated as of August 1, 2009 (induding Fomn of 4.80% Senior Notes due 2015, Fonn of 6.05% 
Senior Notes due 2021 and Form of 6.80% Senior Notes due 2039). (incomorated by reference to FES' Form 8-K filed 
August 7, 2009, Exhibit 4.2, Fite No. 000-53742). 

10-1 Forni of 6.85% Exchange Certificate due 2034. (incomorated by reference to FES' Fom S-4 filed August 6, 2007, 
Exh;bit4.1, Fite No. 333-145140-01). 

10-2 Guaranty of FiretEnergy Solutions Com-, dated as of July 1,2007. (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed 
August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-9, RIe No. 333-21011). 

10-3 Indenture of Tmst, Open-End Mortgage and Security Agreement, dated as of July 1,2007, between tiie applicable Lessor 
and The Bank of New Yorit Tmst Company, N.A., as Indenture Tmstee. (incomorated by reference to FE's Forni 8-K/A filed 
August 2, 2007, Exhibit 10-3, RIe No. 333-21011). 

10-4 6.85% Lessor Note due 2034. (incomorated by reference to FE's Fom 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Ejdiibit 10-3, File 
No. 333-21011). 

10-5 Participation Agreement, dated as of June 26,2007, among FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/Wa RrstEnergy Generation 
Corp.), as Lessee, FiretEnergy Solutions Corp., as Guarantor, the applicable Lessor, U.S. Bank Tmst National Assodation, 
as Tmst Company, the applicabte Owner Partidpant, The Bank of New York Tmst Company. N.A.. as Indentijre Tmstee. 
and The Bank of New York Tmst Company, N.A., as Pass Through Tmstee. (incomorated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K/A 
filed August 2.2007, Exhibit 10-1, Rte No. 333-21011). 

10-6 Tmst Agreement, dated as of June 26,2007, between ttie applicable Owner Partidpant and U.S. Bank Tmst National 
Assodation, as Owner Tmstee. (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-2, Fife 
No. 333-21011). 

10-7 Pass Through Tmst Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2007, among FirstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy 
Generation Corp.), RrstEnergy Solutions Corp., and The Bank of New York Tmst Company, N.A., as Pass Through 
Tmstee. (incorporated by reference to FE's Fonm 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-12, Rte No. 333-21011). 
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10-8 Bill of Sate and Transfer, dated as of July 1, 2007, between RretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy Generation 
Com-) and tiie applicable Lessor, (incorporated by reference to FE's Fomn 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-5, File 
No. 333-21011). 

10-9 Fadlity Lease Agreement, dated as of July 1,2007, between FiretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy Generation 
Com) and th<i applicable Lessor, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A fifed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-6, File 
No. 333-21011). 

216 

http://investors.fu:stenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 

http://investors.fu:stenergycorp.com/Cache/c27740735.html


Document Contents Page 390 of 432 

10-10 Site Lease, dated as of July 1,20O7, between FiretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy Generation Com) and the 
applicabte Lessor, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 3-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-7, File No. 333-21011). 

10-11 Site Sublease, dated as of July 1,2007, between RretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Com) and ttie 
applicable Lessor. (tnTOrporated by reference to FE's Fonn 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-8, Fite No. 333-21011). 

10-12 Support Agreement, dated as of July 1,2007, between RrstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Com) 
and the applicable Lessor, (incorporated by reference to FE's Form 8-K/A filed August 2, 2007, Exhibit 10-10, File No. 33^ 
21011). 

10-13 Second /\mendment to the Bmce Mansfield Units 1,2, and 3 Operating Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2007, betiveen 
FiretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/Wa FirstEnergy Generation Com). ^ ^ Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company and The 
Toledo Edison Company, (incomorated by reference to FE's Fom 8-K/A filed August 2,2007, Exhibit 10-11, Fite No. 333-
21011). 

10-14 Guaranty, dated as of March 26, 2007, by FiretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Com) on behalf of 
FiretEnergy Solutions Com- (incomorated by reference to FES' Fomi S-4/A filed August 20, 2007, E)diibil 10.39, File 
No. 333-145140-01). 

10-15 Guaranty, dated as of March 26,2007, by FiretEnergy Solutions Com- on behalf of FiretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a 
FiretEnergy Generation Com-) (incomorated by reference to FES' Fom S-4/A filed August 20, 2007, Exhibit 10.40, File 
No. 333-145140-01). 

10-16 Guaranty, dated as of March 26,2007, by FiretEnergy Solutions Com- on behalf of RretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC 
(f/K/a FiretEnergy Nudear Generation Com) (incomorated by reference to FES' Form S-4/A filed August 20,2007, 
Exhibit 10.41, Rte No. 333-145140-01). 

10-17 Guaranty, dated as of March 26,2007, by FiretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy Nudear Generation 
Com) on behalf of FiretEnergy Solutions Com- (incomorated by reference to FES' Form S-4/A fited August 20,2007, 
Exhibit 10.42, Rte No. 333-145140-01). 

I (B) 10-18 Form of Tmst Indenture dated as of December 1, 2005 behrtreen Ohio Water Development Authority and JP Morgan Tmst 
Company, as Tmstee, related to issuance of FiretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Nudear Generation 
Com) pollution contini revenue reftjnding bonds, (incomorated by reference to FE's Form 10-K filed March 2, 2006, 
Exhibit 10-59, File No. 333-21011). 

(B) 10-19 Fom of Waste Water Fadlities and Solid Waste Fadlities Loan Agreement between Ohio Water Development Authority 
and FiretEne^ Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Nudear Generation Com), dated as of December 1,2005. 
(incomorated by reference to FE's Fom 10-K filed March 2,2006, Exhibit 10-63, RIe No. 333-21011). 

(C) 10-20 

(C) 10-21 

[D) 10-22 

;D) 10-23 

;B) 10-24 

Form of Tmst Indenture dated as of April 1, 2006 between the Ohio Water Development Authority and The Bank of New 
York Tmst Company, N.A. as Tmstee securing pollution control revenue refijnding bonds issued on behalf of FiretEnergy 
Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Com-) (incorporated by reference to FE's Forni 10-Q filed May 9,2006, 
Exhibit 10-3, File No. 333-21011). 

Form of Waste Water Fadlities Loan Agreement between Uie Ohio Water Development Authority and RrstEnergy 
Generation, LUC (f/k/a RrstEnergy Generation Corp.) dated as of April 1,2006. (incomorated tiy reference to FE's 
Fom 10-Q filed May 9,2006, Exhibit 10-4, Fite No. 333-21011). 

Fom of Tmst Indentijre dated as of December 1,2006 between ttie Ohio Water Development Autiiority and Tbe Bank of 
New Yorit Tmst Company, N.A. as Tmstee securing State of Ohio Pollution ContinI Revenue Reftjnding Bonds 
(RretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy Nudear Generation Com)) (FiretEnergy Nudear Generation 
Project), (incorporated by reference to FE's Fom 10-K filed Febmary 28,2007, Exhibit 10-77, File No. 333-21011). 

Form of Waste Water Fadlities and Solid Waste Fadlities Loan Agreement between the Ohio Water Development Authority 
and RretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy Nudear Generation Corp.) dated as of December 1,2006. 
(incorporated by reference to FE's Fom 10-K filed Febmary 28,2007, Exhibit 10-80, File No. 333-21011). 
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Firet Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of Febmary 14,2012, between tfie Ohio Water Development Authority, as 
issuer, and FiretEnergy Nuctear Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy Generation Com)- (incomorated by reference to FES' 
Fom 10-Q filed May 1, 2012, Exhibit 10.1, Rte No. 000-53742). 

(B) 10-25 Firet Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of February 14,2012, between the Ohio Air Quality Development Autiiority, 
as issuer, and RrstEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Com)- (incomorated by reference to FES* Fonn 
10-Q filed May 1,2012, Exhibit 102, Fite No. 000-53742). 

10-26 First Supptemental Trust Indenture, dated April 2,2012, supplementing and amending that certain Trust Indentijre dated as 
of April 1,2006 between the Ohio Water Development Authority and The Bank of New York Mellon Tmst Company, N.A. 
as Tmstee securing pollution control revenue refunding bonds issued on behalf of RretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a 
FiretEnergy Generation Com) (FiretEnergy Generation Projed), which tmst indenture, as amended, is substantially similar 
to various other PCRB tmst indentures of RretEnergy Generation Com- (incomorated by reference lo FES' Form 10-Q filed 
August 7, 2012, Exhibit 10.1, Fite No. 000-53742). 

217 

http://mvestors.firstenergycorp.coni/Cache/c27740735.html 10/23/2015 

http://mvestors.firstenergycorp.coni/Cache/c27740735.html


Document Contents Page 392 of 432 

10-27 First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated /\pril 2,2012, amending the Waste Water Facilities Loan Agreement between 
the Ohio Water Development Authority and FiretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Com), dated as of 
/^pril 1,2006, which loan agreement, as amended, is substantially amilar to various ottier PCRB loan agreements of 
FiretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Corp.) (incorporated by reference to FES' Form 10-Q filed 
August 7,2012, Exhibit 10.2, Fite No. 000-53742). 

10-28 First Supplemental Trust Indentijre, dated April 2,2012, supplementing and amending ttial certain Tmst Indentijre dated as 
of December 1, 2006 between tiie Ohio Water Development Auttiority and The Bank of New Yorit Melton Tmst Company, 
N.A., as Tmstee securing State of Ohio Pollution Conti^ Revenue Refunding Bonds (FiretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC 
(f/k/a FiretEnergy Nudear Generation Com)) (FiretEnergy Nudear Generation Project), which bust indentijre, as amended, 
is substantially similar to various other PCRB trust indentures of RretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (incomorated by 
reference to FES' Fomi 10-Q filed August 7,2012, Exhibit 10.3, Fite No. 000-53742). 

10-29 Firet Amendment to Loan Agreement dated April 2,2012, amending the Waste Water Fadlities and Solid Waste Fadlities 
Loan Agreement between tiie Ohio Water Development Autiiority and FirstEneigy Nuctear Generation, LLC (f/Wa 
FiretEnergy Nudear Generation Com), dated as of December 1, 2006, which loan agreement, as amended, is 
substantially similar to various ottier PCRB loan agreemente of FiretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a (RretEnergy 
Nudear Generation Com) (incomorated by reference to FES'Fom 10-Q filed August 7, 2012, Exhibit 10.4, File No. 000-
53742). 

10-30 Credit /Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2011, among FiretEnergy Solutions Corp., and Allegher^ Energy Supply 
Company, LLC, as bomawere, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administiBttve agent, and the tending banks, finnting banks 
and swing line tendere identified therein, (incorporated by reference to FES' Form 10-Q filed August 2,2011, Exhibit 10.1, 
File No. 000-53742). 

10-31 Amendment, dated as of May 8, 2012, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17,2011, among FiretEnergy Solutions 
Com-, and Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, as borrowiers, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administirative agent, 
and Uie lending banks, fronting banks and sviring line lendere identified tiierein (incomorated by reference to FES' Fom 8-K 
filed May 11,2012, Exhibit 10.3. Fite No. 000-53742). 

10-32 Amendment, dated as of May 8,2013, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17,2011, as amended as of October 3, 
2011 and May 8,2012, among FiretEnergy Solutions Corp. and Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, as bonowere, 
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administi^tive agent, and the lending banks, fronting banks and swing line tenders 
identified ttierein (incomorated by reference to FES' Fom 8-K filed May 13, 2013, Exhibit 10.2, Fite No. 000-53742). 

10-33 Amendment, dated as of October 31,2013, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2011, as amended as of Odober 
3, 2011 and May 8, 2012 and May 8,2013, among FiretEnergy Solutions Corp. and Altegheny Energy Supply Company, 
LLC, as bon-owere, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA., as adminisfrative agent, and ttie tending banks, ftonting banks and 
swing line lendere identified therein (incorporated by reference lo FES' Form 10-Q filed November 5,2013, Exhibit 10-1(b), 
Rte No. 000-53742). 

10-34 Amendment, dated as of March 31, 2014, to ttie Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17,2011, as amended as of Odober 
3,2011, May 8,2012 and May 8,2013 and Odober 31,2013, among FiretEnergy Solutions Com- and Allegheny Energy 
Supply Company, LLC, as bonrowere, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lending banks, 
fronting banks and swing line lendere identified ttierein (incorporated by reference to FES' Form 8-K filed April 4,2014, 
Exhibit 10.2, Rte No. 000-53742). 

(A) 31-1 Certification of chief executive officer, as adopted pureuant to Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e). 

(A) 31-2 Certificationofdiief finandal officer, as adopted pureuant to Rule 13a-15(e)/15d-15(e). 

(A) 32 Certification of chief executive officer and chief finandal officer, pureuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350. 

101 The following materials from the Annual Report on Fom 10-K for FiretEnergy Solutions Com- for ttie period ended 
December 31,2014, formatted in XBRL (Extensibte Business Reporting Language): (1) Consolklated Statements of Income 
and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (ii) Consolklated Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated Statements 
of Cash Rows, (iv) related notes to these finandal statements and (v) document and entity information. 

(A) 

(B) 

Provided herein in electronic fomnat as an exhibit. 
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Four substantially similar agreements, each dated as of the same date, were executed and delivered by the registrant and 
its affiliates with respect to four ottier series of pollution control revenue refunding bonds issued by the Ohio Water 
Development Authority, the Ohio Air Quality Autiiority and Beaver County Industrial Development Authority, Pennsylvania, 
relating to polluti'on confrol notes of RretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Nudear Generation Com). 

(C) Three substantially similar agreements, eadi dated as of ttie same date, were executed and delivered by the registrant and 
its affiliates with respect to three other series of pollution control revenue refunding bonds issued by the Ohio Water 
Development Auttiority and tiie Beaver County Indusbial Development Authority relating to pollution contiol notes of 
FiretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a RretEnergy Generation Com) and FiretEnergy Nudear Generation, LLC (f/k/a 
FirstEnergy Nudear Generation Com). 

218 
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(D) Seven substantially similar agreements, each dated as of the same date, were executed and delivered by the registrant 
and its affiliates with resped to one other series of pollution control revenue refending bonds issued by the Ohio Water 
Development Authority, three otiier series of pollution confrol bonds issued by the Ohio Air Quality Development Authority 
and the ttiree ottier series of pollution control bonds issued by ttie Beaver County Industiial Development Authority, relating 
to pollution confrol notes of RretEnergy Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Generation Com) and FiretEnergy Nudear 
Generation, LLC (f/k/a FiretEnergy Nuctear Generation Com)-

Pursuant to paragraph (b)(4)(iii)(A) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K, FES has not filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K any 
instrument with respect to long-term detit if the respective total amount of securities authorized tiiereunder does not exceed 
10% of its respective total assets, but hereby agrees to fumish to the SEC on request any such documents. 

219 
(Back To TOP') 

Section 2: EX-10,44 (EXHIBIT 10.44) 
EXHIBIT 10-44 

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO THE 
FIRSTENERGY CORP. CHANGE IN CONTROL SEVERANCE PLAN 

This Amendment No. 2 (this "Amendment") to the FirstEnergy Corp. Change in Control Severance Plan (the "Plan") 
wasj adopted and approved by the Board of Directors of FirstEnergy Corp., an Ohio corporation (the "Company"), on December 
16, 2014. 

Effective as of January 1, 2016, the Plan is hereby amended as follows: 

1. The definition of "Good Reason' in Article 11 of the Plan is hereby deleted and replaced with the following: 

" 'Good Reason' means the initial occurrence, vwthout the Participant's consent, of one or more of the following events: 

(1) a material diminution in the Participant's Base Compensation; 

(2) a material diminution in the Participant's authority, duties or responsibilities (including, wittiout 
limitation, the Participant's reporting relationship); 

(3) a material change in the geographic location at which the Participant must perform services and, for 
purposes of this paragraph (3), any reassignment which results in your current residence to your 
new reporting location being at least fifty (50) miles farther than your current residence to your 
previous reporting location is considered material; and 

(4) any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by the Company of any employment 
agreement under which the Participant provides sendees; 

provided, however, that "Good Reason" shall not be deemed to exist unless: 

(A) the Participant has provided notice to the Company of the existence of one or 
more of the conditions listed in (1) through (4) atiove within 90 days after the initial 
occurrence of such condition or conditions; and 

(B) such condition or conditions have not been cured by the Company within 30 days 
after receipt of such notice." 

2. The first sentence of Section 3.3(b) of the Plan is hereby amended by deleting the phrase "at a regular meeting held 
between September 1 and December 31 each year." 
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3. The first sentence of Section 7.1 of the Plan is hereby deleted and replaced with the following: 

"7.1 Non-Comoetition. If, subsequent to a Change in Control of the Company, a Partidpant incurs a 
Tennination of Employment under circumstances described in Section 5.1 of the Plan, then (i) with respect 
to subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c) below, for a period of twenty-four (24) months after such Termination of 
Employment and (ii) with respect to subparagraphs (d) and (e) below, at any time after such Tennination of 
Employment, the Participant shall not on his or her own account without the consent of the Company, or as 
a shareholder, employee, officer, director, consultant or othenwise, engage directly or indirectly in any 
business or enterprise which is in competition witti the Company, an Affiliate or any Subsidiary in a market 
located in any state or states in which, on the date of the Participants Termination of Employment ttie 
Company sells, has sold or reasonably intends to sell to Customers." 

4. The first sentence of Section 10.1 of ttie Plan is hereby deleted and replaced with the following: 

"10.1 Procedure for Amendment or Tennination. During the term of the Plan, as set forth in Section 3.3, this 
Plan may be amended by an instiument in writing signed by the Company, provided no amendment that 
materially and adversely affects the rights of the Participants may be adopted unless at least fifty-one percent 
(51%) of all Participants have consented to the amendment." 

5. Paragraph (d) of Exhibit B of the Plan is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

"(d) For purposes of the Company's group health insurance plan: 

(1) The Participant shall be entitted to continue to partidpate, on the same temis and conditions as 
active employee participants, in such plan for a period of two (2) years after the date of the 
Partidpant's Termination of Employment During suc*i continuation period, the Partidpant shall 

1 
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be responsible for paying the normal employee share of the applicable premiums for coverage 
under ttie group health insurance plan. 

(2) The Company shall have the right to modify, amend or discontinue the Company's group heattti 
insurance plan following the date of any Partidpanfs Termination of Employment and any 
Partidpants continued partidpation therein, and ttie continued partidpation of any other person 
therein under Subsection (g) below, shall be subject to such modification, amendment or 
discontinuation if such modification, amendment or discontinuation applies generally to ttie ttien-
current partidpants in such plan. 

(3) If the Company is not pennitted to provide continuing coverage under the terms of the Company's 
group health insurance plan and related trusts, then the Company may purchase health insurance 
for the Partidpant for the period spedfied in Subsection (d)(1) with coverage comparable to ttie 
applicable coverage under ttie Company's group health insurance plan then in effect as the same 
may have been modified amended or discontinued in accordance with the terms and provisions of 
the applicable plan under this Subsection (d). 

(4) The health benefit continuation provided under ttiis Subsection (d) shall satisfy the Company's 
obligations to provide, and any rights that the Participant may have to, COBRA coverage 
continuation under the health care continuation requirements under the federal Consolidated 
Omnibus Budget Recondliation Act, as amended, Part VI of Subtitie B of Titie 1 of ERISA and 
Sedion 4980B(0 of the Code, or any sua:essor provisions thereto." 

6. Paragraph (d) of Exhibit C of the Plan is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

"(d) For purpxjses of the Company's group health insurance plan: 

(1) The Partidpant shall be entitied to continue to partidpate, on the same terms and conditions as 
active employee partidpants, in such plan for a period of two (2) years after the date of ttie 
Partidpant's Termination of Employment During such continuation period, ttie Partidpant shall be 
responsible for paying the nomial employee share of ttie applicable premiums for coverage under 
the group healOi insurance plan. 

(2) The Company shall have ttie right to modify, amend or discontinue the Company's group health 
insurance plan following the date of any Partidpant's Tennination of Employment and any 
Partidpant's continued partidpation therein, and the continued partidpation of any other person 
therein under Subsection (g) below, shall be subject to such modification, amendment or 
discontinuation if such modification, amendment or discontinuation applies generally to ttie then-
oirent participants in such plan. 

(3) If the Company is not permitted to provide continuing coverage under the terms of the Company's 
group health insurance plan and related trusts, then the Company may purchase health insurance 
for the Partidpant for the period spedfied in Subsection (d)(1) with coverage comparable to the 
applicable coverage under ttie Company's group health insurance plan then in effect, as ttie same 
may have been modified amended or discontinued in accordance witti the terms and provisions of 

' ttie applicable plan under ttiis Subsection (d). 

(4) The healtti benefit continuation provided under this Subsection (d) shall satisfy ttie Company's 
obligations to provide, and any rights ttiat the Partidpant may have to, COBRA coverage 
continuation under the health care continuation requirements under tiie federal Consolidated 
Omnibus Budget Recondliation Act, as amended. Part VI of Subtitie B of Titie I of ERISA and 
Section 4980B(0 of the Code, or any successor provisions thereto." 

7. Capitalized terms used herein and not ottienvise defined shall have the meaning ascribed to them in tiie Plan. 
8. Except as othenwise modified in this Amendment ttie Plan shall remain in fijll force and effect In the event of a conflict 

between ttie tenns of this Amendment and the Plan, the tenns of this Amendment shall control. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, ttie Company, by its duly auttiorized officer, has executed this Amendment No. 2 to ttie 
FirstEnergy Corp. Change in Control Severance Plan, effective as of January 1, 2016. 

FIRSTENERGY CORP 

By: /s/ Charies E. Jones 

Charies E. Jones 

President and Chief Executive Officer of FirstEnergy 

Corp. 

EXHIBIT 10-45 

(Back To Top") 

Section 3: EX-10.45 (EXHIBIT 10.45) 

Antendment No. 1 to 

FirstEnerov Corp. Amended and Restated Executive Deferred Compensation Plan 

(Effective September 28,1985, Amended and Restated as of January 1,2014) 

WHEREAS, FirstEnergy Corp. (the "Company"), established the FirstEnergy Corp. Executive Deferred Compensation 
Plan, effective September 28,1985, as amended and restated as of January 1, 2014 (ttie "Plan"); 

WHEREAS, Section 10.1 of ttie Plan provides that the Plan may be amended, subject to certain conditions, by adion 
of the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") or Compensation Committee of the Board (the "Compensation 
Committee") or by a writing executed on behalf of ttie Board or ttie Compensation Committee by the Company's duly elected 
officers, effective on ttie thirfy-first day following the date on which the Company notifies the partidpants; 

WHEREAS, the Compensation Committee has delegated auttiorify to officers of the Company to execute an 
amendment to the Plan; 

WHEREAS, concurrently with entering into this Amendment No. 1 as of January 23, 2015, the Company is notifying 
the partidpants under ttie Plan on such date of the adoption of the Amendment No. 1 described herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend the Plan to provide that effective February 23, 2015, a Partidpant's 
deferrals of performance shares into his or her Stock Account will be paid in cash once payments are distributed from the Stock 
Account and to provide that with respect to deferals made in 2016 and thereafter, distributions fi^om a Stock Account made to 
a Partidpant who terminates employment prior to the applicable Initial Eligible Payment Date will be paid through the applicable 
Retirement Account for such Partidpant 

NOW, THEREFORE, in accordance with Section 10.1 of the Plan, the Plan is amended, effedive as of Febmary 23, 
2015, as follows: 

1. Section 5.5(a) of the Plan is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirefy and repladng it with ttie following: 

"Benefit of Partidpant Employed on Initial Eligible Payment Date or with a Separation from Service on or after Age 
Sixfy. With respect to balances that accrue in a Stock Account prior to January 1, 2016, an Employer shall pay a 
Partidpant who is employed by any Employer on his or her Initial Eligible Payment Date or who has a Separation from 
Service on or after age sixfy (60) a Deferred Compensation Benefit equal to the amount of the Partidpant's Stock 
Account eamed by the Partidpant while he or she was employed by such Employer, induding the Stock Premium, in 
Company common stock; provided tiiat payments made with respect to (i) any dividend equivalents that accrue 
pursuant to Section 4.3(e) of the Plan after May 17, 2014; (ii) Short-Term Incentive Awards deferred after January 1, 
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2014; and (iii) Performance Shares that are deferred on or after February 23, 2015 shall, in each case, be paid in 
cash. Commendng January 1, 2002, a Partidpant may elect in his or her Partidpation Agreement to defer receipt of 
such payment to tiie Partidpant's date of Separation from Service or deatti. If such an election is made, such Stock 
Acaiunt balance, induding the Stock Premium, shall be transfen-ed to a Retirement Stock Account or held in the Stock 
Account until Separation from Service or deatii and then transferred to a Retirement Account and paid in cash 
pursuant to the Partidpant's elections or Plan provisions, whichever is applicable, under Sections 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 or 5.5 
of this Plan. 

With resped to balances that accrue in a Stock Account on or after January 1, 2016, an Employer shall pay a 
Partidpant who is employed by any Employer on his or her Initial Eligible Payment Date a Deferred Compensation 
Benefit equal to the amount of the Partidpant's Stock Account eamed by the Partidpant while he or she was 
employed by such Employer in cash. If the Partidpant incurs a Separation fix)m Service prior to his or her Initial 
Eligible Payment Date with respect to balances that accnje in a Stock Account on or after January 1, 2016, ti^en sudi 
balances shall be paid in accordance with Section 5.5(b) or 5.5(c) of ttiis Plan." 

2. Sedion 5.5(c) of the Plan Is hereby amended by deleting it in its entirefy and repladng it with the following: 

"Benefit of Participant with Separation from Sen/ice on and after Age Sixfy. Commendng January 1, 2002 and with 
respect to account balances in a Stock Account that accrue prior to January 1, 2016, if a Partidpant with a Stock 
Account balance that has not reached its Initial Eligible Payment Date Separates from Serwce for any reason 
induding death or Disabilify on or after age sixfy (60), such Stock Account induding the Stock Premium, shall be 
payable on the earlier of the date the Stock Premium becomes fijlly vested or the Initial Eligible Payment Date. A 
Partidpant may make an election each year in a Partidpation Agreement to receive the Stock Account including the 
Stock Premium, either in the form of Company common stock or in cash and paid pursuant to ttie Partidpanfs 
elections or Plan provisions, whichever is applicable, under Artide 5 of this Plan; provided that, notwithstanding the 
Partidpant's election, payments made with resped to (i) any dividend equivalents that accrue pursuant to Section 4.3 
(e) of the Plan after May 17,2014; (ii) Short-Term Incentive Awards 
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that are defen-ed after January 1, 2014; and (iii) Performance Shares that are defen-ed on or after February 23, 2015 
shall, in each case, be paid in cash. If the Participant does not make an election prior to ttie Commencement of the 
Service Period, such Stock Accounts shall be paid in the form of Company common stock; provided thsA payments 
made with respect to (i) any dividend equivalents that accrue pursuant to Section 4.3(e) of the Plan after May 17, 
2014; (ii) Short-Tenn Incentive Awards that are defended after January 1, 2014; and (iii) Performance Shares that are 
defen-ed on or after Febmary 23, 2015 shall, in each case, be paid in cash. 

For account balances in a Stock Account that accme on or after January 1, 2016, if a Partidpant Separates from 
Service for any reason, induding deatti or Disabilify, then such account balances shall be fransferred to a Retirement 
Account and paid in cash pursuant to the Partidpant's elections or Plan provisions, whichever is applicable, under 
Artide 5 of this Plan." 

3. Capitalized terms used herein and not othenvise defined shall have ttie meaning ascribed to them in the Plan. 

4. Except as othenwise modified in this Amendment the Plan shall remain in full force and effect. In ttie event of a confiid 
between ttie tenns of this Amendment and ttie Plan, the terms of this Amendment shall confrol. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Compensation Committee has caused this Amendment No. 1 to FirstEnergy Corp. 
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated as of January 1, 2014, to be effedive as of the date set fortti 
above. 

FIRSTENERGY CORP. 

By: /s/ James F. Pearson 

Name: James F. Pearson 

Title: Senior Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer 

fBack To TOP") 

Section 4: EX-10.46 (EXHIBIT 10.46) 
EXHIBIT 10-46 

EXECUTIVE SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM (EXECUTIVE STIR) 
FOR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

PURPOSE OF PROGRAM 

The Executive Short-Term Incentive Program (ttie "Executive STIF*"), sponsored by FirstEnergy Corp. ("FirstEnergy"), provides 
the tenns under which incentive awards are provided to executive officers whose contributions support the successful 
achievement of Corporate Finandal and Operational Key Performance Indicators (the "KPIs"). Executive STIP awards are 
cash-based awards granted pursuant to ttie tenns and conditions of FirstEnergy's 2007 Incentive Plan (ttie "Plan"). The 
Executive STIP KPIs are developed in accordance with the performance measures identified in the Plan as approved by 
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FiretEnergy's shareholdere. The Executive STIP supports FirstEnergy's compensation philosophy by linking KPIs to business 
strategy and objectives. 

ELIGIBILITY 

Partidpants under ttie Executive STIP shall consist of the executive officers of FirstEnergy who are deemed to be "covered 
persons" under Section 162(m) of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations promulgated 
tiidreunder ("Section 162(m)") and any other officer or employee selected by the Compensation Committee (the "Committee") 
of the Board of Directors of the FirstEnergy (the "Board") to partidpate in the Executive STIP. 

I 
PERFORMANCE PERIOD 

Unless othenMse determined by Oie Committee, the performance period for any award granted under the Executive STIP shall 
be '^om January 1" to December 31 " of a given year. 

AWARDS 

The Committee shall establish (i) the KPIs that must be satisfied in order for a partidpant to receive an award for such 
performance period, induding the relative weightings for each KPl witti respect to each participant, and (ii) the thre^iold, target 
ami maximum award opportunify for each participant, which will be expressed as a percentage of the participant's base salary. 
For awards intended to qualify as "perfonnance-based compensation" under Section 162(m), the perfonnance goals will be 
established no later than 90 days after the start of the applicable performance period. The Committee may present the KPIs 
ancl award opportunities for such partidpants to ttie independent members of FirstEnergy's Board for ratification. The KPIs shall 
be sased on one of ttie performance measures approved by FirstEnergy's shareholders under tiie Plan. 

CERTIFICATION 

After the end of each performance period, the Committee will certify in writing whether and the extent to which the KPIs were 
achieved during the performance period (such certification may be refiected in the minutes of tiie Committee). The Committee 
shall have the right in its own discretion, to reduce or eliminate the amount othenvise payable to a partidpant based on 
individual performance or any other factors the Committee deems appropriate. However, vflth respect to awards intended to 
qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Section 162(m) of ttie Code, the Committee shall not have the right to 
ma(ce an adjustment eittier diredly or indiredly, that would result in a payment ttiat is greater tiian the amount that would have 
bedn othenvise payable to the participant for the applicable performance period. 

PAYMENT 
I 

Executive STIP awards, if any, wll be paid no later than March IS^oftheyearfollovwngtheyearin which the award is eamed. 
If a participant's employment tenninates prior to the end of a perfonnance period due to retirement, disatMlify, deatti, or under 
conditions for which the participant qualifies for and elects benefits under the Company's severance trenefit plan, the partidpant 
will be entitted to receive a pro-rated portion of his or her Executive STIP award that would have been eamed, based on adual 
KPl: performance, had he or she remained employed through the perfonnance period. The pro-rated portion of the Executive 
STIP award will be based on ttie number of days the partidpant was employed during ttie applicable performance period. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the partidpant is entitled to receive all or a portion of his or her Executive STIP award 
pursuant to an individual agreement or separate severance or change in confrol plan in which he or she partidpates, then his or 
herJExecutive STIP award will be paid pursuant to such individual agreement or pian to avoid any duplication of payments. 

ADMINISTRATION 

Thej Committee administers ttie Executive STIP. The Committee shall establish ttie KPIs for any performance period in 
accordance with the Section titied "Awards" above. Any determination made by the Committee under the Executive STIP shall 
be final and condusive. The Committee may employ such legal counsel, consultants and agents (induding counsel or agents 
who are employees of FirstEnergy or an affiliate) as it may deem desirable for the adminisb^tion of the Executive STIP and 
may rely upon any advice received from any such counsel or consultant or agent and any computation received from any such 
consultant or agent All expenses incurred in the administiration ot ttie Executive STIP, including, wittiout limitation, for the 
engagement of any counsel, consultant or 
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agent shall be paid by FirstEnergy. No member or former member of the Board or the Committee shall be liable for any act 
omission, interpre^tjon, construction or determination made in connedion with the Executive STIP other than as a result of 
such individual's willfol misconduct The Committee may delegate administrative or ministerial duties to management of 
FirstEnergy; provided that no administi-ative duties that the Committee is required to perform under Section 162(m) may be 
delegated by the Committee. 

RECOUPMENT 

Any Executive STIP award will be administered in compliance with Section 10D of the Seojrities and Exchange A d of 1934, as 
amended, any applicable mles or regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission or any national 
securities exchange or national securities assodation on which the common stock of FirstEnergy is fraded, and subject to any 
recoupment or "dawback" policy of FirstEnergy adopted pursuant to such law, mles, or regulations and may be amended to 
ftjrther such purpose wittiout the consent of any partidpant 

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION 

The Board or the Committee may at any time amend, suspend, discontinue or terminate the Executive STIP; provided, 
however, that except as permitted herein, no such amendment suspension, discontinuance or termination shall adversely 
affect ttie rights of any participant in resped of any perfonnance period that has already commenced. 

WITHHOLDING 

FirstEnergy or any of its afllliates shall have the right and is hereby authorized to withhold from any payment due under the 
Executive STIP or from any compensation or other amount owing to ttie participant, applicable withholding taxes witti respect to 
any payment under the Executive STIP and to take such action as may be necessary in the opinion of FirstEnergy to satisfy all 
obligations for Uie payment of such withholding taxes. 

2007 INCENTIVE PLAN 

The Executive STIP is a component of the Plan and shall be subjed to the terms and conditions of the Plan in all respeds. To 
the extent there is a confiict between the terms of the Executive STIP and the temis of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall 
control, 

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 409A 

The parties intend that the Executive STIP be, at all relevant times, in compliance with (or exempt from) Sedion 409A of the 
Internal Revenue Code and all other applicable laws, and the Executive STIP shall be so interpreted and administered. In 
addition to the general amendment rights of FirstEnergy with respect to Executive STIP, FirstEnergy spedfically retains the 
unilateral right (but not ttie obligation) to make, prospectively or refroadively, any amendment to the Executive STIP or any 
related document as it deems necessary or desirable to more fully address issues in connection with compliance witti (or 
exemption from) Section 409A of the Intemal Revenue Code and other laws, in no event, however, shall this section or any 
other provisions of the Executive STIP be constiued to require FirstEnergy to provide any gross-up for the tax consequences of 
any provisions ot or payments under, tiie Executive STIP. FirstEnergy and its affiliates shall have no responsibilify for tax or 
legal consequences to any participant resulting from the terms or operation of the Executive STIP. 

NO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

The Executive STIP does not constitute a confrad between FirstEnergy or any of its affiliates and any partidpant nor should 
anything contained in the program be deemed to give any partidpant any right to be retained in the employ of FirstEnergy or 
any of its affiliates or to interfere with the right of FirstEnergy or its affiliates to discharge any partidpant at any time and to ti-eat 
the partidpant without regard to the effect which such freatment might have upon partidpation in the Executive STIP. 

UNFUNDED STATUS OF PROGRAM 

All awards paid under the Executive STIP shall at all times constitute general unsecured liabilities of FirstEnergy, payable out of 
FirstEnergy's general assets. In no event shall FirstEnergy or any affiliate be obliged to resen/e any funds or assets to secure 
the payment of such amounts and nothing contained in ttie program shall confer upon the participant the right titie or interest in 
any assets of FirstEnergy or its affiliates. The program is not a covered program under the Employee Retirement Income 
Securify Act of 1974 (ERISA); no conttibutions are required by employees under ttiis program. 

GOVERNING LAW 
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The Executive STIP shall be governed by and consttued in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio without regard to 
conflicts of laws. 

CBAck To Top) 

Section 5: EX-10.47 (EXHIBIT 10.47) 
EXHIBIT 10-47 

FofU of 2015-2017 Cash-Based Performance'Adjusted Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 

This Restrided Stock Unit Award Agreement (the "Award Agreement") is entered into as of the Award Date between 
FirstEnergy Corp. and the Partidpant For the purposes of ttiis Award Agreement the terni "Company" means FirstEnergy 
Corp., its successors and/or its Subsidiaries, singulariy or colledivefy. 

i 
SECTION ONE-AWARD 

i 

As of the Award Date, in accordance witti the FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, as amended (the "Plan") and the terms 
and, conditions of this Award Agreement, the Company grants to the Partidpant ttie right to receive, at the end of the Period of 
Restriction (as defined below) the cash equivalent of the number of shares of common stock of the Company equal to the fixed 
number of restiided stock units listed as "Awarded" on the Award Detail Page (the "Restiided Stock Units"), subject to 
adjustinent based on the Company's performance as described below. The number of Resttided Stock Units set forth on the 
Award Detail Page is refen-ed to as the "Target Number" in this Award Agreement. 

Dividend Equivalents 

Until the expiration of the Period of Restiiction pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement the Partidpant 
will lae credited on the books and records of the Company witti an amount per each Restrided Stock Unit equal lo the amount 
per share of any cash dividends dedared by the Board with a record date on or after ttie Award Date on the outstanding 
common stock of the Company (ttie "Dividend Equivalenf). Such Dividend Equivalents will be credited in Uie form of an 
addiponal number of Restiided Stock Units (which Restiicted Stock Units, from the time of crediting, will be deemed to be in 
addition to and part of the base number of Restrided Stock Units awarded by this Award Agreement for all purposes 
hereunder). The additionsd number of Restrided Stock Units will be equal to the aggregate amount of Dividend Equivalents 
aedited on this Award on ttie respective dividend payment date divided by the average of the high and low prices per share of 
common stock on the respective dividend payment date. The Restrided Stock Units attributable to the Dividend Equivalents will 
be either settled or forfeited, as appropriate, under the same tenns and conditions that apply to the other Restricted Stock Units 
under this Award Agreement and, to the extent applicable, tiie Company's Executive Deferred Compensation Plan. 

SECTION TWO - GENERAL TERMS 

This Award Agreement is subject to the Plan and the following terms and conditions: 

Period of Restriction 

For the purposes of this Award Agreement "Period of Restridion" means the period beginning on the Award Date set fortti 
above and ending on ttie earliest of 

a) 5:00 p.m. Akron time on ttie March XX 2018 (the "Vest Date'); 
b) The date of ttie Partidpanfs death; 
c) The date that ttie Partidpanfs employment is temiinated due to Disabilify; or 
d) The date of an involuntary tennination in connection with and resulting from a Change in Conti-ol within the two-year 

period follovwng the date of the Change in Confrol under conditions in w^ich tiie Partidpant qualifies for and receives 
any employer severance benefit that may be offered, provided that the Partidpant executes, submits and does not 
revoke an agreement to release the Company in full against any and all daims as required by (and \Adthin the time 
period mandated by) the arrangement or plan providing ttie employer severance benefit 

Notwithstanding that the Period of Restriction ends upon a tennination of employment due to Disabilify, Restiicted Stock Units 
awarded pursuant to this Award Agreement shall be subject to limited restiictions after a termination due to Disabilify as 
provided in ttiis Award Agreement 
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Performance Adjustment 

If the Payment Date (as defined below under "Payment') is the Vest Date, the adual cash amount payable under the Restiicted 
Stock Units awarded pursuant to this Award Agreement may be adjusted upward or downward by one-hundred percent (100%) 
of the Target Number, based on the Company's perfonnance against three key mettles. The Committee has identified the three 
performance mettles as Capital Effectiveness, Safefy, and Funds from Operations/Debt Index. The spedfic perfonnance goals 
applicable to ttiis Award are set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and the extent to which performance goals for all ttiree 
performance mettles are achieved wilf be expressed in "total points earned," as set forth in Exhibit A. 

If the total points eamed is at or above the 90th percentile, then the Participant will eam 200% of the Restrided Stock Units, (f 
the total points eamed is at the 60th percentile, then the Participant will earn 150% of the Restiided Stock Units. If tiie total 
points eamed is at the 50th percentile, then the Participant will eam 100% of the Restricted Stock Units, ff the total points 
eamed is at the 40tti percentile, ttien ttie Participant will eam 50% of the Restrided Stock Units. If the total points eamed falls 
below ttie 40tti 
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percentile, then no Restiicted Stock Units will be eamed and all Resttided Stock Units granted hereunder shall be immediatefy 
forfeited. If the total points eamed fall betiAreen the 40th percentile and the 50th percentile, the 50th percentile and the 60th 
percentile or ttie 6Qth percentile and the 9Qth percentile, then the number of Restricted Stock Units that are earned shall be 
based on interpolation within such percentile ranges. 

Payment 

Subject to any eiedion the Partidpant makes to defer any of ttie Resttided Stock Units, as provided below, ttie date of 
payment to the Partidpant (ttie "Payment Date") shall be as follows for each spedfied event (provided that in no event will the 
Partidpant be pwmitted directly or indiredly to designate the taxable year of payment): 

As soon as practicable, but not later ttian ninefy (90) days after the Vest Date if the payment is on account of: the 
expiration of the Period of Restridion set forth in paragraph a) of the subsection entitled "Period of Restriction" above; 
the Participants termination of employment upon retirement (which shall mean the Partidpanfs attainment of age 55 
with 10 years of service with ttie Company or an affiliate and any predecessor thereof; the Partidpanfs termination of 
employment due to Disabilify as set forth in paragraph c) of the subsection entitted "Period of Restriction' above; the 
Partidpanfs involuntary tennination ottier than under paragraph d) of the subsection entitted "Period of Restridion" 
above that occurs under conditions in which ttie Partidpant qualifies for and receives any employer severance benefit 
that may be offered, provided that the Participant executes, submits and does not revoke an agreement to release the 
Company in ftjil against any and all daims as required by (and within ttie time period mandated by) the arrangement 
or plan providing the employer severance benefit or if the Participant continues to be employed by the Company but 
ceases to be employed in an executive position during the three-year Period of Resfridion; or 

! 
i» As soon as practicable, but not later tiian ninefy (90) days, after the expiration of the Period of Restiiction due to ttie 

Partidpanfs deatti pursuant to paragraph b) of the subsection entitied "Period of Restriction" above; or 

|- On the 90th day after the expiration of the Period of Restiiction due to the Partidpanfs involuntary termination in 
1 connection with and resulting from a Change in Confrol vwthin the two-year period following the date of the Change in 
' Control in accordance wth, and as described in, paragraph d) of the subsection entitled "Period of Restriction" above. 

As Sioon as pradicable after the Payment Date, the Company shall pay to the Partidpant cash in the amount eamed witti 
r e s p ^ to the Restrided Stock Units awarded under this Agreement, as adjusted, less any amounts withheld to cover the tax 
obligations in accordance with the subsection entitled "VWthholding Tax" below. 

NotvJrithstanding the foregoing, if ttie Partidpant is eligible to partidpate in tiie Company's Executive Defen-ed Compensation 
Plan ttie Partidpant may elect to defer the cash payment made with respect to the Restrided Stock Units to the extent 
pemiitted by the Committee in accordance witti the terms and conditions of the Company's Executive Deferred Compensation 
Plan. Any payment made with respect to any Restricted Stock Units that are deferred under the Company's Executive Deferred 
Com sensation Plan shall be paid pursuant to the administtative procedures, terms and conditions of the Executive Defen-ed 
Compensation Plan. Any election to defer shall be made in a manner as required under administrative rules establi^ed by the 
Company and shall be made in a manner that complies with Section 409A of the Intemal Revenue Code. 

Special Definitions 

For purposes of ttiis Award, the term "Change in Confrol' means a change in confrol that satisfies botti a Change in Control as 
defined in the Plan for Awards granted on or after January 1, 2011 and a "change in confrol evenf as defined in Treasury 
Reguation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5) and tiie term "involuntary tennination" (or fonns or derivations ttiereof) means "involuntary 
sepaiation from service" as defined in Treasury Regulation Sedion 1.409A-1(n). 

Withholding Tax 

The Company shall wfthhold an amount suffident to satisfy all federal, state, and local taxes required by law to be withheld in 
conneiction with any payment made under this Award Agreement but in no event shall such amount exceed the minimum 
statutory withholding requirements. 

Forfeiture 

The Partidpant shall forfeit all of the Restrided Stock Units and any right under this Award Agreement to receive any payment 
hereupder upon the occurrence of any of the following events before the expiration of the Period of Restridion: 

Tennination of employment with the Company for any reason; provided, however, ttiat no forfeiture shall occur if 
termination of employment occurs due to ttie Partidpanfs involuntary tennination in connection with and resulting from 
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a Change in Confrol wittiin the two-year period following ttie date of the Change in Control and tiie satisfaction of ttie 
conditions as described in paragraph d) of the subsedion entitted "Period of Restridion" above; and further provided. 
that if the conditions 
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of paragraph d) of the subsection entitied "Period of Restiiction" above are not met, the Restiided Stock Units and any 
right under this Avrard Agreement to receive any payment will be forfeited. 

, • Any attempt to sell, ti-ansfer, pledge, assign or othenAfise alienate or hypothecate the Restiided Stock Units or the 
\ right to receive any payment under the Restrided Stock Units in violation of this Award Agreement 
"\ 

Notwithstanding tiie above, if the Partidpant dies, has a termination of employment upon retirement (as defined under the ttien 
established mles of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be), has a termination of employment due to 
Disabilify, is involuntarily terminated other ttian under paragraph d) of the subsedion entitied "Period of Restridion" above 
under conditions in which the Partidpant qualifies for and receives any employer severance benefit that may be offered, 
pro|/ided tiiat ttie Partidpant executes, submits and does not revoke an agreement to release the Company in foil against any 
and all daims as required by (and within the time period mandated by) the arrangement or plan providing the employer 
sevlsrance benefit or if the Partidpant continues to be employed by the Company unttl ttie Vest Date but ceases to be 
employed in an executive position during the three-year Period of Resfriction, the Restiided Stock Units awarded to the 
Par^dpant under this Award Agreement wiil be forfeited and/or payable as follows: 

If the Partidpant dies, terminates employment as described above or ceases to be employed in an executive position 
prior to a ftjll month after ttie Award Date, all Resttided Stock Units eamed will be forfeited upon the death or 
tennination. 
If the Partidpant dies, tenninates employment as described above or ceases to be employed in an executive position 
after the lapse of a foil montti or more after the Award Date, the Partidpant will be entitled to a prorated number of 
Restiided Stock Units. The proration will be calculated by multiplying ttie number of Restrided Stock Units awarded by 
the number of foil months served after the Award Date, divided by ttiirfy-six monttis. The prorated Resttided Stock 
Units will then be adjusted upward or downward by the performance fadors in accordance with ttie provisions under the 
subsection "Perfonnance Adjustment" (as determined by the Committee), except that no adjustment is made upon 
deatti. The remaining portion of Resh-icted Stock Units awarded will be forfeited. 

Upon the occurrence of any of the above forfeiture events (for which no exception has been made as set forth above) before 
the expiration of the Period of Restriction, the Restiicted Stock Units that are to be forfeited as described above (either in full or 
in part), shall be forfeited by the Participant to the Company. At the time of such forfeiture, the Partidpanfs interest in ttie 
Resirided Stock Units and any payments under the Resttided Stock Units shall terminate, unless such forfeiture is waived in 
the sole discretion of ttie Committee. 

Rec dupment 

With respect to a Partidpant who is or has been deemed to be, or becomes, an "insider" for purposes of Section 16 of the 
Securities Exchange A d of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), this Award Agreement will be administered in compliance 
with I Section 10D of ttie Exchange Ad, any applicable mles or regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange 
Conimission or any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Shares may be fraded, and 
subject to any Company policy adopted pursuant to such law, mles, or regulations s^d may be amended to forttier such 
purpbse without the consent of the Partidpant 

Shaieholder Rights 

The Partidpant shall have no rights as a shareholder of the Company, including voting rights, with respect to the Restiided 
Stock Units. 

Effect on the Employment Relationship 

The grant of Restrided Stock Units is voluntary and made on a one-time basis and does not constitute a commitment to make 
any future awards. Nottiing by ttiis Award or in this Award Agreement guarantees employment with the Company or any 
Subsidiary, nor does this Award or Award Agreement confer any spedal rights or privileges to ttie Partidpant as to the terms of 
employment 

Adjustments 

In ttie event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split 
comfclination, distribution, or other change in corporate stiudure of the Company affecting the common stock, the Committee 
will ^idjust the number and dass of securities granted under this Award Agreement in a manner determined by the Committee, 
in its 'pcAe discretion, to be appropriate to prevent dilution or enlargement of the Restricted Stock Units granted under this Award 
Agreement 

Adm nistration 
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1. This Award Agreement is governed by ttie laws of tfie State of Ohio wimout giving effect to the prindples of cOTiflicts of 
laws. By accepting this Award, ttie Partidpant agrees to the exdusive jurisdiction of the oiurts of the United States Distiict 
Court for the Northem Distrid of Ohio fo adjudicate any and all claims brought with respect fo the Award. 

2. The adminisfration of this Award Agreement and tiie Plan will be perfonned in accordance with Artide 3 of the Plan. 
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3. All interpretations, determinations and dedsions made by the Committee, the Board, or any delegate of the Committee as 
to the provisions of the Plan shall be final, condusive, and binding on all persons and the Partidpant agrees to be bound 
by such interpretations, determinations and dedsions. 

4. I The terms of this Award Agreement are governed at all times by the offidal text of the Plan and in no way alter or modify 
the Plan. 

5. If a term is capitalized but not defined in this Award Agreement, it has the meaning given to it in the Plan or on the Award 
Detail Page (which is a part of this Award Agreement) as the context so requires. 

6. To the extent a confiid exists between ttie terms of this Award Agreement and tiie provisions of ttie Plan or the Company's 
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (tiie "EDCP"), the provisions of the Plan or the EDCP, as applicable, shall govern. 

7. The terms and conditions of this Award may be modified by ttie Committee: 
(a) in any case pennitted by ttie terms of the Plan or this Award Agreement; 
(b) with the written consent of the Partidpant or 
(c) viflttiout the consent of the Partidpant if ttie amendment is either not materially adverse to tiie interests of the 

Partidpant or is necessary or appropriate in the view of the Committee to conform with, or to take into account 
applicable law, induding either exemption from or compliance with any applicable tax law. 

409A 

11 is intended that this Award Agreement and ttie compensation and benefits hereunder either be exempt from, or comply witti, 
SeciJon 409A of tiie Intemal Revenue Code ("Sedion 409A"), and this Award Agreement shall be so constmed and 
administered. In the event that the Committee reasonably determines that any compensation or benefits payable under this 

3rd Agreement may be subject to taxation under Section 409A, the Committee shall have the authorify to adopt, 
prospectively or retroactively, such amendments to this Award Agreement or to take any other adions it detemiines necessary 
or appropriate to (a) exempt the compensation and benefits payable under this Award Agreement from Section 409A or (b) 
comply with the requirements of Sedion 409A. The Committee, in its sole discretion, shall detennine to what extent, if any, this 
Award must be amended, modified or reformed. In no event however, shall this section or any other provisions of this Award 
Agreement be constmed to require the Company to provide any gross-up for the tax consequences of any provisions of, or 
paynents under, this Award Agreement and the Company shall have no responsibilify for tax consequences to Partidpant (or 
the Partidpanfs benefidary) resulting from the terms or operation of this Award Agreement. 

Notwithstanding any other provision in ttiis Award Agreement to the confrary, in the event a benefit payable under this Award 
Agreement is subject to the requirements of Section 409A; 

1. ^ Partidpant shall not be freated as having a tennination of employment unless ttie Partidpant has a "separation from 
service" as defined in regulations under, and for purposes ot Sedion 409A. 

2. if a Partidpant is a "specified employee,' as determined under tiie Company's policy for detennining spedfied employees 
on the date of a "separation from service," all payments under this Award Agreement that would othenvise be paid or 
provided during the first six (6) months following such separation from service (ottier tiian payments, benefits, or 
reimbursements that are freated as separation pay under Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v) of ttie Treasury Regulations, short-
^erm defen-als under Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) of the Treasury Regulations or ottier payments exempted under ttie Treasury 
Regulations for Section 409A) shall be accumulated through and paid or provided as soon as practicable following the six 
(6) month anniversary of such separation from service but not later than the end of the taxable year in which the six (6) 
month anniversary occurs. Notwittistanding the foregoing, payments delayed pursuant to this paragraph shall commence 
as soon as pradicable following ttie date of deatti of the Partidpant prior to the end of the 6 month period but in no event 
later than ninefy (90) days following the date of death. 

3. Unless ottienMse provided for in an arrangement or plan providing an employer severance benefit and notwittistanding any 
qther provision of this Award Agreement if the Partidparrt is required to execute, submit and not revoke a release of daims 
against the Company in order to receive the payment of benefits hereunder as a result of the terms of an an-angement or 
plan providing an employer severance benefit and the period in which to execute, submit and not revoke ttie release 
begins in a first taxable year and ends in a second taxable year, any payment to which the Partidpant would be entitled 
hiereunder will be paid in the second taxable year, but no later than the end of Uie payment period spedfied in ttiis Award 
Agreement 

SECTION THREE - TRANSFER OF AWARD 

NetthCT ttie Resttided Stodt Units nor the right to receive any payment under the Restrided Stock Units are transferable during 
ttie lifis of the Partidpant Onfy ttie Partidpant shall have the right to receive payment under ttiis Award Agreement unless the 
Partidpant is deceased, at which ttme the payment under this Award Agreement is due to the Partidpanfs benefidary (as 
designated under Artide 15 of the Plan), or pursuant to ttie Partidpanfs wll or the laws of descent and distribution. 
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1 acknowledge receipt of ttiis Restiicted Stock Unit Award Agreement and I accept and agree with the terms and (Mnditions 
stated above. 

(Date) (Signature of Partictpjuit) 
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EXHIBIT A 

(attach RSU Index) 

6 
(Back To Top) 

Section 6: EX-10,48 (EXHIBIT 10.48) 
EXHIBIT 10-48 

Foim of 2015-2017 Stock-Based Performance-Adjusted Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 

This Restrided Stock Unit Award Agreement (ttie "Award Agreement) is entered into as of the Award Date between 
FirstEnergy Corp. and the Partidpant. For the purposes of this Award Agreement, ttie term "Company" means FirstEnergy 
Corp., its successors and/or its Subsidiaries, singulariy or collectively. 

SECTION ONE - AWARD 

As of the Award Date, in aaxirdance with the FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, as amended (the "Plan") and the terms 
and conditions of this Award Agreement, the Company grants to the Partidpant the right to receive, at tiie end of the Period of 
Restridion (as defined below) a number of shares of common stock of the Company equal to the fixed number of restrided 
stock units listed as "Awarded" on the Award Detail Page (the "Restrided Stock Units"), subjed to ttie availabilify of shares, or 
at the Compensation Committee's discretion, the cash equivalent of such number of Restricted Stock Units, in each case 
subjed to adjustment based on the Company's performance as described below. The number of Restrided Stock Units set 
fortti on the Avrard Detail Page is referred to as the "Target Number" in ttiis Awand Agreement 

Dividend Equivalents 

Until the expiration of the Period of Restridion pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement, the Partidpant 
will be credited on the books and records of the Company with an amount per each Restrided Stock Unit equal to the amount 
per share of any cash dividends declared by the Board with a record date on or after the Award Date on the outstanding 
common stock of the Company (the "Dividend Equivalenf). Such Dividend Equivalents will be credited tn the form of an 
additional number of Restrided Stock Units (which Restiided Stock Units, from the time of aediting, will be deemed to be in 
addition to and part of the base number of Restrided Stock Units awarded by this Award Agreement for all purposes 
hereunder). The additional number of Restrided Stod< Units will be equal to the aggregate amount of Dividend Equivalents 
aedited on this Award on the respective dividend payment date divided by the average of the high and low prices per share of 
common stock on the respective dividend payment date. The Restrided Stock Units attiibutable to the Dividend Equivalents will 
be either settled or forfeited, as appropriate, under ttie same terms and conditions tiiat apply to the other Restiided Stock Units 
under this Award Agreement and, to the extent applicable, the Company's Executive Deferred Compensation Plan. 

SECTtON TWO - GENERAL TERMS 

This Award Agreement is subjed to the Plan and ttie following temis and conditions: 

Period of Restriction 

For the purposes of this Award Agreement "Period of Restriction' means ttie period beginning on ttie Award Date set fortti 
above and ending on the eariiest of: 

a) 5:00 p.m. Akron time on ttie March XX, 2018 (ttie "Vest Date"); 
b) The date of the Participants death; 
c) The date that ttie Partidpanfs employment is terminated due to Disabilify; or 
d) The date of an involuntary termination in connection with and resulting from a Change in Confrol within the hvo-year 

period following the date of the Change in Confrol under conditions in which tiie Partidpant qualifies for and receives 
any employer severance benefit that may be offered, provided that the Partidpant executes, submits and does not 
revoke an agreement to release the Company in foil against any and all daims as required by (and within the time 
period mandated by) the arrangement or plan providing ttie employer severance benefit. 
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Notwiths .._ istanding that the Period of Restiiction ends upon a termination of employment due to Disabilify, Restiicted Stock Units 
awarded pursuant to this Award Agreement shall t>e subject to limited restri<^ons after a termination due to Disabilify as 
provided in tiiis Award Agreement 

Pe^ormance Adjustnent 

If the Payment Date (as defined below under "Paymenf") is Uie Vest Date, the actual number of shares issuable or cash 
payable under the Restrided Stock Units awarded pursuant to ttiis Award Agreement may be adjusted upward or downward by 
one-hundred percent (100%) of the Target Numtier, based on ttie Company's performance against three key metiics. The 
Cor;nmittee has identified the three performance metrics as Capital Eflectiveness, Safefy, and Funds from Operations/Debt 
Index. The spedfic perfonnance goats applicable to this Award are set fortti in Exhibit A attached hereto and ttie extent to 
which performance goals for all ttiree performance metiics are achieved will be expressed in "total points earned," as set fortti 
in Exhibit A. 

If th|e total points eamed is at or above the 90tti percentile, then the Partidpant wilf eam 200% of the Resttided Stock Units, if 
the total points eamed is at Uie 60th percentile, then the Partidpant will eam 150% of the Resttided Stock Units. If ttie total 
poirits eamed is at the 50th percentile, then ttie Participant will eam 100% of the Restrided Stock Units. If the total points 
earned is at the 40th percentile, then the Participant will eam 50% of the Restiided Stock Units. If ttie totel points eamed falls 
beldw the 40th 

1 
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percentile, ttien no Restiided Stock Units will be eamed and all Restrided Stock Units granted hereunder shall be immediately 
forteited. If the total points eamed fall betiAreen ttie 40tti percenttle and the 50th percentile, ttie 50tti percentile and the 60th 
percentile or the 60tti percentile and tfie 90th percentile, then the number of Restricted Stock Units tfiat are eamed shall be 
based on interpolation within such percentile ranges. 

Payment 

Subject to any election the Partidpant makes to defer any of the Restiided Stock Units, as provided below, the date that 
shares of common stock shall be issued to the Participant or cash paid to the Partidpant (the "Payment Date") shall be as 
follows for each spedfied event provided that, except with respect to defen'als of any Restrided Stock Units under ttie 
Company's Executive Defen^ed Compensation Plan, as provided below, in no event will the Participant be pemiitted directiy or 
indirectly to designate the taxable year of payment 

As soon as practicable, but not later than ninefy (90) days after ttie Vest Date if the payment is on account o^ ttie 
expiration of the Period of Restridion set forth in paragraph a) of the subsection entitled "Period of Resttidion" above; 
the Participant's termination of employment upon retirement (which shall mean the Partidpanfs attainment of age 55 
with 10 years of service with the Company or an affiliate and any predecessor thereof); the Partidpanfs termination of 
employment due to Disabilify as set forth in paragraph c) of the subsedion entitled "Period of Resttiction' above; the 
Partidpanfs involuntary termination other than under paragraph d) of ttie subsedion entitted "Period of Restridion" 
above that occurs under conditions in which ttie Participant qualifies for and receives any employer severance benefit 
that may be offered, provided that the Participant executes, submits and does not revoke an agreement to release the 
Company in foil against any and all claims as required by (and within the time period mandated by) the arrangement 
or plan providing ttie employer severance benefit; or if ttie Participant continues to be employed by the Company but 
ceases to be employed in an executive position during the three-year Period of Restriction; or 

As soon as pradicable, but not later than ninefy (90) days, after the expiration of the Period of Restridion due to the 
Partidpanfs deatti pursuant to paragraph b) of the subsection entitied "Period of Resttidion" above; or 

On tile 90tti day after the expiration of ttie Period of Restiiction due to the Partidpanfs involuntary termination in 
connection with and resulting from a Change in Confrol within the two-year period following the date of the Change in 
Control in accordance with, and as described in, paragraph d) of the subsedion entitted "Period of Restriction' above. 

As soon as pradicable after the Payment Date, the Company shall deliver to tiie Partidpant a number of Shares of common 
stock, or pay its cash equivalent as the case may be, under any Resttided Stock Units that the Partidpant has not elected to 
defer under the Company's Executive Deferred Compensation Plan. The Company will deliver a number of Shares, or pay its 
cash equi\ralent, as ttie case may be, equal to the number of Restrided Stock Units awarded under this Awarei Agreement as 
adjusted, less any Shares or cash withheld to cover the tax obligations in accordance with the subsedion entitled "Withholding 
Tax" below; provided that, no fradional Shares will be delivered and any fractional Shares to which the Participant would 
othenvise be entitied will be paid in cash. Any Shares delivered will be held in an account in the name of the Partidpant 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Partidpant is eligible to partidpate in ttie Company's Executive Deferred Compensation 
Plan, the Partidpant may elect to defer the payment made witii respect to the Restrided Stock Units to the extent permitted by 
the Committee in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Company's Executive Defen^ed Compensation Plan. Any 
payment made with respect to any Restiided Stock Units ttiat are deferred under the Company's Executive Defen-ed 
Compensation Plan shall be paid pursuant to the adminisfa^tive procedures, terms and conditions of the Executive Deferred 
Compensation Plan. Any election to defer shall be made in a manner as required under administrative njles established by the 
Company and shall be made in a manner that complies with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Special Definitions 

For purposes of this Award, the term "Change in Corttrol' means a change in confrol that satisfies both a Change in Control as 
defined in the Plan for Awards granted on or after January 1, 2011 and a "change in confrol event" as defined in Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5) and the term "involuntary termination" (or forms or derivations thereoO means "involuntary 
separation from service" as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(n). 

Withholding Tax 

The Company shall wittihold Shares or cash, as applicabte, in an amount suffident to satisfy all federal, state, and local taxes 
required by law to be withheld in connection with the delivery of Shares of common stock or payment of cash granted under this 
Award Agreement but In no event shall such amount »ceed the minimum statutory withholding requirements. 

Forfeiture 
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The Partidpant shall forfeit all of ttie Restiided Stock Units and any right under this Award Agreement to receive Shares of 
common stock or equivalent cash payments upon the occurence of any of ttie following events before tiie expiration of ttie 
Period of Resfriction: 

Termination of employment with the Company for any reason; provided, however, that no forfeiture shall occur if 
tennination of employment occurs due to the Participants involuntary termination in connection witii and resulting from 
a Change in Confrol wittiin the two-year period following the date of the Change in Confrol and the satisfaction of the 
condittons as described in paragraph d) of the subsedion entitied "Period of Restridion" above; and forther provided, 
that if the conditions of paragraph d) of the subsection entitied "Period of Restiiction" above are not met, ttie Restrided 
Stock Units and any right under tiiis Avrard Agreement to receive Shares of common stock or equivalent cash 
paymente will be forfeited. 
Any attempt to sell, transfer, pledge, assign or othenArise alienate or hypothecate the Restiicted Stock Units or the 
right to receive the common stock issuable, or cash payable, under the Restiicted Stock Units in violation of this 
Award Agreement 

Notifl/ithstanding the above, if the Partidpant dies, has a tennination of employment upon retirement (as defined under the then 
established rules of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be), has a termination of employment due to 
Disabilify, is involuntarily terminated other than under paragraph d) of the subsedion entitied "Period of Restridion" above 
under conditions in which the Partidpant qualifies for and receives any employer severance benefit that may be offered, 
provided that ttie Partidpant executes, submits and does not revoke an agreement to release the Company in foil against any 
and all claims as required by (and within the time period mandated by) ttie anangement or plan providing ttie employer 
severance benefit, or if the Partidpant continues to be employed by the Company until the Vest Date but ceases to be 
employed in an executive position during the three-year Period of Resfridion, the Restrided Stock Units awarded to the 
Partidpant under this Award Agreement will be forfeited and/or payable as follows: 

If tiie Partidpant dies, terminates employment as described above or ceases to be employed in an executive position 
prior to a foil montii after the Award Date, all Restrided Stock Units eamed will be forfeited upon the death or 
termination. 
If the Partidpant dies, tenninates employment as described above or ceases to be employed in an executive position 
after the lapse of a foil month or more after the Award Date, the Participant will be entitied to a prorated number of 
Restrided Stock Units. The proration will be calculated by multiplying the number of Restrided Stock Units awarded by 
the number of foil months served after the Award Date, divided by thirfy-six months. The prorated Resfricted Stock 
Units will then be adjusted upward or downward by the performance fadors in accordance with the provisions under ttie 
subsedion "Performance Adjustment" (as detemiined by the Committee), except ttiat no adjustinent is made upon 
death. All fradiona\ shares will be rounded up to the next ftjlJ share. The remaining por^on of Restricted Stock Units 
awarded will be forfeited. 

Upon ttie occurrence of any of ttie above forfeiture events (for which no exception has been made as set forth above) before 
the expiration of the Period of Restridion, the Restiided Stock Unifs that are to be forfeited as described above (either in foil or 
in part), shall be forfeited by ttie Participant to ttie Company. At the time of such forfeiture, the Partidpanfs interest in the 
Restrided Stock Units and ttie common stod< issuable or ttie equivalent cash paymente under the Resttided Stock Units shall 
tennlnate, unless such forfeiture is waived in the sole discretion of the Committee. 

Recoupment 

With respect to a Partidpant who is or has been deemed to be, or becomes, an "insider" for purposes of Section 16 of ttie 
Securities Exchange Ad of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Acf), this Award Agreement will be administered in compliance 
with Sedion 10D of the Exchange Ad, any applicable rules or regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or any national securities exchange or national securities assodation on which the Shares may be fraded, and 
subjed to any Company policy adopted pursuant to such law, rules, or regulations and may be amended to forther such 
purpose wittiout ttie consent of the Partidpant 

Shareholder Rights 

The Participant shall have no rights as a shareholder of tiie Company, induding voting rights, with respect to the Restricted 
Stock Units until the issuance of common stock, if any, upon expiration of the Period of Restiiction or, to the extent applicable, 
upon the Partidpanfs receipt of the common stock following a distribution from his or her account under the Company's 
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan. 

Effect on the Employment Relationship 

The grant of Restrided Stock Units is voluntary and made on a one-time basis and does not constitute a awnmitment to make 
any future awards. Nothing by ttiis Award or in this Award Agreement guarantees employment with the Company or any 
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Sutisidiary, nor does this Award or Award Agreement confer any spedal righte or privileges to ttie Partidpant as to the terms of 
employment 
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Adjustments 

In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split 
combination, distribution, or other change in corporate structure of the Company affecting the common stock, the Committee 
will adjust the number and dass of securities granted under this Award Agreement in a manner determined by the Committee, 
in its sole discretion, to be appropriate to prevent dilution or enlargement of the Restiicted Stock Unite granted under tiiis Award 
Agreement. 

Admlnisti^tion 

1. This Award Agreement is governed by the laws of ttie State of Ohio without giving effed to the prindples of confiids of 
laws. By accepting this Award, the Partidpant agrees to ttie exdusive jurisdiction of the courts of the United States Disttid 
Court for the Norttiem Distrid of Ohio to adjudicate any and all claims brought with respect to the Award. 

2. The adminisfration of ttiis Award Agreement and the Plan will be perfomied in accordance with Artide 3 of the Plan. 
3. All interpretations, detenninations and dedsions made by the Committee, the Board, or any delegate of the Committee as 

to the provisions of tiie Plan shall be final, condusive, and binding on all persons and the Participant agrees to be bound 
by such interpretations, determinations and dedsions. 

4. The terms of this Award Agreement are governed at all times by ttie offidal text of tiie Plan and in no way alter or modify 
the Plan. 

5. If a term is capitalized but not defined in this Award Agreement, it has the meaning given to it in the Plan or on the Award 
Detail Page (which is a part of this Award Agreement) as the context so requires. 

6. To the extent a confiid exists between the terms of this Award Agreement and the provisions of the Plan or the Company's 
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan ("EDCP"), the provisions of the Plan or the EDCP, as applicable, shall govern. 

7. The terms and conditions of this Award may be modified by the Committee: 
(a) in any case permitted by the tenns of ttie Plan or this Award Agreement 
(b) with the written consent of the Participant; or 
(c) without the consent of the Partidpant if ttie amendment is either not materially adverse to the interests of the 

Partidpant or is necessary or appropriate in the view of tiie Committee to confomi witii, or to take into account, 
applicable law, induding either exem^ion from or compliance with any applicable tax law. 

409A 

It is intended that this Award Agreement and the compensation and benefits hereunder either be exempt from, or comply with. 
Section 409A of the Intemal Revenue Code ("Section 409A"), and this Award Agreement shall be so construed and 
administered. In the event that ttie Committee reasonably detemiines that any compensation or benefite payable under this 
Award Agreement may be subjed to taxation under Section 409A, the Committee shall have ttie authorify to adopt 
prospectively or retroactively, such amendments to this Award Agreement or to take any other adions it detennines necessary 
or appropriate to (a) exempt the compensation and benefits payable under this Award Agreement from Section 409A or (b) 
comply with the requirements of Sedion 409A. The Committee, in ite sole discretion, shall determine to what extent, if any, this 
Award must be amended, modified or reformed. In no event however, shall ttiis sedion or any ottier provisions of this Award 
Agreement be construed to require the Company to provide any gross-up for ttie tax consequences of any provisions ot or 
payments under, this Award Agreement and the Company shall have no responsibilify for tax consequences to Partidpant (or 
the Partidpanfs benefidary) resulting from ttie terms or operation of this Award Agreement 

Notwithstanding any other provision in this Award Agreement to the confrary, in the event a benefit payable under this Award 
Agreement is sutyect to the requirements of Section 409A' 

1. A Participant shall not be treated as having a termination of employment unless tiie Participant has a "separation from 
sen/ice" as defined in regulations under, and for purposes of. Section 409A. 

2. If a Participant is a "specified employee," as determined under the Company's policy for determining spedfied employees 
on tiie date of a "separation from service," all payments under this Award Agreement that would otherv/ise be paid or 
provided during the first six (6) monttis following such separation from service (ottier than payments, benefits, or 
reimbursements ttiat are freated as separation pay under Sedion 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v) of the Treasury Regulations, short-
term defen-als under Section 1.409A-1 (b)(4) of ttie Treasury Regulations or other payments exempted under ttie Treasury 
Regulations for Section 409A) shall be accumulated ttirough and paid or provided as soon as pradicable following the six 
(6) month anniversary of such separation from service but not later than the end of the taxable year in which the six (6) 
montti anniversary occurs. Notwithstanding the foregoing, payments delayed pursuant to this paragraph shall commence 
as soon as practtcable following the date of death of the Partidpant prior to the end of the 6 month period but in no event 
later tiian ninefy (90) days following the date of death. 

3. Unless ottienwise provided for in an arrangement or plan providing an employer severance benefit and notwittistanding any 
ottier provision of this Award Agreement if the Partidpant is required to execute, submit and not revoke a release of daims 
against the Company in order to receive ttie payment of benefite hereunder as a result of ttie tenns of an arrangement or 
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plan providing an employer severance benefit and the period in which to execute, submit and not revoke the release 
begins in a first taxable year and ends in a second taxable year, any payment to which the Partidpant would be entitled 
hereunder will be paid in the second taxable year, but no later than ttie end of the payment period spedfied in this Award 
Agreement 
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SECTION THREE - TRANSFER OF AWARD 

Neither the Restiicted Stock Units nor the right to receive the common stock issuabie or cash paymente payable under the 
Restrided Stock Unite are transferable during the life of the Partidpant Only the Partidpant shall have the right to receive the 
common stock issuable or cash payments payable under this Award Agreement unless the Participant is deceased, at which 
time the common stock issuable or cash payments payable under this Award Agreement may be issued or paid to the 
Partidpanfs benefidary (as designated under Artide 15 of the Plan), or pursuant to ttie Participants will or the laws of descent 
and distiibution. 

1 acknowledge receipt of this Restiided Stock Unit Award Agreement and 1 accept and agree with the tenns and 
conditions stated above. 

(Date) (Signature of Participant) 
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EXHIBIT A 

(attach RSU Index) 

f Bdck To Top) 
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Section 7: EX-10.49 (EXHIBIT 10.49) 

Form 

EXHIBIT 10-40 

of Restricted Stock Award Agreement 

This Restrided Stock Award Agreement ("Award Agreemenf) is entered into as of the Award Date between FirstEnergy Corp. 
and ttie Partidpant. For the purposes of ttiis Award Agreement, the term "Company" means FirstEnergy Corp., its successors 
and'or ite Subsidiaries, singulariy or collectively. 

SECTION ONE-AWARD 

I 
As of the Award Date, in accordance with the FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, as amended (the "Plan") and ttie terms 
and iojnditions of ttiis Award Agreement, the Company grante to the Participant the fixed number of restiided shares of the 
Company's common stock listed as "Awarded" on the Award Detail Page (ttie "Restiided Stock"). 

Voting and Dividend Rights 

Subjec* to the restrictions in ttiis Award Agreement, ttie Participant shall be entitied to all rights of ownership during the Period 
of Restridion (as defined in "Section Two-General Tenns" below), induding, but not limrted to, ttie right to vote ttie Restiided 
Stock and to receive dividends. Dividends payable during ttie Period of Restridion, however, shall be automatically reinvested 
in Restiided Stock that is subjed to the same resfridions. 

SECTION TWO - GENERAL TERMS 

This Award Agreement is subjed to the Plan and the following terms and conditions: 

Period of Restriction 

For the purposes of this Award Agreement "Period of Resfriction" means the period beginning on the Award Date set forth 
above and ending on the eariiest of: 

i a) 5:00 p.m. Akron time on [March , 2018] (the "Vest Date"); 
I b) The date of ttie Partidpanfs deatti; 
! c) The date tiiat the Participants employment is temiinated due lo Disabilify; or 
' d) The date that l^e Participant is involuntarily terminated under additions in which the Participant qualifies for and 

receives any employer severance benefit that may be offered, provided that the Participant executes, submits and 
does not revoke an agreement to release ttie Company in foil against any and all claims as required by (and 

j within the time period mandated by) the arrangement or plan providing the employer severance benefit 

i^trati Registration and Certificate Legend 
I 

The FRestrided Stock shall be registered in the name of ttie Partidpant and shall be placed in a restiided account in book entry 
form where it shall remain, accruing dividends, until the expiration of the Period of Restiiction or forfeiture, as described below. 
The C:ompany may, in its discretion, register the Restrided Stock in certificate form for the number of shares of Restiided 
Stock specified above. If the Company registers the Restrided Stock in certificate fonn, the Company will retain the certificates 
and e^ch certificate will bear the foltowing legend until the expiration of ttie Period of Restiiction or forfeiture: 

"The sale or ottier fransfer of the shares of stock represented by this certificate, whettier voluntary, involuntary, or by 
operation of law, is subject to certein restrictions on transfer set forth in the FirstEnergy Corp. 2007 Incentive Plan, as 
amended, in the rules and administrative procedures adopted pursuant to such Plan, and in a Restrided Stock Award 
Agreement dated witti the Award Date. A copy of the Plan, such njles and procedures, and such Resttided Stock 
Award Agreement may be obtained from the Corporate Secretary of FirstEnergy Corp." 
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Delivery of Common Stock 

Subject to satisfying ttie applicable tax withholding requirements, the shares of common stock issuable under this Award 
Agreement shall be delivered to the Participant as follows (the "Delivery Date") for each spedfied event 

The Vest Date, if ttie delivery is on account of paragraph a) of the subsection entitted "Period of Restridion" above; or 

As soon as pradicable after the Partidpanfs deatti, termination due to Disabilify or involuntary tennination in accordance 
with, and as described in, paragraph b), c), or d) of the subsection entitted 'Period of Restiiction" above, and subject to the 
subsection entitled "Forfeiture" below. 

As soon as practtcable after the Delivery Date, the Company shall, as applicable, either lift the restiictions on ttie Restiided 
Stock held in a restrided account in book entiy form or remove the legend from the Restiided Stock held in certificate form and 
all unrestirided Shares shall remain in, or shall be placed in, an account in book entty fonn; provided ttiat no fradional Shares 
will be delivered and any fi^ctional Shares to which ttie Partidpant would ottiennnse be entitted will be paid in cash. All 
unresttided Shares, 

1 
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less any Shares withheld to cover the tax obligations in accordance witti the subsec^on entitled "Vflthholding JsiC below, will 
con Unue to tie registered in the name of the Partidpant 

Special Definitions 

For purposes of this Award Agreement the term "Change in Confrol" means a change in control that satisfies both a Change in 
Coritrol as defined in the Plan for Awards granted on or after January 1, 2011 and a "change in <x)nfrol evenf as defined in 
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i){5) and the term "involuntary termination" (or forms or derivations thereof) means 
"involuntary separation from service" as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(n). 

Withholding Tax 
1 

Thd Company shall witiihold shares in an amount sufficient to satisfy all federal, state, and local taxes required by law to be 
wthheld in connedion with the delivery of shares of common stock granted under this Award Agreement but in no event shall 
such amount exceed ttie minimum stettJtory wittiholding requirements. 

Forfeiture 

TheiPartidpant shall forfeit to the Company all of the Resttided Stock and any right to dividends on the Restrided Stock upon 
the occurrence of any the following events before the expiration of the Period of Restriction and neither the Partidpant nor any 
of ttje Partidpanfs successors, heirs, assigns or personal representatives shall have any interest or righte in the Restiicted 
Stock or any dividends upon or after the following events: 

[Termination of employment with the Company for any reason; provided, however, that no forfeiture shall occur if 
termination ot employment with ttie Company is due to death or Disabilify or due to an involuntary termination in 
connection witti and resulting from a Change in Control within the tiwo-year period following the date of the Change in 
Confrol under conditions in which the Partidpant qualifies for and receives an employer severance benefit, if offered, 
provided that the Partidpant executes, submits and does not revoke an agreement to release the Company in full agsunst 
bny and all daims as required by (and within ttie time period mandated by) tiie arrangement or plan providing the employer 
severance benefit; and fijrther provided, that if the Partidpant is involuntarily terminated other than in connedion with and 
resulting from a Change in Confrol as described in the immediatefy preceding phrase and satisfies the conditions as 
(described in paragraph d) of the subsection entitled "Period of Restridion" above, a prorated portion of the Restiided 
iStock under ttiis Award Agreement based on the number of months sen/ed during the Period of Resttiction shall not be 
forfeited. The proration will be calculated by multiplying the number of shares of Resttided Stock a\«rarded by the number 
pf foil months served after ttie Award Date, divided by the total number of months of the Period of Resttidion. 

Any attempt to sell, transfer, pledge, assign or othenA îse alienate or hypothecate the Restrided Stock or the right to 
receive the Restiided Stock in violation of ttiis Award Agreement. 

Recoupment 

With i respect to a Participant who is or has been deemed to be, or becomes, an "insider" for purposes of Sedion 16 of the 
Securities Exchange A d of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Acf), this Award Agreement will be administered in compliance 
with |section 10D of the Exchange Ad, any applicable mles or regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Shares may be traded, and 
subject to any Company policy adopted pursuant to such law, rules, or regulations and may be amended to forttier such 
purpose without the consent of the Partidpant 

Effect on the Employment Relationship 

The grant of Restrided Stock is voluntary and made on a one-time basis and does not constifote a commitment to make any 
fotijre awards. Nothing by ttiis Award or in ttiis Award Agreement guarantees employment with the Company, nor does this 
Awar i or Award Agreement confer any spedal righte or privileges to the Partidpant as to Uie terms of employment. 

Adjustments 

In thti event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, separation, liquidation, stock dividend, stock split 
combination, distribution, or other change in corporate stiudure of the Company affecting the common stock, the Committee 
will sdjust ttie number and dass of securities in ttiis Award in a manner detennined appropriate to prevent dilution or 
enlar* ;ement of the Restiided Stock granted under tills Award Agreement 

409A 
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It is intended that this Award Agreement and ttie compensation and benefits hereunder eittier be exempt firom, or comply with. 
Section 409A of the Intemal Revenue Code ("Sedion 409A"), and this Award Agreement shall be so constiued and 
administered. 
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In ttie event that the Committee reasonably determines that any compensation or benefits payable under this Award Agreement 
may be subject to taxation under Section 409A the Committee shall have the authorify to adopt prospectivefy or refroactively, 
such amendments to this Award Agreement or to take any other actions it determines necessary or appropriate to (a) exempt 
the icompensation and benefits payable under this Award Agreement from Section 409A or (b) comply with the requiremente of 
Section 409A The Committee, in its sole discretion, shall detennine to what extent if any, this Award must be amended, 
modified or reformed. In no event however, shall tiiis section or any other provisions of this Award Agreement be constmed to 
require the Company to provide any gross-up for the tax consequences of any provisions ot or payments under, this Award 
Agreement and the Company shall have no responsibilify for tax consequences to Partidpant (or tiie Partidpanfs benefidary) 
resulting from ttie tenns or operation of this Award Agreement 

Administration 

1. This Award Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Ohio without giving effect to ttie principles of the confiids of 
laws. By accepting this Award, the Participant agrees to Hie exdusive jurisdidion of the courts of the United States Distrid 
Court for ttie Northem Distrid of Ohio to adjudicate any and all claims brought with resped to the Award. 

2. The adminisfration of this Award Agreement and the Plan vwll be perfonned in accordance with Artide 3 of the Plan. 
3. All interpretations, determinations and dedsions made by the Committee, tiie Board, or any delegate of the Committee as 

to the provisions of the Plan shall be final, condusive, and binding on all persons and the Partidpant agrees to be bound 
by such interpretations, determinations and dedsions. 

4. The temis of this Award Agreement are govemed at all times fay the offidal text of the Plan and in no way alter or modify 
jthe Plan. 

5. If a term is capitalized but not defined in this Award Agreement, it has the meaning given to it in the Plan or on the Award 
Detail Page (which is a part of this Award Agreement) as the context so requires. 

6. To ttie extent a conflict existe bebween ttie terms of this Award Agreement and the proviaons of ttie Plan, the provisions of 
the Plan shall govern. 

7. jThe terms and conditions of this Award may be modified by the Committee: 
a) in any case permitted by the tenns of ttie Plan or ttiis Award Agreement 
b) with the written consent of the Participant; or 
c) without the consent of the Partidpant if the amendment is either not materially adverse to the intereste of the 

Partidpant or is necessary or appropriate in the view of the Committee to confomi with, or to take into account 
applicable law, induding either exemption from or compliance with any applicable tax law. 

SECtlON THREE - TRANSFER OF AWARD 

The Restiided Stock is not ttansferable during the life of the Participant. Only ttie Partidpant shall have the right to receive the 
comrnon stock issuable under the Restrided Stock, unless ttie Participant is deceased, at which time the common stock 
issuable under the Restricted Stock may be issued to ttie Partidpanfs beneficiary (as designated under Artide 15 of the Plan), 
or pursuant to the Partidpanfs will or the laws of descent and distiibution. 

I acknowledge receipt of this Restrided Stock Award Agreement and I accept and agree with the terms and conditions 
stated above. 

(Date) (Signature of Participant) 

(BackJToTop) 

Section 8: EX.12 (EXHIBIT 12) 
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EXHIBIT 12 

FIRSTENERGY CORP. 

CONSOLIDATED RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 

Year Ended December 31 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

845 

(165) 

449 

151 

$ 1,976 ; 

1,008 

(70) 

566 

150 

E 2,510 _$_ 

1,001 

(72) 

545 

136 

2,365 $ 

1,016 1,073 

(75) (69) 

195 (42) 

96 83 

1,607 $ 1,258 

(Dollars in millions) 

EARNINGS AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S-K: 

Income fl̂ om continuing operations $ 696 $ 856 $ 755 $ 375 $ 213 
Interest and other charges, before reduction for amounts 
capitalized and deferred 

Capitalized interest 

Provision for income taxes (t)enefits) 

Interest element of rentals charged to income '̂ ' 

Eamings as defined 

FIXED CHARGES AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S-K: 
Interest before redudion for amounts capitalized and 
deferred 

Interest element of rentals charged to income *'' 

Fixed charges as defined 

CONSOLIDATED RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED 
CHARGES 

"̂ Indudes the interest element of rentals where determinable plus 1/3 of rental expense where no readily defined interest element can be 
determined. 

$ 

$ 

845 $ 1.008 

151 150 

996 $ 1,158 

1.98 2.17 

$ 1,001 

136 

$ 1,137 

2.08 

$ 1,016 

96 

$ 1,112 

1.45 

$ 1,073 

83 

$ 1,156 

1.09 
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Section 9: EX-21 (EXfflBIT 21) 

FIRSTENERGY CORP. 
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTFiANT 

AT DECEMBER 31, 2014 

FirstEnergy Nudear Operating Company - Incorporated in Ohio 

FirstEnergy Sen/ice Company - Incorporated in Ohio 

FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. - Incorporated in Ohio 

FirstEnergy Transmission, LLC - Organized in Delaware 

FirstEnergy Ventures Corp. - Incorporated in Ohio 

Jersey Cential Power & Light Company - Incorporated in New Jersey 

EXHIBIT 21 
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Metropolitan Edison Company - Incorporated in Pennsylvania 

Monongahela Power Company - Incorporated in Ohio 

Ohio Edison Company - IncoqDorated in Ohio 

Pennsylvania Electiic Company - Incorporated in Pennsylvania 

The Cleveland Eledric Illuminating Company - Incorporated in Ohio 

The Potomac Edison Company - Incorporated in Maryland 

The Toledo Edison Company - Incorporated in Ohio 

West Penn Power Company - Incorporated in Pennsylvania 
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Section 10: EX-23 (EXHIBIT 23) 
EXHIBIT 23 

FirstEnergy Corp. 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Forni S-3 (Nos. 333-153608, 333-
191382, 333-181519, and 333-48587), and Fonn S-8 (Nos. 333-56094, 333-72768, 333-81183, 333-89356, 333-101472, 333-
110662, 333-146170, 333-165640, and 333-172464) of FirstEnergy Corp. of our report dated February 17, 2015, relating to the 
finandal statements, finandal statement schedule, and tiie effectiveness of intemal control over finandal reporting, which 
appears in ttiis Form 10-K. 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Cleveland, Ohio 
Febrijary 17, 2015 

(Back To Tog) 
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EXHIBIT 31.1 

Section 11: EX-31.1 (EXHIBIT 31.1) 

Certification 

I, Charies E. Jones, certify that 

I. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of FirstEnergy Corp.; 

?. Ba$ed on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untile statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make ttie statements made, in light of the drcumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading wth respect to the period covered by this report 

3. 
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Based on my knowledge, ttie finandal statements, and other finandal information induded in this report faidy present 
in all material respeds the finandal condition, results of operations and cash flows of ttie registtant as of, and for, ttie 
periods presented in this report 

4. The regisb-anf s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining disdosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Ad Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal contt-ol over finandal reporting 
(as defined in Exchange A d Rules 13a-15(0 and 15d-15(f)) for ttie registrant and have: 

a) designed such disdosure txintrols and procedures, or caused such disdosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, induding its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others wittiin those entities, particulariy during tiie period 
in which this report is being prepared; 

b) designed such intemal confrol over finandal reporting, or caused such intemal conttol over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supen/ision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilify of finandal 
reporting and the preparation of finandal statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting prindples; 

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disdosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disdosure controls and procedures, as of tiie end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) disdosed in this report any change in tiie registi^nfs intemal control over finandal reporting tiiat occun'ed 
during the registtanf s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranf s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) ttiat has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affed, the registtanf s intemal conttol 
over finandal reporting; and 

5. The registtanf s ottier certifying officer and I have disdosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal conttol 
over finandal reporting, to the registranf s auditors and the audit committee of the registranf s board of directors (or 
persons performing tiie equivalent functions): 

a) all significant defidendes and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affed the registranfs abilify to record, process, 
summarize and report finandal information; and 

b) any fi'aud, whether or not material, that involves management or ottier employees who have a significant role 
in the registranfs internal conttol over finandal reporting. 

Date: February 17, 2015 

/s/ Charies E. Jones 

Charies E. Jones 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
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j EXHIBIT 31.1 

Certification 

I, Donald R. Schneider, certify ttiat 

1. I have reviewed ttiis report on Form 10-K of FirstEnergy Solutions Coip.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material ^ d or omit to state a 
I material fad necessary to make the statements made, in light of ttie drcumstances under which such statements were 
I made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report 

:3. Based on my knowledge, the finandal statements, and other financial infonnation included in ttiis report, fairiy present 
I in all material respects the finandal condition, results of operations and cash fiows of the registrant as of, and for, ttie 
i periods presented in this report 

4. The registtanf s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disdosure confrols and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Ad Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal confrol over financial reporting 

I (as defined in Exchange A d Rules 13a-15(0 and 15d-15(0) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disdosure confrols and procedures, or caused such disdosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to tiie registrant, induding its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made knovwi to us by others within ttiose entities, particulariy during the period 
in which tiiis report is being prepared; 

b) designed such intemal confrol over finandal reporting, or caused such intemal confrol over finandal reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilify of finandal 
reporting and the preparation of finandal statements for extemal puiposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting prindples; 

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registtanf s disdosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disdosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 

I covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) disdosed In this report any change in the registranfs intemal confrol over finandal reporting that occurred 
I during the regisfranfs most recent fiscal quarter (the registtanf s fourth fiscal quarter in ttie case of an annual 

report) ttiat has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, ttie regisfranfs intemal confrol 
over financial reporting; and 

5. The regisfranfs ottier certifying officer and I have disdosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal confrol 
over finandal reporting, to the registtanfs auditors and the audit committee of the regisfranfs board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiendes and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal confrol over 
finandal reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affed the registranfs abilify to record, process, 
summarize and report finandal information; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, ttiat involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the regisfranfs intemal confrol over finandal reporting. 

Date: February 17, 2015 

/si Donald R. Schneider 

Donald R. Schneider 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Certification 

1, James F. Pearson, certify that 

1. 1 have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of FirstEnergy Corp.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untile statement of a material fad or omit to state a 
material fad necessary to make ttie statements made, in light of the drcumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the finandal statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairiy present 
in all material respects the finandal condition, results of operations and cash fiows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in ttiis report 

4. The registranfs other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disdosure controls and 
procedures (as defined In Exchange Ad Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal confrol over finandal reporting 
(as defined in Exchange A d Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the regisfrant and have: 

a) designed such disdosure controls and procedures, or caused such disdosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material informatton relating to the regisfrant induding its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particulariy during the period 
in which this report is being prepared; 

b) designed such intemal confrol over finandal reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilify of finandal 
reporting and the preparation of finandal statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting prindples; 

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registranfs disdosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about tiie effectiveness of the disdosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) disdosed in this report any change in the regisfranfs intemal control over finandal reporting that occured 
during the regisfranfs most recent fiscal quarter (the registranfs fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the regisfranfs intemal control 
over financial reporting; and 

5. The regisfranfs ottier certifying oflicer and I have disdosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control 
over finandal reporting, to the regisfranfs auditors and the audit committee of the registranfs tioard of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiendes and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal confrol over 
finandal reporting which are reasonably likely to adversefy affect the registranfs abilify to record, process, 
summarize and report finandal infonmation; and 

b) any fraud, whettier or not material, ttiat involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the regisfranfs internal confrol over finandal reporting. 

Date: Febmary 17, 2015 

/s/ James F. Pearson 

James F. Pearson 
Chief Finandal Officer 
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EXHIBFT 31.2 

Certification 

I, James F. Pearson, certify tiiat 

1. I have reviewed ttiis report on Fonn 10-K of FirstEnergy Solutions Corp.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fad or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the drcumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report 

3. Based on my knowledge, the finandal statements, and other finandal information included in this report, fairiy present 
in all material respeds the finandal cond'rtion, results of operations and cash flows of the regisfrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report 

4. The regisfranfs other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disdosure conttols and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal confrol over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange A d Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the regisfrant and have: 

a) designed such disdosure confrols and procedures, or caused such disdosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the regisfrant, induding its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particulariy during the period 
in which this report is being prepared; 

b) designed such internal confrol over finandal reporting, or caused such intemal confrol over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supen/ision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilify of finandal 
reporting and tiie preparation of finandal statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting prindples; 

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regisfranfs disdosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disdosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) disdosed in this report any change in the registranfs intemal confrol over finandal reporting that occurred 
during the registranfs most recent fiscal quarter (the regisfranfs fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, ttie regisfranfs intemal control 
over financial reporting; and 

5. The regisfranfs ottier certifying officer and 1 have disdosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal confrol 
over finandal reporting, to the r^istranfs auditors and the audit committee of the regisfranfs board of directors (or 
persons perfonning the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant defidendes and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal confrol over 
finandal reporting whidi are reasonably likely to adversely affed the registi^nfs abilify to record, process, 
summarize and report finandal information; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or ottier employees who have a significant role 
in the registranfs infernal confrol over finandal reporting. 

Date: Febmary 17, 2015 

/s/James F. Pearson 

James F. Pearson 
Chief Finandal Officer 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

In connection witii tiie Report of FirstEnergy Corp. ("Company") on Fomi 10-K for ttie period ending December 31, 2014 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (ttie "Report"), each undersigned officer of the Company 
does hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S. C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxtey Act of 2002, that to the 
best of his knov^edge: 

(1) The Report fijlly complies with ttie requirements of sedion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Ad of 1934; and 

(2) The information contained in ttie Report fairly presents, in all material respects, ttie finandal condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

/si Charies E. Jones 

Charles E. Jones 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ James F. Pearson 

James F. Pearson 
Chief Finandal Officer 

Date: Febmary 17, 2015 
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EXHIBIT 32 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

In connection with the Report of FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. ("Company") on Form 10-K for tiie period ending December 31, 
2014 as filed with ttie Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report?"), each undersigned officer of the 
Company does hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of ttie Sart>anes-Oxley A d of 2002, 
that to the best of his knowledge: 

(1) Tlie Report fulfy complies with ttie requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of ttie Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) The information contained in ttie Report feiriy presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

/s/ Donald R. Schneider 

Donald R. Schneider 
President 

(Chief Executive Officer) 

/s/James F. Peareon 

James F. Pearson 
Chief Finandal Officer 

Date: February 17, 2015 
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